

ISSN 1756-1841 VOLUME 23 NUMBER 6 2020

# International Journal of Rheumatic Diseases

Official journal of the Asia Pacific League of Associations for Rheumatology (APLAR)



WILEY

#### International Journal of Rheumatic Diseases

Editor-in-Chief Kevin Pile, Sydney, Australia Senior Editors Chi-Chiu Mok, Hong Kong, China Debashish Danda, Vellore, India Fereydoun Davatchi, Tehran, Iran Lars Klareskog, Stockholm, Sweden Ramnath Misra, Lucknow, India Zhanguo Li, Beijing, China Associate Editors Alberta Hoi, Melbourne, Australia Aman Sharma, Chandigarh, India Anand Kumthekar, New York, USA Andrew Harrison, Wellington, New Zealand Anselm Mak, Singapore Atsushi Kawakami, Nagasaki, Iapan Benny Samual Eathakkattu Antony, Hobart, Australia Chi-Chen Chang, Taiwan Chin Teck Ng, Singapore Christina Boros, Adelaide, Australia Cho Mar Lwin, Myanmar Dae Hyun Yoo, Seoul, Korea

David S. Pisetsky, Durham, USA Dawn Aitken, Hobart, Australia Enrico Tombetti, London, UK Evange Romas, Melbourne, Australia George D. Kitas, Birmingham, UK Gerard Espinosa, Barcelona, Spain Graeme Jones, Tasmania, Australia Haider Mannan, Sydney, Australia Haner Direskeneli, Istanbul, Turkey Ho Ying Chung, Hong Kong, China Ing Soo Lau, Malaysia Ingrid Lundberg, Stockholm, Sweden James Cheng Chung Wei, Taichung, Taiwan Johannes J. Rasker, Enschede, Netherlands Julian Thumboo, Singapore Kanta Kumar, Birmingham, UK Karina Torralba, Los Angeles, USA Katy Ying Ying Leung, Singapore Keith Lim, Melbourne, Australia Kok Yong Fong, Singapore Lai Shan Tam, Hong Kong, China Latika Gupta, Lucknow, India

Lingyun Sun, Nanjing, China Liwei Lu, Hong Kong, China Majda Khoury, Syria Manjari Lahiri, Singapore Marie Feletar, Melbourne, Australia Marwan Adwan, Jordan Maureen Rischmueller, Adelaide, Australia Meiying Wang, China Nan Shen, Shanghai, China Nazrul Islam, Dhaka, Bangladesh Nigil Haroon, Toronto, Canada Nina Kello, New York, USA Padmanabha Shenoy, India Paul Bird, New South Wales, Australia Paul Kubler, Brisbane, Australia Paul Wordsworth, Oxford, UK Peter Wong, Sydney, Australia Philip Robinson, Brisbane, Australia Prasanta Padhan, India R Hal Scofield, Oklahoma, USA Ram Pyare Singh, Los Angeles, USA Ram Raj Singh, Los Angeles, USA Robert Lahita, New Jersey, USA Ronald Yip, Hong Kong, China Sam Whittle, Adelaide, Australia Sami Salman, Baghdad, Iraq

Sang-Heon Lee, Seoul, Korea Sargunan Sockalingam, Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia Seong-Kyu Kim, Korea Shin-Seok Lee, Korea Sumaira Farman Raja, Pakistan Surjit Singh, Chandigarh, India Syed Atiqul Haq, Dhaka, Bangladesh Tamer Gheita, *Cairo*, *Egypt* Tatsuya Atsumi, Sapporo, Japan Temy Mok, Hong Kong, China Tsang Tommy Cheung, Hong Kong, China Tsutomu Takeuchi, Tokyo, Japan Vaidehi Chowdhary, Rochester, Minnesota, USA Vinod Scaria, New Delhi, India VS Negi, Pondicherry, India Wang-Dong Xu, Luzhou, P.R. China Wen-Chan Tsai, Taiwan Worawith Louthrenoo, Chiang Mai, Thailand Yehuda Shoenfeld, Tel Aviv, Israel Yoshiya Tanaka, Kitakyushu, Japan Yuho Kadono, Japan

Production Editor Jovel Marie Domingo (APL@wiley.com)

*Editorial Assistant* Deepak Ravi (IJRD.EO@wiley.com)

#### Past Editors-in-Chief

D Danda, Vellore, India (International Journal of Rheumatic Diseases, 2013–2018) CS Lau, Hong Kong, China (APLAR Journal of Rheumatology/ International Journal of Rheumatic Diseases, 2004–2012) PH Feng, Singapore (APLAR Journal of Rheumatology, 1998–2004) KD Muirden, Australia (APLAR Bulletin)

# WILEY

**Disclaimer:** The Publisher, Asia Pacific League of Associations for Rheumatology and Editors cannot be held responsible for errors or any consequences arising from the use of information contained in this journal; the views and opinions expressed do not necessarily reflect those of the Publisher, Asia Pacific League of Associations for Rheumatology and Editors, neither does the publication of advertisements constitute any endorsement by the Publisher, Asia Pacific League of Associations for Rheumatology and Editors of the products advertised.

International Journal of Rheumatic Diseases @ 2020 Asia Pacific League of Associations for Rheumatology and John Wiley & Sons Australia, Ltd

For submission instructions, subscription and all other information visit http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/journal/ 10.1111/(ISSN)1756-185X

View this journal online at wileyonlinelibrary.com/journal/apl

# **International Journal of Rheumatic Diseases**

Volume 23 | Number 6 | June 2020

### Contents

Does methotrexate cause interstitial lung disease in rheumatoid arthritis: What is the evidence?
Reviews and Recommendations
Care for patients with rheumatic diseases during COVID-19 pandemic: A position statement from APLAR
Update on disease pathogenesis, diagnosis, and management of primary Sjögren's syndrome
Effect of TNF-inhibitor therapy on spinal structural progression in ankylosing spondylitis patients: A systematic review and
P. Ajrawat, Z. Touma, I. Sari, C. Taheri, J. P. Diaz Martinez and N. Haroon
Original Articles
Ultrasonographic evaluation of subclinical enthesitis in patients with psoriasis
<i>Effects of Andersson lesion treatment in ankylosing spondylitis: A medical record review study focused on medium- to long-term outcomes</i>
M. Wu, F. Yan, A. Ping and J. Lei
Hospital admission and associated factors among individuals presenting to healthcare facilities for low back pain in Ethiopia 763 G. K. Beyera, J. O'Brien and S. Campbell
<i>Cross-cultural adaptation and validation of the Turkish version of Centrality of Pain Scale in patients with fibromyalgia syndrome</i> 772 T. Ozsoy-Unubol and C. Unal-Ulutatar
Intra-articular delivery of umbilical cord-derived mesenchymal stem cells temporarily retard the progression of osteoarthritis
D. Xing, J. Wu, B. Wang, W. Liu, W. Liu, Y. Zhao, L. Wang, J. J. Li, A. Liu, Q. Zhou, J. Hao and J. Lin
Altered protein levels in bone marrow lesions of hip osteoarthritis: Analysis by proteomics and multiplex immunoassays
Comparison of safety, efficacy and cost between oral pulse cyclophosphamide versus intravenous cyclophosphamide pulse therapy in severe systemic lupus erythematosus
Selection and perception of methotrexate treatment information in people with rheumatoid arthritis
Patient and clinician views on an app for rheumatoid arthritis disease monitoring: Function, implementation and implications 813 R. Grainger, H. R. Townsley, C. A. Ferguson, F. E. Riley, T. Langlotz and W. J. Taylor
APLAR Grand Round
Anti-alanyl tRNA positive antisynthase syndrome with Kaposi sarcoma
Cochrane Corner
Are interventions for preventing falls in older people in care facilities and hospitals effective? A Cochrane Review summary with commentary
Correspondence
Successful treatment of adalimumab for older Behçet's disease complicated with pulmonary artery thrombosis: A case report 837 S. Yoshida and Y. Kimura
Erratum 840

**APLAR Matter** 

**Editorial** 

841

DOI: 10.1111/1756-185X.13828

#### EDITORIAL



🗠 📎 🛛 Wiley

# Does methotrexate cause interstitial lung disease in rheumatoid arthritis: What is the evidence?

#### 1 | INTRODUCTION

Low-dose methotrexate (LD-MTX) is presently the mainstay of treatment of rheumatoid arthritis (RA).<sup>1-4</sup> It is one of the safest drugs to treat RA.<sup>5</sup> Therefore, it is called "The Anchor Drug" in RA<sup>6</sup> and recommended by the American College of Rheumatology and European League Against Rheumatism as its first-line treatment.<sup>7,8</sup> Over time, its efficacy in treating several additional systemic immunoinflammatory rheumatic diseases (SIRDs)<sup>9-19</sup> has broadened its use worldwide. Even biologic or targeted synthetic disease-modifying anti-rheumatic drugs (b/tsDMARDs) work better when combined with MTX.<sup>20</sup> It has a long-retention rate further confirming its safety and efficacy.<sup>21</sup> With several decades of regular use in patients in routine rheumatology clinics world-over, rheumatologists have become comfortable and confident in routinely using MTX. With such overwhelming proof of its efficacy and safety, if for some reason(s) it cannot be prescribed to a patient with RA or SIRDs, managing such a patient becomes difficult. One such situation that has caused much discussion and controversy is the "triad" of methotrexate-RA-interstitial lung disease (ILD).<sup>22</sup>

#### 2 | COMMON SIDE-EFFECTS OF LD-MTX

No drug is completely free of side-effects. LD-MTX is no exception. A detailed discussion of the same is beyond the scope of this review that focuses on issues related to lungs only. The readers may like to refer to a recent update on the topic for more detailed information.<sup>23</sup> Suffice it to say that in routine clinical practice adverse effects of LD-MTX are generally minor and easily manageable.<sup>4</sup>

#### 3 | LD-MTX AND THE LUNG

In the context of treatment of RA with LD-MTX, if the patient shows features of ILD it is common to "blame" the drug promptly and "ban" it forever.

Consequently, it becomes challenging to treat such patients without LD-MTX. Therefore, it is essential to examine the evidence in favor or against the involvement of LD-MTX in the causation of rheumatoid lung disease, namely ILD. Emerging recent evidence has challenged the long-held view of the involvement of LD-MTX in RAassociated ILD.

# 4 | THE EVIDENCE FOR MTX LUNG TOXICITY

The first report of lung toxicity was presented by Albert M. Clarysse from Maxwell M. Wintrobe's hematology group (in Denver, Colorado, USA) at the XII Congress of International Society of Hematology, New York, in 1968<sup>24</sup> which was published in 1969.<sup>25</sup> The report included 7 consecutive patients with acute lymphoblastic leukemia who were treated intermittently with 13.3-20 mg MTX per square meter body surface after induction of remission with prednisone therapy. In authors' words "A respiratory illness characterized by fever, non-productive cough, severe dyspnea, cyanosis, and bilateral pulmonary infiltrates developed in all 7 patients while they were in hematology remission. The illness was severe and life-threatening in 6 of the 7 patients. All 7 recovered". The authors had noted there was marked eosinophilia in these patients during the acute phase of illness which made the treating physicians suspect acute/ subacute hypersensitivity pneumonitis (HP) due to environmental exposures. Therefore, these patients were painstakingly investigated for different respiratory exposures including blastomycosis, coccidioidomycosis, histoplasmosis, tuberculosis and any exposure to birds. Finally, it is interesting to note that all 7 patients recovered after the drug was discontinued. It can be clearly seen this was an acute/subacute illness that had no resemblance to the chronic ILD seen in day-to-day clinical practice. Certainly, no pulmonologist will confuse typical HP described in these patients with routine ILD, a chronic idiopathic progressive fibrotic lung disease which reduces patient survival. In hindsight, the detailed histopathological finding of the lung biopsy from these patients was rather typical of HP with no resemblance to that of chronic idiopathic ILD, routinely seen in clinical practice. None of the above patients progressed into chronic ILD with any resemblance to idiopathic ILD.

The next major publication on MTX and lung disease was by Kremer et al in 1997 which also reviewed the literature on the topic. As against cancer, Kremer et al studied patients with

 $<sup>\</sup>ensuremath{\mathbb{C}}$  2020 Asia Pacific League of Associations for Rheumatology and John Wiley & Sons Australia, Ltd

RA treated with MTX.<sup>26</sup> Six academic institutions and private practices participated in the study and collected information on patients with RA from July 1981 and June 1993. The authors selected patients using the Searles-McKendry criteria for MTX pneumonitis.<sup>27</sup> It is to be noted that the first point in the "Major criteria" states "Hypersensitivity pneumonitis by histopathologic examination (and without evidence of pathogenic organisms)". Therefore, by definition, what the authors were describing was not chronic idiopathic ILD but an entirely different lung condition namely, HP. For their study, Kremer et al identified 27 cases that met the criteria.<sup>26</sup> Clinical features included acute or subacute onset of progressive dyspnea, mostly dry cough and fever with mild eosinophilia in the majority during the acute phase. Lung biopsy was available in 20 patients. The histopathology was evaluated by experts with long experience in hypersensitivity lung disease and MTX toxicity who could make the distinction between RA lung disease and MTX-related HP. The paper describes the minute details of the histopathological distinction between HP and RA-ILD. Twenty cases were classified as having definite MTX lung injury on histopathologic evaluation. Four cases were categorized as probable, and 3 as possible. Four of the specimens were judged to have no MTX lung injury. Rheumatoid lung was not noted in any patient. Based upon these characteristics the authors conclude that MTX-related HP is a toxic reaction that usually occurs after a relatively short duration of treatment and it is not related to the cumulative dose. Thus, based upon this seminal paper, it can be summarized that MTX lung injury is a form of HP, a disease distinct from RA-ILD and the garden variety of chronic ILD.

Considering these 2 seminal earlier papers, it is obvious that LD-MTX may cause HP. These papers also clearly mention the distinction between HP and RA-ILD; the latter was not seen in these patients. In a paper on the long-term safety of LD-MTX in RA published in 2009, MTX HP was seen only in 0.43%.<sup>28</sup> The issue of MTX-related HP has been recently revisited.<sup>22,23</sup> In his 2018 review, Balk<sup>23</sup> quotes the figures of 1%-8% for MTX-related HP with 1 exceptionally high figure of 33%. Fragoulis et al in their detailed review on the same subject in 2019,22 came to their first conclusion that most of the high figures for MTX-related HP were reported in publications before the 1990s after which these figures fell to 0.43% as had been reported by Salliot and van der Heijde in 2009.28 Fragoulis et al also suggested that in recent years this figure may have fallen even further to 0.28% (13 cases reported in the 4544 MTX-treated patients).<sup>22</sup>

The second point discussed by Fragoulis et al is related to the occurrence of MTX-induced ILD in RA for which they found no evidence in the literature.<sup>22</sup> These authors quote several papers clearly establishing that MTX treatment has no role in causing rheumatoid lung disease. It seems that for reasons not clear, HP has been confused with ILD seen in RA. The latter point requires critical appraisal mainly because there is widespread misbelief among physicians that MTX causes ILD in patients with RA.

#### 5 | DIFFICULTY IN DIFFERENTIATING CHRONIC HYPERSENSITIVITY PNEUMONIA, IDIOPATHIC PULMONARY FIBROSIS (IPF) AND NONSPECIFIC INTERSTITIAL PNEUMONIA (NSIP)

Chronic hypersensitivity pneumonitis (CHP) is an ILD that results from recurrent or long-standing exposure to environmental antigens and carries a poor prognosis with 5-year survival as low as 25%-30%.<sup>29</sup> Diagnosing CHP is difficult because the manifestations are nonspecific and may mimic IPF and NSIP.<sup>30</sup> Yet, the distinction of CHP from IPF and NSIP is important because each disease is managed differently.<sup>30</sup> Because CHP is caused by repeated pulmonary exposure to a variety of ubiquitous environmental small organic particles (antigens) including fungi, animal proteins, insects and occasionally chemical compounds.<sup>31</sup> avoidance of the inciting antigen is key to its management.<sup>32</sup> Thus, the literature review on CHP gives a possible clue to why MTX is getting the blame for RA-ILD. Could CHP be the disease that is being confused with RA-ILD for which MTX is getting the blame? It is a thought that needs to be discussed with pulmonologists. In discussion with pulmonologists and after a literature search,<sup>33</sup> it was evident that several features of CHP especially differential diagnosis between CHP and acute to subacute ILDs including diffuse alveolar damage, organizing pneumonia, eosinophilic pneumonia (EP), lymphocytic interstitial pneumonia, or cellular nonspecific interstitial pneumonia (NSIP) is often difficult even for specialists. Moreover, the epidemiology of CHP is not well known. and there are no reports of MTX-induced CHP. Therefore, the possibility of MTX causing CHP would remain a research agenda.

# 6 | LD-MTX DOES NOT CAUSE ILD-THE EVIDENCE

There are only a few high-quality studies suitable for use to analyze respiratory adverse events caused by LD-MTX. Fortunately, there have been 3 recent publications of 2 well-performed meta-analyses and one multivariate analysis on this issue.<sup>34-36</sup> Additionally, Fragoulis et al<sup>22</sup> have summarized the results of 2 of these studies<sup>34,35</sup> succinctly and argued strongly against the involvement of MTX in the causation of RA-ILD.

The first meta-analysis included 22 randomized controlled trials with 8584 patients, equally divided into 2 groups who received either MTX or a comparator conventional synthetic DMARD (csD-MARD).<sup>34</sup> The results indicated an association of MTX with increased risk of infectious (relative risk [RR] 1.11, 95% CI 1.02-1.21), rather than non-infectious (RR 1.02, 95% CI 0.65) etiology of adverse effect in the lung. ILD being a non-infectious condition, the study seems to negate any association of MTX with non-infectious lung adverse effects. Higher rates of lung infection in patients with RA are well known.<sup>37,38</sup> Similarly, a higher than normal rate of ILD has also been reported in patients with RA.<sup>39</sup> The second meta-analysis by the same group was carried out with the objective of evaluating the RR of lung involvement in patients with psoriasis, psoriatic arthritis, and inflammatory bowel disease treated with MTX.<sup>35</sup> It included 7 studies comprising 1640 patients with psoriasis, psoriatic arthritis and inflammatory bowel disease Of these, 818 patients were taking MTX and 812 other conventional synthetic DMARDs (csDMARDs). The study found no increase in overall respiratory adverse events in patients taking MTX (RR 1.03, 95% CI 0.90-1.17). On the separate assessment of infectious and non-infectious adverse events, no increase in infectious or non-infectious adverse events was observed (RR 1.02, 95% CI 0.88-1.19; and RR 1.07, 95% CI 0.58-1.96, respectively). However, there was 1 possible case with MTX-related HP. Thus, it could be concluded that it is not the MTX but the disease RA itself that makes a patient more prone to developing ILD rather than the treatment with MTX.

The third important publication, a multivariate analysis, published in the middle of 2019 is even more compelling because it shows that LD-MTX for treating RA could be protective against the development of ILD.<sup>36</sup> The study assessed predictive factors for RA-ILD in 2 early RA inception cohorts, namely, the early RA study (ERAS) and the early RA network (ERAN), from a standpoint of MTX exposure. ERAS recruited patients from 9 centers while ERAN recruited patients from 23 centers in England, Wales and Ireland from 1986 to 2012 with follow-up going on up to 25 years. Participants included 2701 patients with newly diagnosed RA. Data were collected on standardized forms that included demographics, drug therapies, clinical outcomes and the presence of RA-ILD, at the baseline, at 3-6 months follow-up and then annually. The primary outcome of the study was to evaluate the association of MTX exposure with the diagnosis of RA-ILD. There were 3 secondary outcomes of the study for any possible association of RA-ILD with: (a) demographic factors, (b) comorbidities and (c) RA-specific factors (serology, the association of MTX exposure with time to RA-ILD diagnosis). The study could find 92 patients who developed ILD during the stated period. MTX exposure was recorded in 39 (2.5%) of 1578 patients while in the non-MTX exposed cases ILD was recorded in 53 (4.8%) of 1114 patients. The primary analysis of RA-ILD cases who developed the disease only after the initiation of any of the csDMARD treatment (n = 67) showed that MTX exposure was not associated with the occurrence of RA-ILD (odds ratio [OR] 0.85, 95% CI 0.49-1.49, P = .578). In a more comprehensive analysis of patients who were found to have RA-ILD at RA diagnosis (n = 92), MTX exposure was associated with a significantly reduced risk of incident RA-ILD (OR 0.48, 95% CI 0.3-0.79, P = .004). Also, in those exposed to MTX, the time to ILD diagnosis was significantly longer (OR 0.41, 95% CI 0.23-0.75, P = .004). This study confirmed some of the other known risk factors for developing RA-ILD including higher age at the onset of RA, smoking (current or past), male gender, rheumatoid nodules and delay in appropriate treatment. The study concluded that MTX treatment was not associated with an increased risk of RA-ILD diagnosis. Based upon these results, the authors argued that, contrary to the belief, the presented evidence suggested that MTX may prevent or delay the onset of ILD in patients with RA.

#### 7 | CONCLUSION

An extensive literature review revealed that all the papers on the topic of MTX-induced lung injury have described an acute or subacute lung disease that has clinical, radiographic and histopathological features typical of HP with no resemblance to RA-ILD and it responds to standard treatment recommended for HP. Mysteriously, the incidence of MH-pneumo seems to have gone down from the reported figures varying from 1%-8% published before 2009. Publications since then have shown that the MH-pneumo figures have come down to 0.43% in 2009<sup>28</sup> and now. 0.286% in the publications from 2019.<sup>22</sup> Also, since 2014 the publications of 2 meta-analyses,<sup>34,35</sup> 1 multivariate analysis<sup>36</sup> and 1 narrative review of literature on the topic of MTX and RA-ILD<sup>22</sup> have firmly refuted any association of LD-MTX with RA-ILD. Moreover, the available data tend to indicate that LD-MTX may actually be preventing or delaying the occurrence of RA-ILD.<sup>36</sup> The widespread misbelief regarding "MTX causing ILD" could have its root in misinterpreting MH-pneumo as being RA-ILD while the fact is that these are 2 entirely distinct pulmonary diseases with no relationship to each other. Therefore, discontinuing MTX treatment in RA-ILD would appear to be illogical and unreasonable.

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The author would like to acknowledge Prof. Kevin Pile Director Rheumatology, Campbelltown Hospital and the University of Western Sydney| Campbelltown, New South Wales, Australia, for encouraging to write such an article.

#### CONFLICT OF INTEREST

None.

Anand Narayan Malaviya ២

Department of Rheumatology, ISIC Superspecialty Hospital, New Delhi, India

#### Correspondence

Anand Narayan Malaviya, Department of Rheumatology, ISIC Superspecialty Hospital, Vasant Kunj, New Delhi 110070, India. Email: anand\_malaviya@yahoo.com

#### ORCID

Anand Narayan Malaviya D https://orcid. org/0000-0002-9221-9506

#### REFERENCES

- 1. Cronstein BN. Low-dose methotrexate: a mainstay in the treatment of rheumatoid arthritis. *Pharmacol Rev.* 2005;57(2):163-172.
- Świerkot J, Szechiński J. Methotrexate in rheumatoid arthritis. Pharmacol Rep. 2006;58(3):473-492.
- Tian H. Cronstein BN understanding the mechanisms of action of methotrexate: implications for the treatment of rheumatoid arthritis. *Bull NYU Hosp Joint Dis.* 2007;65(3):168-173.

ILEY-Rheumatic Diseases

- Weinblatt ME. Methotrexate in rheumatoid arthritis: a quarter century of development. *Trans Am Clin Climatol Assoc.* 2013;124(1):16-25.
- Yazici Y. Long-term safety of methotrexate in the treatment of rheumatoid arthritis. Clin Exp Rheumatol. 2010;28(5 suppl 61):S65-S67.
- Pincus T, Gibson KA, Castrejón I. Update on methotrexate as the anchor drug for rheumatoid arthritis. *Bull Hosp Jt Dis.* 2013;71(suppl 1):S9-19.
- Singh JA, Saag KG, Bridges Jr SL, et al. 2015 American College of Rheumatology Guideline for the treatment of rheumatoid arthritis. *Arthritis Care Res.* 2016;68(1):1-25.
- Smolen JS, Landewé R, Bijlsma J, et al. EULAR recommendations for the management of rheumatoid arthritis with synthetic and biological disease-modifying antirheumatic drugs: 2016 update. Ann Rheum Dis. 2017;76(6):960-977.
- Malaviya AN, Many A, Schwartz RS. Treatment of dermatomyositis with methotrexate. *Lancet*. 1968;2(7566):485-488.
- 10. Barsotti S, Lundberg IL. Current treatment for myositis. *Curr Treat Opt Rheumatol.* 2018;4(4):299-315.
- Sakthiswary R, Suresh E. Methotrexate in systemic lupus erythematosus: a systematic review of its efficacy. Lupus. 2014;23(3):225-235.
- Walker KM, Pope J. Expert Agreement on EULAR/EUSTAR Recommendations for the Management of Systemic Sclerosis. J Rheumatol. 2011;38(7):1326-1328.
- Seyger MM, van den Hoogen FH, de Boo T, de Jong EM. Low dose methotrexate in the treatment of widespread morphea. J Am Acad Dermatol. 1998;39(2):220-225.
- Skopouli FN, Jagiello P, Tsifetaki N, Moutsopoulos HM. Methotrexate in primary Sjogren's syndrome. *Clin Exp Rheumatol*. 1996;14(5):555-558.
- Trentham DE, Le CH. Relapsing polychondritis. Ann Intern Med. 1998;129(2):114-122.
- 16. Lower EE, Baughman RP. Prolonged use of methotrexate for sarcoidosis. Arch Intern Med. 1995;155(8):846-851.
- 17. Baughman RP, Costabel U, du Bois RM. Treatment of sarcoidosis. Clin Chest Med. 2008;29(3):533-548.
- Ash Z, Gaujoux-Viala C, Gossec L, et al. A systematic literature review of drug therapies for the treatment of psoriatic arthritis: current evidence and meta-analysis informing the EULAR recommendations for the management of psoriatic arthritis. *Ann Rheum Dis.* 2012;71(3):319-326.
- Della-Torre E, Campochiaro C, Bozzolo EP, et al. Methotrexate for maintenance of remission in IgG4-related disease. *Rheumatology* (Oxford). 2015;54(10):1934-1936.
- Bello AE, Perkins EL, Jay R, Efthimiou P. Recommendations for optimizing methotrexate treatment for patients with rheumatoid arthritis. Open Access Rheumatol: Res & Rev. 2017;9(3):67-79.
- Agarwal S, Zaman T, Handa R. Retention rates of disease-modifying anti-rheumatic drugs in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. *Singapore Med J.* 2009;50(7):686-692.
- Fragoulis GE, Richard Conway R, Nikiphorou E. Methotrexate and interstitial lung disease: controversies and questions. A narrative review of the literature. *Rheumatology (Oxford)*. 2019;58(11):1900-1906.
- Balk RA.Methotrexate-induced lung injury. UpToDate. Sec Ed: Flaherty KR, Jett JR, last updated: May 08, 2018.
- Clarysse A, Cathey WJ, Cartwright GE, Wintrobe MM. Pulmonary Infiltrates During Intermittent Methotrexate Therapy: Abstracts of the Simultaneous Sessions of the XII Congress of International Society of Hematology. New York, NY: International Society of Hematology; 1968:7.

- 25. Clarysse AM, Cathey WJ, Cartwright GE, Wintrobe MM. Pulmonary disease complicating intermittent therapy with methotrexate. JAMA. 1969;209(12):1861-1864.
- Kremer JM, Alarcon GS, Weinblatt ME, et al. Clinical, laboratory, radiographic, and histopathologic features of methotrexate-associated lung injury in patients with rheumatoid arthritis - A multicenter study with literature review. Arthritis Rheum. 1997;40(10):1820-1837.
- 27. Searles G, McKendry RJ. Methotrexate pneumonitis in rheumatoid arthritis: potential risk factors. Four case reports and a review of the literature. *J Rheumatol*. 1987;14(6):1164-1171.
- Salliot C, van der Heijde D. Long-term safety of methotrexate monotherapy in patients with rheumatoid arthritis: a systematic literature research. Ann Rheum Dis. 2009;68(7):1100-1104.
- 29. Adegunsoye A, Oldham JM, Fernández Pérez ER, et al. Outcomes of immunosuppressive therapy in chronic hypersensitivity pneumonitis. *ERJ Open Res.* 2017;3(3):00016-2017.
- Fink JN, Ortega HG, Reynolds HY, et al. Needs and opportunities for research in hypersensitivity pneumonitis. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* 2005;171(7):792-798.
- Selman M, Pardo A, King Jr TE. Hypersensitivity pneumonitis: insights in diagnosis and pathobiology. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2012;186(4):314-324.
- 32. King Jr TE. Clinical advances in the diagnosis and therapy of the interstitial lung diseases. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2005;172(3):268-279.
- Pérez ERF, Amanda M, Kong AM, et al. Epidemiology of Hypersensitivity Pneumonitis among an Insured Population in the United States: A Claims-based Cohort Analysis. Ann Am Thorac Soc. 2018;15:460-469.
- Conway R, Low C, Coughlan RJ, O'Donnell MJ, Carey JJ. Methotrexate and lung disease in rheumatoid arthritis: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *Arthritis Rheumatol.* 2014;66(4):803-812.
- Conway R, Low C, Coughlan RJ, O'Donnell MJ, Carey JJ. Methotrexate use and risk of lung disease in psoriasis, psoriatic arthritis, and inflammatory bowel disease: systematic literature review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *BMJ*. 2015;350:h1269.
- 36. Kiely P, Busby AD, Nikiphorou E, et al. Is incident rheumatoid arthritis interstitial lung disease associated with methotrexate treatment? Results from a multivariate analysis in the ERAS and ERAN inception cohorts. *BMJ Open*. 2019;9:e028466.
- Doran MF, Crowson CS, Pond GR, O'Fallon WM, Gabriel SE. Frequency of infection in patients with rheumatoid arthritis compared with controls: a population-based study. *Arthritis Rheum*. 2002;46(9):2287-2293.
- Yamanaka H, Askling J, Berglind N, et al. Infection rates in patients from five rheumatoid arthritis (RA) registries: contextualising an RA clinical trial programme. *RMD Open*. 2017;3(2):e000498.
- Bongartz T, Nannini C, Medina-Velasquez YF, et al. Incidence and mortality of interstitial lung disease in rheumatoid arthritis: a population-based study. Arthritis Rheum. 2010;62(6):1583-1591.

How to cite this article: Malaviya AN. Does methotrexate cause interstitial lung disease in rheumatoid arthritis: What is the evidence?. *Int J Rheum Dis.* 2020;23:713–716. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/1756-185X.13828</u>

716

DOI: 10.1111/1756-185X.13863

#### EXPERT COMMENTS

👁 📎 🛛 Wiley

# Care for patients with rheumatic diseases during COVID-19 pandemic: A position statement from APLAR

Lai-Shan Tam<sup>1</sup> | Yoshiya Tanaka<sup>2</sup> | Rohini Handa<sup>3</sup> | Chi-Chen Chang<sup>4</sup> | Yew Kuang Cheng<sup>5,6</sup> | Nazrul Isalm<sup>7</sup> | Mengtao Li<sup>8</sup> | Jose Paulo Lorenzo<sup>9</sup> | Yeong-Wook Song<sup>10</sup> | Kazuhiko Yamamoto<sup>11</sup> | Xiaofeng Zeng<sup>8</sup> | Syed Atiqul Haq<sup>12</sup> |

<sup>1</sup>Department of Medicine and Therapeutics, The Chinese University of Hong Kong, Hong Kong, China

<sup>2</sup>The First Department of Internal Medicine, University of Occupational and Environmental Health, Kitakyushu, Japan

<sup>3</sup>Apollo Indraprastha Hospitals, New Delhi, India

<sup>4</sup>Division of Allergy, Immunology and Rheumatology, Department of Internal Medicine, School of Medicine, College of Medicine, Taipei Medical University, Taipei, Taiwan

<sup>5</sup>Allergy, Arthritis & Rheumatism Clinic, Farrer Park Hospital, Singapore City, Singapore

<sup>6</sup>Yong Loo Lin School of Medicine, National University of Singapore, Singapore City, Singapore

<sup>7</sup>Deptartment of Rheumatology, BSMMU, Dhaka, Bangladesh

<sup>8</sup>Department of Rheumatology, Key Laboratory of Rheumatology and Clinical Immunology, Ministry of Education, Peking Union Medical College & Chinese Academy of Medical Science, Peking Union Medical College Hospital, National Clinical Research Center for Dermatologic and Immunologic Diseases, Ministry of Science & Technology, Beijing, China

<sup>9</sup>Makati Medical Center, Makati, Philippines

<sup>10</sup>Department of Internal Medicine, Seoul National University Hospital, Seoul, South Korea

<sup>11</sup>Laboratory for Autoimmune Diseases, RIKEN Center for Integrative Medical Sciences, Yokohama, Japan

<sup>12</sup>BSM Medical University, Dhaka, Bangladesh

**Correspondence**: Syed Atiqul Haq, BSM Medical University, Dhaka, Bangladesh. Email: haqsyedatiqul@gmail.com

#### 1 | INTRODUCTION

The outbreak of coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) caused by the severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) was first reported in China in December 2019. This disease now affects the whole world. Patients with rheumatic diseases are at higher risk of respiratory infections including influenza and pneumococcal pneumonia, which is attributed to the underlying disease, comorbidities and immunosuppressive therapy,<sup>1</sup> but to date we lack good information about the virus SARS-CoV-2. Nonetheless, immunosuppressive treatments are essential to control disease activity and prevent functional deterioration in these patients. Rheumatologists need to be vigilant in preventing rheumatic disease patients from contracting the disease during this pandemic, especially patients with chronic lung problems (eg scleroderma with lung fibrosis) and chronic kidney disease (eg lupus nephritis) and those on high-dose glucocorticoids and immunosuppressants (Appendix 1). In the desperate search to find effective treatments for COVID-19, drugs largely used by rheumatologists have entered the spotlight, including the caution against use of non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs), the potential of antimalarials and biologic disease-modifying anti-rheumatic drugs (bDMARDs), for example anti-interleukin-6 (IL-6) and targeted synthetic DMARDS (tsDMARDs) Janus-activated kinase (JAK) inhibitors to manage cytokine storm syndrome (CSS)/cytokine release syndrome associated with COVID-19. Here, we try to provide guidance regarding clinical decision-making both for patients with COVID-19 and those with rheumatic diseases, and strategies to mitigate further harm to these patients.

#### 2 | METHODS

An Asia-Pacific League Against Rheumatism (APLAR) COVID-19 task force comprising rheumatologists from 9 Asia-Pacific countries

© 2020 Asia Pacific League of Associations for Rheumatology and John Wiley & Sons Australia, Ltd

was convened on 31 March, 2020. A set of guidance statements was developed and refined based on best available evidence up to 26 April, 2020 and expert opinion. Given the overall limited nature of the data, a systematic review was not performed. The final guidance statements integrate both the task force members' assessment of the evidence quality and the ratio of risk and benefit from the treatment or action. We assert that the key guiding principle should be to "first do no harm," especially given the unknown efficacy of proposed DMARDs and biologics and their established potential harms. This guidance document has been reviewed and endorsed by the APLAR executive committee and the APLAR scientific committee chairpersons.

#### 3 | HOW CAN WE MINIMIZE THE RISK OF RHEUMATIC DISEASE PATIENTS FROM EXPOSURE TO COVID-19?

In the absence of a vaccine or a therapeutic agent, a "mitigation approach", including "social distancing", frequent hand washing and quarantining strategies are the primary interventions to hamper the spread of infection.<sup>2</sup> Another approach, known as "suppression strategies" includes strict lockdown measures – social distancing in entire populations, the closure of schools and community spaces, aggressive case finding and contact tracing, have succeeded in maintaining low case counts of COVID-19. During this extraordinary time, the rheumatology community faces unprecedented challenges as care could be postponed/delayed or handled through virtual care to minimize contact exposure and to practice social distancing.

Comorbid conditions are common in patients with COVID-19.<sup>3</sup> Smoking can cause an increase in the release of IL-6 in bronchial epithelial cells,<sup>4</sup> and upregulate angiotensin-converting enzyme-2 (ACE2) receptors, the known receptor for SARS-CoV.<sup>5</sup> This is particularly relevant as some of the Asia-Pacific countries, for example China, has a high male smoking rate.<sup>6</sup> Globally the quality of evaluation, monitoring and treatment of comorbidities in rheumatic disease patients is variable with considerable scope for improvement.<sup>7</sup> Rheumatologists should be vigilant in assessing and managing comorbidities not only to improve morbidity and mortality, but hopefully to minimize risk of COVID-19 in rheumatic disease patients.

#### 4 | NON-STEROIDAL ANTI-INFLAMMATORY DRUGS

In patients with acute respiratory tract infections, short-term use of NSAIDs are associated with increased risk of cardiovascular events and nephrotoxicity,<sup>8-10</sup> higher rates of complications, and delays in the prescription of effective antibiotic treatment.<sup>11</sup> Despite the lack of evidence relating specifically to people with COVID-19, regular NSAID use should not be recommended as the first line option for managing the symptoms of COVID-19.<sup>12</sup> Nonetheless, arthritis

TAM ET AL.

patients taking NSAIDs for symptomatic relief should continue their treatment as needed.

#### 5 | USE OF IMMUNOSUPPRESSANTS AND RISK OF COVID-19 INFECTION

Epidemiologic studies have identified advanced age, male gender and presence of comorbidities (hypertension, obesity, diabetes, coronary heart disease, chronic obstructive lung disease and chronic kidney disease) as poor prognostic factors for COVID-19.13 Despite the lack of data on the true prevalence and risk of COVID-19 in rheumatic disease patients, immunosuppressed status (the use of chemotherapy or conditions requiring immunosuppressive treatment) was not reported to be a risk factor and risk for adverse outcome. One patient with systemic sclerosis-associated interstitial lung disease (SSC-ILD) on tocilizumab and 7 patients on bDMARDs or ts-DMARDs who developed COVID-19 recovered uneventfully.14-16 Nonetheless, at least 2 patients on rituximab<sup>17</sup> developed respiratory failure and 1 of them died despite treatment with tocilizumab.<sup>18</sup> In order to gather real-world data to inform treatment strategies and better characterize individuals at increased risk of infection, the COVID-19 Global Rheumatology Alliance has successfully developed online portals and case report forms to enable healthcare providers around the world to enter information on individuals with rheumatic disease who have been diagnosed with COVID-19, with clinical data of the first 110 patients published.<sup>19</sup> For now, patients with stable rheumatic diseases should continue their treatment. In case of infection (including COVID-19), treatment of infection gains precedence and immunosuppressive treatment may be de-escalated or temporarily withheld in consultation with the treating rheumatologist (Appendix 1).

#### 5.1 | Glucocorticoid therapy

Acute lung injury and acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS) are partly caused by host immune responses. Severe COVID-19associated pneumonia patients may exhibit features of systemic hyper-inflammation or CSS. COVID-19 infection with CSS typically occurs in subjects with ARDS and historically, non-survival in ARDS was linked to sustained IL-6 and IL-1 elevation.<sup>20</sup> Corticosteroids suppress lung inflammation but also inhibit immune responses and pathogen clearance. The effectiveness of adjunctive glucocorticoid therapy in the management of COVID-19 infected patients remains controversial.<sup>21,22</sup> Until results from ongoing randomized-controlled trials are available, the World Health Organization (WHO) has advised against routine use of systemic corticosteroids for treatment of viral pneumonia outside of clinical trials unless they were indicated for other reasons (eg septic shock) (Appendix 2). In rheumatic disease patients on long-term steroids, it is very important to remind them not to stop their prednisone even if they develop symptoms suggestive of COVID-19 (Appendix 1). For patients with active

International Journal of Rheumatic Diseases

rheumatic disease, after excluding concurrent active infection, the prednisone dose could be increased carefully according to the severity of the organ manifestation, in spite of the risk of COVID-19.

# 5.2 | Conventional synthetic disease-modifying anti-rheumatic drugs

Preclinical and limited clinical data suggested that hydroxychloroquine (HCQ) and chloroquine (CLQ) have antiviral activities against SARS-CoV-2.<sup>23-25</sup> In contrast, a small but randomized study from China in patients with mild to moderate COVID-19 treated with HCQ or placebo found no difference in recovery rates.<sup>26</sup> and French investigators failed to confirm antiviral activity or clinical benefit of the HCQ and azithromycin combination in 11 hospitalized patients with severe COVID-19.<sup>27</sup> In a French series of 17 systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) patients with COVID-19 on long-term HCQ, 11 (65%) and 5 (29%) developed respiratory failure and ARDS respectively despite having blood HCQ concentrations within the therapeutic range for the management of SLE.<sup>28</sup> Whether blood HCQ concentrations may be effective for the antiviral activity against SARS-CoV-2 remained uncertain. Nonetheless, data from this study suggest that HCQ may not be able to prevent severe COVID-19 in these patients. The US Food and Drug Administration (FDA) cautioned against use of HCQ or CLQ for COVID-19 outside of the hospital setting or a clinical trial due to risk of heart rhythm problems (Appendix 2). The APLAR task force agreed there are insufficient clinical data to recommend either for or against HCQ or CLQ for COVID-19, and clinicians should monitor patients for adverse effects, especially prolonged QTc interval. Health authorities should ensure adequate supply of these drugs since the HCQ shortage not only will limit availability to patients with COVID-19 if efficacy is truly established but also represents a real risk to patients with rheumatic diseases.

On the other hand, rheumatologists should remind patients to continue HCQ and not to taper the dosage even if they develop symptoms suggestive of COVID-19 and reassurance should be given that this drug should not increase their risk of infection.

#### 5.3 | Biologic disease-modifying antirheumatic drugs

Once hospitalized, for some patients with COVID-19, death can occur within a few days, many with ARDS, and some with multiorgan dysfunction syndrome.<sup>14</sup> In those critically ill patients, there are both clinical signs and symptoms, as well as laboratory abnormalities, that suggest a CSS is occurring in response to the viral infection. According to data from the Chinese cohorts, patients with severe disease and requiring intensive care often show leucopenia, lymphopenia, significantly higher levels of C-reactive protein (CRP), IL-6, IL-10, and tumor necrosis factor- $\alpha$  (TNF- $\alpha$ ).<sup>29</sup> In this setting, biologic drugs selectively blocking inflammatory cytokines, such as TNF- $\alpha$  inhibitors, anti-IL-6, anti-IL-1 and JAK inhibitors are currently employed in the treatment of severe cases of COVID-19 in an experimental manner or undergoing clinical trials (Appendix 2).

🐵 📎 – Wiley

Tocilizumab, has been shown effective in treating CSS, a common complication of chimeric antigen receptor-T cell therapy used for treating refractory acute lymphoblastic leukemia<sup>30</sup> and may be effective in Chinese COVID-19 patients with severe and critical disease.<sup>31</sup> Anti-IL-6R antibody is currently included in the treatment recommendation for Chinese COVID-19 patients (Appendix 2). These concepts have led to interests in JAK inhibitors, for example baricitinib, as potential treatments for CSS complicated with severe COVID-19.

ACE2 is a cell-surface protein widely existing on cells in the heart, kidney, blood vessels, especially alveolar epithelial cells. SARS-CoV-2 was believed to invade and enter lung cells through ACE2-mediated endocytosis. One of the known regulators of endocytosis is the AP2associated protein kinase 1 (AAK1). AAK1 inhibitors can interrupt the passage of the virus into cells and can be helpful in preventing virus infections. Baricitinib, apart from being a JAK inhibitor, is also an AAK1 inhibitor. Baricitinib was thought to be a possible candidate for treatment of COVID-19, considering its relative safety and high affinity.<sup>32</sup> On the other hand, JAK-STAT (signal transducer and activator of transcription) signal blocking by baricitinib produces an impairment of interferon-mediated antiviral response, with a potential facilitating effect on the evolution of SARS-CoV-2 infection, and therefore may not be a suitable treatment.<sup>33</sup> While we are waiting for the results from the control trials to resolve this controversy, rheumatologists should be particularly cautious of serious infectious events on the use of this agent, in particular viral infection, for example herpes zoster.

#### 6 | CONCLUSIONS

Rheumatologists worldwide are trying new strategies to optimize care for rheumatic disease patients during this unprecedented COVID-19 pandemic. Concerted efforts from healthcare providers in different healthcare systems are required to continue clinical assessments and ensure adequate supply of immunosuppressive therapy. Worsening of rheumatic disease may induce a systemic inflammatory state which may represent an adjunctive risk factor for major susceptibility to viral infection. On the other hand, rheumatologists are cautiously enthusiastic that a variety of immunemodulating drugs and targeted cytokine inhibitors available for rheumatic disease patients may also benefit patients as prophylaxis for COVID-19 or with COVID-19-induced CSS. Because of insufficient data, APLAR could not recommend any specific treatments for patients with COVID-19. Nevertheless, rheumatologists/immunologists are expert in the use of these agents and we should be to the forefront in advising around their application, noting risks and benefits are not yet clear and should not be taken for granted in Rheumatic Diseases

COVID-19. We emphasize the ongoing importance of critical review of emerging literature to inform current and future treatment decisions. International registries have been created to collect data on rheumatic patients with COVID-19. Ultimately, time and these registries will tell what the right decision is regarding maintaining current therapy for patients with rheumatic diseases. The APLAR task force will respond quickly and efficiently to place the evidence base behind our recommendations and update them should new findings emerge from clinical trials.

#### ORCID

Lai-Shan Tam D https://orcid.org/0000-0001-6410-8852 Yoshiya Tanaka D https://orcid.org/0000-0002-0807-7139 Rohini Handa https://orcid.org/0000-0001-6685-4170 Yeong-Wook Song https://orcid.org/0000-0002-5384-3437 Syed Atiqul Haq https://orcid.org/0000-0003-4154-7283

#### REFERENCES

- Furer V, Rondaan C, Heijstek M, et al. Incidence and prevalence of vaccine preventable infections in adult patients with autoimmune inflammatory rheumatic diseases (AIIRD): a systemic literature review informing the 2019 update of the EULAR recommendations for vaccination in adult patients with AIIRD. *RMD open*. 2019;5(2):e001041.
- Lewnard JA, Lo NC. Scientific and ethical basis for social-distancing interventions against COVID-19. *Lancet Infect Dis.* 2020.https://doi. org/10.1016/S1473-3099(20)30190-0
- Emami A, Javanmardi F, Pirbonyeh N, Akbari A. Prevalence of underlying diseases in hospitalized patients with COVID- 19: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Arch Acad Emerg Med. 2020;8(1):e35.
- Higham A, Bostock D, Booth G, Dungwa JV, Singh D. The effect of electronic cigarette and tobacco smoke exposure on COPD bronchial epithelial cell inflammatory responses. Int J Chron Obstruct Pulmon Dis. 2018;13:989-1000.
- Brake SJ, Barnsley K, Lu W, McAlinden KD, Eapen MS, Sohal SS. Smoking upregulates angiotensin-converting enzyme-2 receptor: a potential adhesion site for novel coronavirus SARS-CoV-2 (Covid-19). J Clin Med. 2020;9(3):841.
- Zhi K, Wang L, Han Y, et al. Trends in cigarette smoking among older male adults in China: an urban-rural comparison. J Appl Gerontol. 2019;38(6):884-901.
- Dougados M, Soubrier M, Antunez A, et al. Prevalence of comorbidities in rheumatoid arthritis and evaluation of their monitoring: results of an international, cross-sectional study (COMORA). Ann Rheum Dis. 2014;73(1):62-68.
- Wen Y-C, Hsiao F-Y, Lin Z-F, Fang C-C, Shen L-J. Risk of stroke associated with use of nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs during acute respiratory infection episode. *Pharmacoepidemiol Drug Saf.* 2018;27(6):645-651.
- Wen Y-C, Hsiao F-Y, Chan KA, Lin Z-F, Shen L-J, Fang C-C. Acute respiratory infection and use of nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs on risk of acute myocardial infarction: a nationwide case-crossover study. J Infect Dis. 2017;215(4):503-509.
- Zhang X, Donnan PT, Bell S, Guthrie B. Non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drug induced acute kidney injury in the community dwelling general population and people with chronic kidney disease: systematic review and meta-analysis. BMC Nephrol. 2017;18(1):256.
- 11. Voiriot G, Philippot Q, Elabbadi A, Elbim C, Chalumeau M, Fartoukh M. Risks related to the use of non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs

in community-acquired pneumonia in adult and pediatric patients. J Clin Med. 2019;8(6):786.

- Little P. Non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs and covid-19. BMJ. 2020;368:m1185.
- Lai C-C, Liu YH, Wang C-Y, et al. Asymptomatic carrier state, acute respiratory disease, and pneumonia due to severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV- 2): facts and myths. J Microbiol Immunol Infect. 2020.https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jmii.2020.02.012
- Mihai C, Dobrota R, Schröder M, et al. COVID-19 in a patient with systemic sclerosis treated with tocilizumab for SSc-ILD. Ann Rheum Dis. 2020;79(5):668-669.
- Monti S, Balduzzi S, Delvino P, Bellis E, Quadrelli VS, Montecucco C. Clinical course of COVID-19 in a series of patients with chronic arthritis treated with immunosuppressive targeted therapies. *Ann Rheum Dis.* 2020;79(5):667-668.
- Favalli EG, Ingegnoli F, Cimaz R, Caporali R. What is the true incidence of COVID-19 in patients with rheumatic diseases? Ann Rheum Dis. 2020;2020–217615.https://doi.org/10.1136/annrh eumdis-2020-217615
- 17. Guilpain P, Le Bihan C, Foulongne V, et al. Rituximab for granulomatosis with polyangiitis in the pandemic of COVID- 19: lessons from a case with severe pneumonia. *Ann Rheum Dis.* 2020;19:2020-217549.
- Favalli EG, Agape E, Caporali R. Incidence and clinical course of COVID-19 in patients with connective tissue diseases: a descriptive observational analysis. J Rheumatol. 2020;200507.https://doi. org/10.3899/jrheum.200507
- Gianfrancesco MA, Hyrich KL, Gossec L, et al. Rheumatic disease and COVID- 19: initial data from the COVID-19 Global Rheumatology Alliance provider registries. *Lancet Rheumatol.* 2020;30095-30103.https://doi.org/10.1016/S2665-9913(20)30095-3
- McGonagle D, Sharif K, O'Regan A, Bridgewood C. The role of cytokines including interleukin-6 in COVID-19 induced pneumonia and macrophage activation syndrome-like disease. *Autoimmun Rev.* 2020;19(6):e102537.
- Wang D, Hu B, Hu C, et al. Clinical characteristics of 138 hospitalized patients with 2019 novel coronavirus-infected pneumonia in Wuhan, China. JAMA. 2020;323(11):1061-1069.
- Russell CD, Millar JE, Baillie JK. Clinical evidence does not support corticosteroid treatment for 2019-nCoV lung injury. *Lancet*. 2020;395(10223):473-475.
- 23. Liu J, Cao R, Xu M, et al. Hydroxychloroquine, a less toxic derivative of chloroquine, is effective in inhibiting SARS-CoV-2 infection in vitro. *Cell Discovery*. 2020;6(1):16.
- Wang M, Cao R, Zhang L, et al. Remdesivir and chloroquine effectively inhibit the recently emerged novel coronavirus (2019-nCoV) in vitro. *Cell Res.* 2020;30(3):269-271.
- Gautret P, Lagier J-C, Parola P, et al. Hydroxychloroquine and azithromycin as a treatment of COVID-19: results of an open-label non-randomized clinical trial. Int J Antimicrob Agents. 2020;105949.https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijantimicag.2020.105949
- Chen J, Liu D, Liu L, et al. A pilot study of hydroxychloroquine in treatment of patients with common coronavirus disease-19 (COVID-19). J Zhejiang Univ (Med Sci). 2020;49(1):215-219.
- Molina JM, Delaugerre C, Le Goff J, et al. No evidence of rapid antiviral clearance or clinical benefit with the combination of hydroxychloroquine and azithromycin in patients with severe COVID-19 infection. *Méd Mal Infect*. 2020;50(4):384.
- Mathian A, Mahevas M, Rohmer J, et al. Clinical course of coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) in a series of 17 patients with systemic lupus erythematosus under long-term treatment with hydroxychloroquine. Ann Rheum Dis. 2020;e217566.https://doi.org/10.1136/annrheumdis-2020-217566

- 29. Chen G, Wu D, Guo W, et al. Clinical and immunologic features in severe and moderate Coronavirus Disease 2019. *J Clin Investig.* 2020;30(5):2620-2629.
- Chen H, Wang F, Zhang P, et al. Management of cytokine release syndrome related to CAR-T cell therapy. *Front Med.* 2019;13(5):610-617.
- Xu X, Han M, Li T, et al. Effective treatment of severe COVID-19 patients with tocilizumab. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 2020;117(20):10970-10975.https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.20056 15117
- Richardson P, Griffin I, Tucker C, et al. Baricitinib as potential treatment for 2019-nCoV acute respiratory disease. *Lancet*. 2020;395(10223):e30-e31.

#### **APPENDIX 1**

Key recommendations for managing patients with rheumatic diseases during the COVID-19 epidemic

#### Potential risk factors for SARS-COV-2 infection in patients with rheumatic diseases

- On immunosuppressive agents
- Chronic kidney disease, eg lupus nephritis
- With lung involvement, eg interstitial lung disease
- Elderly patients
- Frequently visiting medical clinic
- With underlying health conditions, such as smoking, obesity, hypertension and diabetes
- Pregnancy

# Medication for patients with rheumatic diseases<sup>a</sup>

- Continue current treatment if disease is stable, and contact your doctor for suitable medicine if disease has flared
- Use of hydroxychloroquine (HCQ) and sulphasalazine (SLZ) should be continued and should not increase the risk of infection
- Use of other conventional synthetic disease-modifying drugs (csDMARDs, eg methotrexate, leflunomide) and immunosuppressants (eg cyclophosphamide, azathioprine, mycophenolate mofetil, tacrolimus) should be continued
- Corticosteroid use can be continued
- A new prescription of immunosuppressant or increase in dose of an ongoing immunosuppressant would need to be carefully discussed in epidemic areas
- Use of all biologic DMARDs should be continued if possible
- If infliximab infusion is not accessible, switching to other anti-tumor necrosis factor injection at home is encouraged
- Targeted synthetic DMARDs (Janus-activated kinase [JAK] inhibitors) including tofacitinib/baricitinib/upadacitinib can be continued

#### International Journal of Rheumatic Diseases

 Favalli EG, Biggioggero M, Maioli G, Caporali R. Baricitinib for COVID-19: a suitable treatment? *Lancet Infect Dis*. 2020.https://doi. org/10.1016/S1473-3099(20)30262-0

🐵 🕥-Wiley

How to cite this article: Tam L-S, Tanaka Y, Handa R, et al. Care for patients with rheumatic diseases during COVID-19 pandemic: A position statement from APLAR. *Int J Rheum Dis*. 2020;23:717–722. https://doi.org/10.1111/1756-185X.13863

#### Surgery

- Postpone elective surgery, eg joint replacement surgery
- Screening for COVID-19 (symptoms suggestive of COVID-19, complete blood count, nasopharyngeal swab and chest X-ray or chest computed tomography according to local recommendation) before emergency surgery

#### Patients with rheumatic disease and fever

- Contact your rheumatologist about potential option to visit fever outpatient clinic with personal protection provisions if temperature continues over 38°C
- Patients must not suddenly stop prednisolone
- Suspend the use of immunosuppressants and biological agents after consultation with your rheumatologist, and follow appropriate local guidance for suspected COVID-19 if COVID-19 cannot be ruled out
- Patients can continue HCQ and SLZ if they are infected with COVID-19.

<sup>a</sup>Concerning glucocorticoids, immunosuppressants, csDAMRDs, bDMARDs and JAK inhibitors, the balance of safety and efficacy in viral infection as well as pulmonary inflammation remains unclear.

#### **APPENDIX 2**

Useful links for physicians regarding COVID-19

#### The following links would help rheumatologists understand the recent perspectives on COVID-19

Taylor & Francis: https://taylorandfrancis.com/coronavirus/

Elsevier: https://www.elsevier.com/connect/coronavirus-infor mation-center

Wiley: https://novel-coronavirus.onlinelibrary.wiley.com/

ILEY-Rheumatic Diseases

a 📎

Springer Nature: https://www.springernature.com/jp/researcher s/campaigns/coronavirus/coronavirus-further-articles

Oxford University Press: https://academic.oup.com/journals/ pages/coronavirus?cc=us&lang=en&

BMJ: https://www.bmj.com/coronavirus

New England Journal of Medicine: https://www.nejm.org/coron avirus

The Lancet: https://www.thelancet.com/coronavirus

#### The following links are from national or international organizations to help rheumatologists and patients to manage their diseases during COVID-19

European League Against Rheumatism (EULAR) guidance for patients on COVID 19: https://www.eular.org/eular\_guidance\_for\_ patients\_covid19\_outbreak.cfm

American College of Rheumatology (ACR): https://www.rheum atology.org/announcements

World Health Organization (WHO): Coronavirus disease (COVID-19) outbreak

German Society for Rheumatology - Patient section. (German only): Deutsche Gesellschaft für Rheumatologie - Patienten Bereich

British Society for Rheumatology guidance for rheumatologists:

https://www.rheumatology.org.uk/news-policy/details/covid19coronavirus-update-members

Shielding policy in UK: https://www.gov.uk/government/publi cations/guidance-on-shielding-and-protecting-extremely-vulnerable-persons-from-covid-19/guidance-on-shielding-and-protectingextremely-vulnerable-persons-from-covid-19)

National Rheumatoid Arthritis Society: Coronavirus: What we know so far. https://www.nras.org.uk/coronavirus.

Medical Council of India: Telemedicine Practice Guidelines -Ministry of Health and Family

#### www.mohfw.gov.in>pdf>Telemedicine

#### Management of patients with COVID-19

WHO clinical management of severe acute respiratory infection (SARI) when COVID-19 disease is suspected: https://www.who.

int/publications-detail/clinical-management-of-severe-acute-respi ratory-infection-when-novel-coronavirus-(ncov)-infection-is-suspe cted

National Institute of Health treatment guideline

https://covid19treatmentguidelines.nih.gov/introduction/

US Food and Drug Administration (FDA) cautions against the use of antimalarial agents outside hospital setting or clinical trial: https:// www.fda.gov/drugs/drug-safety-and-availability/fda-cautions-again st-use-hydroxychloroquine-or-chloroquine-covid-19-outside-hospi tal-setting-or

Treatment recommendation for Chinese COVID-19 patients: http://kjfy.meetingchina.org/msite/news/show/cn/3337.html

The Australasian Society of Clinical Immunology and Allergy (ASCIA) positional statement: https://www.allergy.org.au/hp/papers

#### Research on DMARDs related to COVID-19

Clinicaltrial.gov: https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/results?cond=COVID-19

Hydroxychloroquine as post-exposure prophylaxis: https://clini caltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT04308668

Hydroxychloroquine for the Treatment of Patients with Mild to ModerateCOVID-19toPreventProgressiontoSevereInfectionorDeath: https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT04323631?cond=COVID-19&draw=4&rank=21 Tocilizumab: https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/ show/NCT04317092?cond=COVID-19&draw=2&rank=10

Sarilumab: https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT0431529 8?cond=COVID-19&draw=3&rank=12

Baricitinib: https://www.clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT04320277 https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT0432199 3?cond=COVID-19&draw=2&rank=18

#### Rheumatology patient registry

The COVID-19 Global Rheumatology Alliance: https://rheum-covid. org/

EULAR: https://www.eular.org/eular\_covid19\_database.cfm

DOI: 10.1111/1756-185X.13839

#### **REVIEW ARTICLE**

#### Rheumatic Diseases

#### WILEY

**@** 📎

# Update on disease pathogenesis, diagnosis, and management of primary Sjögren's syndrome

Jing Wang<sup>1</sup> | Lingyan Zhou<sup>2</sup> | Bin Liu<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Rheumatology, The Affiliated Hospital of Qingdao University, Qingdao, China

<sup>2</sup>Department of Neurology, The Affiliated Hospital of Qingdao University, Qingdao, China

#### Correspondence

Bin Liu, Department of Rheumatology, The Affiliated Hospital of Qingdao University, No.16 Jiang Su Lu, Shi Nan District, Qingdao, Shandong, China. Email: wj1853262589@163.com

#### **Funding information**

This work was supported by funding from the National Natural Science Foundation of China Grant nos. 81241094 and No. 81671600 (to BL).

#### Abstract

Primary Sjögren's syndrome (pSS) is a typical multisystem disease, characterized by lymphocytic infiltration of the exocrine glands leading to glandular dysfunction. Multiple systemic manifestations occur in those of serious conditions, with different courses and outcomes. Its pathogenesis is complex, and its diagnosis and management are being constantly updated and improved. We have failed to have much progress in targeted immunotherapy for pSS, and as yet this is still based on empirical treatment. Many studies have tried to define pSS more accurately, to study its pathogenesis, to find effective treatment strategies, opening up new avenues for early diagnosis and precise management of pSS.

#### KEYWORDS

diagnosis, management, pathogenesis, primary Sjögren's syndrome, prognosis

#### 1 | INTRODUCTION

Primary Sjögren's syndrome (pSS) is a heterogeneous and complex disease primarily affecting females, and the ratio of affected men to women is 1-9. Based on changes in diagnostic criteria, the true prevalence of pSS is difficult to assess, about 0.5%-4.0%, which is the main multisystem autoimmune disease after rheumatoid arthritis (RA).<sup>1</sup> It is characterized by lymphocytic infiltration of exocrine glands leading to glandular dysfunction, and high titer of serum anti-SSA/B antibodies, which may lead to further systemic manifestations, including rash, arthritis, profound fatigue, nephritis, and lymphoma, that result in severe morbidity and a decreased quality of life, and can even be life-threatening.<sup>2</sup> It is also known as secondary SS (sSS) when it is associated with other autoimmune diseases such as RA. In recent years, research on pSS has been more of a combination of clinical experiments and basic research to further explore its pathogenesis and novel biomarkers. This review will summarize the latest research on the pathogenesis, diagnosis and management of pSS.

#### 2 | PATHOGENESIS

The pathogenesis of pSS involves complex effects of multiple factors, which are generally believed to be related to genetic predisposition, environmental factors and immunological disorders.

The genetic factors closely related to pSS include human leukocyte antigen type-DR (HLA-DR) allele subtypes as well as some specific gene polymorphisms. Zhang et al analyzed the whole-genome expression profiles of salivary glands in non-sicca control groups and pSS patients; 379 differentially expressed genes (DEGs) were found to be involved in the pathogenesis of pSS. Three hundred genes were significantly up-regulated, and enriched in Gene Ontology terms of autoimmune responses. The remaining 79 DEGs related to salivary gland dysfunction were down-regulated.<sup>3</sup> Therefore, genomic studies are supposed to further explain the etiology and pathogenesis of pSS.

Based on the female preponderance in pSS, the X-chromosome has widely attracted attention. Given the interpretation of SS *GEO2R* 

© 2020 Asia Pacific League of Associations for Rheumatology and John Wiley & Sons Australia, Ltd

Jing Wang and Lingyan Zhou contributed to this work equally and should be regarded as co-first authors

gene datasets, Mougeot et al found that 58 X-chromosome genes were up-regulated. In addition, they also found *XIST* and its cis regulators were up-regulated such as *CHIC1*, *FTX*, and *RLIM*.<sup>4,5</sup> Numerous X-chromosome genes referred to SS pathogenesis can be adjusted by transcription factors which are differentially methylated and overexpressed in SS patients. However, the precise mechanism remains to be further studied.

Environmental factors, such as viral infections, are important triggers for pSS; data delineates that viral-induced autoimmunity can be triggered by various mechanisms such as epitope spreading, bystander activation, molecular mimicry, and infected B cells immortalization.<sup>6</sup> Sanosyan et al proved that Epstein-Barr virus (EBV) was highly expressed in exocrine gland biopsies of pSS patients, and it was highly associated with the markers of anti-SSA/B autoantibodies and B cells activation, suggesting a potential link between the EBV. B cells activation and pSS etiology.<sup>7</sup> However, the impact of viral infections on autoimmunity is a duality. Viral infections also lead to the activation of autoimmune responses, thus inhibiting the development of the immune response.<sup>6</sup> Therefore, molecular studies are necessary to understand virus-induced interactions between autoimmune and immune-related molecules, which would provide a comprehensive mechanism description with viral infections and autoimmune diseases.

Epithelial cells play an important role in the initiation and progress of immune and inflammatory response in pSS. Under the influence of genetic predisposition and environmental factors, critical epithelial cell pathways for example Janus-activated kinase/ signal transducers and activators of transcription (JAK-STAT) and epithelial growth factor signaling are activated, leading to excessive accumulation and activation of immune cells such as dendritic cells, B cells, and T cells. With the help of chemokine and adhesion factors, they migrate to the glands and develop a variety of pro-inflammatory factors to activate adjacent epithelial cells.<sup>8</sup> One kind of excessively accumulated dendritic cell can produce a high concentration of interferon (IFN)- $\alpha$ , which stimulates epithelial cells, T cells, and dendritic cells to produce B cell activating factor (BAFF). BAFF stimulates the maturation of abnormal B cells, causing them to produce autoantibodies in the lymphatic germinal center, which leads to the development of autoimmunity.

#### 3 | DIAGNOSIS

How to effectively identify early stage patients and evaluate their therapeutic effects remains a huge challenge. Numerous classification criteria were established since the 1970s. The latest classification criteria have been acknowledged by the American College of Rheumatology (ACR) and the European League Against Rheumatism (EULAR).<sup>9,10</sup> As per the previous criteria,<sup>11,12</sup> the 2016 ACR/EULAR criteria also classifies a pSS patient through autoantibody testing, dryness measurement and histopathology. However, the difference is that the 2016 ACR/EULAR criteria adds a weighted score for each

element, further refining the particular threshold for ocular staining score. Baer et al showed that the presence of anti-La/SSB antibodies alone had no significant correlation with the SS phenotype features and lacked specificity for the diagnosis of pSS, so the 2016 ACR/EULAR criteria eliminated anti-La/SSB antibodies and increased the weighted score of anti-Ro/SSA antibodies.<sup>13</sup> In addition, the presence of an extra-glandular manifestation was given credit in the 2016 ACR/EULAR criteria, allowing patients with this feature into clinical trials.

Antibodies of parotid secretory protein, carbonic anhydrase 6 (CA6), and salivary protein 1 (SP1) are considered potential biomarkers of pSS patients with early disease, and anti-RGI2, anti-alpha-enolase, and anti-cofilin-1 antibodies are biomarkers of mucosa-associated lymphoid tissue lymphoma. The detection of these antibodies provides an opportunity to establish clinical phenotypes, to identify specific disease stages, and to evaluate some complications.<sup>14</sup>

Due to its simplicity, non-invasiveness and high efficiency, salivary gland ultrasonography can accurately evaluate salivary gland function and improve the sensitivity of the 2016 ACR/EULAR criteria (from 87.4% to 91.1%), providing clinicians with more ideas for diagnosis and treatment.<sup>15,16</sup> Dynamic magnetic resonance (MR) sialography is effective in quantitatively evaluating salivary gland secretion function by the time-dependent volume change ratio curve. The volume of the parotid duct is constantly changing due to the secretion of saliva; 3D MR ductal imaging can quickly and accurately calculate the volume of the duct at each stage, improve the spatial resolution and more accurately evaluate the function of the parotid gland.<sup>17</sup>

Therefore, the diagnosis of pSS needs comprehensive evaluation and consideration. The diagnosis of "early SS" remains unclear, which requires a larger cohort study and a sufficiently long follow-up time.

#### 4 | MANAGEMENT

Due to the complexity of pathogenesis and heterogeneity behind the clinical manifestations, many targeted immunomodulatory therapies for pSS have shown no benefits in clinical trials; so far no specific treatment for this disease has been approved. Management of pSS is still to refer to the therapeutic armamentarium of systemic lupus erythematosus and RA.

#### 4.1 | Management of sicca symptoms

As many as a third of patients develop dry eye, and the severity of which is associated with disease activity.<sup>18</sup> Autologous serum eye drops contain a variety of nutrients such as growth factors, which effectively simulate tears and promote corneal repair and visual recovery.<sup>19</sup> As they are expensive and can only be purchased in special institutions, their use is restricted. Local application of

cyclosporin A (CsA) can effectively inhibit T cell activation in the lacrimal gland and conjunctiva, which improves the ocular inflammatory response. Chung et al indicated that a novel topical CsA 0.05% nano-emulsion effectively improved ocular surface sensitivity and inflammation.<sup>20</sup> Compared with the conventional emulsion, it shows faster improvement of ocular surface staining scores. Not only because it provides constant hormone levels for the cornea, but also reduces systemic adverse reactions caused by hormones, fluocinolone acetonide intravitreal therapy is a new choice for treating corneal diseases.<sup>21</sup>

Impaired salivary gland secretion function severely reduces food intake and nutrient absorption in patients.<sup>22</sup> Saliva substitutes are widely used in the treatment of dry mouth. Although they can ameliorate the symptoms, they cannot fundamentally improve the secretion function of salivary glands.<sup>23</sup> Salivary gland endoscopy can be used for the diagnosis and treatment of chronic obstructive salivary gland diseases caused by constriction, mucous plugs and sialoliths. Infusion of saline and corticosteroid solution into the salivary gland duct system can increase the salivary gland flow rate, alleviate the discomfort of patients, and improve quality of life.<sup>24,25</sup>

In summary, for most patients, dryness of the eyes and mouth has been present throughout the development of the disease, and clinical trials should evaluate the efficacy and adverse reactions of the drugs, as well as the impact on quality of life in pSS patients.

#### 4.2 | Non-biological therapies

Total glucosides of paeony (TGP) is a common Chinese medicine, which has been recorded with analgesic, anti-inflammatory, immunomodulatory effects, and few side effects. Decreasing the substantial damage of glands and improving the secretion of lacrimal glands (Schirmer's test), are the significant functions of TGP.<sup>26</sup> At the same time, studies have shown that TGP can enhance the negative co-stimulation pathway programmed cell death protein 1 (PD-1)/PD-L1 expression by reducing the expression of soluble PD-1, further regulating Th17/Treg balance and reducing the production of autoantibodies. The incidence of side effects is only 10.9%.<sup>27,28</sup> A placebo-controlled JOQUER trial showed that hydroxychloroguine (HCQ) reduced the levels of type I IFNs and IFN-stimulated genes in peripheral blood of pSS patients, as well as reducing inflammatory markers, although it did not improve disease activity.<sup>29</sup> HCQ causes varying degrees of ocular toxicity and retinal damage, a number of clinical studies have developed a safe dose range and protocols to decrease adverse reactions.<sup>30</sup> In addition, Radstake et al showed that leflunomide (LEF) combined with HCQ can inhibit the proliferation of B and T cells, reduce the production of immunoglobulin and a variety of T follicular helper (Tfh)-related cytokines, and target multiple key pathways involved in pSS immunopathology. The combination of the 2 drugs was more efficient than single treatment.<sup>31</sup>

#### 4.3 | Biological therapies

Biologicals for pSS have valuable application prospects, but their efficacy and safety are still controversial. Over-activation of B cells is the cornerstone of pSS. Targeted therapy of B cells has become a research focus in recent years.

Rituximab is a monoclonal antibody specific to the cluster of differentiation 20 (CD20) molecule expressed in B cells, clearing B lymphocytes by antibodies and complement-dependent cyto-toxicity.<sup>32</sup> In large studies, rituximab had no significant effects on improving dryness, fatigue or composite primary endpoints.<sup>28,33</sup> Epratuzumab targets B cell-specific protein CD22, interferes with the formation of B cell receptor (BCR) signal complex, enhances the inhibitory effect of CD22 on BCR, reduces the count and activity of peripheral blood B cells, and improves the level of clinical markers related to disease activity. In all patients treated with epratuzumab, the B cell count, the levels of IgM and anti-Ro/SSA antibodies continued to decline.<sup>34,35</sup> Therefore, the 2 drugs can be utilized reasonably according to the patient's condition and play the best therapeutic effect.

BAFF is a critical factor in the pathogenesis of pSS which promotes the activation and proliferation of B lymphocytes.<sup>36</sup> A clinical study conducted by Dorner et al indicated that ianalumab (VAY736) treatment for pSS was safe and effective. Ianalumab can completely eliminate pathogenic B cells by direct lysis of B cells and blocking BAFF and its receptor signaling pathway, significantly improving the clinical parameters and laboratory indicators of patients. The main adverse reactions were minor infusion reactions due to injection administration.<sup>37</sup> To improve the effectiveness of the study, more representative patient groups should be included and reliable primary endpoints should be chosen to evaluate its clinical efficacy.

#### 5 | PROGNOSIS

The quality of life and prognosis of patients varies with the severity of the disease. pSS patients with local symptoms have a good outcome. If the treatment is not timely, pSS can worsen and even be life-threatening. Infections, cardiovascular disease, and lymphoma are the leading causes of death.<sup>38</sup>

#### 6 | CONCLUSION

pSS is a chronic autoimmune disease with a complex etiology. Management of pSS is still controversial. Therefore, it is imperative that basic and clinical research, and new understanding of the pathogenesis opens up new means for the treatment of the disease. It is believed that with more extensive and detailed research in the future, the treatment of pSS will surely make great progress.

🗠 📎 – Wiley 🗌

#### CONFLICTS OF INTEREST

The authors declare no competing interests.

#### ORCID

Bin Liu Dhttps://orcid.org/0000-0003-4462-7465

#### REFERENCES

1. Leverenz DL, St Clair EW. Recent advances in the search for a targeted immunomodulatory therapy for primary Sjogren's syndrome. *F1000Research*. 2019;8:1532.

**Rheumatic Diseases** 

- Gupta S, Ferrada MA, Hasni SA. Pulmonary manifestations of primary Sjogren's syndrome: underlying immunological mechanisms, clinical presentation, and management. *Front Immunol.* 2019;10:1327.
- Zhang L, Xu P. Identification of differentially expressed genes in primary Sjogren's syndrome. J Cell Biochem. 2019;120:17368-17377.
- Mougeot JL, Noll BD, Bahrani Mougeot FK. Sjogren's syndrome X-chromosome dose effect: an epigenetic perspective. Oral Dis. 2019;25:372-384.
- 5. Cafaro G, Croia C, Argyropoulou OD, et al. One year in review 2019: Sjogren's syndrome. *Clin Exp Rheumatol*. 2019;37(Suppl 118):3-15.
- Smatti MK, Cyprian FS, Nasrallah GK, Al Thani AA, Almishal RO, Yassine HM. Viruses and autoimmunity: a review on the potential interaction and molecular mechanisms. *Viruses*. 2019;11(8):762.
- 7. Sanosyan A, Daien C, Nutz A, et al. Discrepancy of serological and molecular patterns of circulating Epstein-Barr virus reactivation in primary Sjogren's syndrome. *Front Immunol.* 2019;10:1153.
- 8. Pringle S, Wang X, Bootsma H, et al. Small-molecule inhibitors and the salivary gland epithelium in Sjogren's syndrome. *Expert Opin Investig Drugs.* 2019;28:605-616.
- 9. Shiboski CH, Shiboski SC, Seror R, et al. 2016 American College of Rheumatology/European League Against Rheumatism Classification Criteria for Primary Sjogren's Syndrome: a consensus and data-driven methodology involving three international patient cohorts. Arthritis Rheumatol. 2017;69:35-45.
- Shiboski CH, Shiboski SC, Seror R, et al. 2016 American College of Rheumatology/European League Against Rheumatism classification criteria for primary Sjogren's syndrome: A consensus and data-driven methodology involving three international patient cohorts. Ann Rheum Dis. 2017;76:9-16.
- Vitali C, Bombardieri S, Jonsson R, et al. Classification criteria for Sjogren's syndrome: a revised version of the European criteria proposed by the American-European Consensus Group. Ann Rheum Dis. 2002;61:554-558.
- Shiboski SC, Shiboski CH, Criswell L, et al. American College of Rheumatology classification criteria for Sjogren's syndrome: a data-driven, expert consensus approach in the Sjogren's International Collaborative Clinical Alliance cohort. *Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken)*. 2012;64:475-487.
- Baer AN, McAdams DeMarco M, Shiboski SC, et al. The SSBpositive/SSA-negative antibody profile is not associated with key phenotypic features of Sjogren's syndrome. *Ann Rheum Dis.* 2015;74:1557-1561.
- Martin-Nares E, Hernandez-Molina G. Novel autoantibodies in Sjogren's syndrome: A comprehensive review. Autoimmun Rev. 2019;18:192-198.
- 15. Martel A, Coiffier G, Bleuzen A, et al. What is the best salivary gland ultrasonography scoring methods for the diagnosis of primary or secondary Sjogren's syndromes? *Joint Bone Spine*. 2019;86:211-217.
- 16. van Nimwegen JF, Mossel E, Delli K, et al. Incorporation of salivary gland ultrasonography into the ACR-EULAR criteria for primary Sjogren's syndrome. *Arthritis Care Res* 2019;72:583-590.

- Liu S, Chen W, Wang M, et al. Quantitative Analysis Of Parotid Gland Secretion Function in Sjogren's syndrome patients with dynamic magnetic resonance sialography. *Korean J Radiol* 2019;20:498-504.
- 18. Ozek D, Kemer OE, Omma A. Association between systemic activity index and dry eye severity in patients with primary Sjogren syndrome. *Arq Bras Oftalmol.* 2019;82:45-50.
- 19. Tzamalis A, Matsou A, Anastasopoulos E, Ziakas N. Treatment of spontaneous corneal perforation secondary to undiagnosed Sjogren's syndrome using regenerating agent and autologous serum eye drops. *Eur J Ophthalmol* 2019;1120672119853106.
- Kang MJ, Kim YH, Chou M, Hwang J. Evaluation of the efficacy and safety of a novel 0.05% cyclosporin A topical nanoemulsion in primary Sjogren's syndrome dry eye. Ocul Immunol Inflamm 2019:1-9.
- 21. Wasielica-Poslednik J, Pfeiffer N, Gericke A. Fluocinolone acetonide intravitreal implant as a therapeutic option for severe Sjogren's syndrome-related keratopathy: a case report. *J Med Case Rep.* 2019;13:21.
- 22. Singh PB, Young A, Homayouni A, et al. Distorted taste and impaired oral health in patients with sicca complaints. *Nutrients*. 2019;11:E264.
- 23. Furness S, Worthington HV, Bryan G, Birchenough S, McMillan R. Interventions for the management of dry mouth: topical therapies. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* 2011,12:Cd008934.
- 24. Faizal B, Gangadharan S, Thankappan K. Comparison between sialendoscopy and conventional methods in the treatment of sialolithiasis. *Malays J Med Sci.* 2017;24:94-100.
- 25. Karagozoglu KH, Vissink A, Forouzanfar T, et al. Sialendoscopy enhances salivary gland function in Sjogren's syndrome: a 6-month follow-up, randomised and controlled, single blind study. *Ann Rheum Dis.* 2018;77:1025-1031.
- 26. Feng Z, Zhang BQ, Zhu YM, et al. The effectiveness and safety of total glucosides of paeony in primary Sjogren's Syndrome: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Front Pharmacol.* 2019;10:550.
- Chen Y, Wang Y, Xu L, et al. Influence of total glucosides of paeony on PD-1/PD-L1 expression in primary Sjogren's syndrome. *International journal of rheumatic diseases*. 2019;22:200-206.
- Felten R, Scher F, Sibilia J, Gottenberg JE, Arnaud L. The pipeline of targeted therapies under clinical development for primary Sjogren's syndrome: A systematic review of trials. *Autoimmun Rev.* 2019;18:576-582.
- Bodewes ILA, Gottenberg JE, van Helden-Meeuwsen CG, Mariette X, Versnel MA. Hydroxychloroquine treatment downregulates systemic interferon activation in primary Sjogren's syndrome in the JOQUER randomized trial. *Rheumatology (Oxford)*. 2020;59:107-111.
- Stokkermans TJ, Trichonas G. Chloroquine And Hydroxychloroquine Toxicity. StatPearls. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing LLC., 2019.
- 31. van der Heijden EH, Hartgring SA, Kruize AA, Radstake TR, van Roon JA. Additive immunosuppressive effect of leflunomide and hydroxychloroquine supports rationale for combination therapy for Sjogren's syndrome. *Exp Rev Clin Immunol.* 2019;15:801-808.
- 32. Gandolfo S, De Vita S. Double anti-B cell and anti-BAFF targeting for the treatment of primary Sjogren's syndrome. *Clin Exp Rheumatol.* 2019;37(Suppl 118):199-208.
- 33. Gandolfo S, De Vita S. Emerging drugs for primary Sjogren's syndrome. *Expert Opin Emerg Drugs*. 2019;24:121-132.
- 34. Gottenberg JE, Dorner T, Bootsma H, et al. Efficacy of Epratuzumab, An Anti-CD22 monoclonal IgG antibody, in systemic lupus erythematosus patients with associated Sjogren's syndrome: post hoc analyses from the EMBODY trials. *Arthritis Rheumatol.* 2018;70:763-773.
- Dorner T, Shock A, Goldenberg DM, Lipsky PE. The mechanistic impact of CD22 engagement with epratuzumab on B cell function: Implications for the treatment of systemic lupus erythematosus. *Autoimmun Rev.* 2015;14:1079-1086.

- 36. Thompson N, Isenberg DA, Jury EC, Ciurtin C. Exploring BAFF: its expression, receptors and contribution to the immunopathogenesis of Sjogren's syndrome. *Rheumatology*. 2016;55:1548-1555.
- 37. Dorner T, Posch MG, Li Y, et al. Treatment of primary Sjogren's syndrome with ianalumab (VAY736) targeting B cells by BAFF receptor blockade coupled with enhanced, antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity. *Ann Rheum Dis.* 2019;78:641-647.
- 38. Stefanski AL, Tomiak C, Pleyer U, et al. The diagnosis and treatment of Sjogren's syndrome. *Deutsches Arzteblatt Int*. 2017;114:354-361.

How to cite this article: Wang J, Zhou L, Liu B. Update on disease pathogenesis, diagnosis, and management of primary Sjögren's syndrome. *Int J Rheum Dis.* 2020;23:723–727. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/1756-185X.13839</u>

DOI: 10.1111/1756-185X.13829

#### REVIEW

Rheumatic Diseases

#### 🗠 📎 🛛 Wiley

## Effect of TNF-inhibitor therapy on spinal structural progression in ankylosing spondylitis patients: A systematic review and meta-analysis

Prabjit Ajrawat<sup>1,2</sup> | Zahi Touma<sup>1,2,3,4</sup> | Ismail Sari<sup>1,5</sup> | Cameron Taheri<sup>1</sup> | Juan Pablo Diaz Martinez<sup>1</sup> | Nigil Haroon<sup>1,2,4</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Division of Rheumatology, Department of Medicine, Faculty of Medicine, University of Toronto, Toronto, ON, Canada

<sup>2</sup>University Health Network, Toronto, ON, Canada

<sup>3</sup>Institute of Health Policy, Management and Evaluation, University of Toronto, Toronto, ON, Canada

<sup>4</sup>Krembil Research Institute, Toronto, ON, Canada

<sup>5</sup>Department of Rheumatology, Dokuz Eylul University School of Medicine, Izmir, Turkey

#### Correspondence

Nigil Haroon, Division of Rheumatology, Department of Medicine, Toronto Western Hospital, University of Toronto, 399 Bathurst Street, Room 1E-425, Toronto, ON M5T 2S8, Canada. Email: Nigil.Haroon@uhn.ca

#### Abstract

To review the effect of tumor necrosis factor-alpha inhibitor (TNFi) therapies on radiographic progression in ankylosing spondylitis (AS) patients as evaluated by the modified Stoke Ankylosing Spondylitis Spine Score (mSASSS). Pubmed, MEDLINE, EMBASE, and the Cochrane Library databases were searched from inception to August 2019. All comparative and non-comparative studies that evaluated the clinical effectiveness of TNFi on radiographic progression as assessed by mSASSS change at a minimum follow-up of 1 year were included. The Newcastle-Ottawa Scale and Cochrane Collaboration Risk of Bias Tool were utilized to assess the methodological quality. Pooled analysis was performed for continuous and binomial variables where appropriate. Inter-rater reliability of mSASSS status and change scores were assessed with intra-class coefficients (ICC). Twenty-one studies were identified with a total of 4460 patients (mean age: 40.4 years [range 25.3-50 years]; 76% male; mean baseline mSASSS: 12.7 units [range 5.5-19.8 units]). All studies (3 randomized and 18 observational studies) were considered to have moderate-to-high methodological quality. The inter-rater reliability of mSASSS status and change scores from 14 of the 21 studies were excellent (ICC ranges, 0.91-0.99) and moderate-to-excellent (ICC ranges, 0.58-0.90), respectively. From the 21 studies, 11/21 (50%) demonstrated a delayed effect in mSASSS in AS patient administered TNFi. When stratifying these studies into those with  $\leq 4$  years of follow-up and > 4 years follow-up, 3/11 (27%) and 8/10 (80%) studies respectively indicated a delayed effect of mSASSS with TNFi in AS patients. Pooling for meta-analysis from 3 studies (1159 patients) with study durations ranging 4-8 years, indicated that TNFi-treated patients had reduced odds of structural progression (odds ratio 0.81; 95% CI 0.68-0.96; P = .01;  $I^2 = 0$ %). Mean rate of mSASSS change from 16 studies ranged from -0.15 to 7.3 mSASSS units for all AS patients. Meta-analysis indicated a numerical, but statistically non-significant, reduction in the rate of mSASSS change with TNFi treatment (7 studies [1438 patients]; mean difference, -0.24; 95% CI, -0.49-0.01; P = .06; I<sup>2</sup> = 0%). This systematic review

Level of Evidence: Level IV systematic review of Level I through IV studies.

© 2020 Asia Pacific League of Associations for Rheumatology and John Wiley & Sons Australia, Ltd

International Journal of Rheumatic Diseases

and meta-analysis indicated that >4 years of TNFi usage was associated with delayed structural progression by mSASSS. The narrative analysis of the data from 21 studies further confirmed that studies with >4 years of follow-up had delayed structural progression with TNFi use in AS patients. The systematic review also confirmed that mSASSS has good-to-excellent inter-rater reliability in AS.

#### KEYWORDS

ankylosing spondylitis, anti-tumor necrosis factor-alpha, modified Stoke Ankylosing Spondylitis Spine Score, mSASSS, radiological progression, TNF inhibitors

#### 1 | INTRODUCTION

Ankylosing spondylitis (AS) is a chronic inflammatory disease of the spine and sacroiliac joints affecting nearly 0.5% of the population.1 AS usually starts in early adulthood with the leading manifestation being the presence of inflammatory back pain. Extraspinal features including uveitis, arthritis, and psoriasis may also accompany AS presentation.2 New bone formation in the entheses is one of the distinct features of AS, which produces functional impairments and disability.3

Conventional radiography is the gold standard for assessing structural progression and the modified Stoke AS Spine Score (mSASSS) is the preferred method for quantifying structural progression in AS.4,5 A minimum 2-year follow-up interval is required to ensure sufficient sensitivity to reliably detect structural progression.6 Studies have shown a change of 2 mSASSS units in 2 years (rate  $\geq$  1 unit/y) or the development of new syndesmophyte(s) is evidence of structural progression.7-9 In this respect, approximately 20%-45% of the biologic-naive AS patients showed structural progression at 2 years follow-up.10-13

Aside from symptom resolution, disease modification has gained recognition as an important outcome in the assessment of treatment success.10,11 Non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) are the first-line treatment options in symptomatic AS. If disease activity persists despite NSAIDs, then tumor necrosis factor-alpha inhibitors (TNFi) are considered.14,15 However, similar to NSAIDs, the clinical effectiveness of TNFi agents in halting structural progression in AS remains controversial.8,10,16-18 The inconsistencies between studies assessing TNFi disease-modifying potential for halting structural progression in AS, and the lack of consensus regarding this topic in the literature, has prompted this review. We aimed to synthesize the effect of TNFi therapies on structural progression in AS patients as evaluated by the mSASSS. We hypothesized that the long-term utilization (ie greater than 4 years) of TNFi agents will delay structural progression in AS patients.

#### 2 | METHODS

#### 2.1 | Search strategy

This systematic review was conducted in accordance with the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA) statement.19 Two authors (PA and IS) collectively performed a search in the electronic databases Medline, EMBASE, PubMed, Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials, and www.clinicaltrials.gov from inception to August 2019 for studies with varied study designs. This search was performed using the following keyword combinations: (anky-losing spondylitis OR spondylitis) AND (radiographic progression OR X-ray OR mSASSS) AND (tumor necrosis factor-alpha inhibitors OR tumor necrosis factor blockers). The search strategy was restricted to human studies; however, no language or publication date restrictions were applied. The primary author (PA) manually cross-referenced all included studies and past review articles on the topic to ensure search completeness.

#### 2.2 | Eligibility criteria

Studies fulfilling all of the following inclusion criteria were included: (a) published randomized controlled trials (RCTs), non-randomized comparative studies, or non-comparative cohort studies that reported radiographic outcomes; (b) studies administering TNFi treatment; (c) minimum clinical follow-up of 2 years; (d) adult patients (≥18 years) with a diagnosis of AS, as defined by the 1984 modified New York criteria20; and (e) studies utilizing the mSASSS criteria4 (total score 0-72) for assessing structural progression. Case studies, editorials/commentaries, review articles, and basic science articles were excluded.

#### 2.3 | Study selection

The primary author (PA) removed the duplicate articles from the generated search. Afterwards, 2 authors (PA and IS) independently screened the title and abstracts of all identified articles and assessed their eligibility based on the inclusion criteria. Studies that were considered potentially relevant by at least 1 reviewer (PA and IS) received full-text screening. If any uncertainty of study eligibility was encountered, the study was included until the full-text review. Two independent reviewers (PA and IS) assessed the final inclusion of full-text articles and any disagreement was resolved through discussion with the senior author (NH) until a

Rheumatic Diseases



final consensus was reached. At all phases of study screening, the journal titles, author names, or supporting institutions were not blinded for any reviewer.

# 2.4 | Methodological quality assessment of included studies

Quality appraisal of case-control and cohort studies was assessed by 2 independent reviewers (PA and IS) using the Newcastle–Ottawa Quality Scale (NOS).21 Any disagreements were discussed until a final consensus was established. The NOS uses a star-based grading system that ranks studies out of 9 to 10 stars based on study design. For the case-control studies the risk of bias was assessed across 3 domains: (1) selection (0-4 stars), (2) comparability of groups based on designer analysis (0-2 stars), and (3) outcome/exposure (0-3 stars). The risk of bias for cohort studies were also assessed using 3 domains: (1) selection (0-5 stars), (2) comparability (0-2 stars), and (3) outcome/exposure (0-3 stars). The higher the number of stars allocated to a study translates to the higher study quality.

The risk of bias for RCTs was assessed utilizing the Cochrane Collaboration Risk of Bias Tool (CROB).22 This instrument is divided into 5 domains, including bias arising from the randomization process; bias due to deviations from intended interventions; bias due to missing outcome data; bias in measurement of the outcome; bias in selection of the reported result. Additionally, signaling questions in the CROB aims to collect information relevant to an assessment of risk of bias, with response options such as Yes; Probably yes; Probably no; No; and No information. Overall, the RCTs can be at either low, moderate, or high risk of bias.

#### 2.5 | Data extraction and management

Two reviewers (PA and IS) divided the included studies and extracted data independently into a standardized collection form using Microsoft Excel 2013 (Microsoft). Any discrepancies were resolved by the senior author (NH). All data pertaining to general study information (author, year, study design), demographic data (sample size, mean age, gender, human leukocyte antigen B27 [HLA-B27] positive, C-reactive protein [CRP], erythrocyte sedimentation rate [ESR], smoking history, disease duration), follow-up data, TNFi information (type, dosage, duration), concomitant medications usage, radiographic outcomes (mSASSS and syndesmophytes data) were extracted.

#### 2.6 | Outcomes

The primary outcome was the odds of structural progression as evaluated by the mSASSS scoring system. Secondary aims included



the mean and annual rates of mSASSS change. We also assessed the reliability of mSASSS scoring.

#### 2.7 | Statistical analysis

Descriptive statistics, including measures of central tendency, dispersion, and frequency were used to analyze study and patient characteristics, as well as clinical outcomes. Frequency-weighted averages were pooled for general study characteristics including sample size, age, gender, follow-up, CRP, ESR, disease duration, baseline Bath Ankylosing Spondylitis Disease Activity Index (BASDAI), Bath Ankylosing Spondylitis Metrology Index (BASMI), Bath Ankylosing Spondylitis Functional Index (BASFI) across eligible studies. A metaanalysis was conducted where applicable using the random-effects model. For continuous outcomes, the mean difference (MD) was obtained and calculated from the inverse variance method. When the standard deviation (SD) was not provided for specific continuous outcomes and the appropriate statistical range was provided, then the SD was calculated to impute these values from a well-established statistical formula described by Hozo et al23 For dichotomous outcomes, the odds ratio (OR) was calculated using the Mantel-Haenszel method. For all outcome variables, we tested heterogeneity between studies using a standard Chi-square test, and the calculation of an I statistic24 was used to quantify heterogeneity. Ninety-five percent confidence intervals (CI) were calculated from all point estimates and a P value of <.05 was considered statically significant. Where metaanalysis was not appropriate, a narrative analysis of relevant studies was conducted. Studies were stratified to ≤4 years or >4 years of study duration to ensure sufficient sensitivity of mSASSS change and to observe any possible delayed beneficial effect of TNFi therapy.

#### 3 | RESULTS

#### 3.1 | Systematic search

The search results are summarized in Figure 1. A total of 4399 articles remained after duplicates were removal (n = 526). After title and abstract screening, 45 articles remained eligible for full-text review. From which, 24 articles were excluded, and 21 articles met the inclusion criteria, consisting of 3 RCTs,25-27 5 prospective or retrospective cohort studies with formal controls,8,28-31 6 RCTs with open-labeled extension or retrospective analysis of an RCT with a historical cohort,18,32-36 and 7 prospective or retrospective non-comparative non-randomized studies.37-43

#### 3.2 | General study characteristics

A total of 4460 patients (76% male) were included in this study with a mean age of 40.4 years (range 25.3-50). Specifically, 3372

731

patients (74% male; mean age 39.7 years) and 1088 patients (79% male; mean age 41.7 years) were TNFi-treated and TNFi-naïve patients, respectively (Table 1). Sixteen studies reported the number of patients positive for HLA-B27, in which 2330/2792 (83.5%) TNFi-treated and 740/812 (91%) TNFi-naïve patients were HLA-B27 positive.8,18,26,28-29,31,33-35,37-43 Disease duration from all included studies was 12.6 years (range 4.1-21 years). The mean CRP level presented from 16 studies for all patients was 2.8 mg/dL (range 1.1-15.8 mg/dL).8,18,26-31,34,37,39-43 Precisely, the CRP level for TNFi-treated and TNFi-naïve patients was 3.1 mg/dL (range 1.1-15.8 mg/dL) and 2.4 mg/dL (range 1.1-8.3 mg/dL), respectively. From 19 studies that reported the BASDAI, the mean BASDAI was 5.4 (range 3.2-6.7).8.18.25-30.32-39.41-43 The mean BASDAI was 6.0 (range 4.2-6.7) and 4.4 (range 3.2-6.6) for the TNFi-treated and TNFinaïve patients, respectively. The mean BASMI from 5 studies was 3.5 (range 2.2-4.4) and the mean BASMI in TNFi-treated and TNFinaïve patients was 3.4 (range 2.2-4.4) and 3.7 (range 3.4-4), respectively.26-27,33,41,42 The mean BASFI, reported in 11 studies, was 4.6 (range 3.1-5.7) and the mean BASFI was 5.0 (range 3.1-5.7) and 4.0 (range 3.1-5.5) for the TNFi-treated and TNFi-naïve groups, respectiv ely.18,26-27,30,32-35,39,42

The overall mean baseline mSASSS score from all included studies was 12.7 (range 5.5-19.8). Specifically, the mean baseline mSASSS was 12.4 units (range 5.5-19.8) for the TNFi group and 13.1 units (range 5.9-19) for the TNFi-naïve group. Baseline syndesmophytes was reported in 3 studies and was higher in the TNFi group when compared to the TNFi-naïve group (3.1 [range 1.6-4] vs 2.9 [range 1.4-3.7]).29,34,37 Eight studies indicated that 438/1100 (40%) and 86/192 (45%) of TNFi-treated patients and TNFi-naïve patients had the presence of baseline syndesmophytes, respectively.26-29,34,37-39

#### 3.3 | Control groups

Twelve of the 21 included studies8,18,25-26,28,30,32-36 were comparative studies that provided control groups, which were TNFi-naïve. Specifically, 6 comparative studies utilized historical cohorts as their TNFi-naïve control group, of which 4 studies18,32-33,35 used the Outcome in AS International Study (OASIS) cohort, 1 study36 compared against the German AS cohort (GESPIC), while another study35 used the Herne cohort (HC), all of which were treated according to the standard of care. The remaining 6 studies8,25-26,28,30,31 compared TNFi-treated AS patients against formal controls, which received the standard care without TNFi.

#### 3.4 | Study methodological quality assessment

Quality appraisal of all non-randomized studies ranged from moderateto-high methodological quality as indicated by the NOS (Table A1). All 3 RCTs as assessed by the CROB indicated low risk of bias (Table A2).

#### TABLE 1 Baseline study characteristics of all included studies

	Study	Sample size	(% male)	Mean age (y)		Disease duration	(y)	CRP (mg/dL)
Reference	duration (y)	TNFi	CON	TNFi	CON	TNFi	CON	TNFi
Randomized studies								
Dijkmans et al (2009)25	2	43	39	43 (both groups)	12.5	12.5	NR	NR
Braun et al (2013)26	4	138 (74%)	78 (71%)	41.0 (range 31.0-50.0)	38.0 (range 30-47)	11 (6.0-18.0)	16 (6-24)	1.10 (range 0.50 - 2.50)
Van der Heijde et al (2018)27	4	174 (73%)	N/A	41.5 ± 11.7	N/A	9.1 (range 0.3-50.9)	N/A	14.2 (range 0.1-174.8)
Formal controlled studie	25							
Haroon et al (2013)8	NR	201 (83%)	133 (67%)	39.43 ± 13.2	42.50 ± 14.6	16.47 ± 11.8	16.38 ± 14.4	1.33 ± 2.0
Kim et al (2016)31	5	269 (85%)	341 (92%)	40.44 ± 9.39	37.94 ± 8.87	11.33 ± 7.51	8.04 ± 6.57	2.52 ± 3.15
Pedersen et al (2011)30	2	23 ± 18	27 ± 25	40.4 ± 12.1	40.3 ± 13.4	18.2 ± 11.4	15 ± 10	15.8 ± 15.1
Park et al (2016)29	4	49 (86%)	116 (86%)	42.5 ± 13.2	38.4 ± 12.2	9.3 ± 7.9	9.2 ± 6.2	35/49 had > 0.5
Park et al (2019)28	4	135 (81%)	80 (76%)	32.8 ± 11.5	34.4 ± 11.9	4.3 ± 2.7	4.1 ± 2.9	2.2 ± 2.7
Historical cohort compo	rison studie:	5						
Van Der Heijde et al (May 2008)18	2	257 (75%)	76 (71%)	41 ± 10.2	48 ± 12.3	10 ± 8.5	12 ± 9.8	2 ± 2.20
Baraliakos et al (2014)34	8	22 (64%)	34 (85%)	39.2 ± 7.6	50 ± 11.5	15.8 ± 8.5	20.7 ± 5.7	2.6 ± 2.0
Van Der Heijde et al (2009)32	2	307 (77%)	169 (69%))	41.8 ± 11.5	43.6 ± 12.7	11.2 ± 9.3	11.3 ± 8.7	1.9 ± 2.5
Baraliakos et al (2007)35	4	NR	NR	43.8 ± 7.6	44.6 ± 11.7	19.4 ± 9.3	21 ± 11.6	NR
Baraliakos et al (2005)36	2	41 (63%)	41 (71%)	38.9 (range 21-53)	34.8 (range 22-76)	15.5 (range 3-35)	5.5 (range 1-10)	NR
Van Der Heijde et al (Oct 2008)33	2	201 (78%)	70 (67%)	39.6 ± 10.6	44.2 ± 12.5	10.2 ± 8.7	9.9 ± 8.8	NR
Non-controlled non-ran	domized stu	dies						
Maas et al (2015)37	6	176 (69%)	N/A	42.3 ± 11.1	N/A	14 (7-23)	N/A	12 (4-22)
Jeong et al (2018) 40	2	151 (89%)	N/A	25.3 ± 10.2	N/A	60.9 ± 68.6 mo	N/A	2.91 ± 3.08
Mass et al (2017)38	6	80 (70%)	N/A	41.3 ± 10.5	N/A	14 (8-24)	N/A	14 (7-23)
Mass et al (2017)39	8	210 (69%)	N/A	41.6 ± 11.5	N/A	14 (8-24)	N/A	13 (4-22)
Molnar et al (2017)41	10	432 (66%)	N/A	40.3 ± 11.0	N/A	13.8 ± 9.7	N/A	8.0 (3.0-11.0)
Poddubnyy et al (2016)42	10	60 (73%)	N/A	37.5 ± 7.4	N/A	13.8 ± 8.3	N/A	23.5 ± 18.3
VanderSlik et al (2018)43	2	254 (69%)	N/A	42.9 ± 12.0	N/A	16 (8-25)	N/A	13 (5-22)

Abbreviations: BASDI, Bath Ankylosing Spondylitis Disease Activity Index; BASFI, Bath Ankylosing Spondylitis Functional Index; BASMI, Bath Ankylosing Spondylitis Metrology Index; CON, control group; CRP, C-reactive protein; mSASSS, modified Stoke Ankylosing Spondylitis Spinal Score; N/A, not applicable; NR, not reported; TNFi, tumor necrosis factor-alpha inhibitor.

International Journal of Rheumatic Diseases -WILEY 733

	BASDI		BASFI		Baseline mSASS	S value	Baseline synde	smophytes
CON	TNFi	CON	TNFi	CON	TNFi	CON	TNFi	CON
60.9	58.6	NR	NR	18.27 ± 21.0	11.95 ± 16.8	NR	NR	
1.15 (range 0.30-2.40)	6.6 (5.6-7.6)	6.6 (5.7-7.7)	5.0 (3.2-6.7)	4.9 (3.5-6.8)	11.7 ± 16.4	16.1 ± 18.7	NR	NR
N/A	6.4 ± 1.6	N/A	5.7 ± 2.2	N/A	13.2 ± 18.2	N/A	13.2 ± 18.2	N/A
1.69 ± 1.9	4.64 ± 2.5	3.61 ± 2.4	NR	NR	10.60 ± 14.9	8.20 ± 13.8	NR	NR
1.64 ± 1.96	NR	NR	NR	NR	15.68 ± 15.49	18.87 ± 17.96	NR	NR
8.3 ± 13.4	5.1 ± 2.0	5.0 ± 2.3	4.7 ± 2.3	3.2 ± 2.8	14.5 ± 16.1	10.0 (12.1)	NR	NR
84/116 had > 0.5	$2.4 \pm 0.8$	1.9 ± 0.7	NR	NR	17.3 ± 17.7	11.9 ± 16.0	27 ± 55.5	41 ± 35.3
1.1 ± 1.3	6.7 ± 1.6	3.2 ± 1.6	NR	NR	6.2 ± 9.9	7.3 ± 10.8	6.2 ± 9.9	7.3 ± 10.8
1.5 ± 1.81	63 ± 20.9	47 ± 19.8	54 ± 20.7	55 ± 16.6	16 ± 18.3	19 ± 20.8	16 ± 18.3	19 ± 20.8
2.0 ± 1.6	6.2 ± 1.4	4.3 ± 1.4	5.3 ± 1.5	3.4 ± 1.5	13.2 ± 17.6	14.2 ± 13.8	13.2 ± 17.6	14.2 ± 13.8
1.5 ± 1.9	6.2 ± 1.7	3.4 ± 2.1	5.3 ± 2.1	3.1 ± 2.4	19.8 ± 19.3	15.8 ± 17.6	19.8 ± 19.3	15.8 ± 17.6
NR	6.6 ± 1.4	3.4 ± 2.1	3.5 ± 1.9	3.3 ± 2.5	11.6 ± 15.3	12.7 ± 17.4	11.6 ± 15.3	12.7 ± 17.4
NR	6.3 (range 3.8-8.8)	3.2 (range 0.2-7)	NR	NR	12.1 ± 16.9	5.9 ± 13.4	12.1 ± 16.9	5.9 ± 13.4
NR	6.5 ± 1.5	4.9 ± 2.3	5.7 ± 1.9	4.9 ± 2.3	17.7 ± 17.9	17.5 ± 19.1	17.7 ± 17.9	17.5 ± 19.1
N/A	6.1 ± 1.6	N/A	NR	N/A	16.9 ± 16.7	N/A	16.9 ± 16.7	N/A
N/A	NR	N/A	NR	N/A	7.6 10.8	N/A	7.6 10.8	N/A
N/A	6.0 ± 1.7	N/A	5.6 (3.6-7.1)	N/A	8.7 ± 13.3	N/A	8.7 ± 13.3	N/A
N/A	6.0 ± 1.7	N/A	NR	N/A	10.0 ± 15.5	N/A	10.0 ± 15.5	N/A
N/A	4.2 ± 2.3	N/A	3.1 ± 2.6	N/A	6.6 ± 12.5	N/A	6.6 ± 12.5	N/A
N/A	6.4 ± 1.3	N/A	5.2 ± 1.9	N/A	11.1 ± 16.1	N/A	11.1 ± 16.1	N/A
N/A	6.1 ± 1.7	N/A	NR	N/A	5.5 (1.0-18.0)	N/A	5.5 (1.0-18.0)	N/A

ILEY-International Journal of Rheumatic Diseases



#### TABLE 2 TNF-inhibitor treatment information from all included studies

Reference	TNFi (n)	Dosage	Duration
Haroon et al (2013)8	NR (n = 201)	NR	2.5 ± 2.8 y
Kim et al (2016)31	NR	NR	NR
Van Der Hejide et al (May 2008)18	Etanercept (n = 257)	25 mg/twice a week	72-96 wk
Baraliakos et al (2014)34	Infliximab (n = 22)	5 mg/kg every 6 wk	N.R
Van Der Hejide et al (2009)32	Adalimumab (n = 307)	40 mg/every other week	78 wk
Baraliakos et al (2007)35	Infliximab (n = 33)	5 mg/kg every 6 wk	144 wk
Baraliakos et al (2005)36	Infliximab (n = 41)	5 mg/kg every 6 wk	96 wk
Van Der Hejide et al (oct 2008)33	Infliximab (n = 201)	5 mg/kg every 6 wk	96 wk
Dijkmans et al (2009)25	Etanercept (n = 43)	25 mg/twice a week	96 wk
Braun et al (2013)26	Golimumab (n = 138)	50 mg/every 4 wk	4 y
Park et al (2019)28	NR	N.R	NR
Maas et al (2015)37	Infliximab (n = 27) Etanercept (n = 110) Adalimumab (n = 39)	Infliximab: 5 mg/kg at 0, 2, 6 wk and then every 8 wk Etanercept: 50 mg (once) or 25 mg (twice)/every week Adalimumab: 40 mg/every 2 wk	302 wk
Jeong et al (2018)40	Infliximab (n = 23) Etanercept (n = 52) Adalimumab (n = 75) Golimumab (n = 1)	NR	NR
Maas et al (2017)38	Infliximab (n = 15) Etanercept (n = 50) Adalimumab (n = 15)	NR	5.4 ± 1.2 y
Maas et al (2017)39	Infliximab (n = 28) Etanercept (n = 132) Adalimumab (n = 50)	NR	3.9-7.8 у
Molnar et al (2017)41	NR	NR	2.1 ± 1.7 y
Park et al (2016)29	Etanercept (n = 58) Adalimumab (n = 107)	NR	4.9 ± 2.2 y
Pedersen et al (2011)30	Infliximab (n = 11) Etanercept (n = 10) Adalimumab (n = 2)	Infliximab: 3-5 mg/kg Etanercept: 25 mg/twice every week Adalimumab: 40 mg/every 2 wk	2 у
Poddubnyy et al (2016)42	Infliximab (n = 17) Etanercept (n = 43)	NR	NR
vanderSlik et al (2018)43	Infliximab (n = 35) Etanercept (n = 155) Adalimumab (n = 64)	NR	NR
van der Heijde et al (2018)27	Certolizumab pegol (n = 174)	400 mg at week 0, 2, 4 followed by either 200 mg/ every 2 wk or 400 mg/every 4 wk	204 wk

Abbreviations: NR, not reported; TNFi, tumor necrosis factor inhibitors.

#### 3.5 | TNF-inhibitor characteristics

Details regarding the TNFi type, dosage, and duration of use are presented in Table 2. Seventeen studies explicitly reported TNFi details, from which the most frequently prescribed TNFi was etanercept. More specifically, from these studies the number of AS patients on infliximab, etanercept, adalimumab, golimumab, and certolizumab pegol were 453/2335 (19.4%), 910/2335 (39%), 659/2335 (28.2%), 139/2335 (6%), and 174/2335 (7.4%), respectively. The duration of TNFi use from all eligible studies ranged from 72 to 302 weeks. However, delayed usage of TNFi was not eligible

for data extraction by all included studies, therefore a cut-off period of TNFi delay usage on the effect of spinal structural progression was not suggested. Five of the 21 studies37-40,43 indicated switching of the type of TNFi during the study duration. From these 5 studies, 4 studies37,39-40,43 clearly indicated that 141/661 (21%) patients switched to another TNFi during the follow-up period. Two of the 21 studies29,40 also provided a TNFi tapering dose group and the corresponding TNFi index. From 1 study29 116/165 (70%) patients were included in the tapering group and the mean TNFi index was 0.68. In the other study, 109/151 (73%) patients were included in the tapering group with a mean TNFi index of 0.43.

#### 3.6 | Concomitant medication usage

Concomitant medication usage was reported in 14 of the 21 included studies. With regard to NSAID usage, data pooling was permitted from 10 of the 14 studies,18,26,29-30,32-33,38-39,41,43 from which 1811/2245 (80%) TNFi-treated and 409/500 (82%) TNFi-naïve AS patients utilized concomitant NSAIDs. The remaining 3 studies 30,34,37 indicated that AS patients who were TNFi-treated were also permitted NSAIDs therapy but failed to explicitly state the precise number of AS patients on this therapy. In addition, 2 studies26,32 reported the concomitant use of corticosteroids, in which 30/307 (9.7%) and 3/169 (1.7%) were TNFitreated and TNFi-naïve AS patients. Lastly, 5 studies indicated the concomitant use of DMARDs,18,26,32,38,39 in which 273/992 (27.5%) and 61/323 (19%) were TNFi-treated and TNFi-naïve patients, respectively.

#### 3.7 | Reliability of assessing mSASSS

All 21 studies reported that mSASSS reviewers were blinded for patients' treatment allocation and radiographic sequence . Fourteen studies8,26-29,31-34,37,39-42 explicitly stated the intra-class correlation (ICC),44 which was used to quantify the reliability of radiographic scoring between reviewers. Overall, the ICC change scores ranged from moderate-to-excellent (range, 0.58-0.90) and the ICC status scores were considered excellent (range, 0.91-0.99) from the 14 eligible studies with study durations ranging 2-10 years.

## 3.8 | Overall effect of TNFi treatment on the mSASSS

All 21 studies reported the effect of TNFi treatment on structural progression based upon the mSASSS (Table 3). However, the mSASSS was heterogeneously reported, and therefore narratively synthesized. From all 21 studies, 11/21 (50%) demonstrated a significant delayed effect in structural progression in AS patients administered TNFi treatment. When stratifying studies that had  $\leq$ 4 years or >4 years of study duration, 3/11 (27%) and 8/10 (80%) studies indicated a significant delayed effect in structural progression with TNFi treatment in AS patients, respectively.

Of these 21 studies, 12 were comparative studies (ie with formal or historical TNFi-naïve controls) with study durations ranging 2-8 years.8,18,25-26,28,30-36 From these investigations, 5/12 (42%) comparative studies significantly favored TNFi patients over TNFi-naïve patients with respect to structural progression. More precisely, 8 comparative studies18,25,28-30,32-33,36 had ≤4 years of study duration, in which only 2/8 (25%) indicated a significant delayed effect in structural progression with TNFi treatment when compared against TNFi-naïve AS patients, whereas, 4 comparative studies had >4 years of study duration, in which 3/4 (75%) indicated

#### International Journal of Rheumatic Diseases

a significant delayed effect in structural progression with TNFi treatment when compared against TNFi-naïve AS patients.8,31,34

🐵 🛞 – WILEY

The remaining 9 non-comparative studies had study durations ranging 2-10 years.27,29,37-43 From these studies, 6/9 (67%) indicated a significant delayed effect in structural progression with TNFi treatment. Specifically, 3 studies27,40,43 had  $\leq$ 4 years of study duration, in which only 1/3 (33%) indicated a significant delayed effect in structural progression with TNFi treatment. In comparison, 6 non-comparative studies29,37-39,41,42 had >4 years of study duration, in which 5/6 (83%) indicated a significant delayed effect in structural progression with TNFi treatment.

## 3.9 | Odds of structural radiological progression as evaluated by mSASSS

The effect of TNFi on the odds of structural progression as evaluated by mSASSS was reported in 3 of the 21 studies. These 3 studies8,28,31 with formal controls (study durations ranging 4-8 years) explicitly provided the odds of structural progression from the entire study population between TNFi and TNF-naïve patients that were eligible for statistical pooling. From this, statistical pooling indicated that TNFi-treated patients had a significantly reduced odds of structural progression based on mSASSS scoring system (3 studies [1159 patients]; OR 0.81; 95% CI, 0.68 to 0.96; P = .01;  $I^2 = 0$ %) (Figure 2).

#### 3.10 | Rate of mSASSS change

The rate of mSASSS change was reported as either the mean change from baseline to final follow-up or as the annual rate of change. Sixteen18,25-28,30-33,35-37,39,41-43 of the 21 studies (durations range: 2-10 years) reported the mean rate of mSASSS change from baseline to final follow-up, which ranged from -0.15 to 7.3 mSASSS units for all patients. Of these 16 studies, 10 were comparative studies18,25-26,28,30-33,35,36 (durations: 2-5 years), in which the mean rate of mSASSS change for TNFi and TNF-naïve patients ranged from 0.36-7.3 and -0.15-4.73 mSASSS units, respectively. Overall, from these 10 studies, 8/10 (80%) studies exhibited numerically lower mean rates of mSASSS change with TNFi treatment when compared to TNFi-naïve patients.18,25-26,28,30,33,35,36 However, only 3/8 (38%) studies indicated statistically significant difference favoring TNFi-treated patients over TNF-naïve patients.

The rate of mSASSS change was reported as an annual rate of change by 4 of the 21 studies, which ranged 0.4-1.5 mSASSS units.26,29,34,40 Of these 4 studies, 3 were comparative studies; however, only 2 studies provided the values for both TNFi and TNFnaïve patients. In this, annual rates for TNFi and TNF-naïve patients ranged 0.4-0.9 and 0.5-1.5 mSASSS units, respectively.26,34 Both comparative studies had numerically lower annual rates of mSASSS change with TNFi-treated patients. However, from these 2 studies, the annual rate of change was not statistically different between TNFi and TNF-naïve groups. **@** 

AJRAWAT ET AL.

TABLE 3 Summary of mSASSS data from all included studies assessing structural radiological progression in AS patients using TNFi

	Study	mSASSS at final f	follow-up	Mean mSASSS change (ba follow-up)	seline to final	Annual mSASSS change
References	(y)	TNFi	CON	TNFi	CON	TNFi
Randomized studies						
Dijkmans et al (2009)25	2	18.63 ± 20.9	11.79 ± 16.8	+0.36 (95% CI -0.1 to 0.8)	-0.15 (95% Cl -0.7 to 0.4)	NR
Braun et al (2013)26	4	NR	NR	1.3 ± 4.1 (50 mg); 2 ± 5.6 (100 mg)	2.1 ± 5.2	0.4 ± 1.7 (50 mg); 0.5 ± 1.4 (100 mg)
Van der Heijde et al (2018)27	4	14.16	N/A	0-2 y: 0.67 (95% CI 0.21 to 1.13) 2-4 y: 0.31 (95% CI 0.02 to 0.60) 0-4 y: 0.98 (95% CI 0.34 to 1.63)	N/A	NR
Formal controlled studies						
Haroon et al (2013)8	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR
Kim et al (2016)31	5	NR	NR	6.14 ± 2*	4.73 ± 1.01*	NR
Pedersen et al (2011)30	2	NR	NR	1.4 ± 1.9	1.5 ± 3.1	NR
Park et al (2019)28	4	NR	NR	Entire population 1.30 ± 2.97	NR	NR
Park et al (2016)29	4	NR	NR	NR	NR	0.90
Historical cohort comparison	n studies					
Van Der Heijde et al (May 2008)18	2	NR	NR	0.91 ± 2.45	1.27 ± 3.64	NR
Baraliakos et al (2014)34	8	20.2 ± 21.4	25.9 ± 17.8	NR	NR	0.9 ± 0.8
Van Der Heijde et al (2009)32	2	NR	NR	0.9 ± 3.3	0.8 ± 2.6	NR
Baraliakos et al (2007)35	4	13.3 ± 16.7	17.1 ± 19.6	1.6 ± 2.6	4.4	NR
Baraliakos et al (2005)36	2	12.5 ± 17	6.6 ± 14.8	0.4 ± 2.7	0.7 ± 2.8	NR
Van Der Heijde et al (Oct 2008)33	2	18.1 ± 17.5	18.4 ± 19	0.9 ± 2.6	1.2 ± 3.9	NR
Non-controlled non-randomi	zed studies					
Maas et al (2015)37	6	2 y: 17.5 ± 17.2 4 y: 21.4 ± 18.5 6 y: 21.4 ± 18.7	N/A	1.3	N/A	NR
Jeong et al (2018)40	2	NR	N/A	NR	N/A	1.01 ± 1.23
Mass et al (2017)38	6	NR	N/A	NR	N/A	NR
Mass et al (2017)39	8	NR	N/A	New: 0-2 y: 1.6 ± 2.8 0-4 y: 3.5 ± 4.6 0-6 y: 4.2 ± 4.8 0-8 y: 7.0 ± 6.3	N/A	N.R
Molnar et al (2017)41	10	NR	N/A	0.9 ± 2.3	N/A	NR
Poddubnyy et al (2016)42	10	17.2 ± 17.7	N/A	1.2	N/A	NR
VanderSlik et al (2018)43	2	NR	N/A	7.3 (IQR: 1.4-22.9)	N/A	NR

Abbreviations: CI, confidence interval; CON, control group; IQR, interquartile range; mSASSS, modified Stoke Ankylosing Spondylitis Spinal Score; N/A, not applicable; NR, not reported; SDC, smallest detectable change; TNFi, tumor necrosis factor-alpha inhibitor. \*Standard error of mean.

International Journal of Rheumatic Diseases -WILEY 737

	Final or new syndesmophyte	s	Patient progressors	
CON	TNFi	CON	TNFi	CON
NR	NR	NR	NR	NR
0.5 ± 1.3	NR	NR	>2 units in 27.8% of all TNFi at 4 y. >2 units in 26.1% 50 mg group; 28.7% 100 mg group at 4 y	28.8% placebo-50 mg at 4 y
N/A	5/85 (5.9%) ≥1 syndesmophyte	N/A	>0 units in 37.7% at 4 y >2 units in 19.7% at 4 y	N/A
NR	NR	NR	NR	NR
NR	NR	NR	NR	NR
NR	Final: 0.52 ± 0.8; New: 1.0 ± 0.6; 8/23 ≥ 1 new syndesmophyte	Final: 0.70 ± 1.4; New: 2.7 ± 0.8; 9/27 ≥ 1 new syndesmophyte	NR	NR
N/A	NR	NR	NR	
NR	NR	N.R	31.1%	21.8%
NR	NR	NR	55% with ≤ 0 units	55% with ≤ 0 units
1.5 ± 1.4	Final: 6.4 ± 4.8; New: 1.0 ± 0.6	Final: 4.6 ± 6.4; New: 2.7 ± 0.8	NR	NR
NR	NR	NR	55% with ≤ 0 units	58% with ≤ 0 units
NR	NR	NR	NR	NR
NR	NR	NR	>1 unit in 17%	>1 unit in 12%
NR	NR	NR	>1 unit: 34% >2 units: 20% >3 units: 15% >4 units: 11%	>1 unit: 35% >2 units: 18% >3 units: 10% >4 units: 7%
N/A	NR	N/A	70% with < 2 units 18% with 2-5 units 2% with > 5 units	N/A
N/A	NR	N/A	NR	N/A
N/A	NR	N/A	NR	N/A
N/A	New: 0-2 y: 42/163 0-4 y: 63/132 0-6 y: 45/80 0-8 y: 27/41	N/A	>SDC 0-2 y (2.3 SDC): 25% 0-4 y (2.7 SDC): 38% 0-6 y (3.2 SDC): 44% 0-8 y (4.3 SDC): 59%	N/A
N/A	NR	N/A	NR	N/A
N/A	NR	N/A	NR	N/A
N/A	NR	N/A	NR	N/A



**FIGURE 2** Forest plot illustrating result of the pooled analysis for the odds of radiological progression in tumor necrosis factor inhibitor patients. Abbreviations: CI, confidence interval; IV, inverse variance



**FIGURE 3** Forest plot illustrating result of the pooled analysis for the mean rate of modified Stoke Ankylosing Spondylitis Spine Score (mSASSS) change between tumor necrosis factor inhibitor (TNFi) and TNF-naïve patients. Abbreviations: CI, confidence interval; MD, mean difference

Collectively, pooling of studies reporting either the mean change from baseline to final follow-up or the annual rate of change was permissible from 7 comparative studies (durations range: 2-8 years).18,26,30,32-34,36 The meta-analysis indicated a numerically, but statistically non-significant, improvement in the rate of mSASSS change with TNFi treatment (7 studies [1438 patients]; MD, -0.24; 95% Cl, -0.49-0.01; P = .06;  $l^2 = 0\%$ ) (Figure 3).

#### 4 | DISCUSSION

The main finding from this study suggests that >4 years of TNFi therapy usage may reduce spinal structural progression in AS patients, as evaluated by mSASSS. Further, the findings confirm that mSASSS has good-to-excellent inter-rater reliability in assessing structural progression in AS.

New spinal bone formation is one of the hallmark features of AS, which may cause spinal deformity, functional impairment, and disability.2,3 The primary goals of AS treatment are to mitigate symptoms and inflammation, prevent structural progression, and preserve functionality.9 Recently, investigations have been conducted on the disease-modifying potential of TNFi therapies, which have indicated decreased structural progression in TNFitreated patients.8,39,41

Specifically, 1 study investigated 334 AS patients of whom 201 were treated with TNFi and had a 50% reduction in the odds of structural progression.8 Subsequently, another study with 432 AS patients reported a similar 50% reduction rate in the odds of structural progression in TNFi-treated AS patients.41 One study with 210 AS patients receiving TNFi exhibited a linear course with stable progression rates at 4 years of follow-up. Beyond that period, there was a nonlinear course with reduced structural progression suggesting a beneficial effect with long-term TNFi usage.39 In a more recent study, there was less structural progression with long-term use (2-4 years) compared to the initial periods (0-2 years) suggesting a late-onset effect of TNFi therapy on structural progression.27 In contrast, other studies, including RCTs, did not replicate the abovementioned effects of TNFi on structural progression.25,26 This could be attributed to the relatively short follow-up periods, as the gradual nature of AS progression may require longer follow-up periods to illustrate significant structural change.

TNF has been shown to play a key role in promoting bone formation by mature osteoblasts and increased osteoclastic resorption.45-47 TNF is upregulated through the Wnt signaling pathway, which can regulate new bone formation by promoting spinal inflammation.45-47 Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) studies indicate that inflamed vertebral edges were associated with new syndesmophyte formation.30,48-52 Additionally, spinal inflammation in

International Journal of Rheumatic Diseases

AS has been associated with new blood vessel formation at the inflamed vertebral sites.26,40 Therefore, suppressing spinal inflammation, and the resultant pain and stiffness, are major treatment goals of AS in the short term and to prevent ankylosis in the long-term.

TNFi therapy has been shown to significantly improve the clinical signs and symptoms associated with AS disease activity.41,53-55 Moreover, studies have detected that TNFi agents can reduce spinal inflammation, as evaluated by MRI, and serum levels of inflammatory biomarkers.40,56-59 Despite these findings, the relationship between spinal inflammation and structural progression remains unclear as the inhibition of structural progression was not detected following TNFi treatment in some patients. This may be attributed to the fact that the prevention of bone formation may be dependent on the timing of TNFi administration and that bone formation in AS is only partly associated with spinal inflammation.26.40 In fact. 1 study8 reported that AS patients who delayed using TNFi for >10 years had greater structural progression than those who initiated earlier TNFi treatment. These findings indicate that early initiation and long-term duration of TNFi utilization are important factors for inhibiting structural progression.60

The mSASSS is a reliable, valid, and most widely used scoring system for quantifying structural progression in AS.4-5,61,62 The mSASSS scoring relies on changes obtained from anterior corners of lumbar and cervical vertebrae. A recent review indicated that mSASSS sufficiently correlates with disease signs and symptoms, spinal mobility, and functionality.62 However, the inability to assess the posterior sites of the cervical and lumbar vertebrae, the zygoapophyseal joints, and the thoracic spine owing to technical reasons and the superimposed lung tissue are limitations associated with the mSASSS scoring method.62

When considering the potential disease-modifying effect of TNFi treatments, certain disease and patient factors should be addressed. The presence of damage, including syndesmophytes, and high disease activity are well-known factors related to structural progression.38,63-65 Certain behavioral and lifestyle factors, such as smoking or physically laboring jobs, may be correlated with structural progression10,11 and therefore should be accounted for in order to identify the independent effect of TNFi on structural progression.

It is also important to consider the cost-effectiveness of TNFi treatment in AS. The associated costs with TNFi have led to the development of guidelines to prescribe these therapies to suitable candidates who will yield the most benefit.66 Studies from the UK demonstrated that TNFi treatments are more cost-effective than conventional care, with secukinumab and golimumab being the most cost-effective therapies.67,68 Specifically, TNFi therapies resulted in increased quality-adjusted life-years (QALYs) when compared to conventional care.67 From a Canadian study, 150 mg of secukinumab achieved the highest QALYs (16.46) at the lowest cost.69 Studies reported that infliximab therapy for active AS patients should be directly and indirectly cost-effective both from the societal and healthcare system perspective as it may improve

work ability, reduce sick days, and decrease the risk of permanent work disability.66,70

🐵 🕥 – WILEY

Several limitations exist with this study. First, the heterogeneity in TNFi between studies reduces the generalizability of results, as the optimal TNFi agent is unknown and is highly contingent upon various patient-related factors. However, all TNFi agents have been shown to be clinically effective and safe.53,71 Second, the delayed usage of TNFi data was not reported or eligible for data extraction by all included studies, therefore a cut-off period of TNFi delay usage on the effect of spinal structural progression was not suggested. Third, the concomitant treatment usage and various baseline factors (ie baseline damage, disease duration) may influence radiographic outcomes, possibly obscuring the net effect of TNFi on structural progression. Although this was not addressed in our study, other studies have confirmed these are important factors.62,72,73 Fourth, the inclusion of varying study designs potentially introduces confounding and selection bias. However, including these studies permitted a comprehensive review of the literature. Lastly, heterogeneity existed with reporting mSASSS data (ie mean or annual rate of change) and despite there being an accepted consensus on classifying structural progression as  $\geq 2$  mSASSS units, there was heterogeneity in cut-off criteria among included studies for structural progression.

#### 5 | CONCLUSION

This systematic review and meta-analysis indicated that >4 years of TNFi usage was associated with delayed structural progression by mSASSS. The narrative analysis of the data from 21 studies further confirmed that studies with >4 years of follow-up had delayed structural progression with TNFi use in AS patients. The systematic review also confirmed that mSASSS has good-to-excellent inter-rater reliability in AS.

#### CONFLICT OF INTEREST

None.

#### ORCID

Prabjit Ajrawat D https://orcid.org/0000-0001-8819-1347

#### REFERENCES

- Haroon NN, Paterson JM, Li P, Haroon N. Increasing proportion of female patients with ankylosing spondylitis: a population-based study of trends in the incidence and prevalence of AS. BMJ Open. 2014;4:1-7.
- Feld J, Chandran V, Haroon N, Inman R, Gladman D. Axial disease in psoriatic arthritis and ankylosing spondylitis: a critical comparison. *Nat Rev Rheumatol.* 2018;14(6):363-371.
- Lories RJ, Haroon N. Bone formation in axial spondyloarthritis. Best Pract Res Clin Rheumatol. 2014;28:765-777.
- Creemers MCW, Franssen MJ, van't Hof MA, Gribnau FW, van de Putte LB, van Riel PL. Assessment of outcome in ankylosing spondylitis: an extended radiographic scoring system. *Ann Rheum Dis.* 2005;64:127-129.
- 5. Wanders AJB, Landewé RBM, Spoorenberg A, et al. What is the most appropriate radiologic scoring method for ankylosing

ILEY- Rheumatic Diseases

spondylitis? A comparison of the available methods based on the outcome measures in rheumatology clinical trials filter. *Arthritis Rheum*. 2004;50:2622-2632.

- Spoorenberg A, De Vlam K, Van Der Linden S, et al. Radiological scoring methods in ankylosing spondylitis. Reliability and change over 1 and 2 Years. J Rheumatol. 2004;31:125-132.
- Ramiro S, Stolwijk C, van Tubergen A, et al. Evolution of radiographic damage in ankylosing spondylitis: a 12 year prospective follow-up of the OASIS study. Ann Rheum Dis. 2015;74:52-59.
- Haroon N, Inman RD, Learch TJ, et al. The impact of tumor necrosis factor α inhibitors on radiographic progression in ankylosing spondylitis. Arthritis Rheum. 2013;65:2645-2654.
- Poddubnyy D, Haibel H, Listing J, et al. Baseline radiographic damage, elevated acute-phase reactant levels, and cigarette smoking status predict spinal radiographic progression in early axial spondylarthritis. *Arthritis Rheum*. 2012;64:1388-1398.
- Sari I, Haroon N. Radiographic progression in ankylosing spondylitis: from prognostication to disease modification. *Curr Rheumatol Rep.* 2018;20:82.
- 11. Sari I, Haroon N. Disease modification in axial spondyloarthritis. Best Pract Res Clin Rheumatol. 2018;32:427-439.
- Van Tubergen A, Ramiro S, Van Der Heijde D, Dougados M, Mielants H, Landewé R. Development of new syndesmophytes and bridges in ankylosing spondylitis and their predictors: a longitudinal study. *Ann Rheum Dis.* 2012;71:518-523.
- 13. Baraliakos X, Listing J, Von Der Recke A, Braun J. The natural course of radiographic progression in ankylosing spondylitis evidence for major individual variations in a large proportion of patients. *J Rheumatol.* 2009;36:997-1002.
- Ward MM, Deodhar A, Akl EA, et al. American College of Rheumatology/SpondylitisAssociation of America/Spondyloarthritis Research and Treatment Network 2015 recommendations for the treatment of ankylosing spondylitis and nonradiographic axial spondyloarthritis. *Arthritis Rheumatol.* 2016;66:282-288.
- van der Heijde D, Ramiro S, Landewé R, et al. 2016 update of the ASAS-EULAR management recommendations for axial spondyloarthritis. Ann Rheum Dis. 2017;76:978-991.
- Sieper J, Listing J, Poddubnyy D, et al. Effect of continuous versus on-demand treatment of ankylosing spondylitis with diclofenac over 2 years on radiographic progression of the spine: results from a randomised multicentre trial (ENRADAS). Ann Rheum Dis. 2016;75:1438-1443.
- Wanders A, Heijde DVD, Landewé R, et al. Nonsteroidal antiinflammatory drugs reduce radiographic progression in patients with ankylosing spondylitis: a randomized clinical trial. Arthritis Rheum. 2005;52:1756-1765.
- van der Heijde D, Landewé R, Einstein S, et al. Radiographic progression of ankylosing spondylitis after up to two years of treatment with etanercept. *Arthritis Rheum*. 2008;58:1324-1331.
- Moher D, Liberati A, Tetzlaff J, Altman DG. Preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-analyses: the PRISMA statement. J Clin Epidemiol. 2009;6:e1000097.
- van der Linden S, Valkenburg HA, Cats A. Evaluation of diagnostic criteria for ankylosing spondylitis. A proposal for modification of the New York criteria. Arthritis Rheum. 1984;27:361-368.
- Wells G, Shea B, O'Connell D, Peterson J. The Newcastle-Ottawa Scale (NOS) for Assessing the Quality of Nonrandomised Studies in Meta-analyses. Ottawa, ON: Ottawa Hospital Research Institute; 2000.
- 22. Higgins JPT, Altman DG, Gotzsche PC, et al. The Cochrane Collaboration's tool for assessing risk of bias in randomised trials. *BMJ*. 2011;343:d5928.
- 23. Hozo SP, Djulbegovic B, Hozo I. Estimating the mean and variance from the median, range, and the size of a sample. *BMC Med Res Methodol*. 2005;5:1-10.

- 24. Higgins JPT, Thompson SG. Quantifying heterogeneity in a meta-analysis. *Stat Med.* 2002;15:1539-1558.
- Dijkmans B, Emery P, Hakala M, et al. Etanercept in the longterm treatment of patients with ankylosing spondylitis. J Rheumatol. 2009;36:1256-1264.
- Braun J, Baraliakos X, Hermann KGA, et al. The effect of two golimumab doses on radiographic progression in ankylosing spondylitis: results through 4 years of the GO-RAISE trial. Ann Rheum Dis. 2014;73:1107-1113.
- 27. van der Heijde D, Baraliakos X, Hermann K-G, et al. Limited radiographic progression and sustained reductions in MRI inflammation in patients with axial spondyloarthritis: 4-year imaging outcomes from the RAPID-axSpA phase III randomised trial. Ann Rheum Dis. 2018;77:699-705.
- Park JW, Kim MJ, Lee JS, et al. Impact of tumor necrosis factor inhibitor versus nonsteroidal antiinflammatory drug treatment on radiographic progression in early ankylosing spondylitis: its relationship to inflammation control during treatment. *Arthritis Rheumatol.* 2019;71:82-90.
- Park JW, Kwon HM, Park JK, et al. Impact of dose tapering of tumor necrosis factor inhibitor on radiographic progression in ankylosing spondylitis. *PLoS ONE*. 2016;11:e0168958.
- Pedersen SJ, Praveena C, Lambert RGW, Østergaard M, Maksymowych WP. Resolution of inflammation following treatment of ankylosing spondylitis is associated with new bone formation. J Rheumatol. 2011;38:1349-1354.
- Kim T-J, Shin J-H, Kim S, et al. Radiographic progression in patients with ankylosing spondylitis according to tumor necrosis factor blocker exposure: Observation Study of Korean Spondyloarthropathy Registry (OSKAR) data. *Joint Bone Spine*. 2016;83:569-572.
- 32. van der Heijde D, Salonen D, Weissman BN, et al. Assessment of radiographic progression in the spines of patients with ankylosing spondylitis treated with adalimumab for up to 2 years. Arthritis Res Ther. 2009;11(4):R127.
- van der Heijde D, Landewé R, Baraliakos X, et al. Radiographic findings following two years of infliximab therapy in patients with ankylosing spondylitis. Arthritis Rheum. 2008;11:R127.
- Baraliakos X, Haibel H, Listing J, Sieper J, Braun J. Continuous longterm anti-TNF therapy does not lead to an increase in the rate of new bone formation over 8 years in patients with ankylosing spondylitis. Ann Rheum Dis. 2014;73:710-715.
- 35. Baraliakos X, Listing J, Brandt J, et al. Radiographic progression in patients with ankylosing spondylitis after 4 yrs of treatment with the anti-TNF- $\alpha$  antibody infliximab. *Rheumatology (Oxford)*. 2007;46:1450-1453.
- 36. Baraliakos X, Listing J, Rudwaleit M, Brandt J, Sieper J, Braun J. Radiographic progression in patients with ankylosing spondylitis after 2 years of treatment with the tumour necrosis factor  $\alpha$  antibody infliximab. Ann Rheum Dis. 2005;64:1462-1466.
- 37. Maas F, Spoorenberg A, Brouwer E, et al. Spinal radiographic progression in patients with ankylosing spondylitis treated with  $TNF-\alpha$ blocking therapy: A prospective longitudinal observational cohort study. *PLoS ONE*. 2015;10:e0122693.
- Maas F, Arends S, Wink FR, et al. Ankylosing spondylitis patients at risk of poor radiographic outcome show diminishing spinal radiographic progression during long-term treatment with TNF-α inhibitors. *PLoS ONE*. 2017;12:e0177231.
- Maas F, Arends S, Brouwer E, et al. Reduction in spinal radiographic progression in ankylosing spondylitis patients receiving prolonged treatment with tumor necrosis factor inhibitors. *Arthritis Care Res.* 2017;69:1011-1019.
- Jeong H, Eun YH, Kim IY, et al. Effect of tumor necrosis factor α inhibitors on spinal radiographic progression in patients with ankylosing spondylitis. *Int J Rheum Dis.* 2018;21(5):1098-1105.

International Journal of Rheumatic Diseases 741

- 41. Molnar C, Scherer A, Baraliakos X, et al. TNF blockers inhibit spinal radiographic progression in ankylosing spondylitis by reducing disease activity: results from the Swiss Clinical Quality Management cohort. *Ann Rheum Dis.* 2018;77:63-69.
- 42. Poddubnyy D, Fedorova A, Listing J, et al. Physical function and spinal mobility remain stable despite radiographic spinal progression in patients with ankylosing spondylitis treated with TNF- $\alpha$  inhibitors for up to 10 years. *J Rheumatol*. 2016;43:2142-2148.
- 43. van der Slik B, Spoorenberg A, Wink F, et al. Although female patients with ankylosing spondylitis score worse on disease activity than male patients and improvement in disease activity is comparable, male patients show more radiographic progression during treatment with TNF- $\alpha$  inhibitors. *Semin Arthritis Rheum.* 2019;48:828-833.
- 44. Salaffi F, Carotti M, Garofalo G, Giuseppetti GM, Grassi W. Radiological scoring methods for ankylosing spondylitis: a comparison between the bath ankylosing spondylitis radiology index and the modified stoke ankylosing spondylitis spine score. *Clin Exp Rheumatol.* 2007;25:67-74.
- Osta B, Benedetti G, Miossec P. Classical and paradoxical effects of TNF-α on bone homeostasis. Front Immunol. 2014;5:1-9.
- 46. Boyce BE, Li P, Yao Z, et al. TNF-alpha and pathologic bone resorption. *Keio J Med.* 2005;54:127-131.
- Hiyama A, Yokoyama K, Nukaga T, Sakai D, Mochida J. A complex interaction between Wnt signaling and TNF-α in nucleus pulposus cells. *Arthritis Res Ther*. 2013;15:R189.
- Baraliakos X, Listing J, Rudwaleit M, Sieper J, Braun J. The relationship between inflammation and new bone formation in patients with ankylosing spondylitis. *Arthritis Res Ther.* 2008;5:R104.
- 49. Chiowchanwisawakit P, Lambert RGW, Conner-Spady B, Maksymowych WP. Focal fat lesions at vertebral corners on magnetic resonance imaging predict the development of new syndesmophytes in ankylosing spondylitis. Arthritis Rheum. 2011;63:2215-2225.
- Maksymowych WP, Chiowchanwisawakit P, Clare T, Pedersen SJ, Østergaard M, Lambert RGW. Inflammatory lesions of the spine on magnetic resonance imaging predict the development of new syndesmophytes in ankylosing spondylitis evidence of a relationship between inflammation and new bone formation. *Arthritis Rheum*. 2009;60:93-102.
- van der Heijde D, Machado P, Braun J, et al. MRI inflammation at the vertebral unit only marginally predicts new syndesmophyte formation: a multilevel analysis in patients with ankylosing spondylitis. Ann Rheum Dis. 2012;71:369-373.
- Maksymowych WP, Morency N, Conner-Spady B, Lambert RG. Suppression of inflammation and effects on new bone formation in ankylosing spondylitis: evidence for a window of opportunity in disease modification. *Ann Rheum Dis.* 2013;72:23-28.
- Machado MAdÁ, Barbosa MM, Almeida AM, et al. Treatment of ankylosing spondylitis with TNF blockers: a meta-analysis. *Rheumatol Int.* 2013;33:2199-2213.
- Maxwell LJ, Zochling J, Boonen A, et al. TNF-alpha inhibitors for ankylosing spondylitis. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* 2015;4:CD005468.
- 55. Visvanathan S, Wagner C, Marini JC, et al. Inflammatory biomarkers, disease activity and spinal disease measures in patients with ankylosing spondylitis after treatment with infliximab. *Ann Rheum Dis.* 2008;67:511-517.
- 56. Sieper J, Baraliakos X, Listing J, et al. Persistent reduction of spinal inflammation as assessed by magnetic resonance imaging in patients with ankylosing spondylitis after 2 yrs of treatment with the anti-tumour necrosis factor agent infliximab. *Rheumatology (Oxford)*. 2005;44:1525-1530.
- Marzo-Ortega H, McGonagle D, O'Connor P, Emery P. Efficacy of etanercept in the treatment of the entheseal pathology in resistant spondylarthropathy: A Clinical and Magnetic Resonance Imaging Study. Arthritis Rheum. 2001;44:2112-2117.

 Braun J, Landewé R, Hermann K-G, et al. Major reduction in spinal inflammation in patients with ankylosing spondylitis after treatment with infliximab: Results of a multicenter, randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled magnetic resonance imaging study. *Arthritis Rheum*. 2006;54:1646-1652.

🐵 📎 – Wiley

- Stone M, Salonen D, Lax M, Payne U, Lapp V, Inman R. Clinical and imaging correlates of response to treatment with infliximab in patients with ankylosing spondylitis. *J Rheumatol.* 2001;28:1605-1614.
- 60. Sieper J, Rudwaleit M. How early should ankylosing spondylitis be treated with tumour necrosis factor blockers? *Ann Rheum Dis.* 2005;64:iv61-iv64.
- 61. Ramiro S, van Tubergen A, Stolwijk C, et al. Scoring radiographic progression in ankylosing spondylitis: should we use the modified Stoke Ankylosing Spondylitis Spine Score (mSASSS) or the Radiographic Ankylosing Spondylitis Spinal Score (RASSS)? Arthritis Res Ther. 2013;15:R14.
- 62. van der Heijde D, Braun J, Deodhar A, et al. Modified stoke ankylosing spondylitis spinal score as an outcome measure to assess the impact of treatment on structural progression in ankylosing spondylitis. *Rheumatology (UK)*. 2019;58:388-400.
- 63. Prati C, Claudepierre P, Goupille P, Pham T, Wendling D. TNF $\alpha$  antagonist therapy in axial spondyloarthritis: can we do better? *Joint Bone Spine*. 2016;83:247-249.
- 64. Wendling D, Prati C, Sieper J. Disease activity in ankylosing spondylitis: the global therapeutic target. *Ann Rheum Dis.* 2018;77:1095-1096.
- 65. Aouad K, Ziade N, Baraliakos X. Structural progression in axial spondyloarthritis. *Joint Bone Spine*. 2020;87(2):131-136.
- Reveille JD, Ximenes A, Ward MM, Deodhar A, Clegg D. Economic considerations of the treatment of ankylosing spondylitis. *Am J Med Sci.* 2012;343:371-374.
- Borse RH, Brown C, Muszbek N, Chaudhary MA, Kachroo S. Costeffectiveness of golimumab in ankylosing spondylitis from the UK Payer Perspective. *Rheumatol Ther.* 2017;4:427-443.
- Botteman MF, Hay JW, Luo MP, Curry AS, Wong RL, van Hout BA. Cost effectiveness of adalimumab for the treatment of ankylosing spondylitis in the United Kingdom. *Rheumatology*. 2007;46:1320-1328.
- Goeree R, Chiva-Razavi S, Gunda P, Jain M, Jugl SM. Costeffectiveness analysis of secukinumab in ankylosing spondylitis from the Canadian perspective. J Med Econ. 2019;22:45-52.
- Kobelt G, Andlin-Sobocki P, Brophy S, Jönsson L, Calin A, Braun J. The burden of ankylosing spondylitis and the cost-effectiveness of treatment with infliximab (Remicade®). *Rheumatology*. 2004;43:1158-1166.
- Ma Z, Liu X, Xu X, et al. Safety of tumor necrosis factor-alpha inhibitors for treatment of ankylosing spondylitis: a meta-analysis. *Medicine (United States)*. 2017;96(25):e7145.
- 72. Ramiro S, van der Heijde D, van Tubergen A, et al. Higher disease activity leads to more structural damage in the spine in ankylosing spondylitis: 12-year longitudinal data from the OASIS cohort. *Ann Rheum Dis.* 2014;73:1455-1461.
- Lee JS, Song YW, Kim TH, et al. Baseline extent of damage predicts spinal radiographic progression in Korean patients with ankylosing spondylitis treated with golimumab. *Korean J Intern Med.* 2018;33:622-628.

How to cite this article: Ajrawat P, Touma Z, Sari I, Taheri C, Diaz Martinez JP, Haroon N. Effect of TNF-inhibitor therapy on spinal structural progression in ankylosing spondylitis patients: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Int J Rheum Dis.* 2020;23:728–743. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/1756-</u>

185X.13829

TABLE A1 Quality Appra	aisal of included	studies as as	ssessed by the Nev	vcastle-Ottawa Sci	ale (NOS)				
	Reference								
SON	Haroon et al (2013)8	Kim et al (2016)31	Baraliakos et al (2014)34	Baraliakos et al (2007)35	Baraliakos et al (2005)36	Park et al (2016)29	Van der Heijde et al (2009)32	Van der Heijde et al (May 2008)18	Van der Heijde et al (Oct 2008)33
Selection									
Representativeness of the exposed cohort	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
Selection of the non- exposed cohort	*	*	I	Ι	I	*	1	1	I
Ascertainment of exposure	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
Demonstration that outcome was not present at start of study	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
Comparability									
Comparability of cohorts	**	**	**	*	**	**	**	**	**
Outcome									
Assessment of outcome	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
Was follow-up long enough	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
Adequacy of follow-up of cohorts	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*

	Reference								
SON	Maas et al. (2015)36	Jeong et al. (2018)39	Maas et al. (2017)37	Maas et al. (2017)38	Molnar et al. (2018)40	Park et al. (2019)27	Pedersen et al. (2011)29	Poddubnyy et al. (2016)41	Van der Slik et al. (2019)42
Selection									
Representativeness of the exposed cohort	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	1	*
Selection of the non- exposed cohort	I	I	I	I	I	*	*	I	*
Ascertainment of exposure	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
Demonstration that outcome was not present at start of study	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
Comparability									
Comparability of cohorts	I	I	I	I	I	*	*	**	* *

- 🐵 🔇

(Continues)

_
5
õ
- F
7
•Ξ
F
5
~~
9
7
A1
E A 1
-E A1
ILE A1
BLE A1
ABLE A1

	Reference								
SON	Maas et al. (2015)36	Jeong et al. (2018)39	Maas et al. (2017)37	Maas et al. (2017)38	Molnar et al. (2018)40	Park et al. (2019)27	Pedersen et al. (2011)29	Poddubnyy et al. (2016)41	Van der Slik et al. (2019)42
Outcome									
Assessment of outcome	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
Was follow-up long enough	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
Adequacy of follow-up of cohorts	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*

Note: <sup>a</sup> Please note that the NOS permits studies to be awarded a maximum of 1 star for each category in the selection and outcome sections, and maximum 2 stars for the comparability section.



Selection of reported

Measurement of outcome

Missing data outcome

**Deviation from intended** 

Randomization process

> Dijkmans et al (2009)25 Braun et al (2014)26

Reference

interventions

TABLE A2 Quality assessment of RCTs using the Cochrane risk of bias tool

result

Note: Please note that this tool permits studies to be awarded either low (green), high (red), or moderate/some concerns, (yellow) risks of biases based on the 5 domains. Van der Hejide et al (2018)27

DOI: 10.1111/1756-185X.13835

#### ORIGINAL ARTICLE



#### 🗠 📎 🛛 Wiley

# Ultrasonographic evaluation of subclinical enthesitis in patients with psoriasis

Elzem Bolkan Günaydın<sup>1</sup> | Perihan Aladağ<sup>2</sup> | Duygu Tecer<sup>3</sup> | Işıl Saadet Yenice<sup>1</sup> | Esra Adışen<sup>2</sup> | Feride Nur Göğüş<sup>3</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, Faculty of Medicine, Gazi University, Ankara, Turkey

<sup>2</sup>Dermatology, Faculty of Medicine, Gazi University, Ankara, Turkey

<sup>3</sup>Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, Division of Rheumatology, Faculty of Medicine, Gazi University, Ankara, Turkey

#### Correspondence

Elzem Bolkan Günaydın, Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, Faculty of Medicine, Gazi University, Ankara, Turkey. Email: elzembolkan@yahoo.com

#### Abstract

**Aim:** The primary objective of this study was to assess the ultrasonographic signs of subclinical enthesitis in patients with psoriasis. Secondary objective was to examine the associations between the clinical assessments of enthesitis, severity of psoriasis, and the ultrasonographic signs of enthesitis.

**Method:** This study included 30 patients with psoriasis who did not have clinically detectable arthritis or enthesitis and 30 healthy volunteers as a control group. In the patient group, PASI, NAPSI, MASES, and SPARCC scores were calculated, and in the control group, MASES and SPARCC scores were calculated. Acute, chronic, and total enthesitis scores were calculated by ultrasonographic examination of the enthesis points that are assessed during calculation of SPARCC score, performed by a researcher blinded to the clinical assessments.

**Result:** In the ultrasonographic assessment, total enthesitis score was significantly higher in the patient group compared with the control group (P = .04). There was no significant difference between the groups regarding acute or chronic enthesitis scores. NAPSI, PASI, MASES, or SPARCC scores did not show correlation with the ultrasonographically acute, chronic, or total enthesitis scores. There was a low-level correlation between MASES and SPARCC scores in the patient group, which was statistically significant (P = .03). No significant correlation was found between other clinical scores. There was no significant difference between patient and control groups in terms of MASES and SPARCC scores.

**Conclusion:** Entheseal changes may be frequently observed in patients with psoriasis who are asymptomatic. Musculoskeletal ultrasonography (MUS) may be utilized to detect such abnormalities at the early period.

#### KEYWORDS

psoriasis, subclinical enthesitis, ultrasonography

© 2020 Asia Pacific League of Associations for Rheumatology and John Wiley & Sons Australia, Ltd
#### 1 | INTRODUCTION

Psoriasis is a prevalent, chronic, immune-mediated skin disease.<sup>1,2</sup> Although it was considered as an inflammatory disease of the skin in the past, the current view is that an inflammatory status with systemic involvement plays a role in disease etiology.<sup>2</sup>

One of the major clinical features of psoriatic arthritis (PsA) is enthesitis.<sup>3</sup> Enthesitis and arthritis are presented as soft tissue swelling accompanied by palpation, tenderness, erythema, and increased temperature in the examination of the enthesis and joint areas.<sup>4</sup> Studies in the literature have shown that entheses are the areas where inflammation occurs the earliest in PsA.<sup>5</sup> Despite this importance, entheseal abnormalities may be unnoticed in clinical examination of asymptomatic patients.<sup>2,3</sup>

Ultrasound studies have shown high incidence of entheseal abnormalities in patients with psoriasis who do not have clinical symptoms of arthropathy or enthesitis.<sup>2-3,6</sup> It is thought that utilization of ultrasonography to detect early signs of PsA can offer a window of opportunity to administer effective treatments, and would improve prognosis and clinical course by helping to prevent permanent damage.<sup>2</sup>

In cohorts of spondyloarthropathy, several scoring tools have been used for ultrasonographic assessment of enthesitis.<sup>7</sup> Spondyloarthritis Research Consortium Canada Scoring System (SPARCC) is only used to evaluate peripheral entheses that are easier to visualize by radiography and ultrasonography. Therefore, SPARCC may be more appropriate for comparison between clinical and imaging findings.<sup>8</sup> To our knowledge, this is the first study in the literature evaluating the points that are examined clinically for calculation of SPARCC index with ultrasonography for assessment of the presence of subclinical enthesitis in patients with psoriasis.

The primary aim of this study is an ultrasonographical assessment of signs of subclinical enthesitis in patients with psoriasis. The secondary aim is to investigate the associations between Psoriasis Area and Severity Index (PASI) and Nail Psoriasis Severity Index (NAPSI) which are used to assess the severity of psoriasis, Maastricht Ankylosing Spondylitis Entheses Score (MASES) and SPARCC which are used to assess the presence of enthesitis, and ultrasonographical findings of enthesitis.

#### 2 | MATERIALS AND METHODS

The study included 30 patients who were diagnosed with psoriasis in the Dermatology Department of Gazi University Faculty of Medicine between October 2014 and June 2015 and did not have clinically detectable arthritis and without complaints of enthesitis, along with 30 healthy volunteers.

The study inclusion criteria for the patient group were: age over 18 years, being under follow up by the Dermatology Department due to the diagnosis of psoriasis and receiving topical or systemic treatment for this purpose. The study exclusion criteria for the patient group were: presence of clinically detectable signs of arthritis, history of serious trauma, surgical intervention or injection to the enthesis regions to be examined, known inflammatory rheumatic disease and fibromyalgia. Age- and gender-matched healthy volunteers were included in the control group.

The study was approved by the Ethics Committee of Gazi University Faculty of Medicine and conformed to the principles of the Helsinki Declaration. All patients signed an informed consent form.

For all participants, demographic data including age, gender, body mass index (BMI), and comorbid diseases were recorded. All participants in the study were right-handed.

The disease severity of patients with psoriasis was assessed by a dermatologist from the Dermatology Department by calculating PASI and NAPSI.<sup>9</sup>

The presence of enthesitis in both patients with psoriasis and healthy volunteers was assessed by a physiatrist from Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation Department by calculation of MASES and SPARCC enthesitis index.<sup>9</sup>

For ultrasonographical examination, MyLab 70 XV ultrasonography device (EsaoteBiomedica) present in the Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation Department of Gazi University Faculty of Medicine was used with the multifrequency (6-18 mHz) linear probe and standard musculoskeletal ultrasound (MUS) gel. Musculoskeletal system ultrasonography was performed by an experienced physiatrist who was blinded to clinical findings, ultrasonographically examining enthesis points that were examined clinically while calculating SPARCC enthesis index (bilateral Achilles tendon, bilateral calcaneal insertion of plantar fascia, bilateral insertions of patellar tendon at the base of the patella, bilateral insertions of quadriceps tendon at the upper border of the patella, bilateral greater trochanter, bilateral insertions of supraspinatus tendon at the greater tuberosity of the humerus, bilateral medial and lateral epicondyles) to assess presence of findings of enthesitis including alteration of thickness of tendon or aponeurosis, change in echogenicity, presence of enthesopathy, intratendinous calcification, presence of tear in tendon or aponeurosis, and erosion or cortical irregularity in the entheseal area, presence of bursitis and positivity of power Doppler (PD) signal.<sup>10</sup> For each area, presence or absence of each sign was assessed. Criteria for acute enthesitis were alteration in echogenicity, increased thickness, bursitis, PD signal. Criteria for chronic enthesitis were calcification, enthesopathy, tear, erosion, cortical irregularity. Each criterion was scored 0 if absent and 1 if present. Acute, chronic and total (acute plus chronic) scores were obtained for each participant. Then we calculated mean value for the patient and control groups, which were then compared. This sonographic scoring system is similar to the study of Hamdi et al, with addition of calcification and cortical irregularity.<sup>8</sup> Each enthesis region was examined in longitudinal and transverse planes (Figure 1).

#### 2.1 | Statistical analysis

Data were analyzed using SPSS (Statistical Package for Social Sciences) version 20.0 software. For evaluation of data, descriptive statistics were expressed as a mean  $\pm$  standard deviation for

-WILEY

(

continuous variables and as count and percentage (%) for categorical variables. Normality assessment for the data was made using Kolmogorov-Smirnov and Shapiro-Wilks tests, and homogeneity of variances was tested with Levene's test. Comparison of means in two independent groups was made with independent two samples *t* test for parametric data, and with Mann-Whitney *U* test for non-parametric data. Comparison of more than two means for non-parametric data was made with Kruskal-Wallis one-way analysis of variance. Comparison of qualitative data between two independent groups was made with the Chi-square test, or with Fisher's exact Chi-square test when expected numbers were small. Assessment of correlations within groups was made with Pearson's correlation test for parametric data and Spearman's correlation test for non-parametric data. For all analyses, *P* < .05 was accepted as statistically significant.

#### 2.2 | Ethics committee approval

Prior to conduction of the study, it was approved by Gazi University Faculty of Medicine Ethics Committee. (Issue No:464, Date: 13.10.2014). The study conforms to the principles of the Helsinki Declaration. All patients signed an informed consent form.

#### 3 | RESULTS

The study included totally 60 participants; there were 30 patients with psoriasis in the patient group and 30 healthy volunteers in the control group. There was no significant difference between patient and control groups regarding the distribution of gender (n = 15 each in the patient group and control group), mean age (44.87  $\pm$  9.27 in the patient group, 41  $\pm$  6.01 in the control group, *P* = .06), mean BMI (29.37  $\pm$  5.65 in the patient group, 27.07  $\pm$  5.03 in the control group, *P* = .1), or comorbid diseases (3 patients had type 2 diabetes mellitus, 2 had primary essential hypertension, 2 had coronary artery disease; 1 had multiple sclerosis, and 1 had chronic kidney disease; in the



**FIGURE 1** Enthesopathy in insertion of Achilles tendon in a participant from patient group

patient group, 1 patient had type 2 diabetes mellitus, 1 patient had primary essential hypertension, 1 patient had coronary artery disease, 2 had hypothyroidism, 1 had asthma in the control group [n = 9 in the patient group, n = 6 in the control group, P = .55]).

Correlations between MASES, SPARCC, PASI and NAPSI scores in the patient group are shown in Table 1.

Correlation analysis results have shown a low level of positive correlation between MASES score and SPARCC score, which was statistically significant (P = .03). No significant correlation was found between other variables.

In the patient group, mean (mean  $\pm$  SD) MASES and SPARCC scores were 0.60  $\pm$  1.42 and 0.86  $\pm$  1.52, respectively; whereas in the control group, mean MASES and SPARCC scores were 0.53  $\pm$  1.25 and 1.20  $\pm$  1.51, respectively. There was no significant difference between patient and control groups regarding MASES and SPARCC scores (P = .77/P = .19).

In relation to the comparison of patient and control groups regarding the ultrasonographic evaluation of enthesis regions, there was a significant difference between the groups with regard to the presence of cortical irregularity in right patellar and left supraspinatus tendons (P = .01). Other evaluated enthesis regions did not show a significant difference between the groups regarding ultrasonographic evaluation criteria (Tables 2 and 3). All participants in the study were right-handed.

Table 4 shows comparison of acute, chronic and total enthesitis scores across patient and control groups.

Total enthesitis score was significantly higher in the patient group compared to the control group (P = .04). Acute and chronic enthesitis scores did not show a significant difference between the groups.

 TABLE 1
 Correlations between clinical scores in patients with psoriasis

	PASI	NAPSI	MASES	SPARCC
PASI				
r	1	.31	04	18
Р		.09	.79	.33
NAPSI				
r	.31	1	.00	.04
Р	.09		1	.80
MASES				
r	04	.00	1	.38
Р	.79	1		.03
SPARCC				
r	18	.04	.38	1
Р	.33	.80	.03	

Abbreviations: MASES, Maastricht Ankylosing Spondylitis Entheses Score; NAPSI, Nail Psoriasis Severity Index; PASI, Psoriasis Area and Severity Index; SPARCC, Spondyloarthritis Research Consortium of Canada.

Significant P values were written in bold.

	Patient n/control	L							
	Alteration in echogenicity	Increased thickness	Calcified deposits	Enthesopathy	Tear	Erosion	Cortical irregularities	Bursitis	Power Doppler signal
Right medial epicondyle	0/0	0/0	0/0	0/0	0/0	0/0	2/1 P = 1	ΝA	1/0 P = 1
Right lateral epicondyle	0/0	0/0	0/0	0/0	0/0	0/0	1/3 P = .61	NA	0/0
Right supraspinatus tendon	2/0 P = .49	0/0	0/0	1/0 P = 1	6/3 P = .47	0/0	8/11 P = .58	2/3 P = 1	0/0
Right greater trochanter	0/0	0/0	0/0	0/0	0/0	0/0	3/2 P = 1	0/0	0/0
Right quadriceps tendon	0/0	0/0	0/0	0/0	0/0	0/0	3/1 P = .61	0/0	0/0
Right patellar tendon	1/0 P = 1	1/0 P = 1	0/0	1/0 P = 1	0/0	0/0	10/0 <b>P = .01</b>	0/0	0/0
Right Achilles tendon	0/0	0/0	0/0	11/9 P = .78	0/0	0/0	3/ 2 P = 1	5/1 P = .19	0/0
Right plantar fascia	0/0	0/0	0/0	1/1 P = 1	0/0	0/0	1/1 P = 1	NA	0/0

 TABLE 2
 Comparison of ultrasonography findings across patient and control groups, right side<sup>a</sup>

Abbreviation: NA, not applicable

 $^{a}$ For data as 0/0 in patient and control groups, *P* value cannot be calculated as the data is constant.

Significant P values were written in bold.

747

	Patient n/contro	I							
	Alteration in echogenicity	Increased thickness	Calcified deposits	Enthesopathy	Tear	Erosion	Cortical irregularities	Bursitis	Power Doppler signal
Left medial epicondyle	0/0	0/0	0/0	1/1 P = 1	0/0	0/0	1/0 P = 1	NA	0/1 P = 1
Left lateral epicondyle	0/0	0/0	0/0	0/0	0/0	0/0	3/4 P = 1	NA	1/0 P = 1
Left supraspinatus tendon	4/0 P = .11	0/0	0/0	0/0	6/7 P = 1	1/0 P = 1	16/6 P = .01	0/4 P = .11	0/0
Left greater trochanter	0/0	0/0	0/0	0/0	0/0	0/0	9/8 P = .95	0/0	0/0
Left quadriceps tendon	0/0	0/0	0/0	2/0 P = .49	0/0	0/0	2/1 P = 1	0/0	0/0
Left patellar tendon	0/0	0/0	0/0	0/0	0/0	0/0	4/0 P = .11	0/0	0/0
Left Achilles tendon	0/0	0/0	0/0	13/11 P = .79	0/0	0/0	3/3 P = 1	8/2 P = .08	0/0
Left plantar fascia	0/0	0/0	0/0	2/1 P = .1	0/0	0/0	2/0 P = .49	NA	0/0
	-								

 TABLE 3
 Comparison of ultrasonography findings across patient and control groups -left side<sup>a</sup>

Abbreviation: NA, not applicable.

 $^{a}$ For data as 0/0 in patient and control groups, P-value cannot be calculated as the data is constant.

Significant P values were written in bold.

**TABLE 4**Comparison of acute (alteration in echogenicity,<br/>increased thickness, bursitis, power Doppler signal), chronic<br/>(calcification, enthesopathy, tear, erosion, cortical irregularity)<br/>and total enthesitis scores (mean  $\pm$  SD) across patient and control<br/>groups

N = 30	Mean ± SD	Р
Acute enthesitis score		
Patient	$0.83 \pm 1.08$	.05
Control	0.37 ± 0.71	
Chronic enthesitis score		
Patient	3.87 ± 3.20	.14
Control	2.53 ± 2.09	
Total enthesitis score		
Patient	4.70 ± 3.54	.04
Control	2.90 ± 2.36	
Echogenicity		
Patient	0.23 ± 0.67	*
Control	0.00*	
Thickness		
Patient	$0.03 \pm 0.18$	*
Control	0.00*	
Bursitis		
Patient	$0.50 \pm 0.86$	.49
Control	0.33 ± 0.66	
Power Doppler signal		
Patient	0.07 ± 0.25	.55
Control	$0.03 \pm 0.18$	
Calcification		
Patient	0.00*	*
Control	0.00*	
Enthesopathy		
Patient	1.07 ± 1.36	.52
Control	0.77 ± 0.97	
Tear		
Patient	0.40 ± 0.72	.68
Control	0.30 ± 0.59	
Erosion		
Patient	$0.03 \pm 0.18$	*
Control	0.00*	
Cortical irregularities		
Patient	2.37 ± 2.15	.09
Control	1.47 ± 1.59	

\*Since all the observed values of these variables were 0, no comparative analysis was made.

Significant P values were written in bold.

There was no significant difference between patient and control groups regarding mean values of bursitis, PD signal, enthesophyte, tear, or cortical irregularity. International Journal of Rheumatic Diseases WILFY

**TABLE 5**Correlation of acute, chronic and total enthesitisscores with PASI, NAPSI, MASES, and SPARCC scores in patientgroup

	PASI	NAPSI	MASES	SPARCC
Acute e	nthesitis score			
r	.03	.04	02	.24
Р	.87	.82	.88	.19
Chronic	enthesitis sco	re		
r	.18	.05	.05	.03
Р	.34	.78	.76	.85
Total er	thesitis score			
r	.15	.02	.08	.09
Р	.40	.90	.66	.61

Abbreviations: MASES, Maastricht Ankylosing Spondylitis Entheses Score; NAPSI, Nail Psoriasis Severity Index; PASI, Psoriasis Area and Severity Index; SPARCC, Spondyloarthritis Research Consortium of Canada.

In the patient group, mean echogenicity alteration value was 0.23  $\pm$  0.67, mean increased thickness value was 0.03  $\pm$  0.18, and mean erosion value was 0.03  $\pm$  0.18; whereas these findings were not present in the control group. Calcification was not detected in either group.

Table 5 shows correlations between acute, chronic and total enthesitis scores with PASI, NAPSI, MASES and SPARCC scores in the patient group.

There was no significant correlation between acute, chronic, total enthesitis scores and PASI, NAPSI, MASES, SPARCC scores in the patient group.

#### 4 | DISCUSSION

In the present study including patients with psoriasis along with healthy volunteers as controls, the key points used in the assessment of SPARCC index were examined ultrasonographically in order to compare the findings associated with subclinical enthesitis between the groups. To our knowledge, this is the first study in the literature evaluating the points that are examined clinically for calculation of SPARCC index with ultrasonography for assessment of the presence of subclinical enthesitis in patients with psoriasis.

Enthesitis is considered to be the primary pathological abnormality in PsA, and synovitis is thought to develop due to cytokines released from the enthesis regions.<sup>5,7</sup> Elnady et al reported that during a 2-year follow up of psoriasis patients without clinical signs of PsA, psoriasis patients who developed PsA showed a higher prevalence of baseline enthesitis than those who did not develop PsA.<sup>11</sup> Marchesoni et al compared 76 patients with PsA and 26 patients with rheumatoid arthritis and reported that inflammatory and structural changes in all enthesis areas were significantly more prominent in the PsA group.<sup>12</sup>

In cohorts of spondyloarthropathy, several scoring tools have been used for ultrasonographic assessment of enthesitis.<sup>7</sup> There is no internationally recognized and established scoring system for enthesitis.<sup>3,7</sup> In 2005. Outcome Measures in Rheumatoid Arthritis Clinical Trials (OMERACT) group proposed to examine ultrasonographical abnormalities of enthesopathies under two categories as active inflammation and structural changes.<sup>3,13</sup> These include abnormal hypoechogenicity (loss of normal fibrillar structure), increased thickness of tendon or ligament at attachment sites, Doppler signal positivity, enthesophyte, and bone changes including erosion and cortical irregularities.<sup>1,7,14</sup> Apart from this, some authors recommended to refer to intratendinous calcification and tear as chronic changes, and bursitis as acute changes.<sup>15</sup> Outcome Measures in Rheumatoid Arthritis Clinical Trials recommendations require that total gray scale (GS) and PD scores are calculated individually for each enthesis region to obtain a final total score. In their study, Hamdi et al examined the relationship between clinical and sonographic enthesitis scores in ankylosing spondylitis. During the sonographic assessment of enthesitis, they evaluated abnormal echogenicity, increased thickness of tendon or ligament at the attachment site, Doppler signal and bursitis as acute signs, and presence of enthesophytes, erosion, and intratendinous tear as chronic signs. They assessed presence or absence of these signs for each enthesis region and compared acute, chronic and total sonographic enthesitis scores across patient and control groups.<sup>8</sup> Similarly, in our study, we assessed abnormal echogenicity, increased the thickness of tendon or ligament at the bone-attachment site, Doppler signal positivity and bursitis as acute signs, and enthesophytes, erosions, tendon tear and additionally intratendinous calcification and cortical irregularity as part of OMERACT recommendations as chronic sonographic signs of enthesitis. For each enthesis region examined, these signs were recorded as either present or absent, and we compared acute, chronic and overall enthesitis scores across patient and control groups.

During the ultrasonographic examination, an adequate number of enthesis regions should be assessed for accurate results. Previous studies have often used scoring systems that included lower extremity entheses that are more frequently affected.<sup>16</sup> Spondyloarthritis Research Consortium Canada Scoring System, on the other hand, is only used to evaluate peripheral entheses that are easier to visualize by radiography and ultrasonography. Therefore, SPARCC may be more appropriate for comparison between clinical and imaging findings.<sup>8</sup> Our study is the first in which points that are examined for tenderness during calculation of the clinical score SPARCC are assessed with ultrasonography for signs of enthesitis.

Ultrasound studies have shown that clinical examination has less sensitivity compared to ultrasonography in diagnosing enthesitis; therefore entheseal abnormalities may be overlooked in clinically asymptomatic patients.<sup>2,7</sup> Galuzzo et al reported that abnormalities were more frequent in entheses around the ankle in asymptomatic PsA patients.<sup>17</sup> Balint et al examined 35 patients with spondyloarthropathies of which 7 were PsA, and while they detected entheseal abnormality clinically in 22% of patients, this rate increased up to

56% with the ultrasonographic assessment.<sup>18</sup> In contrast, Freeston et al compared 42 patients with early PsA and 10 controls and observed that PsA and control groups were similar in terms of the frequency of ultrasonographic signs suggestive of enthesitis. They detected subclinical enthesitis signs in only 4% of entheses without tenderness, and in 24% of entheses showing tenderness. They observed that activation in the clinical examination was correlated with activation in ultrasonographic assessment.<sup>7</sup> Hamdi et al examined the correlation between clinical and ultrasonographic enthesitis scores in their study including 60 patients with ankylosing spondylitis; and they found correlations between MASES score and acute sonographic enthesitis score, between SPARCC and MASES and total sonographic enthesitis score, whereas they did not find a correlation between clinical scores and chronic sonographic scores.<sup>8</sup> On the other hand the ULISSE study showed that tenderness upon pressure on the entheseal site was more frequent in fibromyalgia than in patients with PsA and psoriasis, although assessment by MUS showed a higher prevalence of signs of entheseal involvement in patients with PsA and psoriasis than in patients with fibromyalgia.<sup>19</sup> In our study, we did not find any correlation between ultrasonographic findings and the clinical enthesitis scores MASES and SPARCC.

The incidence of subclinical enthesitis was found to be increased in patients with psoriasis who do not have musculoskeletal symptoms compared to the normal population.<sup>3,5</sup> Subclinical enthesitis and synovitis were detected in 39.5% of psoriasis and 10% of controls and was significantly higher in the psoriasis group in the study by Elnady et al<sup>11</sup> De Filippis et al found entheseal abnormalities with MUS in 25% of patients with psoriasis who did not show any findings during routine clinical examinations.<sup>20</sup> Özçakar et al examined 30 patients with psoriasis and 20 healthy controls and found the increased thickness of Achilles tendon in patients with psoriasis who did not have symptoms of enthesitis.<sup>21</sup> Similarly, De Simone et al detected ultrasonographic abnormalities in Achilles tendon in 59.2% of patients with psoriasis.<sup>22</sup> Gutierrez et al compared 45 patients with psoriasis and controls and showed an increased frequency of enthesopathy at lower extremities in patients with psoriasis. The frequencies of enthesopathy signs were 8.4% in the control group compared to 32.9% in the psoriasis group, and they found significantly higher Glasgow Ultrasound Enthesitis Scoring Scale (GUESS) scores in patients with psoriasis.<sup>23</sup> Naredo et al compared 160 patients with psoriasis who did not have musculoskeletal symptoms and 60 controls; they reported that the percentage of entheses showing at least 1 MUS abnormality suggesting enthesopathy was 11.6% in the psoriasis group, and 5.3% in the control group, and was significantly higher in the psoriasis group.<sup>6</sup> Arguacalda et al evaluated the prevalence of enthesitis with MUS in patients with psoriasis with and without musculoskeletal symptoms who were receiving systemic treatment for skin symptoms and showed a high prevalence of subclinical enthesitis in patients with psoriasis without musculoskeletal symptoms.<sup>3</sup> Gisondi et al used GUESS scoring system to assess entheseal abnormalities in 30 patients with psoriasis who did not have PsA symptoms and 30 controls. They observed that GUESS score was significantly

higher in patients with psoriasis although they did not have particular symptoms. They also observed that tendon thickness and number of enthesophytes were significantly higher in patients with psoriasis compared to the controls. Retrocalcaneal bursitis was observed in patients with psoriasis, but not in the control group. In addition, they observed there was no correlation between GUESS score and time after diagnosis of psoriasis, the severity of psoriasis, or severity of nail involvement.<sup>5</sup> In our study, we also found that total enthesitis score was significantly higher in the psoriasis group compared to the control group. We did not observe a correlation between NAPSI and PASI scores and ultrasonographic scores.

In our study, cortical irregularity at the proximal patellar tendon attachment site was found to be significantly higher compared to the control group. Naredo et al found the frequency of enthesopathy in the proximal patellar tendon was significantly higher in psoriasis patients compared to the control group.<sup>6</sup> Delle Sedie et al found that the prevalence of knee enthesitis involving quadricipital and patellar enthesis was 39.7% in 83 patients with PsA.<sup>24</sup> McGonagle et al stated that entheseal changes are more common in lower extremities due to a type of Kobner phenomenon caused by biomechanical stress.<sup>25</sup>

The findings of enthesopathy in the Achilles tendon were common in both the patient and control groups in our study. In the studies of Gutierrez et al, Naredo et al and Freeston et al, the most common enthesopathy was found in the Achilles enthesis in both psoriasis patients and the control groups.<sup>6-7,23</sup> This may be due to the difficulty in distinguishing true enthesopathies from mechanical or degenerative bone protrusions. The frequency of changes such as cortical irregularity and enthesopathy in the control group were similar to the patient group; this may reflect the importance of mechanical stress on the lower extremity.<sup>7,23</sup>

In our study, cortical irregularity at the supraspinatus tendon attachment site was significantly higher in patients with psoriasis compared to the control group. Riente et al investigated ultrasonographic abnormalities in the shoulder in 97 PsA patients; they observed that the changes related to the supraspinatus tendon were the most frequent changes.<sup>26</sup>

Nail psoriasis is a predecessor for PsA development, possibly indicating a relationship between nail psoriasis and systemic enthesopathy.<sup>27</sup> Ash et al compared 46 patients with psoriasis, 31 of whom had nail disease and 21 controls, and they showed total enthesitis MUS scores which show both inflammation and chronic changes were higher in those with nail disease, and that the severity of nail lesions was correlated with ultrasonographic inflammatory and chronic lesion development.<sup>27</sup> In contrast, Arquacalda et al did not find a significant difference between patients with and with-out nail disease in terms of the frequency of enthesitis detected in MUS.<sup>3</sup> In our study, we also did not find a correlation between NAPSI and MUS scores.

We did not observe any association between PASI score and ultrasonographic enthesitis signs in patients with psoriasis. Consistent with our findings, Ash et al did not observe an association between PASI score and ultrasonographic scores.<sup>27</sup> But in contrast, Pistone et al investigated the frequency of Achilles enthesitis in patients with psoriasis, and observed significantly higher GUESS scores compared to controls, and showed a correlation between PASI and GUESS scores.<sup>28</sup> Moshrif et al showed there was a significant positive correlation between the occurrence of enthesitis and PASI score.<sup>29</sup>

In our study, there was no significant difference between patient and control groups regarding MASES and SPARCC scores. In their study, Naredo et al also did not find significant difference between psoriasis and control groups regarding MASES scores.<sup>6</sup>

In relation to the associations between MASES, SPARCC, NAPSI and PASI scores in patients with psoriasis, we only found a correlation between MASES and SPARCC scores. In their study, Hamdi et al investigated the relationship between clinical and ultrasonographic enthesitis scores in 60 patients with ankylosing spondylitis and showed a significant correlation between SPARCC and MASES scores.<sup>8</sup>

There are some limitations to our study. First, the researcher who performed the ultrasonographic assessments was blinded to clinical findings and patient information; however, psoriatic plaques that are present in the examination areas may have given a clue to distinguish between patients and controls. To reduce the effect of this condition, the ultrasonographic assessment was performed in a dark room, and participants were asked not to inform the examiner about their clinical conditions. Second, the ultrasound is operator-dependent and to rule out this pitfall in research, it should be done by two observers with inter-reader coefficient assessment. Another limitation is the limited generalizability of the results due to a small number of patients. Finally, since the number of patients was small, we could not analyze ultrasonographic signs in different treatment groups. Nevertheless, future longitudinal MUS studies encompassing large populations, investigating the frequency of entheseal abnormalities and their response to treatment in patients with psoriasis receiving different treatments are necessary.

#### 5 | CONCLUSIONS

Subclinical enthesitis is not uncommon in psoriasis patients free from clinical enthesitis; MUS is a valid modality to assess early enthesitis in such patients. In our population supraspinatus tendon and patella tendon are the most common affected sites. Among patients with psoriasis, ultrasonographic enthesitis scores did not show correlation with the clinical assessment scores MASES, SPARCC, PASI or NAPSI.

#### ORCID

Elzem Bolkan Günaydın Dhttps://orcid. org/0000-0002-4000-6947 Duygu Tecer https://orcid.org/0000-0002-8816-6181

#### ILEY<sup>-</sup>Rheumatic Diseases

#### REFERENCES

- Naredo E, Wakefield RJ, lagnocco A, et al. The OMERACT ultrasound task force-status and perspectives. *J Rheumatol.* 2011;38(9):2063-2067.
- Girolomoni G, Gisondi P. Psoriasis and systemic inflammation: underdiagnosed enthesopathy. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol. 2009;23(Suppl 1):3-8.
- Acquacalda E, Albert C, Montaudie H, et al. Ultrasound study of entheses in psoriasis patients with or without musculoskeletal symptoms: a prospective study. *Joint Bone Spine*. 2015;82(4):267-271.
- Louie GH, Bingham CO. Psoriatic arthritis. In: Imboden JB, Hellman DB, Stone JH, eds. Current Diagnosis and Treatment, Rheumatology, 3rd edn. New York, NY: Lange; 2014:171-176.
- 5. Gisondi P, Tinazzi I, El-Dalati G, et al. Lower limb enthesopathy in patients with psoriasis without clinical signs of arthropathy: a hospital-based case-control study. *Ann Rheum Dis.* 2008;67(1):26-30.
- Naredo E, Möller I, de Miguel E, et al. High prevalence of ultrasonographic synovitis and enthesopathy in patients with psoriasis without psoriatic arthritis: a prospective case-control study. *Rheumatology (Oxford)*. 2011;50(10):1838-1848.
- Freeston JE, Coates LC, Helliwell PS, et al. Is there subclinical enthesitis in early psoriatic arthritis? A clinical comparison with power doppler ultrasound. Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken). 2012;64(10):1617-1621.
- Hamdi W, Chelli-Bouaziz M, Ahmed MS, et al. Correlations among clinical, radiographic, and sonographic scores for enthesitis in ankylosing spondylitis. *Joint Bone Spine*. 2011;78(3):270-274.
- Mease PJ. Measures of psoriatic arthritis: Tender and Swollen Joint Assessment, Psoriasis Area and Severity Index (PASI), Nail Psoriasis Severity Index (NAPSI), Modified Nail Psoriasis Severity Index (mNAPSI), Mander/Newcastle Enthesitis Index (MEI), Leeds. Arthritis Care Res. 2011;63(SUPPL. 11):64-85.
- Gandjbakhch F, Terslev L, Joshua F, Wakefield RJ, Naredo E, D'Agostino M. Ultrasound in the evaluation of enthesitis: status and perspectives. *Arthritis Res Ther.* 2011;13(6):R188.
- Elnady B, El Shaarawy NK, Dawoud NM, et al. Subclinical synovitis and enthesitis in psoriasis patients and controls by ultrasonography in Saudi Arabia; incidence of psoriatic arthritis during two years. *Clin Rheumatol.* 2019;38(6):1627-1635.
- Iagnocco A, Spadaro A, Marchesoni A, et al. Power Doppler ultrasonographic evaluation of enthesitis in psoriatic arthritis. A multi-center study. *Joint Bone Spine*. 2012;79(3):324-325.
- Brown AK, Quinn MA, Karim Z, et al. Presence of significant synovitis in rheumatoid arthritis patients with disease-modifying antirheumatic drug-induced clinical remission: evidence from an imaging study may explain structural progression. *Arthritis Rheum*. 2006;54(12):3761-3773.
- Wakefield RJ, Balint PV, Szkudlarek M, et al. Musculoskeletal ultrasound including definitions for ultrasonographic pathology. J Rheumatol. 2005;32(12):2485-2487.
- Kaeley GS. Review of the use of ultrasound for the diagnosis and monitoring of enthesitis in psoriatic arthritis. *Curr Rheumatol Rep.* 2011;13(4):338-345.
- Klauser AS, Wipfler E, Dejaco C, Moriggl B, Duftner C, Schirmer M. Diagnostic values of history and clinical examination to predict

ultrasound signs of chronic and acute enthesitis. *Clin Exp Rheumatol.* 2008;26(4):548-553.

- 17. Galluzzo E, Lischi DM, Taglione E, et al. Sonographic analysis of the ankle in patients with psoriatic arthritis. *Scand J Rheumatol.* 2000;29(1):52-55.
- Balint PV, Kane D, Wilson H, McInnes IB, Sturrock RD. Ultrasonography of entheseal insertions in the lower limb in spondyloarthropathy. Ann Rheum Dis. 2002;61(10):905-910.
- 19. Macchioni P, Salvarani C, Possemato N, et al. Ultrasonographic and clinical assessment of peripheral enthesitis in patients with psoriatic arthritis, psoriasis, and fibromyalgia syndrome: the ULISSE study. *J Rheumatol.* 2019;46(8):904-911.
- 20. De Filippis LG, Caliri A, Lo Gullo R, et al. Ultrasonography in the early diagnosis of psoriasis-associated enthesopathy. *Int J Tissue React*. 2005;27(4):159-162.
- 21. Ozçakar L, Cetin A, Inanici F, Kaymak B, Gürer CK, Kölemen F. Ultrasonographical evaluation of the Achilles' tendon in psoriasis patients. *Int J Dermatol*. 2005;44(11):930-932.
- 22. De Simone C, Guerriero C, Giampetruzzi AR, Costantini M, Di Gregorio F, Amerio P. Achilles tendinitis in psoriasis: clinical and sonographic findings. J Am Acad Dermatol. 2003;49(2):217-222.
- 23. Gutierrez M, Filippucci E, De Angelis R, et al. Subclinical entheseal involvement in patients with psoriasis: an ultrasound study. *Semin Arthritis Rheum.* 2011;40(5):407-412.
- 24. Delle Sedie A, Riente L, Filippucci E, et al. Ultrasound imaging for the rheumatologist XXVI. Sonographic assessment of the knee in patients with psoriatic arthritis. *Clin Exp Rheumatol*. 2010;28(2):147-152.
- 25. McGonagle D, Tan AL, Benjamin M. The biomechanical link between skin and joint disease in psoriasis and psoriatic arthritis: what every dermatologist needs to know. *Ann Rheum Dis.* 2008;67(1):1-4.
- 26. Riente L, Delle Sedie A, Filippucci E, et al. Ultrasound imaging for the rheumatologist XLV. Ultrasound of the shoulder in psoriatic arthritis. *Clin Exp Rheumatol*. 2013;31(3):329-333.
- Ash ZR, Tinazzi I, Gallego CC, et al. Psoriasis patients with nail disease have a greater magnitude of underlying systemic subclinical enthesopathy than those with normal nails. *Ann Rheum Dis.* 2012;71(4):553-556.
- Pistone G, La Vecchia M, Pistone A, Bongiorno MR. Achilles tendon ultrasonography may detect early features of psoriatic arthropathy in patients with cutaneous psoriasis. Br J Dermatol. 2014;171(5):1220-1222.
- 29. Moshrif A, Mosallam A, Mohamed EE, Gouda W, Doma M. Subclinical enthesopathy in patients with psoriasis and its association with other disease parameters: a power Doppler ultrasonographic study. *Eur J Rheumatol.* 2017;4(1):24-28.

How to cite this article: Bolkan Günaydın E, Aladağ P, Tecer D, Yenice IS, Adışen E, Göğüş FN. Ultrasonographic evaluation of subclinical enthesitis in patients with psoriasis. *Int J Rheum Dis.* 2020;23:744–752. https://doi.org/10.1111/1756-185X.13835

752

DOI: 10.1111/1756-185X.13826

#### ORIGINAL ARTICLE



#### WILEY

**@** 📎

# Effects of Andersson lesion treatment in ankylosing spondylitis: A medical record review study focused on medium-to long-term outcomes

Minhao Wu \mid Feifei Yan 🕴 Ansong Ping 📋 Jun Lei 匝

Department of Spine Surgery and Musculoskeletal Tumor, Zhongnan Hospital of Wuhan University, Wuhan, China

#### Correspondence

Jun Lei, Department of Spine Surgery and Musculoskeletal Tumor, Zhongnan Hospital of Wuhan University, 168 Donghu Street, Wuchang District, Wuhan 430071, Hubei, China. Email: leijun75@aliyun.com

#### Abstract

The present study aimed to evaluate the clinical efficacy of Andersson lesion (AL) treatments and prognostic factors using medium- to long-term follow-up data and discuss the clinical characteristics and treatment of AL. Forty-eight consecutive AL cases at our center from June 2011 to March 2018 were retrospectively analyzed, including 13 cases treated conservatively and 35 treated surgically. Epidemiological characteristics, treatment modalities, clinical features and outcomes, and prognostic factors of the Japanese Orthopaedic Association (JOA) recovery rate were reviewed. Neurological functional recovery was evaluated by American Spinal Injury Association (ASIA) classification. Clinical efficacy was evaluated by JOA score, visual analog scale (VAS) score, and Cobb's angle. The mean overall follow-up duration was 44.5±18.5 months (range, 27-85 months). There were 36 male and 12 female patients, with a mean age of  $49.4 \pm 13.1$  years (range, 26-72 years). The most common lesion location was the thoracolumbar region, i.e., T10-L2 (n=33; 68.8%), followed by the thoracic (n=10) and lumbar (n=5) regions. Patients treated surgically showed significantly better JOA scores, VAS scores and Cobb's angles at the final follow-up than did patients treated conservatively (P<.05). Univariate and binary logistic regression analyses identified two prognostic factors of the JOA score recovery rate: treatment modality (OR=0.157; 95%CI, 0.028-0.89; P=.036) and bone fusion (OR=9.965; 95%CI, 2.052-48.387; P=.004). Conservative treatment and bone nonunion predict worse JOA score recovery. Surgery remains the optimal treatment for AL in ankylosing spondylitis patients, with better clinical efficacy demonstrated by medium- to long-term follow-up data.

#### KEYWORDS

Andersson lesion, ankylosing spondylitis, medium- to long-term follow-up, retrospective study, treatment outcome

Both Minhao Wu and Feifei Yan contributed equally to this work.

© 2020 Asia Pacific League of Associations for Rheumatology and John Wiley & Sons Australia, Ltd

WILEY-

Ankylosing spondylitis (AS) is a well-known chronic inflammatory rheumatic disease which results in progressive structural damage and motion restriction of the spine.<sup>1-4</sup> Over time, diverse inflammatory changes in the spine can lead to vertebral osteoporosis and biomechanical alterations. AS is associated with a high rate of spinal fractures due to early-onset osteoporosis, with an incidence reportedly 5 times greater in AS patients than in the age-matched general population. Subsequently, repeated stress and biomechanical instability progress to nonunion, resulting in hypertrophic pseudoarthrosis.<sup>5,6</sup> Andersson lesion (AL) is a rare complication in AS patients, presenting as a destructive vertebral or discovertebral lesion of the spine that is relatively uncommon. The reported prevalence rates range from 1.5% to 28%.<sup>7,8</sup> In 1937, this lesion was first described by Andersson, and was characterized by a state of chronic mobile nonunion with an essential posterior element fracture or unfused facet joints associated with the anterior lesion.<sup>1,9</sup> With the progression of AL, these destructive spinal changes may result in localized, progressive, and painful kyphotic deformity and neurological deficits that necessitate treatment.

For a long time, there has seemed to be a discrepancy in the treatment of AL between rheumatologists and orthopedic surgeons. Generally, the mainstay of the initial treatment for AL is surgical decompression, instrumentation, bone grafting, and fusion after the failure of conservative treatment, such as plaster immobilization or halo vest immobilization.<sup>10-12</sup> Currently, the ultimate goal of surgery in AL patients is to not only restore spinal stability but also decompress the spinal canal, facilitating healing and fusion of the spinal lesion and the relief of persistent back pain. However, the surgical treatment of AL is associated with considerable adverse effects, including neurological impairment, nonunion and progressive kyphotic deformity.<sup>6,13,14</sup> Based on several recent studies, patients with surgical treatment have better clinical outcomes than do those who receive conservative treatment.<sup>11-12,15</sup> Moreover, the prognostic factors of AL remain controversial. Reported prognostic factors include age, gender, symptom duration, erythrocyte sedimentation rate (ESR), C-reactive protein (CRP), human leukocyte antigen (HLA)-B27 positivity, lesion location, steroid treatment, osteoporosis, pseudarthrosis, neurological impairment, Cobb's angle of kyphosis, bone fusion and treatment modality.  $^{1,3,5\text{-}8,13}$  Because most clinical studies on AL have been based on case reports and retrospective studies of small samples, large investigations of the medium- to long-term outcomes of this lesion are lacking.<sup>5,7,16</sup>

In this study, we retrospectively analyzed 48 patients with AL at our center to determine the medium- to long-term outcomes and prognostic factors related to this lesion. Furthermore, we compared the medium- to long-term therapeutic effects of the surgical and conservative treatment of AL and discussed the clinical management of AL.

#### 2 | MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### 2.1 | Patient selection and data collection

Forty-eight consecutive patients were diagnosed with AL at our center between June 2011 and March 2018. All of the patients

underwent plain radiography, computed tomography (CT), magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), areal bone mineral density (aBMD) (g/cm<sup>2</sup>) measurements using dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry (DEXA) on the femur neck, and physical examination by a spine surgeon as soon as possible after admission. Surgical specimens were sent to the laboratory for histopathological examinations. The clinical data of these patients were retrospectively reviewed. The recorded information included patient age, gender, duration of symptoms before admission, clinical manifestations, ESR, CRP, HLA-B27 positivity, steroid treatment, osteoporosis, lesion location, American Spinal Injury Association (ASIA) classification, visual analog scale (VAS) score, pseudarthrosis, neurological impairment, Cobb's angle, treatment modality, and bone fusion.

#### 2.2 | Evaluation of neurological status

Neurological status was evaluated according to the ASIA classification. The ASIA scale consists of 5 grades (A: a complete spinal cord injury; B: incomplete injuries with some degree of sensory function but no motor function; C: a motor grade less than 3 below the neurological level of injury; D: a motor grade of at least 3 below the neurological level of injury; E: normal motor and sensory examinations, but still may have abnormal reflexes or other neurological phenomena). The medium- to long-term outcomes also included the rate of improvement in the Japanese Orthopedic Association (JOA) score. Postoperative change in the JOA score was calculated by subtracting the preoperative JOA score from the postoperative JOA score, and changes were compared between the groups. The recovery rate was calculated according to the method of Hirabayashi et al<sup>17</sup> as follows: (recovery rate % = [(postoperative JOA - preoperative JOA)/(17 [full score] – preoperative JOA)] × 100%), and a recovery rate of ≥25% was defined as effective for the treatment of AL. A recovery rate of 100% was the best possible postoperative improvement.

#### 2.3 | Statistical analysis

Age, ESR, CRP, and symptom duration were analyzed as continuous numerical variables. Gender, HLA-B27 positivity, steroid treatment, osteoporosis, lesion location, pseudarthrosis, neurological impairment, Cobb's angle, treatment modality, and bone fusion were analyzed as categorical variables. Univariate and multivariate (for relevant variables) regression analyses were performed to determine prognostic factors of the JOA score recovery rate. Pearson's Chi-squared test was employed for categorical variables, whereas the nonparametric Mann-Whitney *U* test was used for nonnormally distributed numerical variables. An independentsamples *t* test was used for comparisons of normally distributed continuous numerical variables between groups. Statistical significance was defined as P < .05. All statistical analyses were completed using SPSS Statistics package (version 22.0; IBM).

#### 3 | RESULTS

#### 3.1 | Patient characteristics

A summary of the clinical and demographic characteristics of the 48 patients is presented in Table 1. The average age of the patients was 49.4  $\pm$  13.1 years (range 26-72 years). The ratio of males to females was 3:1. The most common initial symptom was back pain (n = 22; 45.8%), followed by spinal cord compression (n = 11; 23%), severe kyphotic deformity (n = 12; 25%), and others (n = 3; 6.2%). Thirty-three lesions were located in the thoracolumbar region, that is, T10-L2 (68.8%), and 10 were located in the thoracic region (20.8%). The mean duration of symptoms was 38.0  $\pm$  24.1 months (range 11-150 months). In addition, the mean aBMD at the femur neck of the patients was 0.835  $\pm$  0.168 g/cm<sup>2</sup> (range, 0.701-0.925 g/cm<sup>2</sup>), which indicated that the mean T score was -1.8  $\pm$  0.95 (range 0.6 to -3.2).

As shown in Figure 3, neurological deficits were found in 9 of the patients treated with surgery and 2 of the patients who underwent conservative treatment. According to the ASIA grading system, 37 cases were classified as E, 8 cases as D, and 3 cases as C. On examination, 3 patients with neurological deficits with an ASIA grade of C had significant decreases in muscle power (2-3/5) and tendon reflexes in the bilateral lower extremities. The other 8 patients had slight decreases in motor ability (4/5) and reflex of the legs. The average follow-up time was 44.5  $\pm$  18.5 months (range 27-85 months). None of the patients died during follow-up.

#### 3.2 | Laboratory blood test findings

On admission, the ESR and CRP levels were  $23.6 \pm 14.9$  (range, 4-66) and 14.9  $\pm$  9.9 (range 4-46), respectively (Table 1). Moreover, HLA-B27 positivity was found in 20 cases.

#### 3.3 | Treatment and outcome

#### 3.3.1 | Conservative treatment (n = 13)

Thirteen patients (2 ASIA grade D cases and 11 ASIA grade E cases) with slight spinal cord compression and confined changes on MRI were unwilling to undergo surgery. These patients had participated in conservative therapies, including bracing, resting, physiotherapy and analgesics, such as nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs), calcium tablets, calcitriol or a supplemental neurotrophic drug. Of these, 4 patients with inflammatory lesions had received anti-tumor necrosis factor (TNF)- $\alpha$  therapy because their symptoms failed to improve. Symptomatic treatment slightly improved the condition of these patients.

#### 3.3.2 | Surgical treatment (n = 35)

When patients were diagnosed with AL, surgical treatment, which included an anterior, posterior or combined anterior and posterior

International Journal of Rheumatic Diseases 755

approach with instrumentation, was recommended. Among these patients, 3 patients underwent treatment using a 1-stage anterior approach at the site of AL, 27 underwent treatment via a posterior approach, and 5 underwent treatment using a combined approach. During these procedures, osteotomy was performed in 19 patients, and 21 patients underwent bone grafting. All patients underwent surgery and were managed by the same group of doctors. There were no major complications related to the treatment. The average operation time was 320.6 ± 85.2 minutes (range 268-372 minutes), and the mean blood loss was 909.6 ± 538.2 mL (range 775-1522 mL). In addition, 25 patients required blood transfusions during hospitalization. The mean hospital stay duration was 17.4 ± 3.2 days (range 15-26 days). The surgical histopathology results showed non-bacterial inflammation infiltrated by lymphocytes and macrophages. The lesion included degenerative fibrocartilage tissue and fragments of necrotic bone and cartilage. No infectious inflammation or tumor cells were observed. During the follow-up period, only 6 (17.1%, 6/35) patients required reoperation due to implant failure or infection after the initial operation. At the time of the last follow-up, no instrumentation complications were observed. Representative patients who underwent surgical treatment are shown in Figures 1 and 2.

#### 3.3.3 | Outcomes

#### JOA score

For patients treated with surgery, the average JOA score was 9.1 ± 1.5 (range 5.5-14) on admission and 13.2 ± 2.2 (range 7.5-17) at the final follow-up. In the conservative treatment group, the average JOA score was 11.5 ± 2.9 (range 6.5-14) on admission and 12.1 ± 0.8 (range 8.5-16) at the final follow-up. Although no significant difference in the JOA score on admission was found between the surgical and conservative treatment groups, a significant difference was noted at the final follow-up (P < .05, Table 2). The average postoperative change in JOA score at final follow-up after surgery was  $4.2 \pm 1.5$  (range 4.5-9) points in the surgical treatment group and 2.2  $\pm$  0.8 (range -0.5-4) points in the conservative treatment group, with significant differences noted at the final follow-up (P < .001). The average postoperative JOA score recovery rate at the final follow-up after surgery was 68.5% (21%-85%) in the surgical treatment group and 18.7% (-10.5%-53%) in the conservative treatment group; thus, the JOA score recovery rate was significantly higher in the surgical treatment group than in the conservative treatment group (P < .001) at the final follow-up after surgery. Moreover, the same results were observed for the VAS score and Cobb's angle (Table 2).

#### Neurological status

All patients were clinically assessed according to the ASIA classification system (Figure 3). Among patients treated with surgery, on admission, the ASIA grade was C in 3 cases, D in 6 cases, and E in 26 cases; at the final follow-up, the ASIA grade was D in 2 cases and E in 33 cases. In the conservative treatment group, the NILEY- Rheumatic Diseases



#### TABLE 1 Patient characteristics

Characteristic			Value	
Age (y)	Mean (y ± SD)		49.4 ± 13.1	
	Range		26-72	
Gender	Male		36	75%
	Female		12	25%
Duration of symptoms before	Mean (± SD)		38.0 ± 24.1	
admission, mo	Range		11-150	
Initial symptom	Back pain		22	45.8%
	Spinal cord compression		11	23%
	Severe kyphotic deformity		12	25%
	Other		3	6.2%
ESR, mm/h, on admission	Mean (±SD)		23.6 ± 14.9	
	Range		4-66	
CRP, mg/L, on admission	Mean (±SD)		14.9 ± 9.9	
	Range		4-46	
Lesion location	Thoracolumbar region		33	68.8%
	Thoracic region		10	20.8%
	Lumbar region		5	10.4%
ASIA grade on admission	С		3	6.2%
	D		8	16.7%
	E		37	77.1%
VAS score on admission	<4		23	47.9%
	4-6		22	45.8%
	>6		3	6.3%
Cobb's angle on admission	<30°		30	62.5%
	30-60°		14	29.2%
	>60°		4	8.3%
Treatment modality	Conservative treatment		13	27.1%
	Surgical treatment		35	72.9%
BMD	Areal BMD (g/cm <sup>2</sup> )	Mean (±SD)	0.835 ± 0.168	
		Range	0.701-0.925	
	T score	Mean (±SD)	-1.8 ± 0.95	
		Range	0.6 to -3.2	
Surgical treatment (n = 35)	Anterior approach		3	8.6%
	Posterior approach		27	77.1%
	Combined anterior and posterior appr	oach	5	14.3%
	Osteotomy	Yes	19	54.3%
		No	16	45.7%
	Fixation of segment	>3	22	62.9%
		≤3	13	37.1%
	Bone grafting	Yes	21	60%
		No	14	40%
Follow-up, mo	Mean (±SD)		44.5 ± 18.5	
	Range		27-85	

Abbreviations: ASIA, American Spinal Injury Association; BMD, bone mineral density; CRP, C-reactive protein; ESR, erythrocyte sedimentation rate; thoracolumbar region, T10-L2; VAS, visual analog scale.



**FIGURE 1** A 49-y-old female patient with ankylosing spondylitis (AS) complicated by Andersson legion (AL) with extensive bony destruction of the L1-L2 level is presented. Sagittal (A), axial-sagittal (B), and coronal (C) computed tomography (CT) scans demonstrate obvious anterior osteolysis surrounded by an irregular sclerotic zone. Extensive resorption and sclerosis extend into the adjacent vertebral body, causing the formation of pseudarthrosis (white arrow). Preoperative 3-dimensional CT reconstructions (D-E) show the nonunion of a posterior column fracture at L1-L2. The preoperative sagittal T1-weighted image (F) shows an AL with characteristically mixed-intensity changes in the vertebral body and a hypointense lesion (white arrow). Preoperative sagittal short inversion time inversion recovery (STIR) sequence images (G) reveal a central destructive zone surrounded by an area with hyperintensity, which suggests sclerosis, with mixed-intensity changes in adjacent vertebral bodies (white arrow). An intraoperative photograph (H-I) shows that surgical treatment was performed. Coronal (J) and sagittal (K) CT scans at the 9-mo follow-up visit show solid fusion at the level of pseudarthrosis and good implant positioning. The surgical histopathology results (L: hematoxylin and eosin, original magnification 40×, M: hematoxylin and eosin, original magnification 100×) show that the lesions were fragments of necrotic bone and cartilage infiltrated by lymphocytes and macrophages. No infectious inflammation or tumor cells are observed

ASIA grade on admission was D in 2 cases and E in 11 cases. The ASIA grade at the final follow-up was D in 1 case and E in 12 cases. Neurological deterioration was not observed during the follow-up period. Meanwhile, similar to the JOA scores, significant differences were observed between the 2 groups at the final follow-up (P < .05).

#### 3.4 | Univariate and binary logistic regression analyses of prognostic factors of JOA score recovery rate

The univariate and multivariate results are presented in Tables 3 and 4, respectively. We examined all of the variables collected by the

univariate analysis using Pearson's Chi-squared test, Mann-Whitney *U* test, and independent-samples *t* test. In this analysis, 3 factors showed significant predictive relationships with the rate of improvement in the JOA score (P < .05; Table 3). As a result, osteoporosis, treatment modality and bone fusion were entered into the binary logistic regression analysis, but only 2 of these predictive factors were significantly related to the JOA score recovery rate, that is, treatment modality and bone fusion (Table 4). Patients in the surgical treatment group were 6.369 (1/0.157) times more likely to achieve a better JOA score recovery rate ( $\geq 25\%$ ) than those in the conservative treatment group (OR = 0.157; 95% CI 0.028-0.89; P < .05). Patients with bone fusion were 9.965 times more likely to achieve a better JOA score recovery rate ( $\geq 25\%$ ) than those with bone nonunion (OR = 9.965; 95% CI 2.052-48.387; P < .05).



**FIGURE 2** A 55-y-old male patient with ankylosing spondylitis (AS) complicated by Andersson legion (AL) at the level of T11-T12 is presented. Preoperative lateral (A) and anteroposterior (B) plain radiographs of the thoracic region demonstrate the presence of advanced features of ankyloses and spinal lesions with sclerosed irregular margins (white arrow). Preoperative sagittal-axial (C) and coronal (D) computed tomography (CT) scans demonstrate extensive destruction with lesions at the T11-T12 level. The lesions affect the posterior structure of the spine, resulting in narrowing of the spinal canal (white arrow). Preoperative 3-dimensional CT reconstructions (E) show bone nonunion with irregular discovertebral osteolysis at T11-T12 (white arrow). Preoperative sagittal T1-weighted (F) and axial-sagittal T2-weighted (G) images show fibrous tissue hyperplasia, a mixed signal intensity of sclerotic bone, necrotic tissue on T2-weighted images and an intermediate signal intensity on T1-weighted images, with vertebral canal intrusion (white arrow). Sagittal (H) and coronal (I) sagittal short inversion time inversion recovery (STIR) sequence images show a central lesion with cortical destruction at the posterior elements of the T11-T12 level exhibiting a hyperintense signal (white arrow). At 27 months after surgery, lateral (J) plain radiographs show correction of the deformity and the sagittal imbalance with solid fusion at the level of pseudarthrosis and good implant positioning. The histopathological examinations (K: hematoxylin and eosin, original magnification 40×, L: hematoxylin and eosin, original magnification 100×) show that the lesions corresponded to degenerative fibrocartilage tissue with calcification. No infectious inflammation or tumor cells are observed

#### 4 | DISCUSSION

The main finding of our study is that surgery remains the optimal treatment for AL in AS patients, as better clinical efficacy was demonstrated by the medium- to long-term follow-up data. There were no major complications in this study. Clinically, AL can be easily misdiagnosed for various reasons, such as a lack of awareness about the lesion, osteoporosis, and radiographic resemblance to metastatic disease or infective spondylodiscitis.<sup>1-2,18</sup> In particular, patients with AL often have a history of minor or even no trauma. After a relatively short disease duration, activity-related back pain and kyphotic deformity, or even neurological deficits, gradually develop. Often, AL is misdiagnosed as infective spondylodiscitis or other tumorous conditions, such as spinal tuberculosis, especially in highly endemic areas for tuberculosis.<sup>4,13,18,19</sup> However, in patients

with AS who have localized vertebral/discovertebral lesions without soft tissue swelling and a paravertebral mass on radiographic presentation, AL should be the first consideration.<sup>3,17,20,21</sup> Because of the unique features and complexity of the spinal column, orthopedic surgeons, rheumatologists and even radiologists may not be able to determine an early definite diagnosis. Furthermore, several different terms have been used to describe AL, such as "discovertebral lesion", "vertebral lesion", "destructive vertebral lesion", "spondylodiscitis", "pseudarthrosis" and "stress fracture".<sup>7,13,15,22</sup> In 1972, Cawley et al<sup>1</sup> reviewed the literature and concluded that AL is a delayed complication of AS that manifests as a localized lesion in the vertebral rim that can cause spinal pseudarthrosis and aggravate kyphotic deformity, sagittal imbalance, and pain. As reported in several previous studies, <sup>6,19,22,23</sup> AL most commonly occurs in middle-aged males (63%-86%) who experience long-term progression from a slight fracture or

International Journal of Rheumatic Diseases

#### TABLE 2 Comparison of the JOA scores, VAS scores and Cobb's angles between groups

		Surgical treatment (n = 35)	Conservative treatment (n = 13)	t	P value
JOA score (points)	On admission	9.1 ± 1.5 (5.5-14)	11.5 ± 2.9 (6.5-14)	0.136	.892
	At final follow-up	13.2 ± 2.2 (7.5-17)	12.1 ± 0.8 (8.5-16)	2.415	.02*
	Score change	4.2 ± 1.5 (4.5-9)	2.2 ± 0.8 (-0.5-4)	6.57	<.001*
Reco	Recovery rate	68.5% (21%-85%)	18.7% (-10.5%-53%)	3.267	<.001*
VAS score (points)	On admission	3.9 ± 1.8	4.1 ± 1.3	-0.41	.686
	At final follow-up	1.6 ± 1.5	3.0 ± 1.2	-3.01	.004*
Cobb's angle	On admission	37.1 ± 14.5	28.8 ± 11.7	1.838	.072
(kyphosis)	At final follow-up	19.2 ± 3.9	38.6 ± 12.3	-8.38	<.001*

*Note:* Values represent the mean ± SD unless otherwise indicated.

Abbreviations: JOA, Japanese Orthopedic Association; VAS, visual analog scale.

\*P < .05.

inflammatory reaction to severe erosion. The etiology of AL has yet to be clearly demonstrated. Several factors, including inflammation, trauma, and mechanical stress, have been successively regarded as potential etiologies.<sup>2,6,12,13</sup> Regardless of the precise etiology, for all patients with AL, a final common pathway may exist, in which continuous mechanical stress prevents fusion of the lesion, followed by the development of pseudarthrosis. In general, all of the regions of the spine in AS are susceptible, but this lesion most commonly involves the thoracolumbar region, that is, T10-L2, which can be attributed to the fact that this region is a transitional zone with high stress risers.<sup>7,17,24</sup>

In our series, AL often occurred in middle-aged adults (mean age,  $49.4 \pm 13.1$  years), and the male-to-female ratio was 3:1, which is consistent with previous observations documented in the literature.<sup>5,7-8,12</sup> AL was commonly located in the thoracolumbar region (T10-L2) due to mechanical stress and mobility. The most common symptoms were back pain, followed by spinal cord compression and severe kyphotic deformity. However, patients may also be asymptomatic, with AL revealed by routine imaging evaluation of the spine. Here, we present a series of cases of AL from a single center to provide more insight into the clinical features, long-term outcomes, and prognostic factors of this lesion.

According to a review of the literature, our group found that the prognostic factors related to AL could generally be divided into the following 4 categories: patient-related factors, symptomatic factors, radiographic factors, and surgical factors.<sup>1-2,5,7-8,10,12,14,19,25</sup> Currently, with the routine use of MRI and CT, fractures or nonfusion of the facet joints can be detected at an early stage, which can facilitate the accurate diagnosis and the assessment of prognostic factors of AL. A CT scan is important for revealing osteolysis with surrounding reactive sclerosis and vertebral osteophytes, which can facilitate preoperative planning. Furthermore, MRI is considered a better diagnostic modality than CT.<sup>3,8,13</sup> In a study of 56 patients with AS, Vries et al<sup>12</sup> concluded that to detect AL in these patients, MRI should be combined with conventional spine radiography, which often also reveals osteoporosis. Often, patients with AL are vulnerable to early-onset osteoporosis, which is secondary to autoimmune inflammation and significantly related to the outcome of AL. In our series, the number of osteoporosis cases accounted for the majority of patients (27 cases, 56.3%). High rates of osteoporosis may be associated with poor clinical outcomes in patients with AL.<sup>4,8</sup> Finkelstein et al<sup>24</sup> suggested that spinal fractures significantly contribute to poor outcomes and significantly increase the risk of disability, morbidity, and mortality, eventually allowing progression to pseudarthrosis. In our study, osteoporosis was not identified as a prognostic factor of JOA score recovery rate, which could be due to a quantitative bias. Additionally, for most patients with osteoporosis, our surgeons emphasize treatment with anti-osteoporosis therapy at early stages. Studies have shown that the treatment modality, such as surgical intervention and general conservative treatment, is



**FIGURE 3** American Spinal Injury Association (ASIA) impairment scale for surgical (A) and conservative (B) treatment of Andersson lesion (AL)

۲

TABLE 3	Univariate analysis	of prognostic f	actors in the surgical treat	ment of Andersson	lesion in ank	ylosing spond	ylitis
---------	---------------------	-----------------	------------------------------	-------------------	---------------	---------------	--------

		No. of	JOA score recovery	rate	Pecoverv		
Variable		patients	<25% (n = 18)	≥25% (n = 30)	rate (%)	t/ $\chi^2/Z$	P value
Sex	Male	36	14	22	61.1	0.119	.731
	Female	12	4	8	66.7		
Age		48	52.67 ± 12.81	47.4 ± 13.07	62.5	1.362	.18
Duration of symptom	s before admission, mo	48	36.5 (21.75-54.75)	34 (17.75-45.25)	62.5	-0.69	.489
ESR, mm/h		48	22.5 (12-36.5)	17.5 (11-33.5)	62.5	-1.18	.237
CRP, mg/L		48	11 (7.75-24.25)	11 (7-21.25)	62.5	-0.46	.646
HLA-B27 positivity	Yes	20	9	11	55	0.823	.364
	No	28	9	19	67.9		
Steroid treatment	Yes	11	6	5	45.5	1.769	.184
	No	37	12	25	67.6		
Osteoporosis	Yes	27	14	13	48.1	5.424	.02*
	No	21	4	17	81		
Lesion region	Thoracolumbar region	33	13	20	60.6	0.304	.859
	Thoracic region	10	3	7	70		
	Lumbar region	5	2	3	60		
Pseudarthrosis	Yes	29	10	19	65.5	0.285	.594
	No	19	8	11	57.9		
Neurological	Yes	11	4	7	63.6	0.008	.929
impairment	No	37	14	23	62.2		
Cobb's angle	<30°	30	12	18	60	0.824	.663
(kyphosis)	30-60°	14	4	10	71.4		
	>60°	4	2	2	50		
Treatment modality	Conservative treatment	13	9	4	30.8	7.659	.006*
	Surgical treatment	35	9	26	74.3		
Bone fusion	Yes	29	5	24	82.8	12.83	<.001*
	No	19	13	6	31.6		

Abbreviations: JOA, Japanese Orthopedic Association; tho racolumbar region, T10-L2. \*P < .05.

TABLE 4 Binary logistic regression analysis of prognostic factors in the surgical treatment of Andersson lesion in ankylosing spondylitis

								95% Cl	
Variable		β	SE	Wald $\chi^2$	df	P value	OR value	Lower	Upper
Osteoporosis	Yes	-0.428	0.82	0.273	1	.601	0.652	0.131	3.248
	No	0	-	-	-	-	1	-	-
Treatment modality	Conservative treatment	-1.853	0.886	4.375	1	.036*	0.157	0.028	0.89
	Surgical treatment	0	-	-	-	-	1	-	-
Bone fusion	Yes	2.299	0.806	8.132	1	.004*	9.965	2.052	48.387
	No	0	-	-	0	-	1	-	-

Abbreviations: CI, confidence interval; OR, odds ratio; SE, standard error;  $\beta$ , coefficient from binary logistic regression model. \*P < .05.

related to the outcomes of AL.<sup>16-17,19,24</sup> Chang et al<sup>25</sup> have shown that because of its superior fusion ability in AS, surgical treatment can successfully achieve bone fusion in AL patients without bone grafts. In our study, we found that treatment modality and bone

fusion were significantly related to JOA score recovery rate. Thus, our study supports this opinion. However, there are still disputes regarding the prognostic factors, and only a few previous studies have reported the medium- to long-term outcomes of AL treatment

International Journal of Rheumatic Diseases 🐵 🕥 – Wiley

in AS in relation to JOA recovery rate.<sup>11,23,26</sup> The role of laboratory tests in patients with AL is also controversial. Both ESR and CRP levels may be elevated in patients with AL and may be involved in the clinical disease activity of AL. These patients may also be positive for HLA-B27.<sup>1,3,8,11</sup> In our study, there were no significant differences in ESR, CRP levels or HLA-B27 status with respect to the JOA score recovery rate.

To the best of our knowledge, there are no clear guidelines in the literature describing management strategies for such lesions. In our center, for most patients, conservative treatment is often initially recommended, and several researchers have reported that conservative treatment can be effective.<sup>15,17</sup> The use of NSAIDs during the active phases of the disease can relieve the pain and control non-bacterial inflammation.<sup>5-6,8,12</sup> Dihlmann et al<sup>18</sup> described that patients with AL can achieve the spontaneous relief of back pain through conservative management. In addition, new therapies have recently been introduced, including anti-TNF- $\alpha$  therapy.<sup>8,10,15,16</sup> In 2011, Bruzzese et al<sup>15</sup> reported 2 cases of AL that were successfully treated with anti-TNF therapy, and subsequently, Joshi et al<sup>16</sup> demonstrated that therapy with anti-TNF- $\alpha$  agents can significantly improve the signs, symptoms, and function of patients with AS. According to a retrospective review of 622 patients with AS, Park et al<sup>4</sup> subdivided AL in AS into inflammatory and traumatic types and suggested that conservative treatment, such as with anti-TNF agents, be used to treat the pain of inflammatory lesions. Additionally, surgical treatment was suggested to alleviate the pain, deformity and instability of traumatic lesions. However, Vries et al<sup>12</sup> proposed that the efficacy of treating AS conservatively in older patients and in more severe cases with complete ankylosis of the spine was still debatable. There is no more accurate evidence that patients with symptomatic AL can benefit from such drugs, although they are effective in the treatment of AS. However, at the more mobile thoracolumbar levels, that is, T10-L2, Bron et al<sup>8</sup> noted that conservative management is less effective and that surgery is mandatory to achieve neurological decompression, correct kyphotic deformity and restore spinal stability, thereby facilitating bone healing and fusion of the lesion. Although numerous surgical techniques have been advocated, including instrumented and noninstrumented stabilization through anterior, posterior or combined approaches, the main argument is focused on the necessity of bone grafting and fusion. Bone grafting and fusion are generally accepted as an optimal surgical procedure to treat AL in AS patients and can achieve satisfactory correction of local kyphosis and good safety.<sup>21,23,25,26</sup> In 2006, Chang et al<sup>25</sup> reported that bone grafting was not necessary because of the excellent higher fusion ability of AS patients. In 2011, Wang et al<sup>13</sup> showed that posterior instrumentation can achieve solid immobilization, which should be the focus of the treatment of AL, whereas lesion curettage and anterior bone grafting were not necessary. In 2017, Ling et al<sup>23</sup> concluded that posterior grade 4 osteotomy with bone grafting can achieve successful fusion and good clinical outcomes at the final follow-up. To date, there have been few studies on the prognostic factors of JOA score recovery rate in the treatment of AL in patients with AS. In this follow-up study

on AL treatment, 35 patients (72.9%) were surgically treated, and their JOA scores, VAS scores and Cobb's angles at the final follow-up were significantly better than those of patients who were treated conservatively (13 cases). Furthermore, the JOA score recovery rate during the medium- to long-term follow-up was related to treatment modality and bone fusion. Therefore, the curative effect of surgical treatment is superior to that of conservative treatment. Moreover, radiological union should be rigorously monitored.<sup>7,9,13</sup> According to our study and recommendations, surgical treatment should be considered for patients with unbearable pain, symptom progression, progressive kyphotic deformity or neurological deficits. We also believe that achieving successful bone fusion by instrumentation is the most effective treatment for AL, which also demonstrates the significant role of instability in the development of AL.

#### 5 | STUDY LIMITATIONS

Several limitations existed in this study. (a) The sample size was relatively small to validate the role of candidate treatment modality and bone fusion in AL prognostic factors. Additionally, this study was performed in a single center, and patients mainly came from middle China. Thus, a nationwide multicenter study with a larger sample size is needed in the future. (b) The possible mechanism could be further explored, such as the associations of clinical disease activity and related factors.

#### 6 | CONCLUSIONS

In summary, AL is a relatively uncommon discovertebral lesion in patients with AS. We believe our findings provide valuable information for determining the treatment and prognostic factors of AL. Surgery is an effective and safe method for treating AL, especially for patients with kyphotic deformity and obvious symptoms of nerve compression. In addition, successful bone fusion should be the focus of the treatment of AL.

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors are thankful for the valuable contributions to this study of all medical staff at the Zhongnan Hospital in Wuhan University in Wuhan, China. Also, we would like to thank the patients for their willingness to share information on their conditions for this study.

#### CONFLICT OF INTEREST

The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

#### AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

MHW and FFY performed the studies, participated in collecting the data, and helped draft the manuscript. ASP performed the data

Rheumatic Diseases

analysis and contributed to the study design. JL conceived the study and contributed to the study design and coordination. All authors have read and approved the final manuscript.

#### ETHICAL APPROVAL AND CONSENT TO PARTICIPATE

All procedures in the studies involving human participants were performed in accordance with the ethical standards of the institutional and/or national research committee, the principles of the 1964 Declaration of Helsinki and its later amendments or comparable ethical standards. The present study was retrospective; for this type of study, the local ethics committee waives the requirement for formal consent.

#### DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The datasets supporting the conclusions of the present study are available from the corresponding author upon reasonable request.

#### ORCID

Jun Lei D https://orcid.org/0000-0002-2006-4277

#### REFERENCES

- Cawley MI, Chalmers TM, Kellgren JH, Ball J. Destructive lesions of vertebral bodies in ankylosing spondylitis. Ann Rheum Dis. 1972;31:345-358.
- Peh WC, Luk KD. Pseudoarthrosis in ankylosing spondylitis. Ann Rheum Dis. 1994;53:206-210.
- Dave BR, Ram H, Krishnan A. Andersson lesion: are we misdiagnosing it? A retrospective study of clinico-radiological features and outcome of short segment fixation. *Eur Spine J.* 2011;20:1503-1509.
- Park YS, Kim JH, Ryu JA, Kim TH. The Andersson lesion in ankylosing spondylitis: distinguishing between the inflammatory and traumatic subtypes. J Bone Joint Surg Br. 2011;93:961-966.
- Queiro R, Belzunegui J, González C, et al. Clinically asymptomatic axial disease in psoriatic spondyloarthropathy. A retrospective study. J Clin Rheumatol. 2002;21:10-13.
- Queiro R, Tejón P, Alonso S, Alperi M, Ballina J. Erosive discovertebral lesion (Andersson lesion) as the first sign of disease in axial psoriatic arthritis. Scand J Rheumatol. 2013;42:220-225.
- Langlois S, Cedoz JP, Lohse A, Toussirot E, Wendling D. Aseptic discitis in patients with ankylosing spondylitis: a retrospective study of 14 cases. *Joint Bone Spine*. 2005;72:248-253.
- Bron JL, de Vries MK, Snieders MN, van der Horst-Bruinsma IE, van Royen BJ. Discovertebral (Andersson) lesions of the spine in ankylosing spondylitis revisited. J Clin Rheumatol. 2009;28:883-892.
- Mundwiler ML, Siddique K, Dym JM, Perri B, Johnson JP, Weisman MH. Complications of the spine in ankylosing spondylitis with a focus on deformity correction. *Neurosurg Focus*. 2008;24:E6.
- Wang Y, Xie J, Zhao Z, et al. Perioperative Major Non-neurological Complications in 105 Patients Undergoing Posterior Vertebral Column Resection Procedures for Severe Rigid Deformities. *Spine*. 2015;40:1289-1296.
- 11. Zhang X, Wang Y, Wu B, Hu W, Zhang Z, Wang Y. Treatment of Andersson lesion-complicating ankylosing spondylitis via

transpedicular subtraction and disc resection osteotomy, a retrospective study. *Eur Spine J.* 2016;25:2587-2595.

- de Vries MK, van Drumpt AS, van Royen BJ, van Denderen JC, Manoliu RA, van der Horst-Bruinsma IE. Discovertebral (Andersson) lesions in severe ankylosing spondylitis: a study using MRI and conventional radiograph. J Clin Rheumatol. 2010;29:1433-1438.
- Wang G, Sun J, Jiang Z, Cui X. The surgical treatment of Andersson lesions associated with ankylosing spondylitis. Orthopedics. 2011;34:e302-e306.
- 14. Kiaer T, Gehrchen M. Transpedicular closed wedge osteotomy in ankylosing spondylitis: results of surgical treatment and prospective outcome analysis. *Eur Spine J.* 2010;19:57-64.
- 15. Bruzzese V. Spondylodiscitis as the only clinical manifestation of the onset of psoriatic spondyloarthritis. *Reumatismo*. 2011;63:38-43.
- Joshi N, Nautiyal A, Walton T. Infliximab therapy for inflammatory discitis in ankylosing spondylitis. J Clin Rheumatol. 2012;18:109-110.
- Hirabayashi K, Miyakawa J, Satomi K, Maruyama T, Wakano K. Operative results and postoperative progression of ossification among patients with ossification of cervical posterior longitudinal ligament. Spine. 1981;6:354-364.
- Dihlmann W, Delling G. Disco-vertebral destructive lesions (Socalled Andersson Lesions) associated with ankylosing spondylitis. *Skeletal Radiol.* 1978;3:10-16.
- Wang T, Wang D, Cong Y, Yin C. Evaluating a posterior approach for surgical treatment of thoracolumbar pseudarthrosis in ankylosing spondylitis. *Clin Spine Surg.* 2017;30:E13-E18.
- 20. Roussouly P, Nnadi C. Sagittal plane deformity: an overview of interpretation and management. *Eur Spine J.* 2010;19:1824-1836.
- Debarge R, Demey G, Roussouly P. Sagittal balance analysis after pedicle subtraction osteotomy in ankylosing spondylitis. *Eur Spine* J. 2011;20:619-625.
- Rajoli SR, Kanna RM, Aiyer SN, Shetty AP, Rajasekaran S. Circumferential fusion through all-posterior approach in Andersson lesion. *Asian Spine J.* 2017;11:444-453.
- Ling T, Zhou B, Zhu C, et al. One-stage posterior grade 4 osteotomy and bone graft fusion at pseudarthrosis for the treatment of kyphotic deformity with Andersson lesions in ankylosing spondylitis. *Clin Neurol Neurosurg.* 2017;159:19-24.
- 24. Finkelstein JA, Chapman JR, Mirza S. Occult vertebral fractures in ankylosing spondylitis. *Spinal Cord*. 1999;37:444-447.
- Chang KW, Tu MY, Huang HH, Chen HC, Chen YY, Lin CC. Posterior correction and fixation without anterior fusion for pseudoarthrosis with kyphotic deformity in ankylosing spondylitis. *Spine*. 2006;31:E408-E413.
- Liang Y, Tang X, Zhao Y, Wang Z. Posterior wedge osteotomy and debridement for Andersson lesion with severe kyphosis in ankylosing spondylitis. J Orthop Surg Res. 2017;12:54.

**How to cite this article:** Wu M, Yan F, Ping A, Lei J. Effects of Andersson lesion treatment in ankylosing spondylitis: A medical record review study focused on medium- to long-term outcomes. *Int J Rheum Dis.* 2020;23:753–762.

https://doi.org/10.1111/1756-185X.13826

DOI: 10.1111/1756-185X.13832

#### **ORIGINAL ARTICLE**

## Hospital admission and associated factors among individuals presenting to healthcare facilities for low back pain in Ethiopia

Getahun Kebede Beyera<sup>1,2</sup> | Jane O'Brien<sup>1</sup> | Steven Campbell<sup>1</sup>

**Rheumatic Diseases** 

🗠 📎 Wiley

<sup>1</sup>School of Nursing, College of Health and Medicine. University of Tasmania. Launceston, TAS, Australia

<sup>2</sup>Institute of Public Health, College of Medicine and Health Sciences, University of Gondar, Gondar, Ethiopia

#### Correspondence

Getahun Kebede Bevera, School of Nursing, College of Health and Medicine, University of Tasmania, Launceston, TAS, Australia. Email: getahun.beyera@utas.edu.au

#### Abstract

Aim: The aim of this paper is to analyze hospital admission and associated factors following presentation to healthcare facilities for low back pain (LBP) in Ethiopia.

Methods: A population-based cross-sectional study was conducted between June and November 2018 in South-west Shewa zone of Oromia regional state. Data were collected by face-to-face interviews of adults ( $\geq$ 18 years) with self-reported LBP using a newly developed and validated instrument. All the statistical analyses of (n = 543) individuals with a 1-year history of presentation to healthcare facilities for LBP were performed using R version 3.5.1. The log-binomial regression model was fitted and prevalence ratios with 95% confidence intervals (CIs) were calculated to identify factors associated with hospitalization and the significance level was considered at the P value of  $\leq .05$ .

**Results:** The proportion of hospital admissions following presentation to healthcare facilities for LBP was 14.4%, 95% CI 11.4-17.3, with an average length of stay (LOS) 7.4 days, 95% CI 6.4-8.8. The admission rate was 18.5%, 95% CI 13.4-23.3 in females and 11.4%, 95% CI 8.0-15.1 in males. Multiple factors, such as gender, age, living conditions, residential environment, alcohol consumption status, intensity of pain, and presence of additional spinal pain, were found to be independently associated with hospitalization for LBP.

**Conclusions:** The burden on the individuals and the Ethiopian healthcare system as a result of LBP is evident by the rate of hospital admissions. Further evidence on LBP case referral procedures is needed to allow health policy makers to develop appropriate management strategies capable of dealing with the increasing epidemiology of LBP.

#### **KEYWORDS**

associated factors, hospital admission, low back pain, presentation to healthcare facilities

#### 1 | INTRODUCTION

Globally, low back pain (LBP) is one of the most prevalent public health issues<sup>1,2</sup> and results in significant healthcare expenditure.<sup>3</sup> The mean point prevalence of LBP among the general population has been estimated to be 11.9%<sup>4</sup> and the lifetime prevalence to range between 49% and 90%.<sup>5</sup> However, the prevalence of LBP varies significantly between countries as a function of socio-economic and demographic structures.<sup>6,7</sup> For example, Fujii and Matsudaira<sup>8</sup> found that the 1-month and lifetime prevalence of

<sup>© 2020</sup> Asia Pacific League of Associations for Rheumatology and John Wiley & Sons Australia, Ltd

LBP in the Japanese adult population was 36% and 83%, respectively, while Macfarlane et al<sup>9</sup> estimated the 1-month prevalence of LBP to be 28.5% among the UK population aged 25 years or more. Alternatively, a study among 40-79-year-old Koreans estimated the point prevalence of LBP to be 36.5% (26.2% in males and 43.9% in females).<sup>10</sup> This variation in the prevalence rates of LBP can also be attributed to several factors, including the difference in the type of prevalence being studied, case definitions, and the methods applied to investigate the prevalence of LBP.<sup>4,11</sup> Moreover, social norms, local healthcare approaches, and legislation were argued to be the most significant factors influencing the prevalence and associated impacts of LBP, including disability.<sup>12</sup>

The prevalence and consequences of LBP are also seen to be high in low- and middle-income countries, causing a great concern among communities, researchers, and public health program planners in these regions.<sup>13-15</sup> Pagare et al<sup>16</sup> indicated that the lifetime prevalence of LBP in the Indian general population was 75%, while a nationwide longitudinal study in Thailand showed that 30% of the study cohorts had a history of LBP in the years 2009 and 2013.<sup>17</sup> A recent study in Brazil also showed that the 1-week prevalence of LBP was 28.8% (39% in males and 60.9% in females).<sup>18</sup> In Africa, a recent systematic review of the literature showed that the point, annual, and lifetime prevalence of LBP in the region was 39%, 57%, and 47%, respectively.<sup>19</sup> Despite there being no population-based study in Ethiopia, a large epidemiological study undertaken with 190 593 participants from 43 low- and middle-income countries estimated the prevalence of LBP in Ethiopia to range between 13.7% and 25.3%.<sup>20</sup> The same authors also demonstrated that LBP is associated with increased mental health conditions, such as depression, anxiety and stress in low- and middle-income countries, including Ethiopia.

In high-income countries, such as the USA and Australia, the epidemiology of LBP is well studied and the data show that a significant proportion of LBP patients being admitted to hospital following presentation to emergency departments.<sup>3,21</sup> For example, the USA study showed that between 1998 and 2007, LBP accounted for a total of 183 151 individuals to be admitted to hospital across the country, of which 118 962 (65%) were admitted after presentation to emergency departments.<sup>3</sup> The study in Australia also indicated that the rate of hospital admission through emergency departments was 17.6%.<sup>21</sup> Evidence also demonstrates that the rate of hospital admission for LBP following presentation to emergency departments is increasing over time.<sup>22</sup> Population-based epidemiological studies also estimated that the impact of LBP, including a frequent and a large deal of ambulatory medical care visits and hospitalization will increase with time. For example, a 15-year time-series study in England demonstrated that hospitalization for LBP increased from 127.1 in 1999 to 216.3 in 2013 per 100 000 population,<sup>23</sup> representing a 1.7-fold rise over the course of 15 years or an annual rise of 7.6 per 100 000 population. Laffont et al<sup>24</sup> argued that LBP is the most common cause of pain in the adult population and the most common health problem prompting patients to seek ambulatory medical visits.

In low-income countries, such as those in Africa, there is no literature documenting the information about hospital admission

for LBP and associated factors, particularly among the individuals presenting to healthcare facilities for the optimal management of pain. However, it would be important to note that the data on hospitalization for LBP can be seen as an indicator of a severe low back disorder.<sup>25</sup> A better understanding of the factors that significantly associate with hospital admission for LBP may also help clinicians to plan and implement evidence-based management of individual patients, particularly to appropriately address the factors while providing healthcare services. Furthermore, hospital admission is a significant contributor to the medical care costs of LBP, reflecting the resource-intense nature of LBP hospitalization.<sup>22</sup> It would, therefore, be important to analyze the implications of LBP measured as hospital admissions and associated factors following presentation to healthcare facilities for pain in Ethiopia, as one of the low-income countries.

#### 2 | METHODS

#### 2.1 | Study design and setting

A population-based cross-sectional study was conducted between June and November 2018 in South-west Shewa zone of Oromia regional state, Ethiopia.

## 2.2 | Study sample, sampling procedure, and data collection

The study sample was calculated using a single population proportion formula. With this formula, a total of 1981 adults (≥18 years) with LBP were calculated to be included in the study. The sampling procedure involved multiple stages. Firstly, 3 districts (1 urban and 2 rural) were selected from the 11 districts in South-west Shewa zone considering a recommendation in the literature.<sup>26</sup> Secondly, 2 kebeles (the smallest administrative unit in Ethiopia) from each of the 3 districts, totaling 6 kebeles, were randomly selected. Finally, the households within the selected kebeles were selected using a systematic random sampling procedure and individuals (≥18 years) with LBP were interviewed. In a household, only 1 individual with LBP was interviewed. In case there were 2 or more individuals with LBP in the selected household, 1 individual was selected with a lottery method, while the next household was visited in case there was no individual with LBP in the household. The total number of individuals interviewed from each kebele was proportional to the total number of households in the respective kebeles. In this way, a total of 1981 individuals with LBP were contacted to be interviewed, of whom 169 did not participate in the study and 1269 did not have a 1-year history of presentation to healthcare facilities to utilize health services for the optimal management of their LBP. Thus, the remaining 543 individuals who reported at least 1 presentation to any of the health institutions for their LBP in the past 1-year were included in the analysis of this paper (Figure 1). The

-WILEY

detailed procedure that includes sample size calculation, sampling technique, the identification of individuals with LBP, and data collection, is described elsewhere.<sup>27</sup>

#### 2.3 | Data collection instrument

A newly developed and validated measurement instrument was used to collect the data. The instrument was composed of multiple items designed to collect various information, including sociodemographic characteristics, beliefs about LBP, pain-interrelated factors, sleeping problems/insomnia, depressive symptoms, health behaviors/lifestyle habits, pain-associated sequelae, and health-care utilization including hospitalization for LBP. The instrument is proved to have an overall good level of content and factorial validity, internal consistency reliability, and temporal stability to measure the proposed information when applied to the same study population. The details of the psychometric properties of the in-

#### 2.4 | Statistical analyses

The statistical analyses were performed using R version 3.5.1. Hospital admission was calculated with a 95% confidence interval (CI) to describe the proportion of individuals admitted to hospital following presentation to healthcare facilities for LBP. A log-binomial



**FIGURE 1** Flow diagram demonstrating sample included in the analysis

regression model was fitted and prevalence ratios with 95% CIs were calculated to identify factors associated with hospital admission and the significance level was considered at the P value of  $\leq$  .05.

**@** 

#### 3 | RESULTS

## 3.1 | Socio-demographic profile of individuals presenting to healthcare facilities for LBP in the past year

Of the 543 individuals with a 1-year history of presentation to healthcare facilities for LBP, 316 (58.2%) were male and 205 (37.8%) had attended elementary school. The median age of these individuals was 43 years (interquartile range [IQR] 33-55 years). Nearly two-thirds (64.8%) were living in rural settings (Table 1).

## 3.2 | Health behaviors, beliefs about the pain, and pain-interrelated profile of individuals presenting to healthcare facilities for LBP in the past year

Health-compromising behaviors, such as smoking and khat (a plant with leaves and stem tips which are chewed for their stimulating effect) chewing were uncommon among the participants with a 1-year history of presentation to healthcare facilities for LBP; only 15 (2.7%) and 37 (6.8%), respectively, were smokers and khat chewers at the time of conducting the study. The majority, 350 (64.5%) of the individuals had negative beliefs about LBP (for example, believing that the pain is not curable and makes everything in life worse). Long-lasting LBP, that is, pain lasting 1-5 years and >5 years were observed in 210 (38.7%) and 88 (16.2%) people, respectively. A large impact of LBP, in terms of days off work, was reported by nearly two-thirds (64.3%) of the individuals (Table S1).

## 3.3 | Hospital admission following presentation to healthcare facilities for LBP

From a total of 543 individuals with a 1-year history of presentation to healthcare facilities for LBP, 78 (14.4%, 95% CI 11.4-17.3) were admitted to hospital. This accounts for 4.3%, 95% CI 3.4-5.3 of the total sample with LBP (n = 1812). The proportion of hospitalization was 42 (18.5%, 95% CI 13.4-23.3) in females and 36 (11.4%, 95% CI 8.0-15.1) in males. The average length of stay (LOS) in the hospital was 7.4 days, 95% CI 6.4-8.8 or median (IQR) 6.5 (3-10) days. Of those hospitalized patients, 21 (26.9%, 95% CI 17.8-37.8) were managed by a surgical procedure. This accounts for 3.9%, 95% CI 2.4-5.5 of the patients who presented to healthcare facilities and utilized health services for their LBP in the past year (n = 543). There was no statistically significant difference in the proportion of surgical interventions between genders (33.3% in females and 19.4% in males, Pearson Chi-square = 1.901, P = .168). 766 WILEY Rheumatic Diseases

TABLE 1	Socio-demographic profile of individuals presenting to
healthcare f	acilities for low back pain in the past year (n = 543)

	Total		Adm to ho	itted ospital	Not admit hospit	ted to tal
Characteristics	n	%	n	%	n	%
Gender						
Male	316	58.2	36	11.4	280	88.6
Female	227	41.8	42	18.5	185	81.5
Age, y						
18-29	83	15.3	4	4.8	79	95.2
30-39	146	26.9	20	13.7	126	86.3
40-49	120	22.1	19	15.8	101	84.2
<u>&gt;</u> 50	194	35.7	35	18.0	159	82.0
Educational level						
No formal education	86	15.8	14	16.3	72	83.7
Elementary (grades 1-8)	205	37.8	26	12.7	179	87.3
Secondary (grades 9-12)	100	18.4	8	8.0	92	92.0
Technical/ vocational certificate	31	5.7	2	6.5	29	93.5
Diploma	48	8.8	4	8.3	44	91.7
First degree or higher	73	13.5	24	32.9	49	67.1
Residence area						
Urban	191	35.2	41	21.5	150	78.5
Rural	352	64.8	37	10.5	315	89.5
Marital status						
Single	60	11.0	11	18.3	49	81.7
Married	411	75.7	57	13.9	354	86.1
Cohabited <sup>a</sup>	7	1.3	-	-	7	100
Separated	11	2.0	3	27.3	8	72.7
Divorced	13	2.4	-	-	13	100
Widowed	41	7.6	7	17.1	34	82.9
Living conditions						
Living with nuclear family	491	90.4	67	13.6	424	86.4
Living with non- nuclear family	13	2.4	1	7.7	12	92.3
Living alone	39	7.2	10	25.6	29	74.4

<sup>a</sup>Couples not officially married but living together as a wife/husband; n: number (frequency).

#### 3.4 | Factors associated with hospital admission for LBP

Using the log-binomial regression analysis, socio-demographic factors, including gender, age, residential area, and living conditions, were identified to be independently associated with hospitalization. When adjusted for age, the prevalence ratio of hospitalization was higher in females than males (adjusted prevalence ratio [APR] =1.81, 95% CI 1.20-2.75). Similarly, on adjustment for gender, there was a nonlinear dose-dependent association between age groups and hospitalization (test for trend P = .009). Thus, as age group increased from 18-29 to 30-39 to 40-49 to ≥50 years, the prevalence ratio for hospitalization increased correspondingly (30-39 years of age, APR = 3.00, 95% CI 1.19-10.02; 40-49 years of age, APR = 3.50, 95% CI 1.38-11.71; ≥50 years of age, APR = 4.32, 95% CI 1.80-14.12). When compared with the urban residents, the rural residents were 45% less likely to be hospitalized (APR = 0.55, 95% CI 0.34-0.90). Despite no statistically significant difference in the history of hospitalization between participants living with their nuclear family and non-nuclear family, participants living alone were 2.54 times more likely to be hospitalized than participants living with their nuclear family (APR = 2.54, 95% CI 1.34-4.15). Educational level and marital status of the individuals were not statistically associated with hospitalization. From a list of health-compromising behaviors, such as smoking, alcohol consumption, and khat chewing, only alcohol consumption status was associated with hospital admission. Compared with current alcohol consumers, the history of reporting hospital admission was 64% (APR = 0.36, 95% CI 0.18-0.67) and 42% (APR = 0.58, 95% CI 0.37-0.91) lower in former consumers and those who never consumed alcohol, respectively (Table 2).

Intensity of pain was strongly associated with hospitalization. Compared with individuals with mild pain, those individuals with moderate and severe pain, respectively, were 2.46 (APR = 2.46, 95% CI 1.15-5.52) and 8.84 (APR = 8.84, 95% CI 4.82-18.13) times more likely to be admitted to hospital. Presence of additional spinal pain was also statistically associated with hospitalization. Individuals who had additional spinal pain were 1.46 times more likely to report a history of hospital admission when compared with individuals who had no additional spinal pain (APR = 1.46, 95% CI 1.01-2.13). In the unadjusted log-binomial regression model, pain spreading down the leg(s) was also associated with a higher history of hospital admission (unadjusted PR = 2.46, 95% CI 1.57-3.70). However, on adjustment for intensity of pain, there was no statistically significant difference in the history of hospitalization across pain spreading and not spreading down the leg(s). Self-reported general health, depressive symptoms, and insomnia were also not associated statistically with hospitalization for LBP (Table 3).

#### DISCUSSION 4

#### 4.1 | Hospital admission for LBP

At the societal level, the worldwide high prevalence of LBP and associated socio-economic impact<sup>29</sup> suggest that LBP requires immediate attention from researchers, policy makers, and healthcare funders.<sup>24,30</sup> Hospitalization for LBP reflects the severe effects of

BEYERA ET AL.		International Journal of Rheumatic Disease	es 💽 👰	-WILEY
TABLE 2         Socio-demographic factors and	health behaviors associated wit	h hospital admission fo	r low back pain	
Factors	PR (95% CI)	P value	APR (95% CI)	P value
Gender				
Male <sup>a</sup>				
Female	1.62 (1.08-2.46)	.021	1.81 (1.20-2.75)	.004
Age, y				
18-29 <sup>a</sup>				
30-39	2.84 (1.12-9.53)	.049	3.00 (1.19-10.02)	.038
40-49	3.29 (1.29-11.03)	.025	3.50 (1.38-11.71)	.018
<u>&gt;</u> 50	3.74 (1.56-12.24)	.010	4.32 (1.80-14.12)	.004
Educational level				
No formal education <sup>a</sup>				
Elementary (grade 1-8)	0.78 (0.44-1.46)	.414	0.84 (0.47-1.57)	.556
Secondary (grade 9-12)	0.49 (0.21-1.09)	.089	0.46 (0.19-1.02)	.061
Technical/vocational certificate	0.40 (0.06-1.31)	.203	0.31 (0.05-1.04)	.120
Diploma	0.51 (0.15-1.33)	.213	0.44 (0.13-1.15)	.127
First degree or higher	2.02 (1.15-3.73)	.018	1.45 (0.79-2.81)	.249
Residence				
Urbanª				
Rural	0.49 (0.32-0.74)	<.001	0.55 (0.34-0.90)	.017
Living with				
Nuclear family <sup>a</sup>				
Non-nuclear family	0.56 (0.03-2.23)	.554	0.87 (0.05-3.31)	.878
Alone	1.88 (0.98-3.16)	.033	2.54 (1.34-4.15)	<.001
Smoking status				
Current smoker <sup>a</sup>				
Former smoker	0.65 (0.24-2.16)	.425	0.51 (0.18-1.89)	.233
Never smoked	0.51 (0.25-1.52)	.133	0.43 (0.21-1.42)	.066
Alcohol consumption status				
Current consumer <sup>a</sup>				
Former consumer	0.37 (0.19-0.68)	.003	0.36 (0.18-0.67)	.002
Never consumed	0.58 (0.37-0.90)	.014	0.58 (0.37-0.91)	.017
Khat chewing status				
Current chewer <sup>a</sup>				
Former chewer	1.35 (0.44-4.29)	.594	2.14 (0.63-7.52)	.221
Never chewed	1.05 (0.51-2.85)	.913	1.95 (0.81-5.68)	.162

Abbreviations: APR, adjusted prevalence ratio; in the models to compute the APR for educational level and residence, the respective variables were adjusted for each other; in the models to compute the APR for smoking, alcohol consumption, and khat chewing, the respective variables were adjusted for one another; PR, unadjusted prevalence ratio; the model to compute the APR for age was adjusted for gender; the models to compute the APR for age.

<sup>a</sup>Reference category.

pain and suffering for the patient.<sup>25</sup> Mattila et al<sup>31</sup> argued that hospitalization for LBP is a process beginning with the individual's perception of pain and severely reduced function of the back. However, the history of hospitalization and associated factors among individuals presenting to healthcare facilities for LBP have not been well examined, particularly in low- and middle-income countries where the epidemiology and associated burden of LBP is estimated to increase at a higher rate in the coming years. The present study, which

investigated hospital admission and associated factors following presentation to healthcare facilities for LBP in Ethiopia, is believed to be the first of its kind in the country.

In this study, 14.4% of individuals presenting to healthcare facilities for LBP in the past year were admitted to hospital, with an average median (IQR) LOS 6.5 (3-10) days. This demonstrates that LBP is a substantial public health problem posing a significant impact in view of hospitalization and associated expenses. A comparable finding was observed in an WILEY - International Journal of Rheumatic Diseases

Factors	PR (95% CI)	P value	APR (95% CI)	P value
Beliefs about LBP				
Positive beliefs <sup>a</sup>				
Negative beliefs	1.10 (0.72-1.74)	.660	1.16 (0.79-1.75)	.468
Pain spreading down th	ne leg(s)			
No <sup>a</sup>				
Yes	2.46 (1.57-3.70)	<.001	1.34 (0.89-1.95)	.145
Pain intensity				
Mild <sup>a</sup>				
Moderate	2.74 (1.28-6.16)	.011	2.46 (1.15-5.52)	.023
Severe	10.56 (5.84-21.45)	<.001	8.84 (4.82-18.13)	<.001
Presence of additional	spinal pain			
No <sup>a</sup>				
Yes	1.40 (0.93-2.13)	.112	1.46 (1.01-2.13)	.043
Self-rated health status	s in the past year			
Excellent <sup>a</sup>				
Very good	0.47 (0.16-1.97)	.219	0.59 (0.23-2.29)	.348
Good	1.24 (0.50-4.84)	.702	1.26 (0.58-4.59)	.655
Fair	1.84 (0.66-7.52)	.305	1.32 (0.54-4.98)	.612
Poor	3.48 (1.26-14.08)	.033	1.72 (0.71-6.48)	.310
Depressive symptoms				
Normal <sup>a</sup>				
Borderline case	1.00 (0.58-1.64)	.990	0.93 (0.57-1.46)	.768
Case	2.10 (1.27-3.36)	.003	1.09 (0.68-1.68)	.700
Insomnia				
No <sup>a</sup>				
Yes	1.38 (0.90-2.07)	.134	1.40 (0.96-2.01)	.071

**TABLE 3**Beliefs about the pain andpain-interrelated factors associated withhospital admission for low back pain

Abbreviations: APR, adjusted prevalence ratio; LBP, low back pain; PR, unadjusted prevalence ratio; the models to compute the APR for each variable were adjusted for intensity of pain, while the model to compute the ARP for intensity of pain was adjusted for pain spreading down the leg(s) and presence of additional spinal pain.

<sup>a</sup>Reference category.

Australian study,<sup>21</sup> which indicated that 17.6% of individuals with LBP, who presented to emergency departments, were admitted to hospital for 6 (3-12) days overall median (IQR) LOS. Alternatively, a study in the USA showed that only 4.5% of LBP patients presenting to emergency departments were admitted to hospital,<sup>32</sup> which is lower than the findings of the current study. This observed discrepancy in the rate of hospital admission following presentation to healthcare facilities for LBP across countries could be attributed to the variations in the healthcare and referral systems between countries. This difference could also be attributed to multiple other factors as discussed elsewhere.<sup>33</sup>

## 4.2 | Surgical and non-surgical management of LBP patients admitted to hospital

In this study, 21 (26.9%) of the hospitalized LBP patients who received surgical interventions made only 3.9% of the total LBP patients who

presented to healthcare facilities in the past year. This finding fits with the argument that because of the side effects of surgical interventions of LBP, conservative treatment is often preferable to a surgical procedure.<sup>34</sup> In addition, Olafsson et al<sup>35</sup> found that in treatment pathways, most LBP patients receive conservative care, while only a few utilize high-cost care such as surgery. It should be noted that even the small proportion of patients who underwent surgical interventions, account for a large portion of LBP healthcare costs.<sup>36</sup> For example, in a study investigating expenditures and healthcare utilization among adults with newly diagnosed low back and lower extremity pain, only 1.2% underwent a surgical procedure, but accounted for 29.3% of the total 12-month healthcare costs associated with the pain.<sup>37</sup> This may reflect more severe symptoms among individuals with LBP eventually undergoing operative treatment, which may not rapidly resolve.<sup>38</sup>

In this study, the profile of surgical interventions was observed to be similar in males and females. This finding is in keeping with another study which reported that the proportion of surgical procedures performed for the management of LBP patients was similar between the genders.  $^{\rm 24}$ 

## 4.3 | Factors associated with hospital admission for LBP

The rate of hospital admission was significantly higher in females than males, which is concordant with the findings of previous studies in Argentina<sup>24</sup> and England.<sup>23</sup> This gender-based differential rate of hospitalization for LBP may reflect the difference between the low back morbidity profile of both genders, as argued in the literature.<sup>4,39</sup> The participants' ages were also associated significantly with hospital admission for LBP. There was a nonlinear increase in the prevalence ratio of hospitalization with an increasing age cohort (test for trend P = .009). This finding is comparable with another study that observed a greater increase in the annual rate of hospital admission for LBP in older age groups.<sup>23</sup> This increase in the rate of hospitalization with increasing age supports the argument that the epidemiology of LBP, including hospitalization, Nunn et al<sup>42</sup> argued that more comorbidities often require more medical attention with increasing age.

In a previous study,<sup>27</sup> the prevalence ratio of healthcare utilization for LBP was higher in participants living in rural settings than those living in urban settings. The same study showed that a significantly greater number of rural than urban residents were presenting to the lower levels of the Ethiopian healthcare system to deal with their pain. In contrast, a greater proportion of urban than rural residents were found to be presented to the middle and upper levels of the healthcare system. In this study, the prevalence ratio of hospital admission for LBP was 45% lower in the rural residents than the urban residents. This may not reflect the lower burden of LBP in the rural population compared with the urban population. Rather it shows that hospital admissions occur at the middle and upper levels of the Ethiopian healthcare system, where more urban than rural populations were found to be presented to get health services for their pain. This variation in point of healthcare utilization was suggested to be a product of the difference in socio-economic status between the rural and the urban populations.<sup>27</sup> In addition, the availability of health services also explains the observed difference in point of healthcare utilization for LBP. However, in settings with relatively improved access to the healthcare systems, such as Poland, it has been shown that a significantly greater proportion of rural than urban residents were hospitalized for LBP.<sup>43</sup>

A previous study documented that living in a non-nuclear family increased the hazard of hospitalization for LBP among adolescents.<sup>31</sup> In this study, a statistically significant difference was not observed between participants living with their nuclear and non-nuclear families. However, the rate of hospitalization was 2.54 times higher in individuals living alone than those living with their nuclear family. This could be because people living alone may suffer loneliness, which has been shown to be associated with increased ill-health,<sup>44</sup> which in turn exacerbates the effects of the pain and leads to hospital admission.

#### International Journal of Rheumatic Diseases

🐵 📎 – Wiley

Previous studies demonstrated that alcohol consumption,<sup>31</sup> smoking, and being overweight,<sup>45</sup> were associated with an increased risk of hospitalization for LBP. These findings partly match the current study which showed that being currently non-consumer of alcohol reduced the prevalence ratio of hospital admission, while smoking and khat chewing status were not associated with hospitalization for LBP. In general, these health-compromising behaviors should not be overlooked as evidence is also mounting that they are associated with increased risk of LBP.<sup>45-47</sup>

In this study, a strong association was observed between intensity of pain and hospitalization. Increased intensity of pain was associated with a significantly higher profile of hospital admission. This finding matches with another study which showed that pain was the major reason for hospitalization in workers with herniated lumbar disks.<sup>25</sup> Because a higher intensity of pain adversely affects general health, which causes hospital admission, a comprehensive plan is needed to address it while providing health services to individuals with LBP. Borys et al<sup>48</sup> suggested that multimodal therapy is effective for the management of intensity of pain and depression among patients with LBP. Presence of additional spinal pain was also associated with the higher rate of hospitalization. This could be explained by the fact that further spinal pain may worsen general health status with subsequent hospital admission. For example, Konstantinou et al<sup>49</sup> showed that patients with both low back and leg pain experience worse outcomes than those with only LBP. In the current study, despite pain spreading down the leg(s) being found to be associated with a 2.46-fold increased rate of hospital admission in the unadjusted log-binomial regression model, the association did not remain statistically significant on adjustment for intensity of pain. This finding does not fit a previous longitudinal study which documented that radiating LBP down to the leg(s) was found to increase the risk of hospitalization 3-fold.<sup>50</sup> The inconsistency of the findings of these 2 studies could be linked to the difference in the reference population. While the reference cohort in this study was individuals with LBP whose pain did not spread down the leg(s), the previous study used LBP-free individuals as a reference cohort.

#### 4.4 | Strengths and limitations of the study

The strength of this study lies in its relatively large sample size, which is highly likely to reflect the true burden of LBP on the individual patients and healthcare system in terms of hospitalization and associated consequences. Nonetheless, the directionality of the associations between the reported covariates and hospitalization for LBP could not be identified due to the cross-sectional nature of the study.

#### 5 | CONCLUSIONS

This study demonstrated that 14.4% of individuals presenting to healthcare facilities for LBP in the past year reported a history of

hospitalization for the pain. This indicates the burden of LBP on the individual patients and the already overloaded Ethiopian healthcare system. A range of factors, such as gender, age, living conditions, residential environment, alcohol consumption status, intensity of pain, and comorbidity with additional spinal pain, were found to be independently associated with hospital admission following presentation to healthcare facilities for LBP.

Ineffective management approaches for LBP may lead to an increased burden of pain, and decreased motivation among healthcare providers, and non-compliance in the patients. Further research is, therefore, needed on LBP in relation to referral procedures in the Ethiopian healthcare system to inform health policy makers regarding appropriate management strategies capable of dealing with the increasing epidemiology of LBP.

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We would like to thank all data collectors and study participants.

#### CONFLICT OF INTEREST

The authors declare they have no conflicts of interest.

#### ETHICS APPROVAL

Ethics approval for this study was obtained from the Human Research Ethics Committee (Tasmania) Network, ethics reference number H0017128. Approval for data collection was obtained from Oromia Regional State Health Bureau, South-west Shewa Zone Health Office, and health officials of the selected districts. Informed consent was also obtained from all study participants prior to their inclusion. Participation in the study was voluntary and confidentiality maintained at all times.

#### ORCID

Getahun Kebede Beyera bhttps://orcid. org/0000-0001-9059-6669 Jane O'Brien bhttps://orcid.org/0000-0002-6504-8422 Steven Campbell bhttps://orcid.org/0000-0003-4830-8488

#### REFERENCES

- Vos T, Barber RM, Bell B, et al. Global, regional, and national incidence, prevalence, and years lived with disability for 301 acute and chronic diseases and injuries in 188 countries, 1990–2013: a systematic analysis for the global burden of disease study 2013. *Lancet.* 2015;386(9995):743-800.
- Buchbinder R, van Tulder M, Öberg B, et al. Low back pain: a call for action. Lancet. 2018;391(10137):2384-2388.
- Drazin D, Nuño M, Patil CG, et al. Emergency room resource utilization by patients with low-back pain. J Neurosurg Spine. 2016;24(5):686-693.
- Hoy D, Bain C, Williams G, et al. A systematic review of the global prevalence of low back pain. Arthritis Rheum. 2012;64(6):2028-2037.
- Scott N, Moga C, Harstall C. Managing low back pain in the primary care setting: the know-do gap. Pain Res Manage. 2010;15(6):392-400.
- Briggs AM, Cross MJ, Hoy DG, et al. Musculoskeletal health conditions represent a global threat to healthy aging: a report for the 2015 World Health Organization World report on ageing and health. *Gerontologist.* 2016;56(Suppl 2):S243-S255.

- 7. Hoy D, March L, Brooks P, et al. The global burden of low back pain: estimates from the global burden of disease 2010 study. *Ann Rheum Dis.* 2014;73(6):968-974.
- Fujii T, Matsudaira K. Prevalence of low back pain and factors associated with chronic disabling back pain in Japan. *Eur Spine J.* 2013;22(2):432-438.
- Macfarlane GJ, Beasley M, Jones EA, et al. The prevalence and management of low back pain across adulthood: Results from a population-based cross-sectional study (the MUSICIAN study). *Pain.* 2012;153(1):27-32.
- Lee SY, Cho NH, Jung YO, et al. Prevalence and risk factors for lumbar spondylosis and its association with low back pain among rural Korean residents. J Korean Neurosurg Soc. 2017;60(1):67.
- Hoy D, Brooks P, Blyth F, et al. The epidemiology of low back pain. Best Pract Res Clin Rheumatol. 2010;24(6):769-781.
- Hartvigsen J, Hancock MJ, Kongsted A, et al. What low back pain is and why we need to pay attention. *Lancet*. 2018;391(10137):2356-2367.
- 13. Prista A, Balague F, Nordin M, et al. Low back pain in Mozambican adolescents. *Eur Spine J.* 2004;13(4):341-345.
- Williams JS, Ng N, Peltzer K, et al. Risk factors and disability associated with low back pain in older adults in low-and middle-income countries. Results from the WHO study on global AGEing and adult health (SAGE). *PLoS ONE*. 2015;10(6):e0127880.
- 15. Noll M, Candotti CT, Vieira A, et al. Back pain and body posture evaluation instrument (BackPEI): development, content validation and reproducibility. *Int J Public Health*. 2013;58(4):565-572.
- Pagare VK, Dhanraj T, Thakkar D, et al. Beliefs about low back pain: status quo in Indian general population. J Back Musculoskelet Rehabilitat. 2015;28(4):731-737.
- 17. Yiengprugsawan V, Hoy D, Buchbinder R, et al. Low back pain and limitations of daily living in Asia: longitudinal findings in the Thai cohort study. *BMC Musculoskelet Disord*. 2017;18(1):19.
- Bento TPF, dos Santos Genebra CV, Maciel NM, et al. Low back pain and some associated factors: is there any difference between genders? *Braz J Phys Ther.* 2020;4(1):79-87. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. bjpt.2019.01.012
- Morris LD, Daniels KJ, Ganguli B, et al. An update on the prevalence of low back pain in Africa: a systematic review and meta-analyses. BMC Musculoskelet Disord. 2018;19(1):196.
- 20. Stubbs B, Koyanagi A, Thompson T, et al. The epidemiology of back pain and its relationship with depression, psychosis, anxiety, sleep disturbances, and stress sensitivity: data from 43 low-and middle-income countries. *Gen Hosp Psychiatry*. 2016;43:63-70.
- Ferreira GE, Machado GC, Shaheed CA, et al. Management of low back pain in Australian emergency departments. BMJ Qual Saf. 2019;28:826-834.
- 22. Needs C, Laurent R. Hospital admissions for acute low back pain. Intern Med J. 2019;49(3):294-296.
- Sivasubramaniam V, Patel HC, Ozdemir BA, et al. Trends in hospital admissions and surgical procedures for degenerative lumbar spine disease in England: A 15-year time-series study. *BMJ Open*. 2015;5(12):e009011.
- Laffont M, Sequeira G, Kerzberg EM, et al. The non-silent epidemic: low back pain as a primary cause of hospitalisation. *Rheumatol Int*. 2016;36(5):673-677.
- Wahlström J, Burström L, Johnson PW, et al. Exposure to wholebody vibration and hospitalization due to lumbar disc herniation. *Int Arch Occup Environ Health*. 2018;91(6):689-694.
- Cohen L, Manion L, Morrison K. Research Methods in Education, 6th ed. London, UK: Taylor & Francis; 2007.
- Beyera GK, O'Brien J, Campbell S. Determinants of health care utilisation for low back pain: a population-based study in Ethiopia. *Health Soc Care Community*. 2020:1-13. https://doi.org/10.1111/ hsc.12939

- tional Journal o **Rheumatic Diseases**
- 28. Beyera GK, O'Brien J, Campbell S. The development and validation of a measurement instrument to investigate determinants of health care utilisation for low back pain in Ethiopia. PLoS ONE. 2020;15(1):e0227801.
- 29. Leboeuf-Yde C, Fejer R, Nielsen J, et al. Consequences of spinal pain: do age and gender matter? A Danish cross-sectional population-based study of 34,902 individuals 20-71 years of age. BMC Musculoskelet Disord. 2011;12(1):39.
- 30. Ardakani EM, Leboeuf-Yde C, Walker BF. Failure to define low back pain as a disease or an episode renders research on causality unsuitable: results of a systematic review. Chiropr Man Therap. 2018:26(1):1. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12998-017-0172-9
- 31. Mattila VM, Saarni L, Parkkari J, et al. Predictors of low back pain hospitalization-a prospective follow-up of 57,408 adolescents. Pain. 2008;139(1):209-217.
- 32. Kohns DJ, Haig AJ, Uren B, et al. Clinical predictors of the medical interventions provided to patients with low back pain in the emergency department. J Back Musculoskelet Rehabilitat. 2018;31(1):197-204.
- 33. Beyera GK, O'Brien J, Campbell S. Health-care utilisation for low back pain: a systematic review and meta-analysis of population-based observational studies. Rheumatol Int. 2019;39(10):1663-1679.
- 34. Brunner M, Schwarz T, König M, et al. Efficiency and predictive parameters of outcome of a multimodal pain management concept with spinal injections in patients with low back pain: a retrospective study of 445 patients. Arch Orthop Trauma Surg. 2018;138(7):901-909.
- 35. Olafsson G, Jonsson E, Fritzell P, et al. A health economic lifetime treatment pathway model for low back pain in Sweden. J Med Econ. 2017;20(12):1281-1289.
- 36. Jonsson E, Olafsson G, Fritzell P, et al. Profile of low back pain: Treatment and costs associated with patients referred to orthopaedic specialists in Sweden. Spine (03622436). 2017;42(17):1302-1310.
- 37. Kim LH, Vail D, Azad TD, et al. Expenditures and health care utilization among adults with newly diagnosed low back and lower extremity pain. JAMA Netw Open. 2019;2(5):e193676
- 38. Konstantinou K, Dunn KM, Ogollah R, et al. Characteristics of patients with low back and leg pain seeking treatment in primary care: Baseline results from the ATLAS cohort study. BMC Musculoskelet Disord. 2015;16(1):332.
- 39. Maher C, Underwood M, Buchbinder R. Non-specific low back pain. Lancet. 2017;389(10070):736-747.
- 40. Manchikanti L, Singh V, Falco FJ, et al. Epidemiology of low back pain in adults. Neuromodulation. 2014;17:3-10.
- 41. Fatoye F, Gebrye T, Odeyemi I. Real-world incidence and prevalence of low back pain using routinely collected data. Rheumatol Int. 2019;39(4):619-626.

42. Nunn ML, Hayden JA, Magee K. Current management practices for patients presenting with low back pain to a large emergency department in Canada. BMC Musculoskelet Disord. 2017;18(1):92.

 $\langle \mathfrak{D} \rangle$ 

-WILE

- Michalik R, Kowalska M, Kotyla P, et al. Frequency of hospitalization 43. due to low back pain syndrome in Poland and European countries. Pomeranian J Life Sci. 2015;61(2):214-219.
- 44. Leigh-Hunt N, Bagguley D, Bash K, et al. An overview of systematic reviews on the public health consequences of social isolation and Ioneliness. Public Health. 2017;152:157-171.
- 45. Yang H, Haldeman S. Behavior-related factors associated with low back pain in the US adult population. Spine. 2018;43(1):28-34.
- 46. Karunanavake AL, Pathmeswaran A, Kasturiratne A, et al. Risk factors for chronic low back pain in a sample of suburban Sri Lankan adult males. Int J Rheum Dis. 2013:16(2):203-210.
- 47. Shiri R, Karppinen J, Leino-Arjas P, et al. The association between smoking and low back pain: a meta-analysis. Am J Med. 2010;123(1):87.e7-87.e35.
- Borys C, Lutz J, Strauss B, et al. Effectiveness of a multimodal ther-48. apy for patients with chronic low back pain regarding pre-admission healthcare utilization. PLoS ONE. 2015;10(11):e0143139.
- Konstantinou K, Hider SL, Jordan JL, et al. The impact of low back-re-49. lated leg pain on outcomes as compared with low back pain alone: a systematic review of the literature. Clin J Pain. 2013;29(7):644-654.
- 50. Kääriä S, Kaila-Kangas L, Kirjonen J, et al. Low back pain, work absenteeism, chronic back disorders, and clinical findings in the low back as predictors of hospitalization due to low back disorders: A 28-year follow-up of industrial employees. Spine. 2005;30(10):1211-1218.

#### SUPPORTING INFORMATION

Additional supporting information may be found online in the Supporting Information section.

How to cite this article: Beyera GK, O'Brien J, Campbell S. Hospital admission and associated factors among individuals presenting to health care facilities for low back pain in Ethiopia. Int J Rheum Dis. 2020;23:763-771. https://doi.

org/10.1111/1756-185X.13832

DOI: 10.1111/1756-185X.13825

#### ORIGINAL ARTICLE

#### 🗠 📎 🛛 Wiley

### Cross-cultural adaptation and validation of the Turkish version of Centrality of Pain Scale in patients with fibromyalgia syndrome

Tugba Ozsoy-Unubol<sup>1</sup> 💿 | Cagri Unal-Ulutatar<sup>2</sup> 💿

<sup>1</sup>Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, Sultan Abdulhamid Han Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

<sup>2</sup>Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, Sancaktepe Şehit Prof. Dr. İlhan Varank Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

#### Correspondence

Tugba Ozsoy-Unubol, SBÜ İstanbul Sultan Abdülhamid Han Eğitim ve Araştırma Hastanesi, Selimiye Mahallesi, Tıbbiye Cd, 34668 Üsküdar/İstanbul. Email: tugbaozsoyy@gmail.com

#### Abstract

**Aim:** The purpose of this study was to perform a cross-cultural adaptation of the Turkish version of the Centrality of Pain Scale (COPS) and to evaluate its psychometric properties in patients with fibromyalgia syndrome (FMS).

**Methods:** Centrality of Pain Scale was translated and culturally adapted according to guidelines. Clinical and demographic data of the patients were recorded. In addition to the Turkish version of the COPS (COPS-TR), fibromyalgia impact questionnaire (FIQ), Pain Catastrophizing Scale (PCS), Brief Pain Inventory-Short Form (BPI-SF), Beck Depression Inventory (BDI), Generalized Anxiety Disorder 7-item (GAD-7) scale and Short Form-36 were applied. Internal consistency and test-retest methods were used for reliability analysis. Convergent validity was assessed by analyzing the correlations between COP-TR and functional parameters. Divergent validity and responsiveness were also evaluated.

**Results:** One hundred and four patients (90 female and 14 male) were included. The mean age was 44 years. Good internal consistency ( $\alpha$  = .84) and high test-retest reliability (intraclass correlation coefficient = 0.95) were determined. Highest correlations were detected between COPS-TR and BPI-SF pain interference score (r = .64), COPS-TR and PCS (r = .61). There was no significant correlation with non-functional parameters (body mass index, disease duration). It showed high responsiveness (effect size and standardized response mean were 1.66 and 1.94, respectively). The patients filled out COPS-TR in 2 minutes.

**Conclusions:** COPS-TR is a reliable and valid instrument that shows good psychometric properties. It can be used in clinical practice and scientific research.

#### KEYWORDS

Centrality of Pain Scale, cross-cultural adaptation, fibromyalgia, validation

#### 1 | INTRODUCTION

Fibromyalgia syndrome (FMS), with prevalence of 2%-8%, is characterized by widespread pain and several symptoms including fatigue, sleep disturbances, and cognitive problems.<sup>1,2</sup> It is diagnosed with a set of criteria; according to the American College of Rheumatology (ACR) 2016 revision criteria, patients should have generalized pain which is defined as pain in at least 4 of 5 regions (left upper, left lower, right upper, right lower, and axial regions). Jaw, chest, and abdominal pain are not included in this definition.<sup>3</sup>

© 2020 Asia Pacific League of Associations for Rheumatology and John Wiley & Sons Australia, Ltd

Pain is the core symptom of FMS which has a complex pathogenesis. Central sensitization, hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis abnormalities, increased levels of substance P, neurotrophins, and psychological factors including depression and anxiety, are responsible for the pathogenesis.<sup>4,5</sup> Since chronic pain is the major symptom of FMS, it is important to evaluate how patients perceive pain and how their life is affected by pain. The term "centrality" is a distinct concept from pain mechanisms (central sensitization). It refers to what extent pain dominates or takes over the patients' lives. The Centrality of Pain Scale (COPS) is a 10-item self-report questionnaire which assesses how individuals with chronic pain perceive pain in their lives. It has been developed and validated in patients with chronic non-malignant pain and mixed chronic pain diagnoses.<sup>6,7</sup>

The aim of is this study is to investigate the psychometric properties of a Turkish version of COPS (COPS-TR) in patients with FMS.

#### 2 | METHODS

The study protocol was approved by the Hamidiye local ethics committee of the University of Health Sciences. Written informed consent was obtained from each patient. The study was conducted in accordance with the principles of the Declaration of Helsinki.

#### 2.1 | Patients

Patients with the diagnosis of FMS according to ACR 2016 revision criteria who were older than 18 years were included in the study.<sup>3</sup> Exclusion criteria were the diagnosis of psychiatric disorders or severe systemic diseases, such as heart or renal failure, and the inability to read and write in Turkish. The sample size was determined according to Nunnally who recommended a 10:1 respondent-to-item ratio.<sup>8</sup> COPS has 10 items and 100 (10 × 10) participants should therefore be included.

#### 2.2 | Measures

#### 2.2.1 | Fibromyalgia impact questionnaire

This is an instrument which assesses the health status of patients with FMS. Physical function, work status, morning tiredness, stiffness, fatigue, and depression are some measures evaluated by the FIQ. The lowest score is zero and the maximum possible score is 100.<sup>9</sup> Higher scores reflect a worse health status. It has been translated and validated for the Turkish population.<sup>10</sup>

#### 2.2.2 | Centrality of Pain Scale

This is a 10-item questionnaire in which each item is rated on a 5-point Likert scale (1: strongly disagree, 2: disagree, 3: neither agree

-WILFV

nor disagree, 4: agree, 5: strongly agree). Items 2, 4 and 9 are reversely scored. The total score is the sum of all item scores. Higher scores reflect more "centralized" pain. The maximum possible score is 50 and the minimum score is  $10.^{6.7}$ 

#### 2.2.3 | The Pain Catastrophizing Scale

This is a 13-item self-reported questionnaire with 3 dimensions including rumination, magnification, and helplessness. Each item is rated on a 5-point Likert scale (0: not at all, 4: all the time) and its score ranges from 0 to 52.<sup>11</sup> It has been validated for the Turkish population.<sup>12</sup>

#### 2.2.4 | Brief Pain Inventory-Short Form

This is a 9-item self-administered questionnaire which evaluates the severity of pain and the impact of the pain on an individuals' daily life. Patients were asked to rate their least, worst, average, and current pain, and by calculating the mean of these 4 items we get the pain severity score. Patients were also asked to rate the degree to which pain interferes with general activity, mood, walking ability, normal work, relations with other persons, sleep, and enjoyment of life on a 10-point scale. The pain interference score is the mean of these 7 items and is a valid and reliable tool for the evaluation of musculoskeletal pain.<sup>13</sup>

#### 2.2.5 | Beck Depression Inventory

This is a 21-item self-administered questionnaire in which each item is rated 0 to 3. The total score ranges from 0 to 63. It has been validated for the Turkish population.<sup>14</sup>

#### 2.2.6 | Generalized Anxiety Disorder 7-item scale

This is a 7-item instrument that assesses the severity of anxiety. Each item is scored 0 to 3 (0: not at all, 1: several days, 2: over half the days, and 3: nearly every day). The total score is the sum of all item scores.<sup>15</sup> Its reliability and validity has been studied in the Turkish population.<sup>16</sup>

#### 2.2.7 | Short Form-36

This evaluates health-related quality of life. It has 8 domains including physical functioning, physical role, bodily pain, general health, vitality, social functioning, emotional role, and mental health. The validity and reliability of the instrument has been studied and normative data is available for the Turkish population.<sup>17,18</sup>

ILEY<sup>\_\_\_\_\_</sup>Rheumatic Diseases

**TABLE 1**Demographic and clinical features of the participants(N = 104)

		n (%)
Gender		
Female		90 (86.5%)
Male		14 (13.5%)
Education		
Primary-secondary school		63 (60.6%)
High school		25 (24%)
University		16 (15.4%)
Work status		
Employed		30 (28.9%)
Unemployed		72 (69.2%)
Retired		2 (1.9%)
	Mean ± SD	Min-Max
Age	44 ± 9.5	19-66
BMI	28.7 ± 5.4	15.4-45.4
Symptom duration (mo)	41 ± 39.6	3-240
Disease duration (mo)	5.6 ± 7.6	0-36
Widespread pain index	12 ± 2.3	7-19
Symptom severity index	10.1 ± 1.7	5-12

Abbreviations: BMI, body mass index; Min-Max, minimum-maximum; SD, standard deviation.

#### 2.3 | Translation process

The COPS scale was translated and adapted to Turkish according to standard guidelines.<sup>19-21</sup> Forward translation was performed by 2 independent bilingual translators whose native language is Turkish. A consensus was derived after discussion between the translators and the researchers. Backward translation was performed by 2 other bilingual translators who had not seen the original version of COPS and who were native English speakers, fluent in Turkish. An expert committee, composed of 2 physiatrists, 4 translators, a physiotherapist, and a psychiatrist, compared all versions and discussed the problems and discrepancies. The committee approved a pre-final version of COPS-TR and a pilot test was then performed on a lay group (n = 20) to test its clarity. Finally the committee assessed all the findings and approved the final version of COPS-TR.

#### 2.4 | Statistical analysis

The IBM SPSS Statistics 22 (IBM Corp) was used for statistical analysis. The results were evaluated at a significance level of P < .05.

#### 2.5 | Reliability

Test-retest reliability and internal consistency analysis were performed. COPS-TR was applied to the participants twice, with a 2-week interval between each undertaking. Intraclass correlation coefficients (ICCs) were used for the determination of test-retest reliability. ICC values between 0.75 and 0.9 represent good reliability and values greater than 0.90 indicate excellent reliability.<sup>22</sup> Cronbach's alpha was calculated for the assessment of internal consistency, with values >0.70 indicating good internal consistency.<sup>8</sup>

#### 2.6 | Validity

The face validity of the COPS-TR was assessed via cognitive debriefing interviews with 20 lay participants. They were asked if there was any ambiguity or difficulty in understanding questions.

Correlation analysis was performed between COPS-TR and PCS, FIQ, BPI-SF, BDI, GAD-7, and SF-36 for convergent validity. The correlation between COPS-TR, body mass index (BMI) and disease duration was assessed for divergent validity. Spearman's correlation coefficient ( $\rho$ ) was used to assess convergent and discriminative validity.

#### 2.7 | Responsiveness

Patients who were treated for the first time were evaluated with the COPS-TR and PCS for responsiveness 12 weeks after treatment. The standardized response mean (SRM) and effect size (ES) were calculated. The values between 0.2 and 0.4 indicate a small effect, between 0.5 and 0.7 express a medium effect and values >0.8 point out a greater effect.<sup>23</sup>

#### 3 | RESULTS

A total of 104 FMS patients (90 female and 14 male) were recruited into this study. The demographic and clinical characteristics of the patients are given in Table 1. The mean age of the patients was  $44 \pm 9.5$  years, and the mean duration of the disease was  $5.6 \pm 7.6$  months. The pre-final version of COPS was tested in FMS patients with cognitive interviews. Each subject completed the questionnaire and was interviewed to learn what the patient thought was meant by each questionnaire item and the chosen response. All of the questions were well understood by the patients. There were no unclear questions or missing data. According to the expert committee, no further cultural adaptations were needed. The final version of COPS was tested in 104 FMS patients. The COPS-TR took an average of 2 minutes ( $\pm 30$  seconds) to complete. The mean COPS-TR score was 33.1 and PCS was 28.7 in FMS patients (Table 2).

#### 3.1 | Reliability

The internal consistency (Cronbach's alpha) of COPS-TR was found to be 0.84. Fifty-two FMS patients completed the questionnaire twice. The test-retest reliability of COPS-TR was 0.95 (P < .005) indicating low random measurement error for scale.

TABLE 2Descriptive analyses of functional parameters(N = 104)

	Mean ± SD	Min-Max
FIQ	64.5 ± 14.1	30-92.1
BPI-pain severity	5.7 ± 2	1-10
BPI-pain interference	5.2 ± 2	0.1-10
PCS	28.7 ± 10.5	4-52
COPS-TR	33.1 ± 7.8	10-49
BDI	15.7 ± 8.2	0-41
GAD-7	13.4 ± 5.1	0-21
SF36 physical function	45.5 ± 25.2	0-95
SF36 physical role limitations	17.7 ± 30.5	0-100
SF36 bodily pain	41 ± 20.6	0-90
SF36 general health	40.1 ± 16.1	0-75
SF36 vitality	31.3 ± 15	5-75
SF36 social functioning	57.7 ± 24.3	0-100
SF36 emotional role limitations	33.7 ± 41.8	0-100
SF36 mental health	49.7 ± 18.9	6-96

Abbreviations: BDI, Beck Depression Inventory; BPI, Brief Pain Inventory; COPS-TR, Turkish version of Centrality of Pain Scale; FIQ, Fibromyalgia Impact Questionnaire; GAD-7, Generalized Anxiety Disorder 7-item; Min-Max, minimum-maximum; PCS, Pain Catastrophizing Scale; SD, standard deviation; F36, Short Form-36.

#### 3.2 | Validity

For the face validity analysis, cognitive debriefing interviews were performed with 20 lay participants. The patients understood all of the questions easily and no further changes were needed. The COPS-TR had moderate-strong correlation with most of the functional and clinical parameters (convergent) and an insignificant correlation with non-clinical parameters (divergent validity; Table 3). The COPS-TR had the strongest correlation with BPI-pain interference scores (rho = 0.64, P < .0005) and PCS scores (rho = 0.61, P < .0005). The mean COPS-TR scores of female patients was significantly higher than male patients (33.8 ± 7.6 and 28 ± 7.6, respectively, P = .012).

Both the floor and ceiling effects were calculated at 1.9% which means that the floor or ceiling effect were not present.

#### 3.3 | Responsiveness

The responsiveness of the COPS-TR was analyzed in 37 patients. The ES and the SRM of the COPS-TR were 1.66 and 1.94, respectively. The ES and the SRM of the PCS were 1.60 and 1.68, respectively (Table 4).

#### 4 | DISCUSSION

The current study shows that the Turkish version of COPS is a valid and reliable instrument to evaluate how pain dominates

**TABLE 3** Relation of the COPS-TR scores with demographic,clinical and functional parameters (N = 104)

🐵 🛞 – WILEY

	Spearman's correlation coefficient (rho)	P value
Age	.21	.03*
BMI	.07	.47
Disease duration (mo)	.11	.25
FIQ	.54	<.0005*
BPI-pain severity	.41	<.0005*
BPI-pain interference	.64	<.0005*
PCS	.61	<.0005*
BDI	.36	<.0005*
GAD-7	.27	.006*
SF36 physical function	49	<.0005*
SF36 physical role limitations	27	.006*
SF36 bodily pain	32	.001*
SF36 general health	55	<.0005*
SF36 vitality	42	<.0005*
SF36 social functioning	45	<.0005*
SF36 emotional role limitations	32	.001*
SF36 mental health	57	<.0005*

Note: Abbreviations: BDI, Beck Depression Inventory; BPI, Brief Pain Inventory; COPS-TR, Turkish Version of Centrality of Pain Scale; FIQ, Fibromyalgia Impact Questionnaire; GAD-7, Generalized Anxiety Disorder 7-item; Min-Max: minimum-maximum; PCS, Pain Catastrophizing Scale; SD, standard deviation; SF36: Short Form-36. \*P < .05 accepted as significant.

patients' lives. The items are clear and the scale was filled out in 2 minutes.

Pain beliefs, cognitions, and behaviors are important for the diagnosis and treatment of chronic pain. Better functional outcome and treatment adherence can be ensured by adjusting these concepts.<sup>24</sup> Fibromyalgia patients feel more affected by their illness in their daily lives and have maladaptive coping strategies compared to patients with other rheumatic diseases. Among the coping strategies, catastrophizing is used more, and distancing from pain and ignoring pain sensations are used less by patients with FMS.<sup>25</sup> Taking all of this into account, in FMS it is very important to assess how "central" the pain is and how the patients' lives are affected by pain. The COPS scale aims to evaluate how pain takes over the patients' lives. The overall effect of multiple physical, psychological, and social factors on patients' perceptions of how much pain is dominating their lives is measured by COPS.

The mean score of COPS-TR was 33.1 (range: 10-49) in our study compared with 31.8 (range: 13-49) in the original study, which was performed on patients with chronic non-malignant pain.<sup>6</sup> In another study, conducted on patients with the hepatitis C virus who had LEY- Rheumatic Diseases

**TABLE 4**Responsiveness of COPS-TR and PCS in FMS patients(N = 37)

	Mean change ± SD	ES	SRM
COPS-TR	12.21 ± 6.28	-1.66	-1.94
PCS	13.94 ± 8.29	-1.60	-1.68

Abbreviations: COPS-TR, Turkish Version of Centrality of Pain Scale; ES, effect size; PCS, Pain Catastrophizing Scale; SD, standard deviation; SRM, standardized response mean.

chronic pain, the mean score was 28.8.<sup>7</sup> In this study, the most common pain-related diagnoses were neck or joint pain (77.0%), low back pain (64.2%), and arthritis (59.7%).

COPS-TR has a good reliability with a Cronbach's alpha coefficient of 0.84, which refers to a sufficient internal homogeneity. The Cronbach's alpha value was 0.9 in the original study and 0.943 in a study where psychometric properties were studied in a Chinese population.<sup>6,26</sup> Test-retest reliability was performed with 2-week intervals in our study and was found to be very good (ICC: 0.95), indicating a low random measurement error for scale. Consistent with our findings, the ICC was found to be 0.929 in the Chinese version of COPS.<sup>26</sup>

The COPS-TR has a significant correlation with PCS, FIQ, BPI-SF pain severity and interference scores, BDI, GAD-7 and SF-36, which indicates a good convergent validity. On the other hand, it has no significant correlations with BMI and disease duration, which refers to a divergent validity. Taking these into consideration, COPS-TR has adequate construct validity among patients with FMS. Wang et al studied convergent validity with PCS and a Pain Self-Efficacy Questionnaire (PSEQ); they found moderate correlation with the PCS (r = .57) and the PSEQ (r = -.42).<sup>26</sup> In the original study, COPS was negatively correlated with physical health function (r = -.48), mental health function (r = -.38), quality of life (r = -.35), and provider assessment of pain control.<sup>6</sup> In another study, where psychometric properties were studied, COPS total scores were highly and positively correlated with measures of pain severity (r = .61), pain interference (r = .68), pain catastrophizing (r = .69), depressive symptoms (r = .47), and anxiety symptoms (r = .37).<sup>7</sup> Consistent with these findings, in our study the strongest correlation was with pain interference (r = .64) and pain catastrophizing (r = .61) scores. In addition, we found significant moderate correlation with SF-36 mental health (r = -.57), general health (r = -0.55), physical function (r = -.49), social function (r = -.45), vitality domain scores (r = -.42), pain severity scores (r = .41), and depressive symptoms (r = .36). A strong correlation was also observed with FIQ (r = .54). The FIQ measures the health status of patients with FMS and the COPS assesses how patients were affected by their pain. The strong correlation detected shows that it is a good outcome measure for FMS. Since it has good convergent validity and it has no floor or ceiling effect, it is a valid instrument. Responsiveness is evaluated to define the capacity of the scale to detect the change over time. In our study, the patients who were treated for the first time were evaluated 12 weeks after the treatment in order to assess the

responsiveness of COPS-TR. The ES and SRM of the COPS-TR were 1.66 and 1.94, respectively, which suggests high responsiveness. There are a limited number of studies evaluating the psychometric properties of COPS and neither of these studies evaluated the responsiveness of COPS.

To the best of our knowledge, this is the first study in which psychometric properties were studied in fibromyalgia patients and cross-culturally adapted to the Turkish population. The strengths of this study include the use of standardized methods for both translation processes and the evaluation of the psychometric properties of the COPS-TR. We also performed a comprehensive analysis, including pain severity, interference, depressive and anxiety symptoms, quality of life, and how the patients perceived their pain. Furthermore, in addition to reliability and validity, we also evaluated the responsiveness of the COPS-TR. The study has some limitations, the most important being that there were only 14 men, because FMS is more frequent in the female gender.

In conclusion, COPS-TR is a valid and reliable instrument in patients with FMS in the Turkish population. It can be used to evaluate how the lives of patients with FMS are affected by their pain. It may have influence on treatment decisions and follow-up.

#### CONFLICT OF INTEREST

Both authors declare no conflict of interest to declare.

#### ETHICAL STANDARDS

All procedures were performed in accordance with the ethical standards of the institutional and/or national research committee and with the 1964 Helsinki Declaration and its later amendments or comparable ethical standards. The study was approved by local Hamidiye ethics committee of University of Health Sciences. The manuscript has 2 authors and each author is responsible for the content and writing of the paper.

#### INFORMED CONSENT

Informed consent was obtained from all individual participants included in the study.

#### ORCID

Tugba Ozsoy-Unubol D https://orcid.org/0000-0001-9538-9191 Cagri Unal-Ulutatar D https://orcid.org/0000-0002-4571-8521

#### REFERENCES

- 1. Wolfe F, Ross K, Anderson J, Russell IJ, Hebert L. The prevalence and characteristics of fibromyalgia in the general population. *Arthritis Rheum*. 1995;38(1):19-28.
- Vincent A, Lahr BD, Wolfe F, et al. Prevalence of fibromyalgia: a population-based study in Olmsted County, Minnesota, utilizing the Rochester Epidemiology Project. Arthritis Care Res. 2013;65(5):786-792.
- Wolfe F, Clauw DJ, Fitzcharles M-A, et al. 2016 Revisions to the 2010/2011 fibromyalgia diagnostic criteria. Semin Arthritis Rheum. 2016;46(3):319-329.
- Staud R, Rodriguez ME. Mechanisms of disease: pain in fibromyalgia syndrome. Nat Clin Pract Rheumatol. 2006;2(2):90.

- 5. Cheng CW, Wong CS, Hui GK, Chung EK, Wong SH. Fibromyalgia: is it a neuropathic pain? *Pain Manag.* 2018;8(5):377-388.
- Nicolaidis C, Chianello T, Gerrity M. Development and preliminary psychometric testing of the centrality of pain scale. *Pain Med.* 2011;12(4):612-617.
- 7. Morasco BJ, Turk DC, Nicolaidis C. Psychometric properties of the centrality of pain scale. *J Pain*. 2015;16(7):676-681.
- Nunnally J. Psychometric theory (2nd edn). Hillsdale, NJ: Mcgraw-Hill; 1978:416.
- Burckhardt CS, Clark SR, Bennett RM. The fibromyalgia impact questionnaire: development and validation. J Rheumatol. 1991;18(5):728-733.
- Sarmer S, Ergin S, Yavuzer G. The validity and reliability of the Turkish version of the fibromyalgia impact questionnaire. *Rheumatol Int.* 2000;20(1):9-12.
- 11. Sullivan MJ, Bishop SR, Pivik J. The pain catastrophizing scale: development and validation. *Psychol Assess*. 1995;7(4):524.
- Süren M, Okan İ, Gökbakan AM, et al. Factors associated with the pain catastrophizing scale and validation in a sample of the Turkish population. *Turk J Med Sci.* 2014;44(1):104-108.
- Celik EC, Yalcinkaya EY, Atamaz F, et al. Validity and reliability of a Turkish Brief Pain Inventory Short Form when used to evaluate musculoskeletal pain. J Back Musculoskelet Rehabil. 2017;30(2):229-233.
- Hisli N. Beck depresyon envanterinin universite ogrencileri icin gecerliligi, guvenilirligi. (A reliability and validity study of Beck Depression Inventory in a university student sample). J Psychol. 1989;7:3-13.
- Spitzer RL, Kroenke K, Williams JB, Löwe B. A brief measure for assessing generalized anxiety disorder: the GAD-7. Arch Intern Med. 2006;166(10):1092-1097.
- Konkan R, Şenormanci Ö, Güçlü O, Aydin E, Sungur MZ. Yaygın Anksiyete Bozukluğu-7 (YAB-7) Testi Türkçe Uyarlaması, Geçerlik ve Güvenirliği. Noro Psikiyatr Ars. 2013;50(1).
- 17. Pinar R. Reliability and construct validity of the SF-36 in Turkish cancer patients. *Qual Life Res.* 2005;14(1):259-264.
- Demiral Y, Ergor G, Unal B, et al. Normative data and discriminative properties of short form 36 (SF-36) in Turkish urban population. BMC Public Health. 2006;6(1):247.

 Guillemin F, Bombardier C, Beaton D. Cross-cultural adaptation of health-related quality of life measures: literature review and proposed guidelines. *J Clin Epidemiol*. 1993;46(12):1417-1432.

tional Journal o

**Rheumatic Diseases** 

- 20. Guillemin F. Cross-cultural adaptation and validation of heatth status measures. *Scand J Rheumatol*. 1995;24(2):61-63.
- Beaton DE, Bombardier C, Guillemin F, Ferraz MB. Guidelines for the process of cross-cultural adaptation of self-report measures. *Spine*. 2000;25(24):3186-3191.
- 22. Portney LG, Watkins MP. Foundations of clinical research: applications to practice: Pearson/Prentice Hall Upper Saddle. River, NJ: Pearson/Prentice Hall; 2009.
- Streiner DL, Norman GR, Cairney J. Health measurement scales: a practical guide to their development and use. New York, NY: Oxford University Press; 2015.
- 24. Stroud MW, Thorn BE, Jensen MP, Boothby JL. The relation between pain beliefs, negative thoughts, and psychosocial functioning in chronic pain patients. *Pain*. 2000;84(2-3):347-352.
- Bucourt E, Martaillé V, Goupille P, et al. A comparative study of fibromyalgia, rheumatoid arthritis, spondyloarthritis, and Sjögren's Syndrome; impact of the disease on quality of life, psychological adjustment, and use of coping strategies. *Pain Med.* 2019. https://doi.org/10.1093/pm/pnz255
- Wang M, He S, Ji P. Validation of the centrality of pain scale in chinese-speaking patients with painful temporomandibular disorders. *Pain Med.* 2019;20(4):840-845.

How to cite this article: Ozsoy-Unubol T, Unal-Ulutatar C. Cross-cultural adaptation and validation of the Turkish version of Centrality of Pain Scale in patients with fibromyalgia syndrome. Int J Rheum Dis. 2020;23:772–777. <u>https://doi.</u> org/10.1111/1756-185X.13825

WILF

DOI: 10.1111/1756-185X.13834

#### ORIGINAL ARTICLE



#### 🗠 📎 🛛 Wiley

### Intra-articular delivery of umbilical cord-derived mesenchymal stem cells temporarily retard the progression of osteoarthritis in a rat model



<sup>1</sup>Arthritis Clinic & Research Center, Peking University People's Hospital, Peking University, Beijing, China

<sup>2</sup>Arthritis Institute, Peking University, Beijing, China

<sup>4</sup>Beijing Stem Cell Bank, Chinese Academy of Sciences, Beijing, China

<sup>5</sup>University of Chinese Academy of Sciences, Beijing, China

<sup>6</sup>Department of Sports Medicine and Adult Reconstruction Surgery, Nanjing Drum Tower Hospital, The Affiliated Hospital of Nanjing University Medical School, Nanjing, China

<sup>7</sup>Department of Biomedical Engineering, School of Medicine, Tsinghua University, Beijing, China

<sup>8</sup>Beijing CytoNiche Biotechnology Co. Ltd., Beijing, China

<sup>9</sup>Institute for Stem Cell and Regeneration, Chinese Academy of Sciences, Beijing, China

<sup>10</sup>Kolling Institute, University of Sydney, Sydney, NSW, Australia

<sup>11</sup>Department of Orthopedics, First Teaching Hospital of Tianjin University of Traditional Chinese Medicine, Tianjin, China

#### Correspondence

Jianhao Lin, Arthritis Clinic & Research Center, Peking University People's Hospital, Peking University, Beijing 100044, China. Email: linjianhao@pkuph.edu.cn

Jie Hao, State Key Laboratory of Stem Cell and Reproductive Biology, Institute of Zoology, Chinese Academy of Sciences, Beijing 100190, China. Email: haojie@ioz.ac.cn

#### **Funding information**

This study was supported by grants from the National Natural Science Foundation of China (No. 81973606, 81873316, 81673994), the China Postdoctoral Science Foundation Grant (2017M620803), the Strategic Priority Research Program of the Chinese Academy of Sciences (No. XDA16030601), Peking University People's Hospital Scientific Research Development Funds (No. RDY2019-11), Beijing Science and Technology Major Projects (No. Z181100001818008) and Beijing Municipal Science & Technology

#### Abstract

**Aim:** Mesenchymal stem cell (MSC)-based therapy is being explored in treating osteoarthritis (OA). Human umbilical cord-derived mesenchymal stem cells (hUC-MSCs) are least reported. In this study, we investigated the effects of single intra-articular injections of hUC-MSCs on a rat OA model.

**Method:** hUC-MSCs were isolated from the Wharton's jelly of the human umbilical cord and identified. Eighteen Sprague-Dawley rats were used for the OA model. All rats were divided into 3 groups: hyaluronic acid (HA)+MSCs (n = 6), HA (n = 6), and control group (n = 6). One by  $10^6$  hUC-MSCs in  $100 \mu$ L HA,  $100 \mu$ L HA or  $100 \mu$ L saline were injected into the knee joint 4 weeks post-surgery as a single dose. Cartilage degeneration was evaluated at 6 and 12 weeks after treatment with macroscopic examination, micro-computed tomography analysis, behavioral analysis, and histology. **Results:** At 6 weeks, the HA + MSCs group had a significantly better International Cartilage Repair Society score in the femoral condyle compared to the HA and control groups. Histological analysis also showed more proteoglycan and less cartilage loss, with lower modified Mankin score in the HA + MSCs group. However, at 12 weeks there were no significant differences between groups from macroscopic examination

Dan Xing, Jun Wu and Bin Wang contribute equally to this work.

© 2020 Asia Pacific League of Associations for Rheumatology and John Wiley & Sons Australia, Ltd

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>State Key Laboratory of Stem Cell and Reproductive Biology, Institute of Zoology, Chinese Academy of Sciences, Beijing, China

Commission Huairou Science City Project (No. Z181100003818005).

Rheumatic Diseases

and histological analysis. Subchondral bone sclerosis of the medial femoral condyle and behavioral tests showed no significant differences between groups at 6 and 12 weeks.

**Conclusion:** These findings indicate that single injection of hUC-MSCs can have temporary effects on decelerating the progression of cartilage degeneration in OA rats, but may not inhibit OA progression in the long-term.

#### KEYWORDS

animal study, cartilage regeneration, intra-articular injection, mesenchymal stem cells, osteoarthritis

#### 1 | INTRODUCTION

Osteoarthritis (OA) is a debilitating and highly common chronic musculoskeletal disorder that involves cartilage damage, subchondral bone sclerosis, and osteophyte formation.<sup>1</sup> It is estimated that at least 10% of people over 60 years of age are suffering from OA worldwide.<sup>2</sup> The prevalence of OA is constantly increasing due to the world's aging population. Risk factors for OA include age, gender, ethnicity, trauma, physical activity and occupation.<sup>3,4</sup> Other than these, causes of OA are reported to be a combination of genetic factors, mechanical stresses, including joint structure/alignment, and dedifferentiation of chondrocytes,<sup>5-8</sup> but the exact mechanism is still under debate.<sup>9</sup> Current mainstream treatments for OA include non-pharmacological, pharmacological, and surgical approaches.<sup>10,11</sup> However, all of these interventions can only provide transient relief of symptoms, such as short-term pain relief, but have no effect in stopping or slowing OA progression.

Over the last decade, mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) have brought new hope as a potential regenerative therapy for treating OA.<sup>12</sup> The rationale for using these cells originally arose from extensive evidence of their applications in tissue regeneration, with the beneficial properties of being easily harvested, isolated and expanded in culture, and potential for multilineage (including chondrogenic and osteogenic) differentiation.<sup>13,14</sup> More importantly, MSCs have unique paracrine functions that can reduce inflammation and induce self-repair at the site of injection due to their secretory products.<sup>15,16</sup> Several preclinical studies have recently demonstrated some favorable effects on cartilage repair when MSCs were injected into OA joints in small animals.<sup>17,18</sup> However, from our previous systematic review on animal studies involving intra-articular injection of MSCs for knee OA, we do not have absolute confidence to recommend the use of MSCs for OA clinical trials based on the current evidence.<sup>19</sup> There is a limited number of high-quality clinical studies on using stem cells to treat OA in patients.<sup>20</sup> We have identified this as a key limitation in the current clinical evidence that gives low confidence in the efficacy of MSC therapy for treating knee OA.<sup>21</sup> Therefore, more animal studies are still required to confirm the effectiveness of different types of MSCs before proceeding to clinical studies.

The majority of animal studies investigating the effects of MSCs applied by intra-articular injection to treat knee OA involved MSCs derived from the bone marrow, adipose tissue, and joint tissues (including synovium, meniscus, and intrapatellar fat pad).<sup>19</sup> Human umbilical cord-derived mesenchymal stem cells (hUC-MSCs) are derived from the Wharton's jelly of the umbilical cord, and constitute an alternative MSC source with many advantages over adult cell sources. For instance, hUC-MSCs have greater proliferative capacity, are easy to isolate without being subjected to ethical controversies, and have been applied in both cartilage and bone tissue engineering.<sup>22</sup> The primary purpose of this study is to determine the efficacy of hUC-MSCs when applied for treating knee OA in xenogeneic recipients. We evaluated the therapeutic potential of a single intra-articular injection of hUC-MSCs co-injected with hyaluronic acid (HA), compared to HA alone in a rat OA model.

#### 2 | MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### 2.1 | Isolation and culture of hUC-MSCs

This study was approved by the Ethics Committee of the Institute of Zoology, Chinese Academy of Sciences and Peking University Biomedical Ethics Committee. All procedures involving human participants were conducted in accordance with the ethical standards of the Institute of Zoology, Chinese Academy of Sciences. After prior informed consent, the human umbilical cords were obtained from healthy donors following full-term cesarean section. The hUC-MSCs were isolated from the Wharton's jelly of the human umbilical cord. The cells were cultured in flasks containing Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium/F12 (DMEM/F12; Hyclone) supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (Gemini) at 37°C under 5% CO<sub>2</sub>. The culture medium was replaced every 3 days. The hUC-MSCs were passaged at approximately 80%-90% confluence using 0.25% trypsin. Cell proliferation ability was evaluated according to Cell Counting Kit-8 assay.

#### 2.2 | Flow cytometry

The hUC-MSCs were digested from flasks and suspended in phosphate-buffered saline (PBS). The anti-human antibodies CD29, Y - International Journal of Rheumatic Diseases

CD73, CD105, CD34, CD90, CD45, human leukocyte antigen (HLA)-DR and HLA-ABC (BioLegend) were used for flow cytometry according to the manufacturer's instructions. Antibody incubations were conducted on ice for 30 minutes. Then, the hUC-MSCs were washed and resuspended in PBS for flow cytometry.

#### 2.3 | Trilineage differentiation assay

For all differentiation assays, hUC-MSCs were cultured in basal medium for 48 hours before changing to differentiation medium. The hUC-MSCs were then cultured for 2 weeks in differentiation medium, with medium change performed every 3 days. Cells were washed in PBS and fixed before performing the differentiation assay.

For adipogenic differentiation, Fatty Acid-Binding Protein 4 (FABP4) was detected in the differentiated cells using human FABP4/A-FABP antibody (AF3150, R&D Systems) at 3  $\mu$ g/mL overnight at 4°C. Cells were stained using immunoglobulin G (IgG) secondary antibody (red; HAF007, R&D Systems). For chondrogenic differentiation, aggrecan was detected in the differentiated cells using human aggrecan antibody (AF1220, R&D Systems) and IgG secondary antibody (red; HAF007, R&D Systems). Hoechst 33342 was used to stain the cell nuclei. For osteogenic differentiation, osteocalcin was detected in the differentiated cells using the differentiated cells using an osteocalcin was detected in the differentiated cells using an osteocalcin was detected in the differentiated cells using an osteocalcin monoclonal antibody (MAB1419, R&D Systems) at 10  $\mu$ g/mL for 3 hours at room temperature. Cells were stained using IgG secondary antibody (red; HAF007, R&D Systems).

#### 2.4 | OA animal model

The animal experiment was performed with approval from the Peking University Biomedical Ethics Committee. Eighteen Sprague-Dawley rats (10 weeks old; 180 g) were randomly divided into three groups (n = 6 per group): control group, HA group and HA + MSCs group. Bilateral knee OA was induced by anterior cruciate ligament (ACL) transection and medial meniscectomy. Briefly, the rats were anesthetized, and surgery was performed to transect the ACL. The full thickness of the medial meniscus was cut to induce destabilization of the knee joint (Figure 2B). After surgery, each rat was administrated penicillin once a day for the first 3 days. The control group was injected with 100  $\mu$ L saline into the articular space. For the HA and HA + MSCs groups, 100  $\mu$ L HA or hUC-MSCs (1 × 10<sup>6</sup>/knee) in 100  $\mu$ L HA, respectively were injected into the articular space of both knee joints at 4 weeks after surgery. The duration from surgery to intervention was determined according to a previous report and evidence.<sup>19</sup>

#### 2.5 | Behavioral analysis

Rearing (standing on rear limbs) was counted before the injection, and at 6 and 12 weeks after injection.<sup>17,23</sup> A box ( $70 \times 30 \times 30 \text{ cm}^3$ ) was placed in a room without noise. The bottom of the box was covered with foam stamp pads. The 4 sides of the box were covered with white paper. The

paws of the rats were stained with ink from a foam stamp pad. The rats left footprints on the white paper when they stood on their hind limbs and touched the walls of the box with their forelimbs. To distinguish rearing from incomplete standing actions, the reliable rears were defined as being at a height of at least 5 cm from the bottom. Each rat was left in the box for 10 minutes. The number of rears was manually counted.

#### 2.6 | Micro-computed tomography (μ-CT) analysis

The rats were sacrificed at 6 and 12 weeks after treatment. The intact knee samples were imaged using a  $\mu$ -CT system (Inveon MM CT, Siemens AG, Munich, Germany). A scanning time of 0.21 seconds with settings of 80 kVp, 500  $\mu$ A, and 30 calibrations was used. Axial and transaxial fields of view of 30 mm were acquired. Threedimensional (3D) reconstructions were generated from 2D images by using multimodal 3D visualization software (Inveon Research Workplace, Siemens). For the medial femoral condyle, the region of interest was acquired from subchondral bone. An appropriate threshold was adjusted to define the mineralized bone phase. Bone mineral density (Bone Volume/Total Volume) (BV/TV) was calculated three times for each sample.

#### 2.7 | Macroscopic examination

Following µ-CT analysis, the surface of the distal femur was exposed. Macroscopic evaluation was conducted according to the cartilage repair assessment instrument of the International Cartilage Repair Society (ICRS).<sup>24</sup> The assessment was performed based on macroscopic examination of the cartilage surface, which was scored from 4 to 0 (4: intact smooth surface, 3: fibrillated surface, 2: small, scattered fissures or cracks, 1: several, small or few but large fissures and 0: total degeneration of surface area).

#### 2.8 | Histological analysis

The knee joints were collected and fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde overnight. Decalcification was conducted in 4% ethylenediamine-tetraacetic acid for 1 month, with the decalcifying solution changed every 3 days. Decalcified joints were embedded in paraffin. Sections (4  $\mu$ m) of the medial femoral condyle of the knee joints were stained using hematoxylin and eosin (HE), safranin O and toluidine blue.

#### 2.9 | Modified Mankin score

The severity of cartilage degeneration was assessed using the modified Mankin score<sup>25</sup> based on histological analysis, namely: (a) surface integrity (score 0-10); (b) cellularity (score 0-4); (c) cell clones (score 0-4); and (d) safranin O staining (score 0-5). A higher score indicated a greater level of cartilage degeneration.


FIGURE 1 Characterization of human umbilical cord-derived mesenchymal stem cells (hUC-MSCs). A, Morphology of cultured hUC-MSCs in passage 4. B, Cell Counting Kit-8 (CCK8) assay was conducted to evaluate the proliferation capability of hUC-MSCs. C, Flow cytometry analysis of CD29, CD73, CD90, CD105, human leukocyte antigen (HLA)-ABC, CD34, CD45 and HLA-DR of hUC-MSCs in passage 4. D, Adipogenic, chondrogenic and osteogenic differentiation of hUC-MSCs

# 2.10 | Statistical analysis

All data were presented as mean ± standard deviation. Multigroup comparisons of the means were carried out by one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) test with post hoc contrasts by Student-Newman-Keuls test. P < .05 was considered to be statistically significant.

#### 3 RESULTS

# 3.1 | Isolation and identification of hUC-MSCs

After initial isolation and expansion, hUC-MSCs with spindle-shaped morphology growing in a monolayer were observed (Figure 1A). Cell proliferation assay confirmed that hUC-MSCs proliferated in the first 7 days following the initial passage (Figure 1B). In addition, hUC-MSCs displayed flow cytometry standard (FCS) positive staining for the MSC surface markers CD90, CD29, CD73, CD105 and HLA-ABC, but were negative for CD45, CD34 and HLA-DR (Figure 1C). Differentiation assays confirmed the trilineage differentiation capacity of hUC-MSCs at 2 weeks (Figure 1D).

#### Macroscopic evaluation of the knee joint 3.2

Following intra-articular injection of rat knee joints with HA alone or HA + MSCs, macroscopic observations of the distal femur were compared with the control group at 6 and 12 weeks (Figure 2A). At 6 weeks, the joint surface of the distal femur in the control and HA groups showed marked macroscopic signs of OA progression, including cartilage surface roughness and osteophyte formation,

compared to the preserved cartilage surface in the HA + MSC group (Figure 2C). The ICRS macroscopic score for the HA + MSC group was significantly higher than other groups at 6 weeks (F = 15.83, P < .01; HA + MSCs vs HA: MD = 1.00, 95% CI 0.23-1.77, P < .05; HA + MSC vs control: MD = 1.67, 95% CI 0.90-2.44, P < .01) (Figure 2D). However, at 12 weeks after treatment, the joint surface showed significant OA progression in all 3 groups (Figure 2E), and the ICRS macroscopic scores showed no significant differences among groups (F = 3.09, P = .08; HA + MSC vs HA: MD = 0.17, 95% CI -0.77 to 1.09, P> .05; HA + MSC vs control: MD = 0.83, 95% CI -0.09 to 1.76, P> .05; HA vs control: MD = 0.67, 95% CI -0.26 to 1.59, P > .05) (Figure 2F). These findings suggested that a single injection of hUC-MSC was effective in suppressing OA changes during the early stages after treatment.

781

# 3.3 | Histological analysis of the medial femoral condyle

Representative histological images of the medial femoral condyle are shown for all groups at 6 and 12 weeks post-treatment (Figure 3). At 6 weeks, the articular cartilage in the control and HA groups showed surface irregularity, loss of cellularity and reduced area of safranin O staining, indicating significant OA changes. In contrast, the medial femoral condyle of the HA + MSC group showed abundant proteoglycan and reduced cartilage loss, and did not display significant features of OA progression (Figure 3A). Furthermore, the modified Mankin score was significantly reduced in the HA + MSC group compared to the control and HA groups (F = 83.73, P < .01; HA + MSCs vs HA: MD = 4.67, 95% CI 3.45-5.88, P < .01; HA + MSCs vs control: MD = 5.67, 95% CI 4.45-6.88, P < .01) (Figure 3B).



**FIGURE 2** Rat osteoarthritis (OA) modeling procedures and macroscopic features in OA model. A, Schematic of the study timeline. B, Surgical procedure for the rat OA model. a, The anterior surface of the hind limb was shaved with an electric clipper, and the skin around the incision area was cleansed with Betadine. b, The skin and fascia on the kneecap region of the hind limb were vertically incised in the midline for a distance of approximately 4 cm. c, The patella was retracted laterally to expose the articular cavity. d, The synovial membrane was excised, and the knee joint was bent to expose the anterior cruciate ligament. e, The anterior cruciate ligaments were transected, and the medial meniscus was completely removed with surgical scissors. f, The patella was relocated back to its original position, and the fascia and skin were closed with sutures. C, Representative macroscopic features of the femoral condyle from 3 specimens at 6 weeks after injection. D, International Cartilage Repair Society (ICRS) macroscopic score for morphology of the femoral condyle (n = 6). E, Representative macroscopic features of the femoral condyle from 3 specimens at 12 weeks after injection. F, ICRS macroscopic score for morphology of the femoral condyle (n = 6). Error bars represent 95% confidence intervals.\*P < .05 and \*\*\*P < .001. HA, hyaluronic acid; MSCs, mesenchymal stem cells



FIGURE 3 Histological analysis of medial femoral condyle of the knee joint. A, Histological images (hematoxylin and eosin [HE], safranin O and toluidine blue staining) of articular cartilage in all groups, and B, their modified Mankin score (n = 6) at 6 weeks after injection. C, Representative features of articular cartilage stained with HE, safranin O and toluidine blue at 12 weeks after injection. D, Modified Mankin score for histology of the articular cartilage (n = 6) at 12 weeks at post-treatment. Error bars represent 95% confidence intervals. \*\*\*\*P < .0001. HA, hyaluronic acid; MSCs, mesenchymal stem cells

At 12 weeks, safranin O staining was significantly reduced in the HA + MSCs group compared to at 6 weeks. Knee joints in all groups showed surface irregularity or cleft, loss of cellularity and tidemark integrity, and no proteoglycan (Figure 3C). Moreover, there was no difference in modified Mankin score among all groups (F = 3.25, P = .07; HA + MSCs vs HA: MD = -0.67, 95% CI -2.20 to 0.87, P> .05; HA + MSCs vs control: MD = -1.50, 95% CI -3.03 to 0.03, P> .05; HA vs control: MD = -0.83, 95% CI -2.37 to 0.70, P> .05) (Figure 3D). This data was consistent with the macroscopic findings and indicated that a single injection of hUC-MSC in HA rather than HA alone

was effective in retarding OA histological changes at the early stages of OA induction.

783

# 3.4 | $\mu$ -CT analysis

Representative µ-CT images of knee samples are shown for all groups at 6 and 12 weeks post-treatment (Figure 4).  $\mu$ -CT imaging at both 6 and 12 weeks after injection showed radiological osteophyte formation around the knee joint in all groups (Figure 4A,C). Subchondral



**FIGURE 4** Micro-computed tomography ( $\mu$ -CT) images of the knee and bone mineral density of subchondral bone. A, Post-anterior and lateral views of the knee joint by  $\mu$ -CT at 6 weeks after injection. PA, post-anterior view. L, lateral view. B, Bone mineral density of subchondral bone of the medial femoral condyle at 6 weeks (n = 6). C, Post-anterior and lateral views of the knee joint by  $\mu$ -CT at 12 weeks after injection. PA, post-anterior view. L, lateral view. D, Bone mineral density of subchondral bone of the medial femoral condyle at 12 weeks (n = 6). HA, hyaluronic acid; MSCs, mesenchymal stem cells; BV/TV, bone volume/total volume.

bone sclerosis of the medial femoral condyle was quantitatively analyzed. There were no significant differences in bone mineral density among all 3 groups at 6 and 12 weeks (Figure 4B,D).

# 3.5 | Behavioral analysis

The number of rears performed by animals in the control, HA and HA + MSC groups at 6 and 12 weeks post-treatment, shortly before euthanasia are shown (Figure 5). Rearing in all groups showed a non-significant rise from before injection to 6 weeks after injection. However, the difference in number of rears was not significant between groups at any of the time points or within the same group at different time points.

# 4 | DISCUSSION

Chronic and irreversible degeneration in OA joints creates significant pain and greatly limits the mobility of patients, leading

to substantial reductions in quality of life and also increased risks of mortality due to co-morbidities such as cardiovascular disease.<sup>26</sup> The increasing prevalence of OA worldwide and the lack of effective therapies to stop disease progression has propelled the development of new treatment approaches inspired by regenerative medicine, such as cell and gene therapy. Recently, MSCs have been used in several preclinical studies and earlystage clinical trials to treat OA, with some reporting promising outcomes.<sup>27-29</sup> However, our previous systematic reviews on the current evidence of using intra-articular injections of MSCs to treat knee OA in animal studies and clinical trials showed inconclusive benefits, and indicated low confidence in recommending MSCs as a therapy for OA.<sup>19,21</sup> Further animal studies involving different types of MSCs, such as those derived from different sources or applied in different models of OA, are still necessary before the translation of MSC-based cell therapy should be made. In this study, we validated the efficacy of hUC-MSCs, as a rarely investigated source of MSCs in the OA space, in their ability to ameliorate disease progression following OA induction in a rat model.



**FIGURE 5** Behavioral analysis. The number of rears before, 6 weeks after, and 12 weeks after injection for all groups (n = 6). HA, hyaluronic acid; MSCs, mesenchymal stem cells

At the early stages following OA induction (6 weeks), histological analysis of the HA + MSCs group showed relatively normal cartilage features, with very mild irregularity in the surface layer, normal distribution of cells, appropriate cartilage thickness, and consistent safranin O staining. In comparison, the control and HA groups showed structural disorganization in the cartilage and significant OA progression. These results corroborated the macroscopic findings, and suggested that the hUC-MSCs can exert short-term effects in protecting joint cartilage from degradation during OA progression. However, the differences in the extent of joint pathology between groups at 6 weeks were not reflected in the behavior of the animals.

At later stages following OA induction (12 weeks), no significant differences were noted among groups for any of the outcome measures, with all groups showing a similar extent of cartilage damage, especially in histological evaluation. In particular for the HA + MSC group, the cartilage pathology in the OA joint significantly worsened at 12 weeks compared to at 6 weeks, reaching similar levels as the control and HA groups as reflected by the macroscopic and histological scores. At 12 weeks, the ICRS of all samples in 3 groups were only ranged from 0 to 2. Due to the limited sample size of studies and interindividual variabilities among the groups, the standard deviation may be statistically larger in ICRS score at 12 weeks. Thus, the reliable results for cartilage degeneration mostly depend on the histological evaluation. The inability of hUC-MSCs to achieve long-term cartilage protection during OA progression from a single injection may indicate that repeated injections are necessary to maintain beneficial effects. As reported in some studies, the number of injected MSCs could decrease rapidly following a single dose injection, 30,31 leaving insufficient numbers to counteract the long-term pathological progression of OA. Periodic injections of synovial MSCs can inhibit OA progression more effectively by sustained secretion of paracrine factors when compared with a single injection.<sup>32</sup> In the same study, a single treatment of MSCs only had minimal effects. These studies may provide an explanation for the lack of sustained improvements in cartilage pathology for the HA + MSC group beyond 6 weeks, since a single injection of hUC-MSCs could only have temporary effects due to limited long-term survival of MSCs in the joint following injection. In addition to this, the surviving

MSCs may be adversely responding to the diseased joint environment during OA progression due to their unique "environmentally responsive" characteristics,<sup>33</sup> causing them to cease the secretion of beneficial factors and adopt a pro-inflammatory phenotype that reflects the diseased state of the surrounding tissues. This may explain the more significant deterioration in cartilage quality between 6 and 12 weeks for the HA + MSC group when compared to other groups. To clarify these observations, future studies should compare the effects of single and repeated injections of MSCs, as well as the effects of injecting the MSC secretome against direct cell injection.

Although hUC-MSC injection provided short-term improvement of macroscopic and histological appearance in the knee joint following OA induction, these findings were not substantiated by the µ-CT analysis that showed similar radiographic appearances and bone mineral densities in all three groups. One possible explanation is that joint instability following surgical induction may require compensation by bone hyperplasia or osteophytosis. Although the hUC-MSCs could temporarily ameliorate structural changes in the joint tissues following OA induction, they were unable to restore joint stability or lead to biomechanical changes that can be detected by radiographic analysis. As reported, alterations of the subchondral bone are pathological features associated with spontaneous cartilage repair following an acute injury and with articular cartilage repair procedures.<sup>34</sup> In our previous study,<sup>35</sup> a subchondral bone lesion model was developed to confirm that subchondral bone had a protective role with regard to the upper cartilage. Currently, there is a lack of imaging techniques that can directly evaluate subtle changes in subchondral bone microarchitecture during OA progression.<sup>36</sup> Although this study did not show differences in the subchondral bone between groups through  $\mu$ -CT analysis, future studies utilizing magnetic resonance imaging with high resolution and advanced post-processing algorithms may be able to detect subtle changes in the trabecular bone structure in OA joints.<sup>37</sup> Another possibility is that the loss in cartilage thickness at the medial femoral condyle during OA progression may shift the loading force from the femur to the tibia, or from the whole joint to only the medial part of the joint, causing complex biomechanical changes that were not evaluated in this study but will be of interest to investigate in future studies.

# Rheumatic Diseases

In this study, no significant differences in behavior were found between time points in any of the treatment groups. This is not unexpected, because the number of rears in rats with OA is mainly affected by the decreased proprioception and pain symptoms evoked by knee OA.<sup>23</sup> Injections of hUC-MSCs with HA or HA alone are not likely to have direct effects in reducing pain or improving proprioception. Although MSCs are reported to have anti-inflammatory effects through the secretion of factors that inhibit inflammatory processes in OA joint tissues,<sup>15</sup> pain in OA is caused by a complex combination of mechanisms that may or may not be attributable to structural tissue changes and inflammatory processes.<sup>38</sup> A combination of regenerative therapies such as MSC injection and pharmacological therapies to target pain may be necessary to achieve substantial therapeutic benefits in the treatment of OA. Although several outcomes including macroscopic assessment, histological evaluation, µ-CT and behavioral analysis were investigated in the present study, the results of histological evaluation could be of considerable clinical significance due to our goal which is to restore hyaline cartilage in the clinic.

# 5 | CONCLUSION

A single injection of hUC-MSCs can have temporary effects that decelerate the progression of cartilage destruction in a rat OA model. hUC-MSCs may be a promising cell source for cell therapy approaches to treat OA, but a single dose may be insufficient to counteract long-term OA progression. Further animal studies are required to investigate multiple administrations of hUC-MSCs or their secretory products before moving to clinical trials.

# ETHICS APPROVAL

All animal procedures used in this study were approved by the ethics committee of Peking University People's Hospital.

## CONFLICT OF INTEREST

The authors declare they have no conflicts of interest.

#### STATEMENT OF HUMAN AND ANIMAL RIGHTS

All of the experimental procedures involving animals were conducted in accordance with Institutional Animal Care guidelines of Peking University People's Hospital, China and approved by the Administration Committee of Experimental Animals of Peking University, Beijing, China.

# STATEMENT OF INFORMED CONSENT

There are no human subjects in this article and informed consent is not applicable.

# ORCID

Dan Xing D https://orcid.org/0000-0001-6966-3134 Bin Wang D https://orcid.org/0000-0002-5474-1002 Jianhao Lin D https://orcid.org/0000-0003-1830-9244

#### REFERENCES

- Goldring SR, Goldring MB. Clinical aspects, pathology and pathophysiology of osteoarthritis. J Musculoskelet Neuronal Interact. 2006;6:376-378.
- Peat G, McCarney R, Croft P. Knee pain and osteoarthritis in older adults: a review of community burden and current use of primary health care. Ann Rheum Dis. 2001;60:91-97.
- O'Neill TW, McCabe PS, McBeth J. Update on the epidemiology, risk factors and disease outcomes of osteoarthritis. *Best Pract Res Clin Rheumatol*. 2018;32:312-326.
- Georgiev T, Angelov AK. Modifiable risk factors in knee osteoarthritis: treatment implications. *Rheumatol Int*. 2019;39:1145-1157.
- Scanzello CR, Goldring SR. The role of synovitis in osteoarthritis pathogenesis. *Bone*. 2012;51:249-257.
- Hügle T, Geurts J, Nüesch C, Müller-Gerbl M, Valderrabano V. Aging and osteoarthritis: an inevitable encounter. J Aging Res. 2012;2012:950192.
- Hulejová H, Baresová V, Klézl Z, Polanská M, Adam M, Senolt L. Increased level of cytokines and matrix metalloproteinases in osteoarthritic subchondral bone. *Cytokine*. 2007;38:151-156.
- Zamli Z, Sharif M. Chondrocyte apoptosis: a cause or consequence of osteoarthritis. Int J Rheum Dis. 2011;14:159-166.
- Chen D, Shen J, Zhao W, et al. Osteoarthritis: toward a comprehensive understanding of pathological mechanism. *Bone Res.* 2017;5:16044.
- 10. de l'Escalopier N, Anract P, Biau D. Surgical treatments for osteoarthritis. Ann Phys Rehabil Med. 2016;59:227-233.
- 11. Filardo G, Kon E, Longo UG, et al. Non-surgical treatments for the management of early osteoarthritis. *Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc.* 2016;24:1775-1785.
- 12. Afizah H, Hui JH. Mesenchymal stem cell therapy for osteoarthritis. *J Clin Orthop Trauma*. 2016;7:177-182.
- Georgi N, van Blitterswijk C, Karperien M. Mesenchymal stromal/stem cell-or chondrocyte-seeded microcarriers as building blocks for cartilage tissue engineering. *Tissue Eng Part A*. 2014;20:2513-2523.
- Song L, Baksh D, Tuan RS. Mesenchymal stem cell-based cartilage tissue engineering: cells, scaffold and biology. *Cytotherapy*. 2004;6:596-601.
- 15. van Buul GM, Villafuertes E, Bos PK, et al. Mesenchymal stem cells secrete factors that inhibit inflammatory processes in short-term osteoarthritic synovium and cartilage explant culture. *Osteoarthritis Cartilage*. 2012;20:1186-1196.
- Wu L, Leijten JC, Georgi N, Post JN, van Blitterswijk CA, Karperien M. Trophic effects of mesenchymal stem cells increase chondrocyte proliferation and matrix formation. *Tissue Eng Part A*. 2011;17:1425-1436.
- Kim JE, Lee SM, Kim SH, et al. Effect of self-assembled peptide-mesenchymal stem cell complex on the progression of osteoarthritis in a rat model. *Int J Nanomedicine*. 2014;9(Suppl 1):141-157.
- Chiang ER, Ma HL, Wang JP, Liu CL, Chen TH, Hung SC. Allogeneic mesenchymal stem cells in combination with hyaluronic acid for the treatment of osteoarthritis in rabbits. *PLoS ONE*. 2016;11:e0149835.
- Xing D, Kwong J, Yang Z, et al. Intra-articular injection of mesenchymal stem cells in treating knee osteoarthritis: a systematic review of animal studies. Osteoarthritis Cartilage. 2018;26:445-461.
- 20. Jevotovsky DS, Alfonso AR, Einhorn TA, Chiu ES. Osteoarthritis and stem cell therapy in humans: a systematic review. Osteoarthritis Cartilage. 2018;26(6):711-729.
- 21. Xing D, Wang Q, Yang Z, et al. Mesenchymal stem cells injections for knee osteoarthritis: a systematic overview. *Rheumatol Int*. 2018;38(8):1399-1411.
- 22. Wang L, Zhao L, Detamore MS. Human umbilical cord mesenchymal stromal cells in a sandwich approach for osteochondral tissue engineering. *J Tissue Eng Regen Med*. 2011;5:712-721.

- Nagase H, Kumakura S, Shimada K. Establishment of a novel objective and quantitative method to assess pain-related behavior in monosodium iodoacetate-induced osteoarthritis in rat knee. J Pharmacol Toxicol Methods. 2012;65:29-36.
- van den Borne MP, Raijmakers NJ, Vanlauwe J, et al. International Cartilage Repair Society (ICRS) and Oswestry macroscopic cartilage evaluation scores validated for use in Autologous Chondrocyte Implantation (ACI) and microfracture. Osteoarthritis Cartilage. 2007;15:1397-1402.
- Moody HR, Heard BJ, Frank CB, Shrive NG, Oloyede AO. Investigating the potential value of individual parameters of histological grading systems in a sheep model of cartilage damage: the Modified Mankin method. J Anat. 2012;221:47-54.
- Hawker GA, Croxford R, Bierman AS, et al. All-cause mortality and serious cardiovascular events in people with hip and knee osteoarthritis: a population based cohort study. *PLoS ONE*. 2014;9:e91286.
- Koh YG, Jo SB, Kwon OR, et al. Mesenchymal stem cell injections improve symptoms of knee osteoarthritis. Arthroscopy. 2013;29:748-755.
- Davatchi F, Abdollahi BS, Mohyeddin M, Shahram F, Nikbin B. Mesenchymal stem cell therapy for knee osteoarthritis. Preliminary report of four patients. *Int J Rheum Dis*. 2011;14:211-215.
- Jo CH, Chai JW, Jeong EC, et al. Intra-articular Injection of mesenchymal stem cells for the treatment of osteoarthritis of the knee: a 2-year follow-up study. Am J Sports Med. 2017;45:2774-2783.
- ter Huurne M, Schelbergen R, Blattes R, et al. Antiinflammatory and chondroprotective effects of intraarticular injection of adipose-derived stem cells in experimental osteoarthritis. *Arthritis Rheum*. 2012;64:3604-3613.
- Horie M, Choi H, Lee RH, et al. Intra-articular injection of human mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) promote rat meniscal regeneration by being activated to express Indian hedgehog that enhances expression of type II collagen. Osteoarthritis Cartilage. 2012;20:1197-1207.

- 32. Ozeki N, Muneta T, Koga H, et al. Not single but periodic injections of synovial mesenchymal stem cells maintain viable cells in knees and inhibit osteoarthritis progression in rats. *Osteoarthritis Cartilage*. 2016;24:1061-1070.
- Murphy MB, Moncivais K, Caplan AI. Mesenchymal stem cells: environmentally responsive therapeutics for regenerative medicine. Exp Mol Med. 2013;45:e54.
- Orth P, Cucchiarini M, Kohn D, Madry H. Alterations of the subchondral bone in osteochondral repair-translational data and clinical evidence. *Eur Cell Mater.* 2013;25:299-316; discussion 314–6.
- Wang B, Liu W, Xing D, et al. Injectable nanohydroxyapatite-chitosan-gelatin micro-scaffolds induce regeneration of knee subchondral bone lesions. *Sci Rep.* 2017;7:16709.
- Kroker A, Bhatla JL, Emery CA, Manske SL, Boyd SK. Subchondral bone microarchitecture in ACL reconstructed knees of young women: a comparison with contralateral and uninjured control knees. *Bone*. 2018;111:1-8.
- Liu C, Liu C, Ren X, et al. Quantitative evaluation of subchondral bone microarchitecture in knee osteoarthritis using 3T MRI. BMC Musculoskelet Disord. 2017;18:496.
- Fu K, Robbins SR, McDougall JJ. Osteoarthritis: the genesis of pain. *Rheumatology*. 2018;57:iv43-43iv50.

How to cite this article: Xing D, Wu J, Wang B, et al. Intraarticular delivery of umbilical cord-derived mesenchymal stem cells temporarily retard the progression of osteoarthritis in a rat model. *Int J Rheum Dis*. 2020;23:778–787. <u>https://doi.</u> org/10.1111/1756-185X.13834

WILF

DOI: 10.1111/1756-185X.13843

# ORIGINAL ARTICLE

#### Rheumatic Diseases

# 🗠 📎 🛛 Wiley

# Altered protein levels in bone marrow lesions of hip osteoarthritis: Analysis by proteomics and multiplex immunoassays

Maziar Shabestari<sup>1</sup>  $\square$  | Yashar R. Shabestari<sup>1</sup>  $\square$  | Maria A. Landin<sup>1</sup>  $\square$  | Milaim Pepaj<sup>2</sup> | Timothy P. Cleland<sup>3</sup>  $\square$  | Janne E. Reseland<sup>1</sup>  $\square$  | Erik F. Eriksen<sup>4,5</sup>  $\square$ 

<sup>1</sup>Department of Biomaterials, University of Oslo, Oslo, Norway

<sup>2</sup>Department of Medical Biochemistry, Oslo University Hospital, Oslo, Norway

<sup>3</sup>Department of Chemistry, University of Texas, Austin, TX, USA

<sup>4</sup>Department of Endocrinology, Oslo University Hospital (Aker), Oslo, Norway

<sup>5</sup>Faculty of Medicine, Institue of Clinical Medicine, University of Oslo, Oslo, Norway

#### Correspondence

Maziar Shabestari, Oral Health Center of Expertise in Eastern Norway, Sørkedalsveien 10A, Oslo 0369, Norway. Email: maziars@viken.no

#### Present address

Maziar Shabestari, Oral Health Center of Expertise in Eastern Norway, Oslo, Norway Yashar R. Shabestari, Vinterbro Tannlegesenter, Ås, Norway Timothy P. Cleland, Museum Conservation Institute, Smithsonian Institution, Suitland, MD, USA

#### **Funding Information**

This work was supported by a grant from Helse Sør-Øst, a regional health authority in Norway (No. 2011047). TPC acknowledges post-doctoral fellowship support from NIH K12GM102745.

#### Abstract

**Aim:** To assess tissue level changes of proteome and cytokine profiles of subchondral bone in hip osteoarthritis (OA) affected by bone marrow lesions (BMLs). We compared significant protein level differences in osteoarthritic bone with BMLs to control bone without bone marrow lesions.

**Methods:** Subchondral bone biopsies were taken from femoral heads of end-stage osteoarthritis patients with (BML, n = 21) and without (CON, n = 9) BMLs. Proteins were extracted through a standardized Trizol protocol and used in the subsequent analyses. Angiogenesis and bone markers were assessed using multiplex immuno-assays (Luminex). Liquid chromatography tandem mass spectrometry (LC-MS/MS) was performed to detect significant differences in proteome and peptide profiles between BML and CON.

**Results:** Multiplex immunoassays revealed increased tissue contents of vascular endothelial growth factors (VEGF-A/C/D), endothelin-1, angiopoietin-2 and interleukin-6 (IL-6) in bone with BMLs compared to control bone, whereas osteoprotegerin levels were reduced. Mass spectrometry demonstrated pronounced increase in the levels of hemoglobin (73-fold), serum albumin (30-fold), alpha-1-antitrypsin (9-fold), apolipoprotein A1 (4.7-fold), pre-laminin-A/C (3.7-fold) and collagen-alpha1-XII (3fold) in BMLs, while aggrecan core protein (ACAN) and hyaluronan and proteoglycan link protein 1 (HAPL1) decreased 37- and 29-fold respectively.

**Conclusion:** Reduced osteoprotegerin, ACAN and HAPL1 are consistent with osteoclastic activation and high remodeling activity in BMLs. The pronounced increase in angiogenesis markers, hemoglobin and serum albumin support the presence of increased vascularity in subchondral bone affected by BMLs in OA. VEGFs and IL-6 are known nociceptive modulators, and increased levels are in keeping with pain being a clinical feature frequently associated with BMLs.

This is an open access article under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivs License, which permits use and distribution in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited, the use is non-commercial and no modifications or adaptations are made. © 2020 Asia Pacific League of Associations for Rheumatology and John Wiley & Sons Australia, Ltd

🐵 👰 – Wiley–

#### KEYWORDS

angiogenesis, bone marrow lesions, bone proteomics, multiplex immunoassays, osteoarthritis pain

# 1 | INTRODUCTION

Substantial challenges in early diagnosis and treatment of osteoarthritis (OA) still prevail. This is partly due to continued dispute regarding the relative roles of bone and cartilage in OA pathogenesis and limitations of diagnostic tools, including relevant imaging modalities (radiography and magnetic resonance imaging [MRI]).<sup>1,2</sup> These limitations have led to the search for new biomarkers, including markers of bone, cartilage and synovial metabolism.<sup>3</sup> Despite evidence of differential expression of a number of genes between early and late OA, there is considerable overlap in the activated biological pathways.<sup>4</sup> Therefore, combined use of several markers seems to be necessary to facilitate early detection and improve the prediction of disease progression.<sup>1</sup>

Significant research activity has centered around identifying different phenotypes of OA and several clinical phenotypes have been described, including chronic pain, inflammatory mechanisms, metabolic disturbances of bone and cartilage local to the joint, metabolic syndrome, mechanical overload, and other phenotypes have been suggested.<sup>5,6</sup> OA affects the change of every articular tissue over time, leading to different clinical phenotypes depending on the most damaged tissue at any given time. When subchondral bone injury is the main event, bone pain due to bone marrow lesions (BMLs) is the prominent manifestation and is expressed as the typical water signal on MRI.<sup>7</sup> Classification based on the underlying disease process in bone, might therefore be valuable to further elucidate OA pathophysiology and to optimize patient selection for treatment.

Using MRI, BMLs have been observed in a wide range of non-inflammatory and degenerative pathologies, prompting the notion that BMLs may represent a universal response to injury.<sup>8</sup> BMLs are seen in up to 80% of symptomatic hip and knee OA patients<sup>9,10</sup> and their association with OA pain and progression is well established, making BMLs an imaging biomarker for OA.<sup>11</sup> This prompted us to look for other, molecular biomarkers of OA progression in BMLs. The purpose of this study was therefore to compare osteoarthritic samples with and without bone marrow lesions with respect to protein levels using shotgun proteomics and the bone and angiogenesis multiplex panels in the Luminex system.

# 2 | METHODS

# 2.1 | Study population

The study population consisted of cases (BML) and controls (CON), and the characteristics of the subjects in each group are presented in Table 1. In brief, 30 patients with end-stage primary

hip OA were recruited. This study population had a mean age of 64.2 ( $\pm$ 9.9) years and met American College of Rheumatology criteria for OA.<sup>12</sup>

Among the 30 patients recruited, nine femoral heads were found to be without BMLs. These participants had a mean age of 62.2 (±12) years and were considered as controls. Comparison of mean age and body mass index between BML and CON revealed no significant differences. The study was approved by the Regional Committees for Medical and Health Research Ethics in south-east Norway (2011/1089/REK). All patients were given oral and written information, and written informed consent was obtained from each of the participant patients, in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki.

#### 2.2 | Sample preparation

Protein fractions were extracted from pulverized and homogenized subchondral bone biopsies taken out of the femoral heads. The extraction site for the biopsies was determined by visual evaluation of MRI (Figure 1) in coronal and axial planes as described elsewhere.<sup>13</sup> In brief, regions of subchondral bone affected by BMLs were demarcated in pairs of images from each plane prior to excision of the core biopsies. Articular cartilage was removed, and the bone tissue samples were snap-frozen with liquid nitrogen and ground manually using mortar and pestle. For each patient sample, proteins from two samples of 100 mg of homogenized bone were extracted using Trizol (Thermo Fisher Scientific) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Total protein content in each sample was measured using the BCA-assay (BCA Protein Assay kit; Thermo Fisher Scientific).

# 2.3 | Quantification of cytokines and angiogenesis markers

The levels of dickkopf-related protein 1 (DKK-1), fibroblast growth factor 23 (FGF-23), interleukin-1 $\beta$  (IL-1 $\beta$ ), IL-6, insulin, leptin, osteocalcin (OC), osteopontin, (OPN), osteoprotegerin (OPG), sclerostin (SOST),

TΑ	BLE	1	Characteristics	of the	e study	population
----	-----	---	-----------------	--------	---------	------------

Patients with hip OA	Without BMLs (n = 9)	With BMLs (n = 21)
Age, y	62.1 (±12.1)	65.3 (±9.1)
Female, %	67	52
Body mass index, kg/m <sup>2</sup>	27.8 (±5.0)	25.9 (±4.3)

Abbreviations: BMLs, bone marrow lesions; OA, osteoarthritis.



**FIGURE 1** Biopsy site. The excision site of the biopsies (red circles) was determined by visual evaluation of MRI in coronal and axial planes. Regions of subchondral bone affected by BMLs were demarcated in three sequential images from each plane prior to excision of the core biopsies

parathyroid hormone (PTH), angiopoietin-2, endoglin, endothelin-1, vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF)-A, VEGF-C and VEGF-D were quantified using a human bone (HBNMAG-51K) and angiogenesis panel (HAGP1MAG-12K) in the Luminex-200 system (Luminex). Assays were performed according to the manufacturers' instructions.

# 2.4 | Proteomics by liquid chromatography - tandem mass spectrometry (LC-MS/MS)

# 2.4.1 | Precipitation

Protein extracts from individual samples in each group, CON and BML, were pooled prior to precipitation with 4 volumes of cold (-20°C) acetone. Next, the samples were centrifuged at 13 000 g for 25 minutes, and the protein pellets were dissolved in 250  $\mu$ L of denaturing buffer (8 mol/L urea in 50 mmol/L tetraethylammonium bromide [TEAB], pH 8.5). Total protein concentrations were measured by a colorimetric protein assay using a microplate absorbance reader (Tecan Austria GmbH). Dilutions of  $\gamma$ -microglobulin (Bio-Rad) were used as standards.

# 2.4.2 | Digestion

The protein extracts were reduced by adding 25  $\mu$ L of 100 mmol/L dithiothreitol (DTT) solution to a final concentration of 10 mmol/L, and incubated for 1 hour at 37°C. Alkylations of free sulfhydryl groups were done by adding 22  $\mu$ L of 250 mmol/L iodoacetamide (IAA) solution to a final concentration of 20 mmol/L, and incubated at 25°C for 45 minutes in the dark. Urea concentration was reduced in the samples by adding 750  $\mu$ L of 50 mmol/L TEAB (pH 8.5) buffer, prior to digestion. Enzymatic digestion was performed with Lys-C/ trypsin for 6 hours at 37°C. The digested samples were dried under nitrogen stream.

# 2.4.3 | Dimethyl labeling

Protein extracts were dimethyl labeled using isotopomers of formaldehyde (CH<sub>2</sub>O) and sodium cyanoborohydride (NaBH<sub>3</sub>CN).<sup>14</sup> Briefly, digested samples from each group were dissolved in 250  $\mu$ L of 100 mmol/L TEAB buffer (pH 8.5). One hundred and forty microliters of 4% (v/v) CH<sub>2</sub>O (light label) were added to the control group and 140  $\mu$ L of CD<sub>2</sub>O (intermediate label) were added to the stimulated group. Then, 140  $\mu$ L of 0.6 mol/L NaBH<sub>3</sub>CN were added and the samples were incubated under rotation for 1 hour at 22°C. The labeling reaction was quenched by adding 560  $\mu$ L of 1% (v/v) ammonia solution, mixed, followed by brief centrifugation. Further quenching and acidification were performed by adding 280  $\mu$ L of 5% formic acid. The labeled samples were then mixed in 1:1 ratio, evaporated and dissolved in 0.1% formic acid before nano-LC-MS/MS analysis.

# 2.4.4 | Nano-LC-MS/MS

Tryptic digest separation of protein extracts was performed on a PepMap RSLC EASY-Spray C18 column (2 μm, 100 Å, 75 μm × 150 mm) using the EASY-neck 1000 nano ultra-high-performance LC system (ThermoFisher Scientific) connected to an LTQ-Orbitrap XL hybrid MS (Thermo Fisher Scientific) equipped with a nano EASY-Spray source (Thermo Fisher Scientific). The analytical separation was run for 180 minutes using a multi-step gradient of 0.1% formic acid in water as solvent (A), and 0.1% formic acid in acetonitrile as solvent (B). From 0% to 25% eluent B was used in 150 minutes and 25%-60% B in 20 minutes followed by 60% B in 10 minutes at a flow rate of 300 nL/min and a column temperature at 45°C. The mass spectrometer was operated in positive mode with a spray voltage set at 2.0 kV and the heated capillary temperature was kept at 200°C. The LTQ-Orbitrap XL was operated in data-dependent mode in which 1 cycle of experiments consisted of one full-MS survey scan using the Orbitrap mass analyzer and subsequently 5 sequential MS/MS events of the most intense peaks using collision-induced dissociation in the LTQ. The MS survey scans were performed on the high-resolution Orbitrap (R = 30 000) with a m/z range of 350-2000. Precursor ions with charge 1 or unassigned charge were rejected, and the isolation width was set to 3 m/z.

# 2.4.5 | Data analysis

Raw files were evaluated against a UniProt human database (June 2015) using Sequest HT in Proteome Discoverer 1.4 (Thermo Scientific). Precursor and fragment mass tolerances were set to

10 ppm and 0.6 Da, respectively. Only the peptides resulting from the tryptic cleavages were used, and 2 missed cleavage sites were allowed. Carbamidomethylation of cysteine (+57.021 Da) was selected as a fixed modification. The variable modifications were as follows: +15.995 Da for methionine oxidation, +28.031 for dimethyl (K and N-term) light label and +32.056 for dimethyl (K and N-term) intermediate label. Peptide and protein false discovery rates were set to 1% using default filters. Dimethyl datasets were quantified using peak area with the precursor ions guantifier node integrated in Proteome Discoverer with RT tolerance of isotope pattern multiplets set to 1 minute. To correct for possible experimental bias, protein ratio distribution was normalized on protein median. The cut-off ratio for upand downregulated proteins was set at  $\geq 2.0$  and  $\leq 0.5$ . respectively. Abundance ratios for proteins reported as differentially expressed in this study were confirmed by manual inspection of the MS spectra intensities of the labeled peptide pairs. Briefly, the criteria for passing the manual inspection were as follows: (a) signal-to-noise ratios of both light and intermediate labeled peptide pairs  $\geq$  20; (b) light and intermediate labeled peptide ion spectra must show similar isotope patterns and expected mass shift between doublet clusters. Only unique peptides were considered for protein guantification.

# 2.5 | Statistics

Patient age, body mass index and Luminex results were compared between BML and CON using one-way analysis of variance followed by Šídák's test for multiple comparisons. Normality was checked using D'Agostino-Pearson omnibus and Shapiro-Wilk tests. Values are presented as mean (SD) unless stated otherwise. In all instances, significance was assigned to P < .05.

# 2.6 | Bioinformatics

In order to find known and predicted functional associations between differentially expressed proteins in the dataset, we used STRING database (Search Tool for the Retrieval of Interacting Genes/ Proteins).<sup>15,16</sup> Each set of differentially upregulated/downregulated proteins where uploaded individually using the UniProt accession number, the number of K-clusters was set to 6 and stringency was set to high to correlate detailed biological information from the genes encoding the differentially expressed proteins. Gene Ontology term enrichment analysis was modified with Fisher exact *P* value (*P* = 0 [perfect enrichment] and *P* < .05 [strongly enriched]) was performed.

# 3 | RESULTS

# 3.1 | Cytokines and angiogenesis marker levels

Luminex multiplex immunoassays demonstrated reduced tissue levels of OPG (Figure 2A), and increased levels of IL-6 and the International Journal of Rheumatic Diseases 🐵 📎 – Wiley

angiogenesis markers VEGF-A, VEGF-C, VEGF-D, endothelin-1 and angiopoietin-2 (Figure 2B), in hips with BMLs compared to those without. No statistically significant differences were found for endoglin, leptin, DKK-1, OPN, SOST, PTH, FGF-23 or insulin between the 2 groups (Figure 2A). For many of the samples within both groups, the values for OC and IL-1 $\beta$  were found to be above and below the upper and lower values of the standard curve ranges of the assay, respectively. Therefore, no meaningful interpretation could be made for these factors.

# 3.2 | Significant differential changes in BML proteomic profiles

In total, 106 proteins were differentially expressed in BMLs; 23 proteins were significantly (P < .05) upregulated while 20 were downregulated in BML compared to CON (Figure 3). Several proteins were markedly upregulated in the BML group, with hemoglobin subunit beta, serum albumin and immunoglobulin G1 (IgG1) chain C region exhibiting the highest upregulation, with 73- and 30- and 12-fold increases, respectively. The remaining upregulated proteins in BML showed foldchanges between 12 and 2. On the other hand, fibromodulin and the cartilage-derived proteins, hyaluronan and proteoglycan link protein 1 (HAPL1) and aggrecan core protein, were downregulated 27-, 29- and 37-fold in BML compared to CON (Figure 3).

Bioinformatic analysis of differentially expressed proteins in BMLs indicated that most upregulated proteins were derived from red blood cells, serum, and plasma (Figure 4D-G). Moreover, upregulated peptides in BMLs had several biological functions. This included immunoglobulin kappa variable 3-20 (IGKV3-20), immunoglobulin kappa constant (IGKC), serine (or cysteine) peptidase inhibitor, clade F, member 1 (SERPINF1), apolipoprotein A-I (APOA1), apolipoprotein A-II (APOA2), transthyretin (TTR) and collagen type VI, alpha 3 (COL6A3) as signal peptides (Figure 4D). Some of the upregulated proteins were membrane components, including glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH), profilin 1 (PFN1), ribosomal protein SA (RPSA), hemoglobin alpha 1 (HBA1) (Figure 4F). Others were associated with extracellular region, that is immunoglobulin lambda constant 2 (IGLC2), immunoglobulin heavy chain (gamma polypeptide 2) (IGHG2) and albumin (Figure 4D). Few of the upregulated proteins were part of the extra cellular matrix (ECM), that is COL6A3, collagen type XII alpha 1 (COL12A1) and SERPINA1 (Figure 4G). Some peptides were significantly (P < .01) associated with phagocytosis, proteolysis, receptor-mediated endocytosis (Figure 3E). Downregulated proteins were mainly components of the ECM, including versican, collagen type I alpha 2 chain (COL1A2), clusterin (CLU), azurocidin 1 (AZU1), cathepsin G (CTSG), elastase, neutrophil expressed, heat shock factor binding protein 1 (HSBP1) (Figure 4A), signal peptides such as HSBP1, HtrA serine peptidase 1 (HTRA1), calgranulin A (S100A8) (Figure 4B), regulators of apoptosis, including S100 calcium binding protein A8 (calgranulin A) (S100A8), CLU and HSBP1 (Figure 4B) and participants in epigenetic regulation



FIGURE 2 Cytokine and angiogenesis marker levels. Biomarker levels are assessed by Luminex in hips with (red) and without (black) BMLs. Total protein is given by logarithmic transformation of  $\mu g/mL$  protein. Cytokine and angiogenesis marker levels are given by logarithmic transformation of pg/mg bone tissue. DKK-1, dickkopf-related protein 1; FGF-23, fibroblast growth factor 23; IL-6, interleukin-6; OPG, osteoprotegerin; OPN, osteopontin; PTH, parathyroid hormone; SOST, sclerostin; VEGF, vascular endothelial growth factor. Multiplicity-adjusted P-values:  $P_1 = <.001$ ,  $P_2 = .006$ ,  $P_3 = .007$ ,  $P_4 = .002$ 

of transcription: histone cluster 1, H1c (HIST1HC), histone cluster 1, H1b (HIST1HB), H3 histone family member 3A (H3F3A) and HSPB1 (Figure 4C). An overview over networks of protein-protein interactions and the biological or cellular processes associated with upregulated and downregulated proteins in this study are listed in Figure 5A,B respectively.

#### DISCUSSION 4

Bone plays an essential role in OA pathophysiology and the presence of BMLs in the subchondral bone is associated with pain, disease progression and important disease outcomes such as cartilage loss and joint replacement surgery.<sup>7,17</sup> These outcomes may be a consequence of dysregulated repair mechanisms associated with increased remodeling due to microdamage of subchondral bone tissue with BMLs. Our proteomics and multiplex data demonstrate significant differences in protein levels in hip bone affected by OA and BMLs. These differences indicate a central role for BMLs in the overarching context of OA pathogenesis. Biological pathways for angiogenesis, nociception and cartilage degeneration implicated by our findings are discussed in the two sections below.

#### Markers of angiogenesis and pain 4.1

Biomarkers in subchondral bone with osteoarthritic BMLs have not been measured previously. Despite the absence of directly comparable studies, our finding of increased expression of IL-6 in bone

tissue with BMLs is in line with previous clinical research indicating its involvement in OA pain<sup>18</sup> and several key elements of OA pathogenesis. IL-6 has been suggested to be as potent as VEGF in inducing vessel-sprouting.<sup>19</sup> The pro-inflammatory role of IL-6 in OA has been demonstrated in animal models, and increased levels have been found in non-calcified joint tissue.<sup>20-22</sup> Serum levels of IL-6 are associated with increased knee BMLs in both women and men with OA.<sup>23</sup> Our results are in line with other studies by demonstrating that levels of IL-6 are also increased in subchondral bone of the affected joints contributing to pathological angiogenesis and pain (Figure 6). IL-6 induces angiogenesis and activation of the Janusactivated kinase–Signal transducer and activator of transcription 3 signaling pathway, which is also activated by VEGF.<sup>19,24,25</sup> IL-6 also induces matrix metalloproteinases, which play a role in ECM degradation.<sup>26,27</sup> In arthritis, IL-6 signaling in sensory neurons plays a role in nociception by increasing inflammatory swelling.<sup>28</sup> Similarly, increased levels of IL-6 are related to pain caused by bone metastasis.<sup>29</sup> Molecular mechanisms related to angiogenesis and pain, therefore, share common pathways, which may exert synergistic effects in arthritis. The role of IL-6 in serum as a biomarker for pain and progression of OA and cartilage loss has been demonstrated.<sup>30,31</sup> However, longitudinal studies are still needed to determine possible correlations between cytokine levels and measures of disease progression or severity. Interactions between the structural changes seen in the advanced states of the disease and the inflammatory response in the subchondral bone also need further investigation.

In the VEGF family, VEGF-A is the most widely studied and targeted isoform in the context of OA pathogenesis. Increased VEGF levels have been observed in osteoblasts from patients undergoing



**FIGURE 3** Differentially regulated proteins. Protein levels in BML are illustrated as fold-changes compared to CON. Upregulated proteins are represented by the rows in red and the downregulated ones in blue

total hip replacement,<sup>32</sup> cartilage, synovial fluid, serum and meniscus of OA patients.<sup>33</sup> Our observation of increased levels of all major isoforms of the VEGF family is therefore in agreement with previous studies, and supports our earlier findings of increased angiogenesis in BMLs. The proteins and growth factors involved in blood vessel growth, for example angiopoietins and the VEGF family, may contribute to inflammation.<sup>34,35</sup> Delivery of progenitor cells via blood vessels plays a central role in endochondral ossification and perturbation of blood vessel growth, potentially through inflammatory pathways which may lead to structural disease progression. Neovascularization may also be linked to pain, because it is accompanied by the growth of sensory nerves that penetrate non-calcified articular cartilage, osteophytes and the inner regions of menisci<sup>36</sup> The influence of VEGF on pain may occur indirectly from VEGF-mediated stimulation of angiogenesis and sensory neurogenesis or inflammation. Additionally, VEGF may be acting directly on sensory neurons to produce

nociceptive sensitization. VEGF, VEGFR1, and VEGFR2 signaling have been directly associated with hyperexcitability of sensory neurons, and inhibition of VEGF signaling led to reduction of pain sensitivity.<sup>33</sup> Therefore, angiogenesis is associated with OA pain and represents a possible therapeutic target.<sup>37</sup> Mice with increased expression of VEGF-C in bone exhibit increased osteoclast number, bone loss, lymphatic vessels in bone and a similar phenotype to Gorham-Stout disease. Individuals with this disease demonstrate massive bone loss associated with a profound angiomatosis of blood/lymphatic vessels in their bones.<sup>38</sup> VEGF-D is closely related to VEGF-C, and both have N- and C-terminal extensions that are not found in other VEGF family members. VEGF-D is a ligand for the tyrosine kinases VEGFR-2 (Flk1) and VEGFR-3 (Ftl4). However, specific biological effects of increased levels of VEGF-D in bone are unknown, and the molecular effects of anti-VEGF antibody targeting nociceptive signaling sensitized by VEGF in OA pain remain to be established.



3







**FIGURE 4** Functional annotation clustering of differentially regulated proteins in BML compared to CON. The heat map shows the protein-coding genes and their significant associated annotation term for the upregulated (red) or downregulated (green) proteins. Red/ green squares: corresponding gene term association positively reported in the literature. White squares: corresponding gene-term association not reported yet

#### SHABESTARI ET AL.



VILEY-Rheumatic Diseases

**FIGURE 5** Protein-protein interaction networks. The network nodes represent the downregulated (A) and upregulated (B) proteins. The edges show protein-protein interactions with predicted functional partners. Blue lines represent known protein-protein interactions from curated databases. Purple lines represent experimentally determined interactions. Green lines represent gene neighborhood, while fading, grey lines represent protein homology. Black lines represent co-expression



**FIGURE 6** The biological role of differentially regulated cytokines and proteins in BMLs. The figure represents an overview of the differentially regulated cytokines and proteins in the biological context of angiogenesis, pain and bone remodeling

# 4.2 | Markers of extracellular matrix turnover

Previous attempts to identify changes in protein levels associated with OA and BMLs have relied on standard biochemical assays measuring markers of bone, cartilage, and synovium turnover in serum and/or urine,<sup>39,40</sup> without direct measurements of protein levels in bone tissue. These studies have shown increases in serum hyaluronan (HA) (+233%),<sup>40</sup> serum cartilage oligomeric matrix protein (COMP; +16%)<sup>40</sup> and increases in urinary N-terminal telopeptide of collagen I (NTx).<sup>39</sup> However, the observed increase in NTx contradicted the observed decline in other bone turnover markers, including C-terminal collagen crosslinks in both serum and urine and decreased serum osteocalcin, in patients with knee OA.<sup>40</sup> Therefore, direct measurement of the bone protein content as performed in the current study may more accurately reflect tissue level changes of the

proteome and underlying molecular mechanisms in bone affected by BMLs.

Detection of some upregulated proteins usually present in blood in high concentrations (hemoglobin, serum albumin, IgG) is consistent with previous findings using immunohistochemical methods where there is a 4-fold increase of vascularity within BML compared to CON bone.<sup>13</sup> IL-6 may also be implicated in the crosstalk between bone and cartilage, as it has been shown that it induces a phenotype in normal osteoblasts similar to what is observed in osteoblasts from sclerotic subchondral bone of OA patients. These osteoblasts downregulated aggrecan but upregulate metalloproteinase expression by chondrocytes in vitro.<sup>41</sup> IL-6 also alters expression of different chemokines, such as regulated and normal T cell expressed and secreted, and monocyte chemoattractant protein-1.<sup>42</sup> Our observations of reduced aggrecan core protein and increased IL-6 levels in BMLs would be in keeping with BMLs being involved in cartilage degradation.

Our bioinformatics results suggest that many downregulated proteins (collagen I alpha 1 and alpha 2, biglycan, aggrecan core protein, COMP, chondroadherin [CHAD]) probably reflect the loss of bone extracellular matrix. We observed for instance a 10-fold decrease of COMP in the BML compared to CON bone samples. COMP plays a role in the structural integrity of cartilage via its interaction with other extracellular matrix proteins such as collagens and fibronectin. This interaction of chondrocytes with the extracellular matrix of cartilage is mediated through interaction with cell surface integrin receptors.<sup>43</sup> Downregulation of COMP in BMLs may play a role in the pathogenesis of OA as COMP is a potent suppressor of apoptosis in primary chondrocytes by blocking the activation of caspase-3 and by inducing the Inhibitor of Apoptosis family of proteins. Previous studies show increased serum COMP in OA and indicate increased cartilage turnover, potentially leading to the elimination of cartilage matrix proteins through the increased vascularity. CHAD promotes attachment of chondrocytes, fibroblasts, and osteoblasts. CHADdeficient mice show altered cartilage biomechanical properties<sup>44</sup> and bone turnover,<sup>45</sup> indicating its potential role in OA.

Collagen I was also decreased in bone with BMLs, while collagen type XII was increased. Type XII interacts with type I collagen-containing fibrils via the COL1 domain and may be associated with the surface of the fibrils, and the COL2 and NC3 domains may be localized in the perifibrillar matrix. These finding are in agreement with increased bone resorption as reflected in elevated urinary NTx levels.<sup>39</sup> The decrease in cartilage-associated proteins<sup>46</sup> is consistent with the previous reports<sup>40</sup> where loss of proteins controlling HA levels in cartilage and bone is a possible mechanism underlying the increase in serum HA.

Endochondral bone formation as a response to microdamage in subchondral bone has been suggested to be associated with OA initiation and progression.<sup>47</sup> Proteins primarily associated with cartilage may have shared functions in bone. The cartilage-associated protein HAPL1, for instance, stabilizes aggregates of aggrecan and HA, giving cartilage its tensile strength and elasticity. Mutations in HAPL1 of developing mice resulted in defects in cartilage development and delayed bone formation.<sup>48</sup> The observed downregulation of HAPL1 and other proteins shared by cartilage and bone matrix in the current investigation may therefore reflect altered cartilage properties and pathological endochondral bone formation. Enhanced angiogenesis, as observed histologically in advanced hip OA<sup>13</sup> may contribute to the observed reduction in ECM-derived proteins and promote alterations of the mechanical properties of the newly formed bone.

Small leucine-rich proteoglycans (SLRP) like biglycan and fibromodulin are essential in ECM turnover. They interact with collagen fibrils and limit the access of the collagenases to their cleavage sites. SLRP have been shown to be involved in OA pathogenesis, with the evidence mostly coming from knockout mouse models.<sup>49</sup> Biglycan deficiency increases osteoclast differentiation and activity due to defective osteoblasts<sup>50</sup> and fibromodulin affects the rate of fibril 797

🗠 📎 – Wiley

formation in collagen fibrillogenesis.<sup>51</sup> Our observation of a pronounced downregulation of fibromodulin and biglycan supports increased collagenase activity in BMLs, and is also in agreement with the histological observation of increased bone turnover<sup>13</sup> suggesting altered ECM composition. Peptides or proteins that are associated with programmed cell death, for example CLU (clusterin), that interact with APOA1 and PON1 were also downregulated.<sup>52,53</sup>

Monitoring or targeting SLRPs may offer new prognostic or therapeutic modalities for OA.<sup>49</sup> Downregulation of histones (HIST1HC, HIST1HB, H3F3A and HSPB1) indicate a perturbation in epigenetic regulation of transcription. Nucleosomes are the basic units of chromatin and are connected to one another by linker DNA which are bound by H1. These histone variants play significant roles in modulating the chromatin architecture, thereby influencing important biological processes. Serine peptidase 1 (HTRA1) is a highly conserved family of serine proteases found downregulated in many pathologies by epigenetic mechanisms.<sup>54</sup> It is also known that the loss of HTRA1 function in cells causes increased rates of proliferation, delayed onset of senescence, centrosome amplification, and polyploidy that suggest HTRA1 implication in regulation of the cell cycle.<sup>55</sup>

It is a strength of this study that bone samples from the same hips were previously characterized using immunohistochemistry and bone histomorphometry and compared to results from the present study. The correlation between results of the different analysis methods may add to the validity and reliability of the findings from the current study. Another strength of this study is the tissue level analysis of the subchondral bone compared to previous studies which were based on serum, urine or soft tissue samples. However, this study also has several shortcomings. It would have been advantageous to include samples from less severe stages of OA. Another limitation is the inability to compare the levels of proteins detected using Luminex to the proteins detected by the proteomic analysis.

# 5 | CONCLUSION

Our results support the notion that BMLs in advanced OA cause pronounced alternations in the proteome and cytokine profile of the subchondral bone. The alterations in protein levels in BMLs demonstrated in the present study may partly explain the association between the repair response to biomechanical injury in subchondral bone, progression of cartilage loss and the development of OA pain. Further research is required to verify these findings and to explore the temporal and spatial relation between the reported changes and the progression of osteoarthritis in the affected joint.

# ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We are grateful to the patients who consented to participate in the present study. We also thank Dr Jarle Vik for the enrolment of the patients and the staff at Martina Hansen Hospital whose help has been essential to the transportation of the patients for MRI and for bone tissue acquisition.

# Rheumatic Diseases

#### CONFLICT OF INTEREST

The authors declare they have no conflicts of interest.

## AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

MS and EFE made substantial contributions to the conception and design of this study. MS, YRS and MP conducted the experiments. MS, YRS, ML, MP, TCP analyzed and interpreted the data, and drafted the manuscript. JER and EFE participated in the interpretation of the data and coordination of the study. All the co-authors were involved in drafting the manuscript or revising it critically for important intellectual content and all approved the submitted and final versions.

# ORCID

Maziar Shabestari b https://orcid.org/0000-0003-1378-218X Yashar R. Shabestari https://orcid.org/0000-0002-1150-9086 Maria A. Landin https://orcid.org/0000-0002-9674-7728 Timothy P. Cleland https://orcid.org/0000-0001-9198-2828 Janne E. Reseland https://orcid.org/0000-0001-5743-4297 Erik F. Eriksen https://orcid.org/0000-0002-5945-722X

# REFERENCES

- 1. Rousseau J, Garnero P. Biological markers in osteoarthritis. *Bone*. 2012;51(2):265-277.
- Burr DB, Gallant MA. Bone remodelling in osteoarthritis. Nat Rev Rheumatol. 2012;8(11):665-673.
- Blanco FJ. Osteoarthritis year in review 2014: we need more biochemical biomarkers in qualification phase. Osteoarthritis Cartilage. 2014;22(12):2025-2032.
- Wanner J, Subbaiah R, Skomorovska-Prokvolit Y, et al. Proteomic profiling and functional characterization of early and late shoulder osteoarthritis. Arthritis Res Ther. 2013;15(6):R180.
- van der Esch M, Knoop J, van der Leeden M, et al. Clinical phenotypes in patients with knee osteoarthritis: a study in the Amsterdam osteoarthritis cohort. Osteoarthritis Cartilage. 2015;23(4):544-549.
- Deveza LA, Melo L, Yamato TP, Mills K, Ravi V, Hunter DJ. Knee osteoarthritis phenotypes and their relevance for outcomes: a systematic review. Osteoarthritis Cartilage. 2017;25(12):1926-1941.
- Barr AJ, Campbell TM, Hopkinson D, Kingsbury SR, Bowes MA, Conaghan PG. A systematic review of the relationship between subchondral bone features, pain and structural pathology in peripheral joint osteoarthritis. *Arthritis Res Ther.* 2015;17:228.
- Eriksen EF, Ringe JD. Bone marrow lesions: a universal bone response to injury? *Rheumatol Int*. 2012;32(3):575-584.
- Felson DT, Chaisson CE, Hill CL, et al. The association of bone marrow lesions with pain in knee osteoarthritis. *Ann Intern Med.* 2001;134(7):541-549.
- Garnero P, Peterfy C, Zaim S, Schoenharting M. Bone marrow abnormalities on magnetic resonance imaging are associated with type II collagen degradation in knee osteoarthritis: a three-month longitudinal study. *Arthritis Rheum*. 2005;52(9):2822-2829.
- Kim IJ, Kim DH, Jung JY, et al. Association between bone marrow lesions detected by magnetic resonance imaging and knee pain in community residents in Korea. Osteoarthritis Cartilage. 2013;21(9):1207-1213.
- 12. Altman R, Alarcon G, Appelrouth D, et al. The American College of Rheumatology criteria for the classification and reporting of osteoarthritis of the hip. *Arthritis Rheum*. 1991;34(5):505-514.

- Shabestari M, Vik J, Reseland JE, Eriksen EF. Bone marrow lesions in hip osteoarthritis are characterized by increased bone turnover and enhanced angiogenesis. Osteoarthritis Cartilage. 2016;24(10):1745-1752.
- Hsu JL, Huang SY, Chow NH, Chen SH. Stable-isotope dimethyl labeling for quantitative proteomics. *Anal Chem.* 2003;75(24):6843-6852.
- Szklarczyk D, Franceschini A, Wyder S, et al. STRING v10: protein-protein interaction networks, integrated over the tree of life. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 2015;43(Database issue):D447-D452.
- Franceschini A, Szklarczyk D, Frankild S, et al. STRING v9.1: protein-protein interaction networks, with increased coverage and integration. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 2013;41(Database issue):D808-D815.
- 17. Dore DA. The role of subchrondral bone in osteoarthritis. 2011.
- Radojcic MR, Thudium CS, Henriksen K, et al. Biomarker of extracellular matrix remodelling C1M and proinflammatory cytokine interleukin 6 are related to synovitis and pain in end-stage knee osteoarthritis patients. *Pain*. 2017;158(7):1254-1263.
- Gopinathan G, Milagre C, Pearce OM, et al. Interleukin-6 stimulates defective angiogenesis. *Can Res.* 2015;75(15):3098-3107.
- Huebner JL, Kraus VB. Assessment of the utility of biomarkers of osteoarthritis in the guinea pig. Osteoarthritis Cartilage. 2006;14(9):923-930.
- Maccoux LJ, Salway F, Day PJ, Clements DN. Expression profiling of select cytokines in canine osteoarthritis tissues. *Vet Immunol Immunopathol.* 2007;118(1-2):59-67.
- Ley C, Ekman S, Elmen A, Nilsson G, Eloranta ML. Interleukin-6 and tumour necrosis factor in synovial fluid from horses with carpal joint pathology. J Vet Med A Physiol Pathol Clin Med. 2007;54(7):346-351.
- Zhu Z, Otahal P, Wang B, et al. Cross-sectional and longitudinal associations between serum inflammatory cytokines and knee bone marrow lesions in patients with knee osteoarthritis. Osteoarthritis Cartilage. 2017;25(4):499-505.
- Heinrich PC, Behrmann I, Haan S, Hermanns HM, Muller-Newen G, Schaper F. Principles of interleukin (IL)-6-type cytokine signalling and its regulation. *Biochem J.* 2003;374:1-20.
- Bartoli M, Platt D, Lemtalsi T, et al. VEGF differentially activates STAT3 in microvascular endothelial cells. FASEB Journal. 2003;17(11):1562-1564.
- Stone AV, Loeser RF, Vanderman KS, Long DL, Clark SC, Ferguson CM. Pro-inflammatory stimulation of meniscus cells increases production of matrix metalloproteinases and additional catabolic factors involved in osteoarthritis pathogenesis. Osteoarthritis Cartilage. 2014;22(2):264-274.
- 27. Chen L, Li DQ, Zhong J, et al. IL-17RA aptamer-mediated repression of IL-6 inhibits synovium inflammation in a murine model of osteoarthritis. *Osteoarthritis Cartilage*. 2011;19(6):711-718.
- Ebbinghaus M, Segond von Banchet G, Massier J, et al. Interleukin-6-dependent influence of nociceptive sensory neurons on antigen-induced arthritis. Arthritis Res Ther. 2015;17:334.
- 29. Zhou YQ, Liu Z, Liu ZH, et al. Interleukin-6: an emerging regulator of pathological pain. *J Neuroinflammation*. 2016;13(1):141.
- Stannus OP, Jones G, Blizzard L, Cicuttini FM, Ding C. Associations between serum levels of inflammatory markers and change in knee pain over 5 years in older adults: a prospective cohort study. Ann Rheum Dis. 2013;72(4):535-540.
- Livshits G, Zhai G, Hart DJ, et al. Interleukin-6 is a significant predictor of radiographic knee osteoarthritis: The Chingford study. *Arthritis Rheum*. 2009;60(7):2037-2045.
- Corrado A, Neve A, Cantatore FP. Expression of vascular endothelial growth factor in normal, osteoarthritic and osteoporotic osteoblasts. *Clin Exp Med.* 2013;13(1):81-84.
- Hamilton JL, Nagao M, Levine BR, Chen D, Olsen BR, Im HJ. Targeting VEGF and its receptors for the treatment of osteoarthritis and associated pain. J Bone Miner Res. 2016;31(5):911-924.

- Aplin AC, Gelati M, Fogel E, Carnevale E, Nicosia RF. Angiopoietin-1 and vascular endothelial growth factor induce expression of inflammatory cytokines before angiogenesis. *Physiol Genomics*. 2006;27(1):20-28.
- Scholz A, Plate KH, Reiss Y. Angiopoietin-2: a multifaceted cytokine that functions in both angiogenesis and inflammation. *Ann NY Acad Sci.* 2015;1347:45-51.
- Suri S, Gill SE, Massena de Camin S, Wilson D, McWilliams DF, Walsh DA. Neurovascular invasion at the osteochondral junction and in osteophytes in osteoarthritis. *Ann Rheum Dis.* 2007;66(11):1423-1428.
- Mapp PI, Walsh DA. Mechanisms and targets of angiogenesis and nerve growth in osteoarthritis. Nat Rev Rheumatol. 2012;8(7):390-398.
- Hominick D, Silva A, Khurana N, et al. VEGF-C promotes the development of lymphatics in bone and bone loss. *eLife*. 2018;7:e34323.
- Hunter DJ, Lavalley M, Li J, et al. Biochemical markers of bone turnover and their association with bone marrow lesions. *Arthritis Res Ther*. 2008;10(4):R102.
- 40. Garnero P, Piperno M, Gineyts E, Christgau S, Delmas PD, Vignon E. Cross sectional evaluation of biochemical markers of bone, cartilage, and synovial tissue metabolism in patients with knee osteoarthritis: relations with disease activity and joint damage. Ann Rheum Dis. 2001;60(6):619-626.
- 41. Sanchez C, Deberg MA, Piccardi N, Msika P, Reginster JY, Henrotin YE. Osteoblasts from the sclerotic subchondral bone downregulate aggrecan but upregulate metalloproteinases expression by chondrocytes. This effect is mimicked by interleukin-6, -1beta and oncostatin M pre-treated non-sclerotic osteoblasts. Osteoarthritis Cartilage. 2005;13(11):979-987.
- 42. Lisignoli G, Toneguzzi S, Grassi F, et al. Different chemokines are expressed in human arthritic bone biopsies: IFN-gamma and IL-6 differently modulate IL-8, MCP-1 and rantes production by arthritic osteoblasts. Cytokine. 2002;20(5):231-238.
- Gao Y, Liu S, Huang J, et al. The ECM-cell interaction of cartilage extracellular matrix on chondrocytes. *Biomed Res Int.* 2014;2014:648459.
- Batista MA, Nia HT, Onnerfjord P, et al. Nanomechanical phenotype of chondroadherin-null murine articular cartilage. *Matrix Biol.* 2014;38:84-90.
- 45. Hessle L, Stordalen GA, Wenglen C, et al. The skeletal phenotype of chondroadherin deficient mice. *PLoS ONE*. 2014;8(6):e63080.

46. Kiani C, Chen L, Wu YJ, Yee AJ, Yang BB. Structure and function of aggrecan. *Cell Res.* 2002;12(1):19-32.

8

-WILE

tional Journal o

**Rheumatic Diseases** 

- Burr DB, Radin EL. Microfractures and microcracks in subchondral bone: are they relevant to osteoarthrosis? *Rheum Dis Clin North Am.* 2003;29(4):675-685.
- 48. Watanabe H, Yamada Y. Mice lacking link protein develop dwarfism and craniofacial abnormalities. *Nat Genet*. 1999;21(2):225-229.
- Ni GX, Li Z, Zhou YZ. The role of small leucine-rich proteoglycans in osteoarthritis pathogenesis. Osteoarthritis Cartilage. 2014;22(7):896-903.
- Bi Y, Nielsen KL, Kilts TM, et al. Biglycan deficiency increases osteoclast differentiation and activity due to defective osteoblasts. *Bone*. 2006;38(6):778-786.
- Hedlund H, Mengarelli-Widholm S, Heinegard D, Reinholt FP, Svensson O. Fibromodulin distribution and association with collagen. *Matrix Biol.* 1994;14(3):227-232.
- Zhang H, Kim JK, Edwards CA, Xu Z, Taichman R, Wang C-Y. Clusterin inhibits apoptosis by interacting with activated Bax. *Nat Cell Biol.* 2005;7(9):909-915.
- 53. Fandridis E, Apergis G, Korres DS, et al. Increased expression levels of apolipoprotein j/clusterin during primary osteoarthritis. Vivo. 2011;25(5):745-749.
- Chien J, Campioni M, Shridhar V, Baldi A. HtrA serine proteases as potential therapeutic targets in cancer. *Curr Cancer Drug Targets*. 2009;9(4):451-468.
- 55. Schmidt N, Irle I, Ripkens K, et al. Epigenetic silencing of serine protease HTRA1 drives polyploidy. *BMC Cancer*. 2016;16:399.

How to cite this article: Shabestari M, Shabestari YR, Landin MA, et al. Altered protein levels in bone marrow lesions of hip osteoarthritis: Analysis by proteomics and multiplex immunoassays. *Int J Rheum Dis.* 2020;23:788–799. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/1756-185X.13843</u>

# ORIGINAL ARTICLE

# 🗠 📎 🛛 Wiley

# Comparison of safety, efficacy and cost between oral pulse cyclophosphamide versus intravenous cyclophosphamide pulse therapy in severe systemic lupus erythematosus

Shivraj Padiyar 🕒 | Suvrat Arya | Ajit Surin | Vishad Viswanath | Debashish Danda

Department of Clinical Immunology and Rheumatology, Christian Medical College, Vellore, India

#### Correspondence

Debashish Danda, Department of Clinical Immunology and Rheumatology, Christian Medical College, Vellore, India. Email: debashisdandacmc@hotmail.com

#### Abstract

**Objectives:** The aim of this study is to compare efficacy, toxicity and cost between oral and intravenous cyclophosphamide (CYC) pulse therapy in inducing remission (Systemic Lupus Erythematosus Disease Activity Index [SLEDAI] <3) in severe SLE. **Methods:** We retrospectively checked the hospital records of patients between the years 2000 and 2018, who had been administered oral cyclophosphamide pulse and intravenous (IV) cyclophosphamide pulse. SLEDAI at baseline and after 6 months of therapy were noted. The statistical analysis was done using Mann-Whitney *U* test. The cost was also calculated.

**Results:** We included 45 patients in this study, 21 in the oral pulse group and 24 in the IV group. The median age of patients in the oral and IV groups were 29 (interquartile range [IQR] 22-37) and 26 (IQR 19.25-0.75) years respectively. Median SLEDAI at baseline was comparable between the 2 groups (oral 18.0 [IQR 15.0-26.0]; IV 14.5 [IQR 11.0-20.0] P = .151). At the end of 6 months of treatment, it was 0.0 (IQR 0.0-4.0) in the oral group, as against 2.0 (IQR 0.0-5.5) in IV group (P = .676). There was no major adverse event in either group. Oral cyclophosphamide pulse therapy was more economical as compared to IV cyclophosphamide [630 Indian National rupees( INR)/ 8.85 US dollars(USD) in the IV arm and 50 INR/0.7 USD in the oral arm] (P < .001). **Conclusion:** This study concludes that oral cyclophosphamide pulse therapy is an economical option and there was no difference in efficacy and safety between oral cyclophosphamide pulse therapy.

#### KEYWORDS

oral cyclophosphamide, pulse, systemic lupus erythematosus

# 1 | INTRODUCTION

Systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) is a multisystem autoimmune disease.1 The spectrum of presentation varies from minor skin manifestation to life-threatening disease.2 Among the manifestations, renal and central nervous system involvement are major causes of morbidity and mortality. Renal involvement is a major complication, occurring in approximately 50% of patients.2 Patients with nephritis are at higher risk for progressive renal insufficiency.3 There is over 3 decades of clinical experience with cyclophosphamide (CYC)

<sup>© 2020</sup> Asia Pacific League of Associations for Rheumatology and John Wiley & Sons Australia, Ltd

in severe SLE including proliferative nephritis.4 There is unequivocal evidence that the drug modifies the long-term course of the disease in lupus nephritis.5,6

Cyclophosphamide, in combination with glucocorticoids, is used for induction and maintenance of remission in severe lupus nephritis.7 The National Institute of Health protocol till recently was considered the standard treatment and for developing nations it is still economical compared to other options like mycophenolate. It consists of intravenous (IV) CYC (0.5-1.0 g/m<sup>2</sup>, adjusted to white blood cell nadir), given monthly for the first 6 months, followed by quarterly for 24 months.8 CYC is an alkylating agent that substitutes alkyl radicals into other molecules. It was originally developed for oral administration. It is rapidly absorbed by the gut, and has a bioavailability of 75%.9 Daily oral CYC therapy has also been used in antineutrophil cytoplasmic antibody vasculitis, lupus nephritis and giant cell arteritis.10-12 However, previous studies suggest that intravenous pulse CYC regimens are safer and provide less cumulative CYC exposure than daily oral regimens.11,12

Although daily oral regimens have been in use, there is not much data on the efficacy of pulse oral CYC. Pulse oral CYC therapy is used widely in oncology practice, but there is sparse data on its use in the setting of autoimmune diseases.13 Oral pulse CYC can be useful in situations where the patient cannot be fluid-overloaded or when repeated hospital admissions are difficult. Also, in a cost-constrained set up as in South Asia, oral CYC is economical. IV therapy also involves additional costs related to short hospitalization, nursing and physician services, IV fluids and canula, in addition to risk of hospital-acquired infections through the IV route. In this study, we attempted to study the safety, efficacy and compare the costs of pulse oral CYC vs pulse intravenous CYC in severe SLE. Severe SLE was defined as those cases of lupus with major organ involvement or requiring hospitalization.

# 2 | AIMS AND OBJECTIVES

- To compare oral CYC pulse with IV CYC pulse in achieving induction remission (SLE Disease Activity Index [SLEDAI] <3) in severe SLE.
- To study the adverse events of oral CYC pulse as compared to IV CYC pulse.

# 3 | MATERIALS AND METHODS

We retrospectively reviewed hospital case sheets and electronic medical records of patients with SLE fulfilling American College of Rheumatology 1997/ Systemic Lupus International Collaborating Clinics criteria who were administered pulse oral CYC for induction therapy between 2000 and 2018 at our tertiary care teaching hospital in southern India. All the patients on IV and oral CYC during this period were included continuously and they were already randomly age- and gender-matched. The baseline variables between the 2 groups did not statistically differ. Efficacy was defined as attainment

tional Journal o

	IV group (N = 24)	Oral group (N = 21)
Baseline variables	n (%)	n (%)
Clinical variables		
Photosensitivity	12 (50)	4 (19.04)
Fever	13 (54.16)	11 (52.3)
Myalgia	1 (4.1)	1 (4.7)
Skin rash	11 (45.8)	13 (61.9)
Oral ulcers	14 (58.3)	11 (52.3)
Hypertension	5 (20.83)	8 (38.09)
Arthritis arthralgia	14 (58.3)	13 (61.9)
Serositis	4 (16.6)	4 (19.04)
NPSLE	5 (20.8)	5 (23.8)
Laboratory variables		
Proteinuria <sup>a</sup>	18 (75)	20 (93.3)
Nephrotic <sup>b</sup>	12 (50)	3 (14.2)
Hematuria <sup>c</sup>	12 (50)	14 (66.7)
Hematological (AIHA, leucopenia/ thrombocytopenia)	12 (50)	18 (85.7)
APS	7 (29)	6 (28.5)
Low C3	20 (83)	20 (95.2)
Elevated dsDNA	18 (75)	20 (95.2)
Lupus nephritis	21	20
Class II	3	0
Class III	2	2
Class IV	8	15
Class V	4	1
Not biopsied	4	2

Abbreviations: AIHA, autoimmune hemolytic anemia; APS, antiphospholipid syndrome; dsDNA, double-stranded DNA; IV, intravenous; NPSLE, neuropsychiatric systemic lupus erythematosus. <sup>a</sup>24-h urinary protein more than 500 mg.

<sup>b</sup>24-h urinary protein more than 3 g.

<sup>c</sup>Urine microscopy ≥5 red blood cells.

of SLEDAI of <3 at the end of treatment with 6 doses of monthly pulse CYC.14 SLEDAI was retrospectively entered from prospectively documented clinical data from the patient charts.

# 3.1 | Drug administration protocol

Oral pulse CYC was administered at a dose of 15 mg/kg/body weight split into 3 divided doses over 3 consecutive days, once every 4 weeks. For example, a patient with 60 kg body weight requiring 900 mg of CYC was given 300 mg on day 1, day 2 and day 3 every 4 weeks for 6 months. These patients had been instructed to self-administer the treatment in a domiciliary basis and were advised regarding self-monitoring of blood counts, hydration (at least

🗠 👰 – Wiley-

# **TABLE 2**Indication for cyclophosphamide

Indication	Intravenous cyclophosphamide (N = 24)	Oral cyclophosphamide (N = 21)
Lupus nephritis and NPSLE	21	18
Vasculitis	2	1
lsolated NPSLE	1	1
Skin	0	1 (Rowell syndrome)

Abbreviation: NPSLE, neuropsychiatric systemic lupus erythematosus.

2-3 L/d) and other precautions especially regarding symptoms related to infection. Patients in the IV pulse CYC arm also received the same dose, but as a single dose as per standard recommendation in our hospital setting. Before administration of each pulse, the blood counts (hemoglobin, total and differential counts, platelet count), serum creatinine and urine routine examination were monitored. Ondansetron tablets of strength 4-8 mg thrice a day (as per body weight) from day 1 to day 5 were prescribed in both arms to prevent vomiting.

MESNA (2-mercaptoethane sulfonate sodium) was not used in either of the arms. Patients were informed about the possibility of hemorrhagic cystitis and appropriate monitoring by a physician for the same was advised in case the adverse event happened.

All patients received corticosteroids and hydroxychloroquine as per the standard recommendations.

Patient data including the details of symptoms, laboratory results and SLEDAI score were retrieved from the hospital records noted at baseline and 1 month after the last induction dose. Statistical analysis was done using SPSS software (version 17.0). The comparisons of median values were done using Mann-Whitney U test.

# 4 | RESULTS

#### 4.1 | Demographics

There were 45 patients, 24 in the IV pulse arm and 21 in the oral pulse arm. The median age of patients in the oral and IV groups were 29 (interquartile range [IQR] 22-37) and 26 (IQR 19.25-30.75) years, respectively. The female: male ratios were 23:1 and 19:2 in the IV CYC group and oral CYC group respectively. The median duration of the disease was 12 (IQR 5.75-33.00) months and 24 (IQR 10-72) months in the IV and oral CYC groups respectively. The baseline variables in both groups are shown in Table 1.

The commonest indication for CYC in either of the groups was lupus nephritis (Table 2). In the IV CYC group, 2 patients had Class III lupus nephritis, 8 patients had Class IV, and 4 patients had Class V. In the oral CYC group, 2 patients had Class III lupus nephritis, 15 patients had Class IV, and 1 patient had Class V. Biopsy was not feasible



**FIGURE 1** Comparison of Systemic Lupus Erythematosus Disease Activity Index (SLEDAI) score between the oral and intravenous cyclophosphamide groups at baseline and after 6 mo of pulse therapy

in 4 patients in the IV group and 2 patients in the oral group. Of the 5 NPSLE (neuropsychiatric SLE) patients in the oral pulse CYC subset, 1 each had subarachnoid hemorrhage, cerebral infarction with left-sided hemiparesis, cortical venous thrombosis, generalized tonic-clonic seizure and the fifth one had psychiatric symptoms prior to pulse therapy. Of the 5 patients of NPSLE in the IV pulse subset, 1 each had psychiatric manifestations, mononeuritis multiplex and generalized tonic-clonic seizure. One patient in each group had vasculitis with digital gangrene. All except 1 patient completed the



**FIGURE 2** Number of patients with Systemic Lupus Erythematosus Disease Activity Index (SLEDAI) <3

# **TABLE 3**Cost projection for oral andIV CYC administration

	Rheumatic Diseases	
	IV CYC (750 mg)	Oral CYC (750 mg)
Direct costs		
<ul> <li>Drug cost</li> <li>IV set, Insyte, 3-way with extension, saline</li> </ul>	130 INR (1.83 USD) 500 INR (7 USD)	50 INR (0.7 USD) NIL
Total INR	630 INR (8.85 USD)	50 INR (0.7 USD)

International Journal of

Abbreviations: CYC, cyclophosphamide; INR, Indian national rupees; IV, intravenous; USD, US dollars.

#### TABLE 4 Adverse events

Adverse events	IV group	Oral group
Total	5	2
Cutaneous fungal infection	1	0
Gastroenteritis	0	1
Lower respiratory infection	2	1
Urinary tract infection	2	0
Death	0	0

treatment course. One patient had resistant disease and received mycophenolate along with oral CYC pulse who subsequently developed skin infections and hence CYC had to be discontinued.

# 4.2 | Dose of immunosuppressants

The cumulative doses of CYC were 4488.6  $\pm$  888.6 mg in the oral group and 4581  $\pm$  1157.4 mg in the IV group. The cumulative dose of prednisolone (prednisolone equivalent dose of deflazacort) in the oral group was 6014  $\pm$  2567 mg and it was 5615  $\pm$  1465 mg in the IV CYC group (*P* = .532).

#### 4.3 | Disease activity

SLEDAI were calculated at baseline and 1 month after 6 pulses of CYC. Median SLEDAI at baseline was comparable between the 2 groups (oral 18 [IQR 15-26]; IV 14.5 [IQR 11-20], P = .151). At the end of 6 months of treatment, it was 0.0 (IQR 0.0-4.0) in the oral group, as against 2.0 (IQR 0.0-5.5) in IV group (P = .676) (Figure 1). The median change in the SLEDAI between baseline and 6 months in the oral arm and IV arm were 16 (IQR 11.5-22.5) and 13.5 (IQR 7.25,-19.75) (P = .264). At the end of treatment, 8 patients in the oral group and 11 patients in the IV group had a SLEDAI of  $\geq$ 3 (Figure 2).

# 4.4 | Costs

The direct costs of the patients in the IV and oral groups were calculated. The 6-month actual expenditure in the oral group for each patient was 630 Indian national rupees (INR) or 8.85 USD in the IV arm and 50 INR (0.7 USD) in the oral arm (P < .001). Being a retrospective study, the indirect costs could not be calculated. However, since IV administration implies hospitalization, oral CYC is obviously economical. The detailed projected costs as per the current state of both regimens can be calculated as in Table 3.

# 4.5 | Adverse events

The adverse events are mentioned in the Table 4. The adverse events were retrospectively noted from prospectively entered data. Both the groups did not have any major infection requiring hospitalization or parenteral antibiotics. In the IV group, there were 5 minor infections. These included 1 diffuse cutaneous fungal infection, 2 urinary tract infections and 2 lower respiratory infections; all of them were treated with oral antimicrobials without discontinuation of treatment. In the oral group, there were 2 minor infections; 1 had acute diarrheal disease, which was treated with antibiotics delaying the next dose of oral cyclophosphamide by a month. Another patient had a lower respiratory tract infection, which was again treated with oral antibiotics without discontinuation of oral pulse CYC.

# 5 | DISCUSSION

In this study we observed that pulse oral CYC had efficacy comparable to pulse IV CYC. The treatment was well tolerated. The choice of treatment option was made after discussion with the patients, keeping patient convenience, accessibility to health care, financial aspects and availability of local resources in mind. In addition, oral pulse therapy obviated the need for hospitalization, IV cannulation, related costs and complications. Minor infections were seen, but that did not affect the normal schedule of taking the oral pulse CYC. No patient developed major infection or cytopenias. Since the dose administered staggered over 3 consecutive days in the oral pulse regimen, chances of bladder toxicity were likely to be low; in fact, we did not observe any case of hemorrhagic cystitis in any of our cases. No patient had any major gastrointestinal side effects despite the oral administration. Furthermore, oral pulse CYC regimen has the advantage of being less costly in terms of the formulation itself and the associated costs of hospitalization incurred in the IV pulse regimen was also saved in the oral pulse group. Convenience of being at

home and self-administration of oral medication at home also cuts inconvenience of the hospital environment, travel time and related cost.

Hence our study shows that oral pulse CYC is a safe, convenient and economic therapeutic option in management of severe SLE with efficacy comparable to that of IV pulse CYC. To our knowledge, this is the first report related to efficacy, safety and economy of pulse oral CYC therapy in treatment of any systemic autoimmune disease.

Limitations of this study include single-center retrospective design of the study without a control arm with a small sample size. The compliance was assessed retrospectively by the medical records, but no formal pill count was feasible. Larger randomized controlled trials may generate stronger evidence and substantiate our findings.

# ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Patients involved in this study.

# CONFLICT OF INTEREST

Nil.

# AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

Research and Study design: Conceptualised by Dr Danda; Research and study design by:Dr Shivraj, Dr Suvrat, Dr Ajit, Dr Vishad, Dr Danda. Data collection & analysis: Dr Shivraj, Dr Suvrat, Dr Ajit, Dr Vishad, Dr Danda. Interpretation and conclusion: Dr Shivraj, Dr Suvrat, Dr Danda. Preparation of Manuscript: Dr Shivraj, Dr Suvrat, Dr Danda. Review of Manuscript: Dr Shivraj, Dr Suvrat, Dr Ajit, Dr Vishad, Dr Danda. Guide and critical revision: Dr Danda. Administration: Dr Shivraj, Dr Suvrat, Dr Ajit, Dr Danda. Technical Support: Dr Shivraj, Dr Suvrat, Dr Danda.

#### ORCID

Shivraj Padiyar D https://orcid.org/0000-0002-5369-7062

#### REFERENCES

- 1. Mills JA. Systemic lupus erythematosus. N Engl J Med. 1994;330:1871-1879.
- Dubois EL, Tuffanelli DL. Clinical manifestations of systemic lupus erythematosus computer analysis of 520 cases. JAMA. 1964;190(2):104-111.

- 3. Navaneethan SD, Viswanathan G, Strippoli GF. Treatment options for proliferative lupus nephritis: an update of clinical trial evidence. *Drugs*. 2008;68:2095-2104.
- Hill RD, Scott GW, et al. Cytotoxic drugs for systemic lupus. BMJ. 1964;1:370.
- 5. Appel GB, Valeri A. The course and treatment of lupus nephritis. *Ann Rev Med.* 1994;45:525-536.
- Rahman P, Humphrey-Murto S, Gladman DD, et al. Cytotoxic therapy in systemic lupus erythematosus: experience from a single center. *Medicine*. 1997;76:432-437.
- 7. Houssiau FA. Cyclophosphamide in lupus nephritis. *Lupus*. 2005;14:53-58.
- Boumpas DT, Austin HA, VaughnEM KJH, et al. Controlled trial of pulse methylprednisolone versus two regimens of pulse cyclophosphamide in severe lupus nephritis. *Lancet*. 1992;340:741-745.
- 9. Wagner T, Fenneberg K, et al. Pharmacokinetics and bioavailability of cyclophosphamide from oral formulations. *Arzneimittel-Forschung*. 1984;34(3):313-316.
- Quartuccio L, Maset M, De Maglio G, et al. Role of oral cyclophosphamide in the treatment of giant cell arteritis. *Rheumatology* (Oxford). 2012;51(9):1677-1686.
- Groot KD, Adu D, Savage CO, EUVAS (European Vasculitis Study Group). The value of pulse cyclophosphamide in ANCA-associated vasculitis: meta-analysis and critical review. *Nephrol Dial Transplant*. 2001;16:2018-2027.
- Groot KD, Harper L, Jayne DRW, et al. Pulse versus daily oral cyclophosphamide for induction of remission in antineutrophil cytoplasmic antibody–associated vasculitis: a randomized trial. Ann Intern Med. 2009;150(10):670-680.
- Chabner BA, Allegra CJ, Curt GA, et al. Antineoplastic agents. In: Hardman JG, Limbird LE, Molinoff PB, Ruddon RW, Gilman AG, eds. *Goodman and Gilman's The Pharmacological Basis of Therapeutics* (9th edn). New York, NY: McGraw-Hill;1996:1233-1287.
- 14. Yee CS, Farewell VT, Isenberg DA, et al. The use of Systemic Lupus Erythematosus Disease Activity Index-2000 to define active disease and minimal clinically meaningful change based on data from a large cohort of systemic lupus erythematosus patients. *Rheumatology*. 2011;5:982-988.

How to cite this article: Padiyar S, Arya S, Surin A, Viswanath V, Danda D. Comparison of safety, efficacy and cost between oral pulse cyclophosphamide versus intravenous cyclophosphamide pulse therapy in severe systemic lupus erythematosus. *Int J Rheum Dis.* 2020;23:800–804. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/1756-185X.13823</u>

DOI: 10.1111/1756-185X.13833

# ORIGINAL ARTICLE



# 🗠 📎 🛛 WILEY

# Selection and perception of methotrexate treatment information in people with rheumatoid arthritis

Nieves Leonardo<sup>1</sup> | Susan Lester<sup>1,2</sup> | Michelle Graham<sup>3</sup> | Claire Barrett<sup>4,5</sup> | Samuel Whittle<sup>1</sup> | Debra Rowett<sup>6,7</sup> | Rachelle Buchbinder<sup>8,9</sup> | Catherine L. Hill<sup>1,2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>The Queen Elizabeth Hospital, Adelaide, SA, Australia

<sup>2</sup>Discipline of Medicine, University of Adelaide, Adelaide, SA, Australia

<sup>3</sup>Arthritis Queensland, Brisbane, Qld, Australia

<sup>4</sup>Redcliffe Hospital, Redcliffe, Qld, Australia

<sup>5</sup>Discipline of Medicine, University of Queensland, Brisbane, Qld, Australia

<sup>6</sup>School of Pharmacy and Medical Sciences, University of South Australia, Adelaide, SA, Australia

<sup>7</sup>Drug and Therapeutics Information Service, SALHN, Adelaide, SA, Australia

<sup>8</sup>Cabrini Institute, Melbourne, Vic., Australia

<sup>9</sup>Monash University, Melbourne, Vic., Australia

#### Correspondence

Catherine L. Hill, The Queen Elizabeth Hospital, Adelaide, SA, Australia. Email: Catherine.Hill@health.sa.gov.au

#### **Funding information**

The Australian Rheumatology Association Database is currently supported by unrestricted educational grants administered through the Australian Rheumatology Association from AbbVie Pty Ltd., Pfizer Australia, Sanofi Australia, Celgene Australian & NZ, Bristol-Myers Squibb Australia Pty Ltd., and previously from Amgen Australia Pty Ltd., Aventis, AstraZeneca and Roche. ARAD was previously supported by an Australian National Health and Medical Research Council (NHMRC) Enabling Grant (ID 384330). Infrastructure support is from Cabrini Health, Monash University, Royal North Shore Hospital and the Australian Rheumatology Association. RB is supported by an Australian NHMRC Senior Principal Research Fellowship.

# Abstract

**Objective:** To determine beliefs about methotrexate (MTX) in patients with rheumatoid arthritis (RA) in relation to utilized information sources.

**Methods:** RA patients, who were current participants in the Australian national biologic registry, completed an online questionnaire regarding their use and views about MTX (N = 1010). Participants who used MTX were asked about which MTX information sources they consulted, and whether positive or negative views were obtained. The Beliefs about Medicine Questionnaire (BMQ), was used to measure patient beliefs about MTX.

**Results:** The survey response rate was 804/1010 (80%). MTX survey data were analyzed for 742 RA participants (mean age 59 years, 76% female, mean disease duration 19 years) who had used MTX, with 494/742 (67%) reporting current use. Participants consulted multiple information sources (median 3, interquartile range 1-5). Rheumatologists (98%), general practitioners (GPs) (55%), internet searches (39%), educational websites (38%), and pharmacists (37%) were the most common information sources utilized. Positive MTX information was most often obtained from rheumatologists (92%), GPs (66%), and educational websites (56%). Negative information was most often obtained from relatives, social media, internet chat rooms and friends. Information from rheumatologists was the most influential on favorable BMQ MTX-specific scores, whereas information from educational websites also affirmed the need for MTX.

**Conclusion:** RA patients have significant concerns regarding MTX and consult a variety of sources for MTX information. However, the patient perception of this information varies widely. Rheumatologists and educational websites are the most important information sources in terms of a positive influence on the patient's perception of MTX.

#### KEYWORDS

drug treatment rheumatoid arthritis, methotrexate in rheumatoid arthritis, methotrexate treatment, treatment opinion

© 2020 Asia Pacific League of Associations for Rheumatology and John Wiley & Sons Australia, Ltd

Uncontrolled rheumatoid arthritis (RA) activity results in significant morbidity, and increased mortality. Early initiation of treatment with a disease-modifying anti-rheumatic drug (DMARD), either as monotherapy or in combination, can prevent permanent joint damage. Methotrexate (MTX) is currently used as a first-line DMARD and remains the backbone of therapy. It has been demonstrated to reduce morbidity and mortality in this disease.<sup>1</sup> The low doses of MTX used for the treatment of RA have an established safety profile, hence, both the European League Against Rheumatism<sup>2</sup> and the American College of Rheumatology<sup>3</sup> recommend early initiation and optimizing treatment with MTX for RA. In Australia, MTX is commonly prescribed as the initial DMARD for the management of RA.<sup>4</sup>

LEY- Rheumatic Diseases

However, fear of potential adverse effects may limit its use. Although serious adverse events including pancytopenia,<sup>5</sup> hepatotoxicity<sup>6</sup> and deaths have been reported with low-dose MTX (<30 mg weekly)<sup>7</sup> used to treat RA, it is generally considered safe if used and monitored as recommended.<sup>6</sup>

Qualitative studies have shown that patients seek available information from written, social media, and verbal sources to help with decisions regarding treatment.<sup>8-10</sup> The use of MTX for treatment of inflammatory disorders has generated negative publicity.<sup>11,12</sup> These misconceptions relate to documentation of misuse<sup>13,14</sup> or myths<sup>15</sup> obtained from other sources. Deaths due to MTX in Australia were commonly a result of dosing errors despite implementation of safety initiatives.<sup>16</sup>

We undertook this study to determine the range of information sources utilized by RA patients seeking information on MTX treatment, and whether this information was perceived to be positive or negative. We also sought to determine if this information influenced patient beliefs regarding MTX.

#### 2 | METHODS

#### 2.1 | Study participants

The Australian Rheumatology Association Database (ARAD) is a national Australian database, established in 2001, which collects longitudinal health information from individuals with RA, psoriatic arthritis, juvenile arthritis and ankylosing spondylitis.<sup>17</sup> It was originally set up to determine the long-term outcomes of biologic therapy. Participants can be referred to ARAD by rheumatologists or self-refer. Enrolled participants in ARAD complete self-administered surveys at 6-12-monthly intervals and provide information on their health status, arthritis treatments, function and quality of life. Each participant provides informed consent to be part of ARAD.<sup>17</sup>

Data for the current survey was collected using an online self-reported survey questionnaire, Survey Monkey (https://www.surve ymonkey.com). A web link was emailed to patients with RA registered with ARAD who had completed an online ARAD questionnaire in the past 12 months.

# 2.2 | Survey data

The survey included:

- MTX: patients were asked the question "Are you on methotrexate?" and were instructed to select 1 out of the following 4 options: "I am currently taking methotrexate", "I used to take methotrexate but it was stopped", "I was offered methotrexate but I declined" and "I was not offered methotrexate by my doctor". If MTX was suggested and the patient declined, then the reason for refusal was requested. Patients who had never used MTX were not asked any further MTX-specific questions.
- 2. The Beliefs about Medicine Questionnaire (BMQ),<sup>18</sup> which consists of MTX-specific questions, as well as questions about medicines in general. Two scores are derived from the MTX-specific questions, which assess a patient's beliefs about the necessity of MTX for controlling their disease (MTX necessity), and concern regarding adverse events (MTX concerns). Similarly, 2 scores are derived from the questions about medicine in general which indicate more generalized concerns about overuse (general medicine overuse) and harms (general medicine harm). Responses are measured using 5-point Likert scales, ranging from 1 strongly disagree to 5 strongly agree. Scores obtained for individual items within each scale are averaged. Thus, BMQ scores range from 1 to 5, with higher scores indicating stronger beliefs toward the need for the medicine
- 3. Sources of information: patients were asked where they sought advice and information regarding MTX, and how this advice was perceived. Sources of information could include healthcare practitioners (rheumatologist, general practitioner [GP], pharmacist), relatives, friends, other patients, and the internet (searches, social media, forums or patient educational websites such as the Australian Rheumatology Association and Arthritis Australia). Response categories were: not asked, strongly negative, negative, positive and strongly positive.

The following data were extracted for respondents from the most recently completed ARAD questionnaire (or baseline where relevant): gender, current age, and education level categorized as high school or less (secondary education) and university, vocational diploma, or certificate (tertiary education), RA medications, comorbidities, disability as measured by the Health Assessment Questionnaire Disability Index (HAQ-DI); and quality of life as measured by Arthritis Condition Visual Analog Scale (Arthritis Condition VAS) and Pain VAS.

# 2.3 | Study procedure

An email explaining the study with a link to the survey was sent by ARAD staff to 1010 ARAD RA participants who met the inclusion criteria on 10 October, 2017. A reminder was sent to those who did not respond 2 weeks after the initial email and the survey link was closed 4 weeks after the initial email (10 November, 2017). Australian Rheumatology Association Database has ethics approval from Monash University and other sites including Central Adelaide Local Health Network. Permission for this ARAD substudy was approved by the ARAD Steering Committee to conduct the survey. This study obtained ethics approval from both Cabrini Institute and Central Adelaide Local Health Network Human Research Ethics Committee with approval number HREC/17/TQEH/139.

# 2.4 | Statistical analysis

Analyses were performed in Stata v15.1 (StataCorp LLC). Univariate comparisons between survey responders/non-responders and MTX users/non-users were performed using Chi-square tests for categorical variables and t tests for continuous variables. Analysis of covariates for the number of information sources consulted was performed by multivariable Poisson regression. The self-reported influence of each information source on a patient's medication beliefs about MTX (MTX-specific BMQ) scores was examined by a seemingly unrelated regression model,<sup>19</sup> which allows for correlation between the error terms for regression models of different, but related, outcomes. Briefly, linear models were estimated for both MTX-specific BMQ necessity and concerns scores as outcome variables, with the responses for each information source included as multivariable predictors.<sup>20</sup> For this analysis, the results for each information source predictor variable were coded from -2 (strongly negative) to +2 (strongly positive) with 0 representing "not asked".

# 3 | RESULTS

#### 3.1 | Study participants

The study flow chart is depicted in Figure 1. Eight hundred and four responded to the survey (response rate 79.6%). Survey responders were older (mean [SD] age 60 vs 56 years, P = .001), and more likely to be on biologic treatment (65% vs 53%, P = .002) compared to non-responders, but were otherwise comparable for other demographic, education, disease, and treatment variables including current MTX use (data not shown).

Of the 804 survey responders, 48 (6%) reported never using MTX, there was insufficient survey information from a further 14 for analysis, and therefore 742 patients were included in the analysis. Participant characteristics are summarized in Table 1. The mean age was 59 years, 76% were female, 75% were rheumatoid factor positive, and the mean disease duration was 19 years.

# 3.2 | MTX use

Of the 48 participants who had never used MTX, 14 had declined MTX treatment, and fear of potential adverse effects was the most

🗠 📎 – Wileytional Journal o **Rheumatic Diseases** Invited to participate in survey N = 1010Survey respondents N = 804MTX ever use N = 756Complete survey data N = 742

#### FIGURE 1 Study flow chart

common reason for this decision. Of those who reported having been exposed to MTX, a third had used it previously (248/742, 33%) and two-thirds were currently taking MTX (494/742, 67%). Those who previously used MTX (n = 248) reported feeling generally ill (n = 149), and specific adverse events included gastrointestinal (n = 27), hepatic (n = 26), pulmonary (n = 12), hematologic (n = 5), and severe mouth ulcers (n = 3). Just over half reported ceasing MTX due to adverse effects (n = 126, 51%), and MTX was withdrawn in almost a third of participants (77/248, 31%) because the treatment approach was changed, while a minority (n = 5) ceased due to planning pregnancy. Some participants (32/248, 13%) ceased MTX due to lack of improvement and perceived negative information. "My symptoms were not so severe. Also, I wasn't keen after the pharmacist told me about the possible side effects." Or negative experience. "Side effects from taking it. My call and not the specialist." "Because it destroys my immune system".

Comparisons between MTX current users (n = 494) and prior users (n = 248) are summarized in Table 2.

#### 3.3 | MTX information sources

Most patients sought information on MTX from multiple sources. The median (interquartile range) number of sources consulted was 3 (1-5) (Figure 2A). Variables associated (P < .05) with seeking information from a greater number of sources were younger age, tertiary education, higher BMQ-specific MTX concerns and higher BMQ general medicine harms scores (Figure 2B).

The tabulations of responses by information source are summarized in Figure 3A. As anticipated, rheumatologists were the most frequent source of MTX information (98%), and just over a quarter of respondents (192/742, 26%) reported this as their only source of information. The next most common sources of MTX information were GPs (55%), internet searches (39%), educational websites such as Australian Rheumatology Association and Arthritis Australia (38%) and their pharmacist (37%), while less frequent sources were internet chat rooms (18%), friends (17%), relatives (16%) and social media (14%).

#### EY-International Journal of Rheumatic Diseases

# TABLE 1 Study participant characteristics (N = 742)

Measure	Summary
Age, y, mean (SD)	59 (11)
Age at diagnosis, y, mean (SD)	41 (14)
Disease duration, y, mean (SD)	19 (11)
ARAD duration, y, mean (SD)	7 (4)
Arthritis condition, VAS 0-100, mean (SD)	7.1 (4.0)
Pain, VAS 0-100, mean (SD)	38 (26)
HAQ, mean (SD)	0.77 (0.73)
Female, n (%)	562/742 (76)
Rheumatoid factor, n (%)	426/558 (75)
Anti-CCP, n (%)	63/106 (59)
Ever smoker, n (%)	320/718 (45)
Highest education level, n (%)	
High school or less	181/742 (24)
University, vocational diploma/certificate	451/742 (61)
Current medications, n (%)	
MTX	494/742 (67)
Other DMARDs	251/742 (34)
Biologics	485/742 (65)
NSAIDs	306/742 (41)
Prednisolone	239/742 (32)
Opioids	210/742 (28)

Abbreviations: Anti-CCP, anticyclic citrullinated peptide; ARAD, Australian Rheumatology Association Database; DMARDs, disease-modifying anti-rheumatic drugs; HAQ, Health Assessment Questionnaire; MTX, methotrexate; NSAIDs, non-steroidal antiinflammatory drugs; SD, standard deviation; VAS, visual analog scale.

Most participants reported mainly positive MTX information from rheumatologists (671/726, 92%), GPs (269/405, 66%) and educational websites (157/278, 56%), while just under half reported receiving most positive information from pharmacists (128/272, 47%) (Figure 3B). Although accessed less frequently, participants perceived mostly negative MTX information from relatives (75/122, 61%), social media (64/106, 60%), internet chat rooms (74/125, 59%) and friends (65/124, 52%).

Multivariable analysis of all information sources as predictors of the 2 BMQ MTX-specific scales (Figure 4) revealed that information from rheumatologists appeared to be the most influential for both the patient's perception of the necessity of MTX treatment (BMQ

TABLE 2	Univariate comparisons between current and previous
users of MT	X

Measure	MTX current	MTX prior	P value
N	494	248	
Age, mean (SD)	59.7 (11.3)	58.4 (11.3)	.13
Age at diagnosis, mean (SD)	41.6 (13.8)	40 (13.6)	.12
Females, n (%)	377/494 (76)	185/248 (75)	.61
Education, n (%)			
High school or less	198/494 (40)	93/248 (38)	.50
University, diploma/ certificate	296/494 (60)	155/248 (63)	
Disease duration, mean (SD)	18.5 (11.1)	18.8 (11.5)	.75
ARAD duration, y, mean (SD)	7.1 (4.0)	7.1 (4.0)	.98
Arthritis condition, VAS 0-100, mean (SD)	32.8 (26.4)	37.7 (25.3)	.014
Pain, VAS 0-100, mean (SD)	37.1 (26.6)	41.0 (25.5)	.055
HAQ, mean (SD)	0.7 (0.7)	0.9 (0.7)	.015
Other medications, n (	%)		
Other DMARDs	175/494 (35)	76/248 (31)	.19
Biologics	321/494 (65)	164/248 (66)	.76
NSAIDs	199/494 (40)	107/248 (43)	.56
Prednisolone	155/494 (31)	84/248 (34)	.49
Opioids	130/494 (26)	80/248 (32)	.09
BMQ: MTX necessity, mean (SD)	3.5 (0.7)	1.5 (0.7)	<.001
BMQ: MTX concerns, mean (SD)	2.5 (0.8)	2.6 (0.9)	.037
BMQ: general harms, mean (SD)	2.1 (0.6)	2.2 (0.6)	.62
BMQ: general overuse, mean (SD)	2.6 (0.9)	2.7 (0.9)	.19

Abbreviations: ARAD, Australian Rheumatology Association Database; BMQ, Beliefs about Medicine Questionnaire; DMARDs, disease-modifying anti-rheumatic drugs; HAQ, Health Assessment Questionnaire; MTX, methotrexate; NSAIDs, non-steroidal antiinflammatory drugs; SD, standard deviation; VAS, visual analog scale.

MTX necessity), and alleviation of concerns of adverse events (BMQ MTX concerns). In contrast, information from internet chat rooms appeared to have an adverse influence on both scales. While information from other health professionals (such as GPs and pharmacists) may have contributed to a patient's view that MTX treatment was necessary, it did not appear to alleviate concerns of adverse events. Information from educational websites and other patients



**FIGURE 2** Number of Information Sources used A, Histogram showing the percentage of patients who reported consulting each number of possible methotrexate (MTX) information sources. The median (interquartile range) number of sources consulted was 3 (1-5). B, Coefficient plot (exponentiated) from a multivariable poisson regression analysis for predictors of the reported number of MTX information sources. The effect size is the incidence ratio for each covariate and error bars represent 95% confidence intervals. All continuous covariates were centered around their means, and age was scaled in 10-y units



**FIGURE 3** Methotrexate (MTX) views reported by patients, according to their information source. A, Cross tabulation of results, which are expressed as percentages (%) for each information source. B, Stacked bar chart of the percentage of each reported response, conditional on each information source being consulted

WILEY-International Journal of Rheumatic Diseases



**FIGURE 4** Coefficient plot for the association between positive/negative methotrexate (MTX) information from different sources as predictors of MTX-specific Beliefs about Medicine Questionnaires (BMQ). MTX information categories were coded as a linear variable for each source, with (-2, +2) representing the most strongly negative and positive views respectively. The effect size is the difference in each BMQ score for each covariate and error bars represent 95% confidence intervals

was associated with affirmative effects on the perceived necessity of MTX, and apart from rheumatologists, information from internet searches was the most effective for alleviation of concerns of adverse events.

# 4 | DISCUSSION

In this study we examined different MTX information sources sought by RA patients, the perception of the positive or negative nature of the information received, and the influence of this information on the patient view about necessity or harms associated with MTX treatment.

For a patient with RA, the decision whether to take DMARDs can be affected by multiple factors such as disease activity, anxiety regarding side effects, knowledge about the medications, emotional/psychological state, and health literacy.<sup>21</sup> A 4-phase decision-making process about DMARDs was described by Salt.<sup>22</sup> This begins with the decision to seek initial healthcare advice, followed

by knowledge acquisition, where information regarding both RA and medications for treatment are sought. The third phase pertains to building a trusting relationship with the healthcare provider. Then finally, the decision whether or not to take the medication prescribed for their RA.

RA patients may seek information from other sources if their initial visit resulted in dissatisfaction, concern, conflicting information,<sup>8</sup> or for validation of what they have been told by their rheumatologist.<sup>10</sup> In general, multiple information sources are utilized<sup>9</sup>; in this study patients used a median of 3 sources. In addition to their rheumatologist, these information sources included allied health professionals (pharmacists), other healthcare providers such as their GP, as well as friends, family, the internet and other patients. Younger, more educated patients with higher BMQ-specific MTX concerns and higher BMQ general medicine harms scores utilized a greater number of information sources. It is not surprising that patients with higher BMQ MTX-specific concerns and general medicine harm scores seek more information to address the discordance between the need to take MTX and fear of harm.<sup>9,10</sup> However, it is also possible that multiple sources of information may increase confusion and concerns about MTX treatment.

In our study, as has been previously reported,<sup>9</sup> patients may commonly utilize the internet as a source of information about MTX. However, this can be unreliable.<sup>23</sup> In our study we specifically asked participants about their usage of educational websites, internet searches, social media and internet chat rooms, and the favorability of the reported information substantially varied. When consulted, a majority of participants reported receiving positive information about MTX from educational websites, while a majority also reported receiving negative information from social media and internet chat rooms. These latter information sources are predominantly unregulated, can disproportionately emphasize adverse unpleasant personal experiences, adverse events and other concerns about treatment,<sup>9,23</sup> and may have an adverse impact on a patient's treatment decisions. In our study, educational websites were influential to a patient's belief that MTX treatment was necessary, whereas information sourced from internet chat rooms appeared to be linked with both an underestimation of the necessity for MTX and a heightening of concerns about its use due to the adverse events.

As would be expected, rheumatologists were the most frequently identified source of information about MTX in our study, and most influential for patient views about the necessity, and concerns, of MTX treatment. Other health professionals, such as GPs and pharmacists, were less frequently identified as a source of information about MTX, and appeared to be less influential. Of some concern, the study identified that only a minority of patients who consulted pharmacists reported receiving positive MTX information. Previous studies have also shown that the treating rheumatologist helps the patient with decision-making, and has the most impact on their decision.<sup>8-9,21,22</sup> Information from the treating specialist can mold the RA patient's beliefs regarding MTX by alleviating concerns, reducing perceived barriers, and strengthening the belief that it is needed for optimal treatment.<sup>9-10,22</sup> Good-quality multimedia information sources from treating specialists may also improve patient knowledge and help overcome fear.<sup>24</sup> It is therefore important for treating doctors to provide and/or direct patients to appropriate and accurate information sources.<sup>23</sup> such as the Australian Rheumatology Association patient information sheets and Arthritis Australia.

The strengths of our study are the high response rate in a large sample of RA patients from across Australia, which includes patients treated in different healthcare settings. The main limitation of this study is the cross-sectional design which precluded determination of the direction (causation) of the relationship between MTX information sources and medication beliefs. There was also the risk of imperfect recall of information sources in patients with a lengthy disease duration. Further, specialized rheumatology nurses were not included in the list of information sources utilized as not all RA patients, especially in private care, have access to this kind of service.

Our study demonstrates that patients with RA seek advice from a variety of sources. Both clinicians and pharmacists need to be aware of this and ideally should ask patients the sources of their advice regarding medication information. To provide safe and consistent messaging regarding MTX for RA in Australia, the data from this study was used in a program developed by the Australian National Prescribing Service (NPS), in collaboration with the Australian Rheumatology Association and Arthritis Australia to develop materials for consumers regarding MTX and RA.<sup>25</sup> This program also included education for GPs and pharmacists on safe and effective use of MTX.

#### 5 CONCLUSION

People with RA may seek information about MTX and other DMARDs from multiple sources, and these sources of information may provide conflicting information. Our study highlighted the important role of the rheumatologist in helping the patients make treatment decisions, and the importance of directing patients to appropriate and accurate additional information such as educational websites like Australian Rheumatology Association patient information, Arthritis Australia and the Australian NPS consumer guidelines.

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors gratefully acknowledge and thank Australian rheumatologists and patients for contributing data to ARAD, Ashley Fletcher, Lyndall Henderson, Joan McPhee and Vibhasha Chand, and the ARAD Steering Committee.

# CONFLICT OF INTEREST

Nothing to declare.

# ORCID Nieves Leonardo Dhttps://orcid.org/0000-0001-5110-7439

# REFERENCES

onal Journal o **Rheumatic Diseases** 

1. Bello AE, Perkins EL, Jay R, Efthimiou P. Recommendations for optimizing methotrexate treatment for patients with rheumatoid arthritis. Open Access Rheumatol. 2017;9:67-79.

👄 👰 – Wiley-

- 2. Smolen JS, Landewe RBM, Bijlsma JWJ, et al. EULAR recommendations for the management of rheumatoid arthritis with synthetic and biological disease-modifying antirheumatic drugs: 2019 update. Ann Rheum Dis. 2020.
- Singh JA, Saag KG, Bridges Jr SL, et al. 2015 American College of 3. Rheumatology Guideline for the Treatment of Rheumatoid Arthritis. Arthritis Care Res. 2016;68(1):1-25.
- 4. March L, Barrett C, Gale F, Lassere M, McQuade J, Trevena L, et al. Clinical guidelines for the diagnosis and management of early rheumatoid arthritis. The Royal Australian College of General Practitioners. Guidelines. Available from. 2009; https://www.proje cthealth.com.au/static/uploads/files/racgp-ra-guideline-wfatr iobhnhp.pdf
- Buchbinder R, Hall S, Ryan PF, Littlejohn GO, Harkness AJ. 5. Severe bone marrow failure due to low dose oral methotrexate. J Rheumatol. 1988;15(10):1586-1588.
- Conway R, Carey JJ. Risk of liver disease in methotrexate treated patients. World J Hepatol. 2017;9(26):1092-1100.
- 7. Kivity S, Zafrir Y, Loebstein R, Pauzner R, Mouallem M, Mayan H. Clinical characteristics and risk factors for low dose methotrexate toxicity: a cohort of 28 patients. Autoimmun Rev. 2014;13(11):1109-1113.
- Elstad E, Carpenter DM, Devellis RF, Blalock SJ. Patient decision making in the face of conflicting medication information. Int J Qual Stud Health Well-being. 2012;7:1-11.
- Garneau K, Iversen M, Jan S, Parmar K, Tsao P, Solomon DH. 9 Rheumatoid arthritis decision making: many information sources but not all rated as useful. J Clin Rheumatol. 2011;17(5):231-235.
- 10. Hayden C, Neame R, Tarrant C. Patients' adherence-related beliefs about methotrexate: a qualitative study of the role of written patient information. BMJ Open. 2015;5(5):e006918.
- 11. Dreaper J.Widow shocked over husband's 'avoidable' death. BBC News [Internet]. 2017 10 August 2017. Available from: https:// www.bbc.com/news/health-40818027
- 12. Roberts N.Methotrexate linked to eight deaths since 2000 due to incorrect dosages, research shows. ABC News [Internet]. 2016; 2018(2 February). Available from: https://www.abc.net.au/ news/2016-06-06/methotrexate-linked-to-eight-deaths-since -2000-research-says/7479566
- 13. Shastay A. Severe harm and death associated with errors and drug interactions involving low-dose methotrexate. Home Healthc Now. 2017;35(9):519-522.
- 14. Vial T, Patat AM, Boels D, et al. Adverse consequences of lowdose methotrexate medication errors: data from French poison control and pharmacovigilance centers. Joint Bone Spine. 2019;86(3):351-355.
- 15. Arnold MH, Bleasel J, Haq I. Nocebo effects in practice: methotrexate myths and misconceptions. Med J Australia. 2016;205(10):440-442.
- 16. Cairns R, Brown JA, Lynch AM, Robinson J, Wylie C, Buckley NA. A decade of Australian methotrexate dosing errors. Med J Australia. 2016;204(10):384.
- 17. Williams MP, Buchbinder R, March L, Lassere M. The Australian rheumatology association database (ARAD). Semin Arthritis Rheum. 2011;40(4):e2-3.
- 18. Horne R, Weinman J, Hankins M. The beliefs about medicines questionnaire: The development and evaluation of a new method for assessing the cognitive representation of medication. Psychol Health. 1999;14(1):1-24.
- 19. Zellner A. An efficient method of estimating seemingly unrelated regressions and tests for aggregation bias. J Am Stat Assoc. 1962;57:348-368.

- StataCorp. Structural Equation Modelling: Example 12 Seemingly unrelated regression. Stata 15 Base Reference Manual. College Station, TX: Stata Press; 2017: 239.
- Martin RW, McCallops K, Head AJ, Eggebeen AT, Birmingham JD, Tellinghuisen DJ. Influence of patient characteristics on perceived risks and willingness to take a proposed anti-rheumatic drug. BMC Med Inform Decis Mak. 2013;13:89.
- 22. Salt E, Peden A. The complexity of the treatment: the decision-making process among women with rheumatoid arthritis. *Qual Health Res.* 2011;21(2):214-222.
- Thompson AE, Graydon SL. Patient-oriented methotrexate information sites on the Internet: a review of completeness, accuracy, format, reliability, credibility, and readability. J Rheumatol. 2009;36(1):41-49.
- Ciciriello S, Buchbinder R, Osborne RH, Wicks IP. Improving treatment with methotrexate in rheumatoid arthritis-development of a multimedia patient education program and the MiRAK, a new

instrument to evaluate methotrexate-related knowledge. *Semin* Arthritis Rheum. 2014;43(4):437-446.

25. Australian National Prescribing Service (NPS). Methotrexate: the facts. Accessed December 2019. In: Managing rheumatoid arthritis [Internet]. Available from: https://www.nps.org.au/consumers/ managing-rheumatoid-arthritis#methotrexate:-the-facts%C2%A0

How to cite this article: Leonardo N, Lester S, Graham M, et al. Selection and perception of methotrexate treatment information in people with rheumatoid arthritis. *Int J Rheum Dis.* 2020;23:805–812. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/1756-</u> 185X.13833

# ORIGINAL ARTICLE

#### **Rheumatic Diseases**

# 🗠 👰 🛛 Wiley

# Patient and clinician views on an app for rheumatoid arthritis disease monitoring: Function, implementation and implications

Rebecca Grainger<sup>1,2</sup> | Hermaleigh Roberta Townsley<sup>1</sup> | Catherine Anna Ferguson<sup>1</sup> | Faye Ellen Riley<sup>1</sup> | Tobias Langlotz<sup>3</sup> | William John Taylor<sup>1,2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>University of Otago Wellington, Wellington, New Zealand

<sup>2</sup>Hutt Hospital, Hutt Valley District Health Board, Lower Hutt, New Zealand

<sup>3</sup>Department of Information Science, University of Otago, Dunedin, New Zealand

#### Correspondence

Rebecca Grainger, Department of Medicine, University of Otago Wellington, PO Box 7343, 23a Mein St, Newtown, Wellington South 6242, New Zealand. Email: rebecca.grainger@otago.ac.nz

#### **Funding information**

The Henry Cotton Trust; University of Otago; New Zealand Rheumatology Association

#### Abstract

Revised: 16 April 2020

**Aim:** Best practice management for rheumatoid arthritis (RA) involves regular clinical assessment of RA disease activity. This is not achievable with current rheumatology systems of care. We aimed to use opinions from people with RA and their specialist rheumatology healthcare professionals to inform development of a mobile app for people with RA for recording their disease activity data for potential integration into clinical service, and assess usability of the app.

**Method:** In phase 1 we interviewed nine people with RA and seven healthcare professionals. In phase 2 we developed an app with professional software developers. In phase 3 we evaluated app usability for people with RA using the System Usability Scale (SUS).

**Results:** Interview data showed four themes regarding functionality and implementation of a patient-held app in RA care: (a) variable app acceptance and readiness; (b) app use to reduce barriers; (c) pros and cons of patient-reported outcomes; and (d) allocation of clinics by need. The app developed has high usability in people with RA using the app on their own device for a month (SUS 79.5, n = 16) or using the app on a study device for 10 minutes (SUS 83, n = 100).

**Conclusion:** People with RA and healthcare professionals have clearly identified features, benefits and risks of an app for self-assessment of RA and incorporation into clinical care. An app developed informed by these opinions has high usability. Next steps are development and validation of a method of patient-performed joint counts, and implementation, with evaluation, in the clinical setting.

#### KEYWORDS

mHealth, mobile applications, rheumatoid arthritis, telemedicine

# 1 | INTRODUCTION

The treat-to-target approach for rheumatoid arthritis (RA) achieves better outcomes for people with RA; however, rheumatology services may struggle to meet the service and care requirements.<sup>1</sup>

Treat-to-target mandates initial monthly review for assessment of disease activity, using a composite disease activity (CDA) instrument, and optimization of treatment.<sup>2,3</sup> Once remission or low disease activity state is reached, review with CDA calculation is recommended every 3-6 months. Even high-income countries have insufficient

© 2020 Asia Pacific League of Associations for Rheumatology and John Wiley & Sons Australia, Ltd

rheumatologists to meet this care need<sup>4,5</sup> with limited rheumatology services in regional and rural areas.<sup>6,7</sup> Current care does not consistently implement treat-to-target practices, with CDA scores recorded in less than half of clinic visits in real-world settings.<sup>8-10</sup> Even in rheumatology practices that have enrolled in the Rheumatology Informatics System for Effectiveness continuous quality registry, only 55% of care providers record CDA in at least 50% of clinic visits for RA.<sup>11</sup> To achieve widespread and effective adoption of the treat-to-target strategy in RA will require changes in models of care.<sup>12</sup>

New models of service delivery for people with RA, that include nurse-led clinics and patient-initiated review have been shown to be clinically and cost effective<sup>13-19</sup> but still require personnel and a face-to-face visits for assessment of RA disease activity. A Danish study followed people with established RA with low disease activity, who received telephone monitoring by a rheumatology nurse or rheuma-tologist. Follow up was informed by a computer-generated self-report RA flare tool, and showed non-inferiority of RA disease activity at 1 year compared to routine clinic visits.<sup>20</sup> These data suggest new models of care informed by patient report of disease activity measures may achieve good outcomes for people with RA, without the requirement for regular face-to-face clinical review. This could be implemented via mobile applications (apps) and the internet.<sup>21,22</sup>

Accumulating evidence suggests the goal of remote patient assessment of RA disease activity via mobile apps or web-based software is feasible, sufficiently accurate and desirable. Preliminary small studies with bespoke mobile apps confirm RA-related impairments do not hinder mobile app data entry<sup>23</sup> and self-reporting may increase empowerment and facilitate shared decision making.<sup>24</sup> Over the short term patient self-report of RA disease activity via a web-portal with the Routine Assessment of Patient Index Data (RAPID-3 or -4) has high correlation with rheumatologist-assessed Disease Activity Score of 28 joints (DAS-28) at baseline (r = .63) and 12 weeks (r = .66).<sup>25</sup> A UK-based rheumatology service has overcome the barrier of lack of suitable commercially developed mobile apps<sup>26,27</sup> by developing a bespoke mobile app for recording and transmission of patient-generated disease activity for people with RA and inclusion of these data in the electronic health record.<sup>24</sup> In a 3-month evaluation in a research clinic 20 people with RA and two clinicians found this approach feasible and viewed it as positive in enabling patient-centered consultations. Clinical outcomes were not evaluated and issues of technical implementation in real-world settings, impacts on workflow, and clinical processes were not addressed. Although remote app-based RA disease monitoring has promise, these factors will need consideration in any setting planning to implement RA disease monitoring via mobile technology.

In Aotearoa/New Zealand (NZ) the taxpayer-funded health system has long struggled to provide rheumatology specialist care to a growing, aging and geographically dispersed population.<sup>5</sup> As smartphone penetrance in NZ is high, even among low socio-economic status communities, and some geographic areas do not have easy access to rheumatology services, exploration of rheumatology service provision supported by patient-generated health data and needsbased appointment scheduling of RA management is of interest. Any remote monitoring patient management system is more than just software. The input of the users in software development and integration into redesigned services is of utmost importance. In the setting of developing an app for patient-generated health data reporting and needs-based appointment scheduling for follow up of people with RA, our research questions were: what are the requirements for an app for patient-generated health data reporting; what are the opinions and readiness of people with RA and members of healthcare teams caring for people with RA about using an app as part of needs-based service provision; and what are opinions of people with RA on an app developed informed by these data? In particular the aims of this study are to:

- Assess the opinions of people with RA and healthcare professionals regarding (a) design and functionality, and acceptability and usefulness of an app to complement current service and (b) pros and cons of this approach for assessment of disease activity and organization of monitoring of patient-generated health data and face-to-face visits.
- 2. Develop an app, informed by information gained from interviews.
- 3. Assess the usability of the app.

We report a 3-stage study: phase 1 stakeholder interviews; phase 2 app development; and phase 3 evaluation of app usability in research and real-world clinic settings.

# 2 | METHODS

#### 2.1 | Phase one: stakeholder interviews

# 2.1.1 | The setting and participants

The Wellington Regional Rheumatology Unit (WRRU) at Hutt Hospital, Hutt Valley, NZ is a referral rheumatology service for a population of approximately 500 000 people, in both urban and rural areas. WRRU employed six rheumatologists (all part-time, total fulltime equivalent 2.6), one rheumatology registrar and four specialist nurses. People with RA who had attended WRRU in a 3-month period were phoned in sequence by a research assistant (FR, CAF) inviting participation in an interview about use of apps to monitor RA. Eligible participants were over 18 years of age, had a diagnosis of RA according to the American College of Rheumatology 2010 criteria<sup>28</sup> and spoke English. Exclusion criteria were cognitive impairment or inability to be available for a 1-hour interview. Four rheumatologists and three rheumatology nurses from the WRRU volunteered to participate and were individually interviewed.

# 2.1.2 | Interviews and data analysis

All eligible people with RA telephoned agreed to and completed an interview. Semi-structured interviews were undertaken in person

or by telephone/skype at the participant's preference. Interviews were based on a schedule developed by two rheumatologists (RG, WT) which focused on technology use, use of patient-reported outcomes measures in management of RA, mobile app functionality, barriers and facilitators to app use, and the potential impacts of app implementation on service provision and experience (Appendix 1). The interview schedule was not piloted. Of the nine people with RA interviewed, one research assistant interviewed the first five (FR, female medical student, Bachelor degree) and the remaining four were performed by a second research assistant (CAF, female research assistant previously trained as a dentist, Bachelor degree). Each underwent training with research lead (RG, female, rheumatologist, PhD, experienced in gualitative research). Both interviewers met with RG after the first interview to review the process. Participants were aware of RG's involvement and that interviewers were employed to undertake interviews. Open-ended prompts were used to explore participant opinions. All interviews were audio recorded and transcribed verbatim. Field notes were made at the time of interview to support interpretation of interviews. Interviews were ceased once no new ideas were being offered (ie, saturation reached). The interview schedule for people with RA was adapted for the health professional interviews to explore aspects of app development and how data would be handled at the WRRU and possible impacts on practice (Appendix 2). All interviews with healthcare professionals (HCPs) were undertaken by 1 researcher (CAF).

Data were managed in Microsoft Word documents Version 16.0 (Microsoft Corporation). Content analysis with latent meaning was used as methodological framework<sup>29</sup> and subject to thematic analysis.<sup>30,31</sup> Two researchers (RG, FR) coded the first five participant transcripts by reading the transcripts repeatedly, systematically coding each unit of information (a sentence or part of a sentence) using key words or phrases to set up the basic parameters of the analysis. Codes that clustered into themes were identified and

WILEY

themes reviewed and named. Where uncertainty or differences in coding occurred, a discussion was held to achieve convergence. A constant comparative approach was taken to ensure coding categories were consistently used. The codes were then grouped together to form categories which became the main themes of the analysis. One researcher (RG) coded the remaining transcripts. Once all the transcripts were coded, RG and CAF reviewed randomly selected transcripts to ensure consistency of coding. Transcripts were not returned to participants for checking or to provide feedback on themes. Data are reported according to the Consolidated Criteria for Reporting of Qualitative Research (COREQ) guidelines<sup>32</sup> and the COREQ checklist is provided (Appendix 3).

# 2.2 | Phase 2: app development

The interview data informed the required content and functionality of an app for patient-generated health data for people with RA in this NZ rheumatology service. A mobile app was developed for both Android and iOS by a commercial software development company (Codeflugel<sup>\*\*</sup>) using agile project management approach with the design team including a rheumatologist (RG), a computer scientist with expertise in human-computer interface (TL) and a software developer from Codeflugel. The development team met weekly by Skype to review progress and provide feedback, which was incorporated in an iterative manner. User manuals for iOS and Android were prepared to describe how to download the app and instructions on how to download and navigate the app.

The app, called RAConnect, is designed to be held on the phone of a person with RA (Figure 1). Functionality includes: (a) data collection function for RA-relevant validated instruments (all detailed in Anderson et al<sup>33</sup>): Health Assessment Questionnaire II (HAQ-II), patient global assessment, 28 swollen and tender joint count,



**FIGURE 1** RA connect app screen shots. A, Menu. B, Health assessment questionnaire. C, Joint counts-body. D, Joint count-hand detail, E, Summary data

#### International Journal of Rheumatic Diseases

calculates CDA measures (Patient Activity Scale II [PASII], and the patient-reported DAS-28 C-reactive protein [DAS-28-CRP]), along with patient-generated free text comments; (b) medication recording for all commonly used conventional and biologic disease-modifying anti-rheumatic drugs (DMARDs, including start date, dose, stop date and free text for reasons for stopping); and (c) generation of an email report of data to a designated email address, intended to be the treating rheumatologist or rheumatology service. The app supports direct integration with Hutt hospital electronic health records using a secure connection. Although it may have been desirable to have 2-way messaging incorporated into app functionality, this was not possible within the information technology infrastructure of the hospital. All data entered is stored on the phone, and can be accessed at any time by the app user. The clinical workflows, for example how healthcare professionals monitor and respond to patient-reported data, and patient data entry management, for example how often patients enter data and reminders for patient data entry, are outside the scope of this manuscript.

# 2.3 | Phase 3: usability testing

The appropriateness of RAConnect for RA patient-generated health data reporting (ie, usability in a specific context) was assessed with the Systems Usability Scale (SUS).<sup>34</sup> Each of the 10-item questions in the scale were contextualized to RAConnect and had a 5-point Likert scale with anchors 0 = strongly disagree and 4 = strongly agree. Mean scores and standard deviations were calculated for each item and overall score calculated.<sup>34</sup> SUS scores range from 0 (poor) to 100 (excellent).

Usability testing of the app with people with RA was undertaken in two ways: with people using the app on their own phone or tablet for 1 month and with people with RA using the app once immediately before their routine rheumatologist clinic visit.

#### 2.3.1 | Testing on participants' devices

Participants in stakeholder interviews and people participating in a patient-opinion online platform coordinated by a rheumatologist at WRRU were invited to participate by email, and people attending the rheumatology clinic were invited to participate via a phone call from a research assistant (HT). Formal sample size calculation was not performed and the recruitment period limited to 1 month. After written informed consent was obtained, participants provided demographic and disease information. Participants were then emailed the user manual appropriate for their device and asked to download and install RAConnect. If participants had not been able to download RAConnect, downloading was completed via phone support. Participants were asked to use RAConnect at least once a week for 4 weeks by filling out the 'RA Activity Monitoring' section. This includes the HAQ-II, patient global assessment, 28 swollen and tender joint counts and automatic calculation of CDA. Participants were

not prompted or reminded to use RAConnect. Reports of participant data were sent to a research email address. Participant reporting data frequency were analyzed using summary statistics. After 4 weeks, participants completed the RAConnect-contextualized SUS via an online survey.

# 2.3.2 | Testing before clinic visit

At rheumatology clinics in NZ public hospitals (WRRU, Christchurch hospital and Dunedin hospital) 100 people with RA were prospectively recruited to use RAConnect on a smartphone (Samsung Galaxy J1ace running Android) immediately before a scheduled clinic appointment. Participants completed data collection in RAConnect. A research assistant was present to answer questions but provided no prompting. Participants then completed a paper version of RAConnect-contextualized SUS.

# 2.4 | Ethics

The Central Health and Disability Ethics Committee approved the interview and longitudinal usability study (14/CEN/208) and the clinic visit usability study (which was part of a larger project to be reported separately, [16/NTB/102]). Participants provided written, informed consent.

# 3 | RESULTS

# 3.1 | Phase 1: stakeholder interviews with people with RA and healthcare professionals

Nine people with RA (seven female, two male) aged 27-79 years, with duration of RA of 1-26 years and current low or moderate RA disease activity were interviewed (Table 1). Seven HCPs (five female [three rheumatology nurses, two rheumatologists] and two male [rheumatologists]) were interviewed. Details of demographics of HCPs are not provided to avoid identification from publicly available information. Mean interview duration was 30 minutes with range from 14-46 minutes. No additional people were present at interviews.

Four main themes were identified in the interview data to inform the research questions: (a) variable app acceptance and readiness; (b) app use to reduce barriers; (c) pros and cons of patient-reported outcomes; (d) allocation of clinics by need. These themes are expanded below with illustrative quotes in Tables 2-5.

# 3.2 | Variable app acceptance and readiness

People expressed differing enthusiasm and interest for using an app as part of RA disease monitoring, management and health
GRAINGER FT AL.	International Jacunal of
	Bhoumatic Diseases

**TABLE 1** Characteristics of people with rheumatoid arthritis participating in interviews

Gender	Age, y	Duration of RA, y	DAS28-CRP <sup>a</sup>	DMARD	bDMARD	Smartphone ownership	Mode of interview
F	62	10	2.77	Υ	Υ	Ν	Phone
F	60	3	3.74	Υ	Υ	Y	Phone
Μ	79	1	1.71	Υ	Ν	Ν	Phone
F	48	6	2.82	Υ	Υ	Y	Phone
Μ	58	26	3.51	У	У	Υ	Phone
F	33	9	2.80	Υ	Υ	Y	Phone
F	27	12	1.89	Υ	Υ	Υ	IP
Μ	48	8	2.21	Υ	Υ	Y	Phone
F	37	1	2.74	Y	Ν	Y	Phone

Abbreviations: bDMARD, biologic disease-modifying anti-rheumatic drugs; DMARDS disease-modifying anti-rheumatic drugs; IP, in person. <sup>a</sup>European League Against Rheumatism Disease Activity Score of 28 joints C-reactive protein (DAS-28-CRP)<sup>33</sup> criteria at most recent clinic visit, within 3 mo of interview.

care. Some people with RA were very enthusiastic, while others expressed interest moderated by concerns about sufficient technical skills or reduction in clinician contact. One person with RA had no interest in app use but acknowledged that younger people with RA were likely to have high interest. HCPs accepted that their patients, current and future, will expect use of apps as part of RA management. However, HCPs were concerned technical demands could exceed their own abilities, and those of their patient', especially in terms of app download and training. There was also concern about increased workload and change in workflow to monitor and respond to patient-generated health data.

# 3.3 | App use to reduce barriers

People with RA felt that having an intuitive app designed specifically for people with RA and integrated with their rheumatology service would enhance their engagement in care and reduce barriers to accessing care. An app was perceived as an easy method to seek information and reassurance from rheumatology nurses and rheumatologists via short messages. RA was not considered a barrier to data input on a smartphone by any people with RA, acknowledging that smartphone screens are small. People with RA required a simple mechanism for data input. People with RA were not concerned about the security of data or risk of privacy breaches.

# 3.4 | Pros and cons of patient-reported-outcomes

Two-thirds (6/9) of people with RA recalled completing paper-based patient-reported outcomes at rheumatology clinics. However, none were familiar with the concept of 28 tender and 28 swollen joint counts contributing to a composite disease activity instrument or indeed the existence of CDAs. Despite this, all people with RA saw some personal benefit to completing the RA-relevant health data instruments on an app on their smartphone, if this summarized their current RA disease activity as low, medium or high. Some participants were concerned that the proposed RA-related instruments failed to capture some pain and function aspects of their lived experience. They wished to have ability, within the app, to add free text to communicate the current impact of RA disease. HCPs expressed some ambivalence over the concept of patient-generated health data as they felt people with RA may report frequently, as often as daily,

<b>TABLE 2</b> Quotes supporting variableapp acceptance and readiness themes	Quotes	Age (y) and gender
	I use my phone all the timelike every 5 minutes that I'm awake. I don't think anyone my age or under would have a problem doing that but some older patients might not be interested.	33 female
	I'm believing ontalking to humans on the phone instead of machines. That's preferred to me, cos you guys were born to this stuff.	79 male
	Some patients will be freaked out by the technology aspect of the app. They will need good education on how to use the app and a good patient help desk where any questions could be answered by someone who spoke in lay person's language.	Nurse

817

-WILEY



Illustrative quotes	Age (y) and gender
I cantap something twice without meaning to soit will just require you to, you know, think about things for a minute	58 male
You can find the phone's a little bit small to do some things on	48 male
It's good to be able to email or text somebody because at the moment if something is not quite right you gotta go through the booking or usually I go to the GP and then another referral andit's takes a bit of time	48 male
I think that would be useful as sometimes it's a bit scary for me, not understanding something properly, if you could send a text, that way it makes you feel more reassured	60 female
Cos sometimes I've had things to ask about and just a few texts back and forth can answer the problem and I didn't need to go all the way in and they didn't need to make a time to see me	48 female

Illustrative quotes	Age (y) and gender
I think it's important to know where you are at quite honestly. The app would answer a lot of questions to know why you're feeling so rotten	60 female
Somewhere there should be some inclusion about feet though, but I don't know where they'd put it if it isn't part of that calculation. Because me feet are quite affected	33 female
Would there be any room for comment instead of just yes or no…because some of the questions are, just ah, don't quite suit. Well, like getting in and out of a car, that a good one for me because I am a mechanic so I have a lot of difficultly doing that. But also we work underneath cars and you're lying on the ground and getting up from the ground and things like that is very difficult also	48 male
If they came and said 'my DAS has changed it is getting better or worse, it means they have some feeling it is flaring. Them having some control over it I think would be brilliant.'	Rheumatologist

Abbreviation: DAS, Disease Activity Score.

which they felt would be excessive. Furthermore, HCPs had concern that people with RA seeing quantification of self-reported measures could have an increase in RA-related anxiety. Conversely, providing an app for self-reporting health data was considered a mechanism to empower self-management. Rheumatologists felt that this would give useful information about patients' disease between clinic visits to give a more comprehensive view of the patient lived experience.

# 3.5 | Allocation of clinic by need

People with RA highly valued face-to-face clinic visits with rheumatologists and nurses. However, they acknowledged that prioritizing allocation of clinic visits, according to patient-generated RA disease activity via an app, would be acceptable and fair when demand exceeded capacity. HCPs also valued face-to-face care but recognized that patient-generated health data reporting via an app could enable less frequent review in an equitable manner. In contrast, one rheumatologist felt that a remote reporting system could lead to people **TABLE 3** Quotes supporting app use toreduce barriers in interview data

**TABLE 4**Quotes supporting app prosand cons of patient-reported outcomes ininterview data

without smartphones or technical expertise being disadvantaged with respect to access to care.

# 3.5.1 | Usability testing

Sixteen people with RA were recruited, from various sources, to use RAConnect on their device for a 4-week period. Seven of the 46 people with RA enrolled in the patient-opinion online platform participated, a response rate of 15%. Four of the nine people with RA interviewed in phase 1 participated, a response rate of 44%. Five participants were recruited from rheumatology clinics held at WRRU. Most participants were female (11/16, 69%), mean age was 56.6 years (range 28-71 years); only one participant was under 40 years of age, nine were 41-60 years and six aged over 60 years old. Devices used were iPhone (n = 7), iPad (n = 2), Android smartphone (n = 5), and Android tablet (n = 2). All participants had completed secondary level education and 75% (12/16) had tertiary level education. Participants completed the RA Activity Monitoring

GRAINGER ET AL.			
<b>TABLE 5</b> Quotes supporting app usefor allocation of clinic by need in interview	Illustrative quotes		Age (y) and gender
, data	I am very lucky with my rheum that have got it much worse. appointment that I have this see that I'm alright and somel	natoid as there are a lot of people So I would rather that they have the s way (the app self-report) Dr X can body else can have that appointment	62 female
	There would probably be less i I'd like to think that you know could still get to see her as of	interaction with your specialistbut /, if things were bad enough I actually ten as I needed	60 female
	I like the face-to-face appointr wouldn't need to go in unless	nents but great if it means that you you needed to	33 female
	I think it would probably stream they wouldn't need to sit they 2 weeks when they've probal	mline appointments a bit because re questioning you about the last bly already seen what is going on	33 female
	Yeah, just so they're not booki also you're not falling under t lot of pain. Because I know so you know, without an appoin they need one or rung up and do need an appointment soor	ng unnecessary appointments but he radar if you are actually really in a ome people with go, like nearly a year, tment but they haven't actually said d said "Actually I'm pretty miserable. I ner than a year"	33 female

component of RAConnect a mean of 3.5 times (SD = 1.26) in the 4 weeks. All participants used RAConnect at least twice, and one participant used RAConnect 6 times. The SUS score of RAConnect for the 16 participants was 79.5.

The 100 people recruited from clinics were predominantly female (77%), mean age 60.2 years (range 33-83 years), duration of RA 17.0 years (range 0.25-55 years) and 45% were using a biologic DMARD. The overall SUS score for RAConnect for the 100 people using RAConnect for 10 minutes before a clinic visit was 83.

#### DISCUSSION 4

Our study reports that people with RA and their HCPs have similar, cautiously positive opinions regarding a mobile app for people with RA to record and report RA disease data. They offered similar potential benefits and risks, and challenges of using patient-generated health data in new models of care. An app developed, informed by these views, received high usability scores from people with RA, after use on their own device over the short term or brief use on a provided phone. These scores were above the mean (69.69) and median (70.91) SUS reported in its evaluation from inception in 1986-2008.<sup>35</sup> The RAConnect SUS scores are on or above the 90th centile (80) indicating high usability and are similar to the SUS reported for online RA disease self-reporting software.<sup>25</sup>

Patient and HCP opinions have been obtained in other settings to inform the development of web or mobile apps for children and adolescents with juvenile idiopathic arthritis<sup>36,37</sup> and adults with arthritis.<sup>38,39</sup> In a UK study young people with inflammatory arthritis were positive about an app for self-monitoring, but felt ambivalent about tracking symptoms at times of good disease control.<sup>36</sup> Security or privacy issues were not a concern and young people expressed a clear preference for social and peer support and engaging design, including gamification. Our older patient group did not request peer interaction via an app, with their design advice focusing on function over enjoyment, perhaps as this was outside the scope of an app proposed to them in the setting of service development. In our study HCP ambivalence about patient-generated health data reporting related to potential for increased anxiety about RA, not reporting burden; while rheumatologists identified potential benefit in gaining insight into daily lived experience of their patients. Indeed, a recent UK study has reported that reviewing daily RA symptom reporting in rheumatology clinics gave rheumatologists deeper insight into day-to-day RA impact and enabled more patient-centered consultations.<sup>24</sup> Recently a Belgian study that interviewed adults with inflammatory arthritis to inform self-management app development also reported varying opinions about personal value of an app for arthritis monitoring.<sup>38</sup> Our study participants clearly identified logs for reporting disease activity and medication reminders as key desirable features for an app. Again, even people who felt app features were not relevant to them personally acknowledged that other people with arthritis might find them useful. This was also found in a Swedish study engaging people with arthritis to inform development of web software for self-management.<sup>39</sup> This emphasizes an app for RA monitoring might be useful and of interest to anyone with RA, but not everyone with RA.

The findings of our study have some parallels with the key findings of a recent meta-synthesis of 43 qualitative studies of patient views on mHealth interventions for chronic diseases.<sup>40</sup> Key strengths of mHealth identified were patient empowerment and engagement, which was expressed by participants in our study in the theme of reduced barriers, with practical examples like the ability to send short messages to clinical team members. Limitations identified in the meta-synthesis included the technical and knowledge trustworthiness, personalization to the disease, appropriateness and accessibility. In our study we have addressed a priori trustworthiness as the developers are the HCPs for the participants, and disease personalization, and appropriateness as the scope and purpose of the

#### International Journal of Rheumatic Diseases

proposed app was carefully predefined. Our participants did identify accessibility as a potential disadvantage of an app for RA, expressing that not all people with RA would be interested in an app for RA disease monitoring and communication, which creates potential for inequitable service access. Interestingly our study identified potential challenges when incorporating mHealth into current healthcare services as concern for both patients and HCPs, which was not identified in the meta-synthesis of extant literature. This might be because literature to date has largely focused on chronic disease apps being considered as a patient-facing tool only, not as a mechanism for interaction with HCPs to supplement or assist clinical care. This is an important point as successfully leveraging of the potential of mobile health will require people to be pro-active in self-management of health conditions in partnership with HCPs.<sup>41</sup> Although recording of patient self-reported RA-related activity or impact is an accepted and encouraged component of high-quality clinical care, the assessment of tender and swollen joint counts is usually done by a rheumatologist. Therefore patient-self-reported joint counts, which people with RA and rheumatologists endorsed to be included in a patient-held app for RA, are not yet fully validated for use in evaluation of disease activity. A systematic review of the literature on joint counts reported high reliability for tender joint counts for HCPs and patients, while reliability for swollen joint counts was poorer for patients than HCPs.<sup>42</sup> However, previous work has confirmed that scores in CDA measures for RA are similar to those derived from ultrasound-determined joint inflammation.<sup>43</sup> Therefore sufficient data exist to support further research to evaluate the reliability of patient self-joint count as a component of disease activity measurement in RA, which would be required before implementation of patient reporting as a means for remote monitoring and allocation of clinic appointments. Furthermore, the frequency of app-reporting of RA disease activity by people with RA, and if this is sufficient for clinical purposes, will also need to be evaluated. In a feasibility study in the USA, people with RA using an app to report symptoms for research, showed a steady drop in use until only 11.3% of participants were engaging with the app after 12 weeks.<sup>44</sup>

The limitations of this study need to be acknowledged. This qualitative approach by necessity limited sampling to a smaller number. Although data saturation was reached, it is possible other participants may have provided different opinions. The participants also volunteered their time so may have biases about the topic of exploration, either favorable or unfavorable, that influenced the results. Furthermore, qualitative data from a single site study may not be generalizable. Interviews were chosen for logistic flexibility and to allow participation by telephone of people from across the geographic bounds of our service. It is possible that data collection by a focus group could have elicited more nuanced information or other ideas. It is possible that positive bias may have influenced the usability responses, as participants were patients of the service which developed the app. Results must be interpreted with these limitations in mind; however, this study still signposts major areas of concern for people with RA and their HCPs when considering implementation of mobile collection of patient-generated health data for monitoring and service allocation. While these results can guide implementation of an app into rheumatology care, there are areas for further research. These include the accuracy of patient-performed joint counts, the most effective methods to teach patients to perform their joint counts, technical and logistical barriers to implementation of self-monitoring in the clinical setting. Although we have reported high usability and interest in incorporating apps in RA clinical care, it remains unknown if ongoing engagement in such apps would be sufficient to support triage for clinic or supplement care. Lastly, although this app was developed primarily for implementation into clinical care pathways, the utility of this app for data collection in research or for quality improvement could also be explored.

# 5 | CONCLUSIONS

People with RA and their healthcare providers have clear opinions about the content and functions for an app for remote self-monitoring of RA and how it could be incorporated into clinical care, including risks and benefits. An app developed with these considerations in mind demonstrates high usability for people with RA. Next steps are development and validation of a method of patient-performed joint counts, including training of patients, and careful implementation in the clinical setting with evaluation.

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The research was funded by grants from University of Otago, the NZ Rheumatology Association and the Henry Cotton Trust. The app development costs were provided by an unrestricted educational grant from AbbVie NZ. The authors wish to sincerely thank the people living with RA for generously giving their time and insights.

#### AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

RG, TL and WJT designed the overall study with HRT, CAF, FER also contributing to practical aspects of study design. RG, HRT, CAF and FER acquired the data. RG, HRT, CAF, FER, TL and WJT all contributed to data analysis. RG and HRT wrote first draft of the manuscript and critically revised it for intellectual content, with CAF, FER, TL and WJT all providing critical revision for intellectual content. RG, HRT, CAF, FER, TL and WJT all approved the final manuscript for publication and all agree to be accountable for all aspects of the work in ensuring that questions related to the accuracy or integrity of any part of the work are appropriately investigated and resolved.

# ORCID

Rebecca Grainger b https://orcid.org/0000-0001-9201-8678 Hermaleigh Roberta Townsley https://orcid. org/0000-0002-2517-722X Tobias Langlotz https://orcid.org/0000-0003-1275-2026 William John Taylor https://orcid.org/0000-0001-6075-8479

#### REFERENCES

- Kilian A, Upton LA, Battafarano DF, Monrad SU. Workforce trends in rheumatology. *Rheum Dis Clin N Am.* 2019;45:13-26.
- 2. Smolen JS, Breedveld FC, Burmester GR, et al. Treating rheumatoid arthritis to target: 2014 update of the recommendations of an international task force. *Ann Rheum Dis.* 2016;75:3-15.
- Singh JA, Saag KG, Bridges SL, et al. 2015 American College of Rheumatology guideline for the treatment of rheumatoid arthritis. *Arthritis Rheumatol*. 2016;68:1-26.
- Deal CL, Hooker R, Harrington T, et al. The United States rheumatology workforce: supply and demand, 2005–2025. Arthritis Rheumatol. 2007;56:722-729.
- Harrison A. Provision of rheumatology services in New Zealand. New Zealand Medical J. 2004;117(117):U846.
- 6. Brophy J, et al. Measuring the rheumatology workforce in Canada: a literature review. *J Rheumatol*. 2016;43:1121-1129.
- American College of Rheumatology Committee on Rheumatology Training and Workforce Issues. Regional distribution of adult rheumatologists. Arthritis Rheumatol. 2013;65:3017-3025.
- Taylor A, Bagga H. Measures of rheumatoid arthritis disease activity in Australian clinical practice. ISRN Rheumatol. 2011;2011:1-7.
- Yu Z, Lu B, Agosti J, et al. Implementation of treat-to-target for rheumatoid arthritis in the US: analysis of baseline data from a randomized controlled trial. *Arthrit Care Res.* 2018;70:801-806.
- Curtis JR, Chen L, Danila MI, et al. Routine use of quantitative disease activity measurements among US rheumatologists: implications for treat-to-target management strategies in rheumatoid arthritis. J Rheumatol. 2017;45:40-44.
- Yazdany J, Bansback N, Clowse M, et al. Rheumatology informatics system for effectiveness: a national informatics-enabled registry for quality improvement. *Arthritis Care Res.* 2016;68:1866-1873.
- Ford JA, Solomon DH. Challenges in implementing treat-to-target strategies in rheumatology. *Rheum Dis Clin N Am.* 2019;45:101-112.
- Ndosi M, Lewis M, Hale C, et al. The outcome and cost-effectiveness of nurse-led care in people with rheumatoid arthritis: a multicentre randomised controlled trial. Ann Rheum Dis. 2014;73:1975-1982.
- Primdahl J, Sørensen J, Horn H, Petersen R, Hørslev-Petersen K. Shared care or nursing consultations as an alternative to rheumatologist follow-up for rheumatoid arthritis outpatients with low disease activity—patient outcomes from a 2-year, randomised controlled trial. Ann Rheum Dis. 2014;73:357-364.
- 15. Sørensen J, Primdahl J, Horn H, Hørslev-Petersen K. Shared care or nurse consultations as an alternative to rheumatologist follow-up for rheumatoid arthritis (RA) outpatients with stable low disease-activity RA: cost-effectiveness based on a 2-year randomized trial. *Scand J Rheumatol.* 2014;44:13-21.
- Ndosi M, Vinall K, Hale C, Bird H, Hill J. The effectiveness of nurseled care in people with rheumatoid arthritis: a systematic review. *Int J Nurs Stud.* 2011;48:642-654.
- Hewlett S, Kirwan J, Pollock J, et al. Patient initiated outpatient follow up in rheumatoid arthritis: six year randomised controlled trial. BMJ. 2005;330:171.
- Hewlett S, Mitchell K, Haynes J, Paine T, Korendowych E, Kirwan JR. Patient-initiated hospital follow-up for rheumatoid arthritis. *Rheumatology*. 2000;39:990-997.
- 19. Kirwan J, Mitchell K, Hewlett S, et al. Clinical and psychological outcome from a randomized controlled trial of patient-initiated direct-access hospital follow-up for rheumatoid arthritis extended to 4 years. *Rheumatology*. 2003;42:422-426.
- Thurah A, Stengaard-Pedersen K, Axelsen M, et al. Tele-health followup strategy for tight control of disease activity in rheumatoid arthritis: results of a randomized controlled trial. *Arthritis Care Res.* 2018;70:353-360.

21. Dixon WG, Michaud K. Using technology to support clinical care and research in rheumatoid arthritis. *Curr Opin Rheumatol*. 2019;30:1-6.

۲

- 22. van Riel P, Zuidema RM, Vogel C, Dartel S. Patient self-management and tracking a European experience. *Rheum Dis Clin N Am*. 2019;45:187-195.
- Sikorska-Siudek K, Przygodzka M, Bojanowski S, Radomski R. AB0280 mobile application for patients with rheumatoid arthritis (RA) as a supporting tool for disease activity monitoring: its usability and interoperability. *Ann Rheum Dis.* 2015;74:986.
- Austin L, Sharp CA, van der Veer SN, et al. Providing 'the bigger picture': benefits and feasibility of integrating remote monitoring from smartphones into the electronic health record: findings from the Remote Monitoring of Rheumatoid Arthritis (REMORA) study. *Rheumatology*;59(2):367-378. 2019. https://doi.org/10.1093/rheum atology/kez207
- Walker UA, Mueller RB, Jaeger VK, et al. Disease activity dynamics in rheumatoid arthritis: patients' self-assessment of disease activity via WebApp. *Rheumatol Oxf Engl.* 2017;56:1707-1712.
- 26. Grainger R, Townsley H, White B, Langlotz T, Taylor WJ. Apps for people with rheumatoid arthritis to monitor their disease activity: a review of apps for best practice and quality. *JMIR mHealth uHealth*. 2017;5(2):e7.
- Luo D, Wang P, Lu F, Elias J, Sparks JA, Lee YC. Mobile apps for individuals with rheumatoid arthritis. J Clin Rheumatol. 2019;25:133-141.
- Aletaha D, Neogi T, Silman AJ, et al. 2010 Rheumatoid arthritis classification criteria: an American College of Rheumatology/European League Against Rheumatism collaborative initiative. Arthritis Rheum. 2010; 62(9):2569-2581.
- 29. Bengtsson M. How to plan and perform a qualitative study using content analysis. *Nursingplus Open*. 2016;2:8-14.
- Braun V, Clarke V. Successful Qualitative Research. London, UK: SAGE; 2013:400.
- 31. Braun V, Clarke V. What can "thematic analysis" offer health and wellbeing researchers? *Int J Qual Stud Heal*. 2014;9:26152.
- Tong A, Sainsbury P, Craig J. Consolidated criteria for reporting qualitative research (COREQ): a 32-item checklist for interviews and focus groups. Int J Qual Health Care. 2007;19:349-357.
- Anderson JK, Zimmerman L, Caplan L, Michaud K. Measures of rheumatoid arthritis disease activity: patient (PtGA) and provider (PrGA) Global Assessment of Disease Activity, Disease Activity Score (DAS) and Disease Activity Score With 28-Joint Counts (DAS28), Simplified Disease Activity Index (SDAI), Cl. Arthritis Care Res. 2011;63:S14-S36.
- Brooke J. SUS a quick and dirty usability scale; 1996. https://hell. meiert.org/core/pdf/sus.pdf. Accessed November 15th, 2019.
- Bangor A, Kortum PT, Miller JT. An empirical evaluation of the system usability scale. Int J Hum Comput Interact. 2008;24:574-594.
- Waite-Jones JM, Majeed-Ariss R, Smith J, Stones SR, Van Rooyen V, Swallow V. Young people's, parents', and professionals' views on required components of mobile apps to support self-management of juvenile arthritis: qualitative study. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth. 2018;6:e25.
- Cai RA, Beste D, Chaplin H, et al. Developing and evaluating JIApp: acceptability and usability of a smartphone app system to improve self-management in young people with juvenile idiopathic arthritis. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth. 2017;5:e121.
- Geuens J, Geurts L, Swinnen TW, Westhovens R, Abeele V. Mobile health features supporting self-management behavior in patients with chronic arthritis: mixed-methods approach on patient preferences. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth. 2019;7:e12535.
- Revenäs Å, Opava CH, Ahlén H, Brusewitz M, Pettersson S, Åsenlöf P. Mobile internet service for self-management of physical activity in people with rheumatoid arthritis: evaluation of a test version. *RMD Open*. 2016;2(1):e000214.

821

-WILEY

International Journal of Rheumatic Diseases

- Vo V, Auroy L, Sarradon-Eck A. Patients' perceptions of mhealth apps: a meta-synthesis of qualitative studies. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth. 2019;7:e13857.
- Peiris D, Miranda JJ, Mohr DC. Going beyond killer apps: building a better mHealth evidence base. *BMJ Global Health*. 2018;3:e00676.
- 42. Cheung PP, Gossec L, Mak A, March L. Reliability of joint count assessment in rheumatoid arthritis: a systematic literature review. *Semin Arthritis Rheu*. 2014;43:721-729.
- 43. Cheung PP, Ruyssen-Witrand A, Gossec L, et al. Reliability of patient self-evaluation of swollen and tender joints in rheumatoid arthritis: a comparison study with ultrasonography, physician, and nurse assessments. *Arthritis Care Res.* 2010;62:1112-1119.

# **APPENDIX 1**

# SEMI STRUCTURED INTERVIEW SCHEDULE FOR PA-TIENTS AND PATIENT-ADVOCATES

The following questions are grouped by the topics that will be explored in the interview. The questions themselves are 'examples' because not all of these might be used, or the phrasing may vary from person to person. In addition to questions, generic prompts (such as, please tell me more about that, please could you give an example, could you please expand on that idea) will be used to elicit more detail. The interviewer will sometimes paraphrase what a participant has said in order to check understanding (eg, what I am hearing is that you think......). The interviewer will aim to use neutral language and questioning strategies to attempt to avoid biasing participant responses. This document gives an outline of the interview with specific questions indicated in italics.

#### A. Introduction and consent

- 1. Interviewer introduces self and thanks participant for time.
- Aims of interview outlined: to explore patient perspectives on an mobile software that can be used on smartphones for patient initiated monitoring of RA disease activity and communication with treating health care teams, including rheumatology team.
- 3. Logistical details outlined:
  - -. the interview will be recorded and transcribed,
  - -. the responses are confidential and will be de-identified and secure data storage will be used.
  - -. The study has ethical approval under 14/CEN/208. You can withdraw your consent and discontinue the interview at any time with no impact on you or your health care. Any questions can be answered by the research team with contact details on information sheet. Checks participant has information sheet and has signed consent form.
  - -. We expect the interview will take 30-45 minutes. Please indicate if you need a break at any time or wish to stop the interview.

#### B. Demographics and current technology access and use

Interviewer will collect basic demographic details and experience and exposure to relevant technology (hardware, applications and access) in interview sheet (attached).  Crouthamel M, Quattrocchi E, Watts S, et al. Using a ResearchKit smartphone app to collect rheumatoid arthritis symptoms from real-world participants: feasibility study. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth. 2018;6:e177.

How to cite this article: Grainger R, Townsley HR, Ferguson CA, Riley FE, Langlotz T, Taylor WJ. Patient and clinician views on an app for rheumatoid arthritis disease monitoring: Function, implementation and implications. *Int J Rheum Dis*. 2020;23:813–827. https://doi.org/10.1111/1756-185X.13850

Based on the collected data, the interviewer will tailor the questions to the technology access of the participant.

eg, Participant with smartphone, familiar with use and apps

How would you feel about using an app on your smartphone to self monitor your RA symptoms?

eg, Participant with no smartphone or experience in use but computer and internet access and use

How would you feel about having a smartphone and learning to using an app on this smartphone to self monitor your RA symptoms?

Would you be interested in using similar software on a computer (laptop or desktop)? How would computer access compare for you with smartphone access?

Are there any reasons why you would not want to use an app on a smartphone (privacy, intrusion, difficultly doing things with hands etc)?

#### C. Semi-structured interview

Thanks for the background information. It helps me frame the rest of the interview to match your current technology exposure.

We are interested in four main areas; 1. the software content, 2. how users might prefer to access the software, 3. how the software may need to function and 4. how the software will interact with the rheumatology service.

#### 1. Software content and function

There are some basic groups of information and measurements of rheumatoid arthritis activity the RA software could include and want to get your feedback on this. Here is a list (shows sheet "Possible RA app content" [attached], an A4 page)

Take a moment to read through these. (waits) Are there any that you would like to ask about or understand better? I'd like to get your thoughts about each of these sections.

First I'd like to know your thoughts on the **summary data**. This data would be entered by you and act as a portable health record that you could show to health care providers as you wished.

Does this look right to you?

Is there any other information that you think is important that should be recorded in this section?

Any other comments?

Now I'd like to know about the **patient assessment section**. The patient assessments may not look familiar to you.

#### 2. Joint counts

The tender or swollen joint count would be according to your own assessment and be entered on a body by tapping the area. Although many areas of your body could be affected by RA, rheumatologists standard assessments focus on a subset of joints. These are in the hands, arms and legs. We have three options of how this information could be entered on an app. It could look something like this (show GUI 1—hands) and this (GUI 2—other joints).

Takes a few minutes to explain—the app would feature use designs similar to A (Stick and box) B (body outline) *OR* C (body outline with skeleton). Date could be collected in two ways 1. There would be two screens for right hand (tender and swollen), two screens for left hand (tender and swollen) and two screens for body (tender and swollen). Joints on each diagram that were tender would be tapped, then same for swollen. 2. There are three screens (right hand, left hand, body). For each joint, one tap for tender, tap again, swollen, tap a third time tender and swollen).

Do you prefer one of the three GUI's (A, B or C)? Why do you say that? Which of the two ways of entering data would most suit you?

How do you think it would be for you completing this? Are there any ways that RA might impact on you completing this data?

Are there any comments about how the body should look or about how the tender/swollen areas should be entered?

## 3. Patient self reports

If you have attended rheumatology clinics through Hutt Valley DHB you have completed a form that looks like this while you wait for the rheumatologist (Card 3–Hutt Valley DHB Rheumatology assessment form– patient global and HAQII). You would enter these data on screens that might look like this (GUI 3–Patient globals and HAQ II).

How do you think this might work for you? Do you have any concerns?

The composite scores are a measure of RA disease activity that incorporate the above data. Usually your rheumatologist will calculate these in clinic but may or may not share them with you. They are often grouped into low, medium and high RA disease activity. This is sometimes displayed using a traffic light system, green – low disease, orange – medium activity, red—high disease activity. Red is used for high as it reminds the rheumatologist that something needs to be done! Here is a way that these have been presented on a web site (shows attached DAS28 severity visuals).

How would you feel about seeing these?

If these scores showed that your RA was very active, or had got more active recently, the app could automatically send an email or text your rheumatology service. How do you feel about this?

How long would you be prepared to wait for a response when you have sent information?

How would you feel about the time frame if you received a generic acknowledgement of the receipt of the information? How long after that would you expect a personal/detailed reply?

Could the reply come via text alert to the app or would you expect to speak to a health professional on the phone?

This leads me on to a more general discussion of **communication**. The app could have three communication capabilities. The first is the ability post reminders to you as an email or an alter that appeared within the

Rheumatic Diseases

app (like a text box, or little message within the app), for example, get a blood test, enter your data or attend appointments.

**@** 📎

Is this useful to you?

What are the advantages and disdavantages of these reminders for you?

The second is that you could <u>write and send a text message or email</u> to your treating rheumatology team from within the app.

Is this useful to you?

What are the advantages and disdavantages of this message function (email/text) of the app for you?

#### 4. Interaction with specialist rheumatology team

Now I'd like to know a little about how you think use of this smartphone app might impact on your interaction with your rheumatology care team (rheumatologist and their nurses). What are your thoughts?

Further comments could be elicited around the following: face to face appointments could be less frequent

- how the data may be incorporated into face to face appointments
- completing an assessment just before appointment (in waiting room, no need for paper review).
- -How participant would feel if the rheumatologist or rheumatology nurse did not use the app data the patient had collected.

## RA App interview data sheet

#### **Section A Demographics**

Interview number	
Subject initials	
Age	
Gender	
Years since RA diagnosis	
DMARDS (y/n)	
Biological DMARDs (y/n/)	

#### Section B Technology familiarity/access

Smartphone

Do you own an internet capable smartphone (y/n)
lf Y
What type of device (iPhone, Android, etc)
Do you use your device to access the internet? (y/n)
Do you use "apps" on your smartphone?
Do you use your device to access email?
Do you use your device to send or receive text messages?
Do you have a dataplan on your device?
Do you use wifi (when available) on your device?
Computer use and usage
5

Do you own a computer? (y/n)

lf Y

Do you use your computer to access the internet? (y/n)

-WILEY

Do you use your computer to access email?

Do you own another internet capable device such as a tablet or iPad?

#### lf N

Do you use computers to access the internet, for example at work or a public library?

#### Possible content of an RA app

# 1. Summary data

- -. Contact details of patient, next of kin and health care professionals
- -. Medical history and hospital admissions
- -. Medications (current and previous, including reasons for discontinuation and adverse effects)

- 2. Patient assessments
  - Tender and swollen joint count
  - Other patient assessed indices (eg, pain, global well-being, HAQ-II)
  - -Generation of composite score measures of RA activity (eg, DAS-28, SDAI)
- 3. Communication
  - Reminders to user (appointments, tests, data input eg, laboratory data)
  - Alerts to user or health care provider if patient assessments fall outside pre-set parameters
  - -Email or text message of patient assessments or patient concerns to health care providers.

#### **APPENDIX 2**

# SEMI STRUCTURED INTERVIEW SCHEDULE FOR HEALTH CARE PROFESSIONALS

#### Version A. Rheumatologist

The following questions are grouped by the topics that will be explored in the interview. The questions themselves are 'examples' because not all of these might be used, or the phrasing may vary from person to person. In addition to questions, generic prompts (such as, please tell me more about that, please could you give an example, could you please expand on that idea) will be used to elicit more detail. The interviewer will sometimes paraphrase what a participant has said in order to check understanding (eg, what I am hearing is that you think......). The interviewer will aim to use neutral language and questioning strategies to attempt to avoid biasing participant responses. This document gives an outline of the interview with specific questions indicated in italics.

#### A. Introduction and consent

- 1. Interviewer introduces self and thanks participant for time.
- Aims of interview outlined: to explore health care professional's perspectives on an mobile software that can be used on smartphones for patient initiated monitoring of RA disease activity and communication with treating health care teams, including rheumatology team.

# 3. Logistical details outlined:

- -. the interview will be recorded and parts may be transcribed,
- -. the responses are confidential and will be de-identified and secure data storage will be used.
- -. The study has ethical approval under 14/CEN/208. You can withdraw your consent and discontinue the interview at any time with no impact on you or your health care. Any questions can be answered by the research team with contact details on

information sheet. Checks participant has information sheet and has signed consent form.

-. We expect the interview will take 20-30 minutes. Please indicate if you need a break at any time or wish to stop the interview.

#### B. Demographics and current technology access and use

Interviewer will review the details and completeness of the RA app interview data sheet (attached) that the rheumatologist has completed before the interview. This includes demographic and professional practice details and experience and exposure to relevant technology (hardware, applications and access).

# C. Semi-structured interview

Thanks for the background information. It helps me frame the rest of the interview to match your current technology exposure

We are interested in three main areas; 1. the software content, 2. how the software may need to function and 3. how the software will interact with your rheumatology service

1. and 2. Software content and function

There are some basic functions that the app could have. These include a record of patient details including medical information, measurements of rheumatoid arthritis activity and means of communication or feedback to the user (the patient) and the health care team. I would like to get your feedback on this. Here is a list (shows sheet "Possible RA app content" (attached), an A4 page)

"Take a moment to read through these. (waits).

(Note Rheumatologists should be familiar with most of the patient reported indices.)

I'd like to get your thoughts about each of these sections."

First I'd like to know your thoughts on the **summary data**. These data would be entered by the patient and act as a portable health record that they could show to health care providers as they wished.

Does this look right to you?

International Journal of Rheumatic Diseases -WILEY

 $\langle \mathfrak{D} \rangle$ 

Is there any other information that you think is important that should be recorded in this section?

Any other comments?

"Now I'd like to know about the **patient assessment section** 

# A. Joint counts

The tender or swollen joint count would be entered by the patient according to their own assessment and be entered on a body by tapping the area. We have three options of how this information could be entered on an app. It could look something like this (show GUI 1—hands) or these (GUI 2—other joints and GUI 3)."

Takes a few minutes to explain—the app would feature use designs similar to A (Stick and box) B (body outline) OR C (body outline with skeleton). Data could be collected in two ways;

- There would be two screens for right hand (tender and swollen), two screens for left hand (tender and swollen) and two screens for body (tender and swollen). Joints on each diagram that were tender would be tapped, then same for swollen.
- 2. There are three screens (right hand, left hand, body). For each joint, one tap for tender, tap again, swollen, tap a third time tender and swollen).

Do you prefer one of the three GUI's (A, B or C)? Why do you say that? Are there any comments about how the body should look or about how the tender/swollen areas should be entered?

#### **B.** Patient self reports

Do you currently measure and/or record any patient reported indices in your clinical assessment of people with RA? These could include patient assessment of pain, patient global assessment of disease, the Health assessment questionnaire (the HAQ) or others?

If yes, how do you do this?)(paper, electronic etc)

In your current clinical management of people with RA, do you calculate any composite disease activity measures eg, DAS28 or CDAII?

What impact would it have on your practice if your patients with RA, arrived with completed patient reported outcomes, recorded at intervals, and calculated composite disease activity measures

The RA app we propose would send the data recorded data to the DHB and these data would be entered into the electronic medical record (concerto), much like the way blood tests are entered. We are proposing that disease activity would be calculated and "forced sign off" generated if the disease activity indices showed the patient had highly active RA (Probably signed off by rheumatology nurses). We are envisaging that this would trigger a phone call from the nurse to the patient to get more information and assist the patient in planning appropriate management (eg, see GP, appt with rheumatology). Would this have any impact on your practice? Would this be useful or create problems?

Would your practice have the ability to respond to these alerts? How would you respond – phone call, email, text, arrange and appointment? Who would do this? How long might it take to respond and how long do you think is reasonable? While on the **communication** functionality, the App could also have the ability to post <u>reminders</u> to the patient as an email or an alert that appeared within the app (like a text box, or little message within the app), for example, get a blood test, enter joint patient reported assessment data or attend appointments.

Would this be useful to the RA patients in your practice?

What are the advantages and disdavantages of these reminders for your patients?

#### 2. Interaction with specialist rheumatology team

Now I'd like to know a little about how you think use of this smartphone app might interact with your current patient management arrangements? We are interested how it may influence the way appointments are scheduled, change the way patients communicate with the rheumatology team between appointments, change work flows within the rheumatology team. What are your thoughts?

Further comments could be elicited around the following face to face appointments could be less frequent

- how the data may be incorporated into face to face appointments
- do you see any issues with patients who were completing the data and want time to review it in the clinic visit (or how they may react if you are not seen to review the data?)
- completing an assessment just before appointment (in waiting room, no need for paper review).

## RA App interview data sheet Section A Demographics

# Section B Technology familiarity/access

Smartphone

If

Do you own an internet capable smartphone (y/n)
lf Y
What type of device (iPhone, Android, etc)
Do you use your device to access the internet? (y/n)
Do you use "apps" on your smartphone?
Do you use your device to access email?
Do you use your device to send or receive text messages?
Do you have a dataplan on your device?
Do you use wifi (when available) on your device?
Computer use and usage
Do you own a computer? $(y/n)$

o you own a computer? (y/n)	
(	

Do you use your computer to access the internet? (y/n)

Do you use your computer to access email?

Do you own another internet capable device such as a tablet or iPad?

Rheumatic Diseases

lf N

Do you use computers to access the internet, for example at work or a public library?

Notes:

#### Possible content of an RA app

'ILEY-

- 1. Summary data
  - -. Contact details of patient, next of kin and health care professionals
  - -. Medical history and hospital admissions
  - -. Medications (current and previous, including reasons for discontinuation and adverse effects)

- 2. Patient assessments
  - Tender and swollen joint count
  - Other patient assessed indices (eg, pain, global well-being, HAQ-II)
  - Generation of composite score measures of RA activity (eg, DAS-28, SDAI)
- 3. Communication
  - Reminders to user (appointments, tests, data input eg, laboratory data)
  - Alerts to user or health care provider if patient assessments fall outside pre-set parameters

Email or text message of patient assessments or patient concerns to health care provider.

have not included this information, either revise your manuscript accordingly before submitting or note N/A.

#### **APPENDIX 3**

# COREQ (CONSOLIDATED CRITERIA FOR REPORTING QUALITATIVE RESEARCH) CHECKLIST

A checklist of items that should be included in reports of qualitative research. You must report the page number in your manuscript where you consider each of the items listed in this checklist. If you Developed from: Tong A, Sainsbury P, Craig J. Consolidated criteria for reporting qualitative research (COREQ): a 32-item checklist for interviews and focus groups. *International Journal for Quality in Health Care.* 2007. Volume 19, Number 6: pp. 349–357.

ional Journal of **Rheumatic Diseases**  -WILEY | 827

A checklist of items that should be included in reports of qualitative research. You must report the page number in your manuscript where you consider each of the items listed in this checklist. If you have not included this information, either revise your manuscript accordingly before submitting or note N/A.

Торіс	Item No.	Guide Questions/Description	Reported on
			Page No.
Domain 1: Research team			
and reflexivity			
Personal characteristics	Personal characteristics		
Interviewer/facilitator	1	Which author/s conducted the interview or focus group?	8
Credentials	2	What were the researcher's credentials? E.g. PhD, MD	8
Occupation	3	What was their occupation at the time of the study?	8
Gender	4	Was the researcher male or female?	8
Experience and training	5	What experience or training did the researcher have?	8
Relationship with			
participants	1		
Relationship established	6	Was a relationship established prior to study commencement?	8
Participant knowledge of	7	What did the participants know about the researcher? e.g. personal	8
the interviewer		goals, reasons for doing the research	С
Interviewer characteristics	8	What characteristics were reported about the inter viewer/facilitator?	9
		e.g. Bias, assumptions, reasons and interests in the research topic	0
Domain 2: Study design			
Theoretical framework			
Methodological orientation	9	What methodological orientation was stated to underpin the study? e.g.	
and Theory		grounded theory, discourse analysis, ethnography, phenomenology,	9
		content analysis	
Participant selection			
Sampling	10	How were participants selected? e.g. purposive, convenience,	
		consecutive, snowball	8
Method of approach	11	How were participants approached? e.g. face-to-face, telephone, mail,	0
		email	8
Sample size	12	How many participants were in the study?	13
Non-participation	13	How many people refused to participate or dropped out? Reasons?	not reported
Setting		L	
Setting of data collection	14	Where was the data collected? e.g. home, clinic, workplace	8
Presence of non-	15	Was anyone else present besides the participants and researchers?	
participants			13
Description of sample	16	What are the important characteristics of the sample? e.g. demographic	
		data, date	13, Table 1
Data collection			
Interview guide	17	Were questions, prompts, guides provided by the authors? Was it pilot	
Ū.		tested?	8
Repeat interviews	18	Were repeat inter views carried out? If yes, how many?	No
Audio/visual recording	19	Did the research use audio or visual recording to collect the data?	8.9
Field notes	20	Were field notes made during and/or after the inter view or focus group?	9
Duration	21	What was the duration of the inter views or focus group?	13
Data saturation	22	Was data saturation discussed?	9
Transcripts returned	23	Were transcripts returned to participants for comment and/or	-
manachpiareturneu	25	were transcripts returned to participants for comment allu/or	9

Торіс	Item No.	Guide Questions/Description	Reported on	
			Page No.	
		correction?		
Domain 3: analysis and				
findings				
Data analysis				
Number of data coders	24	How many data coders coded the data?	9	
Description of the coding	25	Did authors provide a description of the coding tree?		
tree			no	
Derivation of themes	26	Were themes identified in advance or derived from the data?	9	
Software	27	What software, if applicable, was used to manage the data?	9	
Participant checking	28	Did participants provide feedback on the findings?	9	
Reporting			•	
Quotations presented	29	Were participant quotations presented to illustrate the themes/findings?		
		Was each quotation identified? e.g. participant number	27,28,29,30	
Data and findings consistent	30	Was there consistency between the data presented and the findings?	13,14	
Clarity of major themes	31	Were major themes clearly presented in the findings?	13,14	
Clarity of minor themes	32	Is there a description of diverse cases or discussion of minor themes?	n/a	

Developed from: Tong A, Sainsbury P, Craig J. Consolidated criteria for reporting qualitative research (COREQ): a 32-item checklist for interviews and focus groups. International Journal for Quality in Health Care. 2007. Volume 19, Number 6: pp. 349 – 357

Once you have completed this checklist, please save a copy and upload it as part of your submission. DO NOT include this checklist as part of the main manuscript document. It must be uploaded as a separate file.

DOI: 10.1111/1756-185X.13861

APLAR GRAND ROUND CASE

# Anti-alanyl tRNA positive antisynthase syndrome with Kaposi sarcoma

Nan He<sup>1</sup> | Dingqi Lu<sup>2</sup> | Jing Xue<sup>3</sup> | Xinchang Wang<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>The Second Affiliated Hospital of Zhejiang Chinese Medical University, Hangzhou, China

<sup>2</sup>The Second Clinical Medical College of Zhejiang Chinese Medical University, Hangzhou, China

<sup>3</sup>The Second Affiliated Hospital of Zhejiang University School of Medicine, Hangzhou, China

Correspondence Xinchang Wang, The Second Affiliated Hospital of Zhejiang Chinese Medical University, Chaowang Road No. 318, Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province 310005. China. Email: ossani@126.com

## Abstract

We report a rare case of antisynthase syndrome (ASS) complicated with Kaposi sarcoma, analyze its clinical characteristics, and review the literature on the topic. An 80-year-old male patient developed fever, cough, and shortness of breath. Lung highresolution computed tomography showed nonspecific interstitial pneumonia in both lungs, and myositis antibody examination showed strongly positive anti-alanyl tRNA synthase (PL-12) antibodies. Based on these findings, the patient was diagnosed with ASS. After full-dose glucocorticoid treatment, the symptoms of fever and cough were relieved, but skin thickening and pigmentation in both feet were observed. We confirmed Kaposi sarcoma through skin pathology and immunohistochemical examination of the bottom of the patient's feet, and the patient was transferred to a cancer hospital for radiotherapy. ASS presents with some skin changes that might lead to misdiagnosis. ASS complicated with Kaposi sarcoma is rare, and to our knowledge, this is the first case reported in China.

# **KEYWORDS**

anti-alanyl tRNA, antisynthase syndrome, immunosuppressive therapy, Kaposi sarcoma, PL-12

# **1** | INTRODUCTION

Antisynthetase syndrome (ASS) is a type of idiopathic inflammatory myopathy (IIM), which is characterized by the presence of antibodies against aminoacyl-tRNA synthetases in serum, and is associated with multiple clinical syndromes. Clinical manifestations, serological indicators, and chest imaging findings differ for different clinical ASS subtypes. The association of myositis and cancer occurrence, in cancer-associated myositis (CAM), is well known. The correlation between myositis, cancer occurrence time, and CAM remission after cancer treatment indicates that in some cases, CAM might be a type of paraneoplastic myositis syndrome.<sup>1</sup> Kaposi sarcoma (KS) is a vasoproliferative disease caused by human herpes virus (HHV)-8 infections, which is associated with human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) infection and immunosuppression.

We report the first case of ASS complicated with KS during therapy in China, analyze its clinical characteristics, and review the relevant literature.

# 2 | CASE SUMMARY

An 80-year-old man was hospitalized in September 2019 with fever, cough, fatigue, skin pigmentation, and thickening in both feet. In May 2019, he had fever without an apparent cause (~39.2°C), cough, shortness of breath, fatigue, and rash. At this time he did not present symptoms of Raynaud's phenomenon or mechanic's hand, which are often associated with ASS. Laboratory test results were: white blood cells (WBC) 7.5  $\times$  10<sup>9</sup>/L; neutrophil (NE) 78.3%; C-reactive protein level (CRP) 67.9 mg/L; and creatine kinase level (CK) 44 U/L. Chest

© 2020 Asia Pacific League of Associations for Rheumatology and John Wiley & Sons Australia, Ltd

Nan He and Dinggi Lu contributed equally to this work and should be considered co-first authors.

International Journal of Rheumatic Diseases

computed tomography (CT) showed exudation in both lungs and the lobular septum was thickened, the two lungs were frequently patchy and blurred, and the ground glass and honeycomb-like changes could be seen (Figure 1A). Pulmonary infection was diagnosed and moxifloxacin 0.4 g per day was administered orally. Since his symptoms were not significantly improved, he was hospitalized at the respiratory ward.

Laboratory test results after 2 weeks showed: WBC  $7.2 \times 10^{9}$ /L; NE 79.0%; CRP 40.7 mg/L; erythrocyte sedimentation rate (ESR) 43 mm/h; CK 76 U/L; procalcitonin 0.10 ng/mL; and immunoglobulin G (IgG) 18.9 g/L. Chest CT showed no significant change since the previous examination (Figure 1B). The antibiotic regimen was changed to cefoperazone sodium and sulbactam 2.0 g every 8 hours.

No other abnormalities, except for mucosal hyperemia and edema, were noted on bronchoscopy. Further, the alveolar lavage test for non-tuberculous *Mycobacterium*, *Aspergillus*, and *Cryptococcus* were negative. Antibody testing revealed anti-nuclear antibody titer was 1:100, and there was anti-Ro52 antibody positivity. Labial gland biopsy showed slightly atrophic salivary gland tissue and interstitial multifocal lymphocyte aggregation (>50/foci).

The myositis antibody spectrum included anti-signal repetition particle IgG(+), anti-PL-12 IgG(+++), and anti-Ro52 IgG(++); lung function parameters forced vital capacity 37.3, total lung capacity 43.5, diffusion capacity of carbon monoxide 48.1; and cellular immune function parameters CD19<sup>+</sup> B-cell 7, CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cell 672 (normal). Antisynthetase syndrome, and interstitial pneumonia were diagnosed.

He was transferred to the department of rheumatology and administered methylprednisolone 40 mg per day for 2 weeks. His symptoms were significantly relieved, and he was discharged from the hospital. Glucocorticoid dosage was gradually reduced to 8 mg per day; no immunosuppressants had been administered.

In July 2019, he developed bilateral foot swelling without obvious inducement, local skin darkening, and slight pain. He was treated with Chinese medicine foot soaking, but the symptoms did not improve. He gradually developed bilateral foot blackening, swelling, and obvious pain and was re-admitted to the hospital.

۲

-WILEY

Physical examination showed no rash, Gottron sign, or mechanic's hand but a few Velcro rales were noted in both the lower lungs. Muscle strength and limb tension were normal. No swelling, tenderness, or joint dysfunction was noted. Skin of the double sole was black with some cracks (Figure 2A). Skin temperature was slightly lower than normal, and bilateral dorsalis pedis artery pulsation was normal. ESR and CRP were normal, and cellular immune function was normal (CD19 + B-cell 10/ $\mu$ L and CD4 + T-cell 1107/ $\mu$ L). Chest CT re-examination showed that nonspecific interstitial inflammation in both lungs was better than B (Figure 1C).

Arteriovenous B-ultrasound of the lower extremities indicated mild atherosclerosis. Lower-limb CT angiography showed no arterial stenosis or occlusion. Pathologic biopsy of the dorsal skin showed hyperkeratosis, irregular epidermis, mild hyperplasia, and endothelial cell proliferation in the dermis that was partly distributed in a lumpy pattern. Vascular fissures and a large number of dilated lumens filled with red blood cells were observed (Figure 3). Immunohistochemical staining revealed the following: smooth muscle antigen(–), vimentin(+), S-100(+), CD34(+), Fil(+) –1, ERG(+), D2-40 part(+), Ki-67 (15%-20% +), FX II(–), and HHV-8 part(+) (Figure 4). These results were consistent with the changes in KS.

He was transferred to a cancer hospital for local radiotherapy and regular chemotherapy. His skin on the feet gradually molted, exudation and pain were obvious, and new granulation tissue gradually grew (Figure 2B). No other changes were observed during follow-up. At present, his condition is better than that prior to treatment, and he is undergoing chemotherapy.

# 3 | DISCUSSION

In addition to ASS, IIM diseases include dermatomyositis (DM), polymyositis, immune-mediated necrotizing myopathy, and inclusion



**FIGURE 1** High-resolution CT scan of the chest of the patient: A, (2019-05-19) The texture of both lungs is increased and thickened, the lobular septum is thickened, the two lungs are frequently patchy and blurred, and the ground glass and honeycomb-like changes are made. B, (2019-05-27) No significant change compared with A. C, (2019-08-02) Nonspecific Interstitial inflammation of both lungs, better than B.





FIGURE 3 Light microscopic manifestations of foot dorsal skin pathology: A, Hyperplasia can be seen in the dermis, irregular branching into a network of blood vessels and cracks (arrow), red blood cells can be seen inside and outside the cavity, with spindle cells in between, fused with nodules. (Hematoxylin-eosin stain, original magnification, ×40). B, The spindle cells are intertwined (arrow), the cell heterosexuality is not obvious, and red blood cells can be seen inside and outside the blood vessel cavity (Hematoxylin-eosin stain, original magnification, ×400).

body myositis. DM shows the highest correlation with cancer development, with the incidence of about 5 times higher in DM patients than in the general population.<sup>2</sup> DM patients with cancer tend to exhibit higher levels of anti-transcriptional intermediate factor 1 (TIF1)- $\gamma$  and anti-nuclear matrix protein 2 antibodies.<sup>3-5</sup> IIM itself may be a risk factor for cancer, and immunosuppressants administered for IIM treatment also increase malignancy risk.

Antisynthase syndrome has an annual incidence of approximately 0.6/100 000.<sup>6</sup> A retrospective study<sup>7</sup> showed that the morbidity of malignancy in Chinese ASS patients was 6.5%. The presence of anti-Jo1 antibodies was associated with a higher risk of cancer than other autoimmune antibodies such as anti-PL-7 and anti-PL-12 antibodies.<sup>8</sup> ASS patients with both anti-Jo1 and anti-Ro52 antibodies are more prone to cancer than those with anti-Jo1 antibodies alone (19.4% vs 5.7%), highlighting the significance of anti-Ro52 antibodies in ASS patients with cancer. In our case, blood tests revealed the presence of anti-Ro52 antibodies, consistent with Marie et al,<sup>8</sup> suggesting that anti-Ro52 positivity may be a risk factor for cancer.

Kaposi sarcoma is an endothelium-derived cancer, which can be classified into classic KS, endemic KS (found in African populations), iatrogenic KS caused by long-term immunosuppressive therapy, HIVinduced and immunodeficiency-associated epidemic KS, and KS in HIV-negative men who have sex with men.<sup>9</sup> Although these 5 types

of KS are different, they mainly affect men and are related to HHV-8 infection, a highly carcinogenic human virus. HHV-8 can infect endothelial cells, induce angiogenic phenotypes in infected cells and promote neovascularization.<sup>10</sup> HHV-8 genome-encoded proteins inhibit the innate immune system by blocking pattern recognition receptors such as Toll-like receptor (TLR)2, TLR4, nucleotide-binding leucin-rich repeat Pyrin domain (NLRP)1, and NLRP3<sup>11,12</sup> and promote HHV8-related disease progression. Our patient was an older male with skin lesions on the feet and HHV-8 infection, consistent with the classic manifestations of KS.

Dantzig<sup>13</sup> first reported the occurrence of KS and polymyositis in 1974..Simeoni et al<sup>14</sup> reported a case of KS in a DM patient thought to be caused by immunosuppressive therapy; KS also occurred in an ASS patient after 2 months of glucocorticoid therapy without immunosuppressant drugs.<sup>15</sup> The number of glucocorticoid receptors increases in KS tissues, and glucocorticoids can induce HHV-8 replication and activate the lytic cycle.<sup>16</sup> This may be one of the mechanisms underlying KS development after glucocorticoid administration. Our patient did not receive immunosuppressive therapy, and CD4+/CD8 + T-cell proportion did not significantly decrease. Therefore, glucocorticoid-induced KS could not be ruled out.

Sellitto et al<sup>17</sup> reported a rare case of KS with ASS paraneoplastic syndrome in which ASS was stable during chemotherapy and



FIGURE 4 Immunohistochemical manifestations of foot dorsal skin pathology: A, HHV-8 (+); B, CD34 (+); C, Fil-1 (+); D, D2-40 (+); E, Vimitin (+); F, SMA (-). original magnifications × 100.

relapsed after chemotherapy discontinuation. Our patient developed skin lesions and was diagnosed with KS 2 months after being diagnosed with ASS. However, the possibility that KS development had started before ASS diagnosis cannot be excluded. Therefore, ASS may have also appeared as a secondary cancer manifestation in our patient. As in the case reported by Sellitto, our patient also tested positive for anti-Ro52 antibodies, which is suggestive of the link between anti-Ro52 antibodies and cancer risk in ASS patients.

Sufficient understanding of the pathophysiological relationship between ASS and KS is lacking. The number of genetic modifications in the tumor *TIF1* gene, including mutations and loss of heterozygosity, increases in patients with anti-TIF1 $\gamma$ -positive myositis,<sup>18</sup> suggesting that an induced immune response is associated with both cancer and inflammatory myopathy. Whether this response caused KS in our patient remains unclear.

This case provides some insights into ASS and its complications. Although very few cases of ASS with KS are reported. It is important for ASS patients who are involved with interstitial pneumonia to have early immunosuppressive therapy, and attention to their immunosuppression state at the same time. We recommend preventative cancer screening and follow-up for ASS patients, especially those who are anti-Ro52 antibody positive. Furthermore, in ASS patients treated with immunosuppressant drugs, once unexplained skin changes occur, skin biopsy should be performed as soon as possible.

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We thank the pathology department of The Second Affiliated Hospital of Zhejiang Chinese Medical University for the assistance in interpreting the tumor immunohistochemical staining.

#### CONFLICT OF INTEREST

The authors have declared no conflicts of interest.

# AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

Nan He and Dingqi Lu contributed equally to this paper, they were involved in the conception, design, data acquisition and write-up of the manuscript. Jing Xue and Xinchang Wang contributed to data acquisition, critical review of manuscript for important intellectual content and final approval of the manuscript.

# ORCID

Nan He Dhttps://orcid.org/0000-0003-1944-9564 Dingqi Lu Dhttps://orcid.org/0000-0003-4503-8486

#### REFERENCES

- Leipe J, Schulze-Koops H. [Paraneoplastic syndromes in rheumatology]. Der Internist. 2018;59:145-150.
- Olazagasti Jeannette M, Baez Pedro J, Wetter David A, et al. Cancer risk in dermatomyositis: a meta-analysis of cohort studies. Am J Clin Dermatol. 2015;16:89-98.
- Reid W, DeWane ME, Jun L. Dermatomyositis: diagnosis and treatment. J Am Acad Dermatol. 2020;82(2):283-296.
- Ichimura Y, Matsushita T, Hamaguchi Y, et al. Anti-NXP2 autoantibodies in adult pa- tients with idiopathic inflammatory myopathies: possible associa- tion with malignancy. Ann Rheum Dis. 2012;71(5):710-713.
- Trallero-Araguas E, Rodrigo-Pendás JÁ, Selva-O'Callaghan A, et al. Usefulness of anti-p155 autoanti- body for diagnosing cancer-associated dermatomyositis: a sys- tematic review and meta-analysis. *Arthritis Rheum*. 2012;64(2):523-532.
- Mirrakhimov Aibek E. Antisynthetase syndrome: a review of etiopathogenesis, diagnosis and management. *Curr Med Chem.* 2015;22:1963-1975.

- Jingli S, Shanshan LI, Clinical YH, et al. Profiles and prognosis of patients with distinct antisynthetase autoantibodies. J Rheumatol. 2017;44:1051-1057.
- Isabelle M, Yves HP, Stéphane D, et al. Short-term and long-term outcome of anti-Jo1-positive patients with anti-Ro52 antibody. *Semin Arthritis Rheum*. 2012;41:890-899.
- 9. Nicolas D. Update on oncogenesis and therapy for Kaposi sarcoma. *Curr Opin Oncol.* 2020;32:122-128.
- Shasha LI, Lei B, Jiazhen D, et al. Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus: epidemiology and molecular biology. *Adv Exp Med Biol.* 2017;1018:91-127.
- Bussey KA, Reimer E, Todt H, et al. The gammaherpesviruses Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus and murine gammaherpesvirus 68 modulate the toll-like receptor-induced proinflammatory cytokine response. J Virol. 2014;88(16):9245-9259.
- Gregory SM, Davis BK, West JA, et al. Discovery of a viral NLR homolog that inhibits the inflammasome. *Science*. 2011;331(6015):330-334.
- Dantzig PI. Kaposi sarcoma and polymyositis. Arch Dermatol. 1974;110(4):605-607.
- 14. Sara S, Antonio P, Sara M, et al. Dermatomyositis complicated with Kaposi sarcoma: a case report. *Clin Rheumatol*. 2007;26:440-442.

- 15. Laura B, Lucía RG, Eduardo C, et al. Kaposi's sarcoma in a steroid-treated antisynthethase antibody syndrome patient. *Rheumatol Clin.* 2013;9:243-245.
- González-Sixto B, Conde A, Mayo E, et al. [Kaposi sarcoma associated with systemic corticosteroid therapy]. Actas Dermosifiliogr(Spanish). 2007;98:553-555.
- 17. Ausilia S, Elio AL, Ciro R, et al. Plantar Kaposi sarcoma revealed by antisynthetase syndrome. *J Clin Rheumatol*. 2018;24:281-285.
- Iago P-F, Berta F-F, Ernesto T-A, et al. Tumour TIF1 mutations and loss of heterozygosity related to cancer-associated myositis. *Rheumatology (Oxford)*. 2018;57:388-396.

How to cite this article: He N, Lu D, Xue J, Wang X. Anti-alanyl tRNA positive antisynthase syndrome with Kaposi sarcoma. *Int J Rheum Dis.* 2020;23:828–832. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/1756-</u>185X.13861

DOI: 10.1111/1756-185X.13847

# COCHRANE CORNER



🗠 👰 🛛 Wiley



# Are interventions for preventing falls in older people in care facilities and hospitals effective? A Cochrane Review summary with commentary

The aim of this commentary is to discuss from a rehabilitation perspective the published Cochrane Review "Interventions for preventing falls in older people in care facilities and hospitals"<sup>1</sup> by Cameron et al.<sup>a</sup>

# 2 | BACKGROUND

Falls are commonly described as "inadvertently coming to rest on the ground, floor or other lower level, excluding intentional change in position to rest in furniture, wall or other objects".<sup>2</sup> About one-third of the population aged 65 or older falls each year<sup>3</sup> rising up to 50% for those living in long-term care institutions.<sup>4</sup> A systematic review has shown that in nursing homes and hospitals falls in older people have multifactorial etiologies, and risk factors include history of falls, use of walking aids and disability.<sup>5</sup> A retrospective study reported that almost 90% of external-cause deaths of residents of nursing homes in Victoria (Australia) were due to falls.<sup>6</sup> There are many interventions that are used to prevent falls in the elderly. The important question as to which interventions are effective for preventing falls in care facilities and hospitals in older people is addressed in a Cochrane Review.<sup>1</sup> The evidence for effectiveness of these interventions is of particular interest to physiatrists and other rehabilitation professionals.

# 3 | WHAT IS THE AIM OF THIS COCHRANE REVIEW?

The aim of this Cochrane Review was to assess the effects of interventions designed to reduce the incidence of falls in older people in care facilities and hospitals.

# 4 | WHAT WAS STUDIED IN THE COCHRANE REVIEW?

The population addressed included older people staying in care facilities or hospitals. The interventions studied were any intervention aimed to reduce falls. They were classified using the taxonomy developed by the Prevention of Falls Network Europe (ProFaNE) and grouped by combination (single, multiple, or multifactorial), and type or descriptors (exercises, medication, surgery, management of urinary incontinence, fluid or nutrition therapy, psychological interventions, environment/assistive technology, social environment, interventions to increase knowledge, other interventions).<sup>7</sup> The interventions were compared with placebo or "usual care", where "standard practices" for managing risk factors for falls were applied. The primary outcomes were rate of falls and risk of falling, secondary outcomes included number of participants sustaining a fall-related fracture, complications of the interventions, and economic outcomes.

# 5 | SEARCH METHODOLOGY AND UP-TO-DATENESS OF THE COCHRANE REVIEW?

This Cochrane systematic review is an update of a review first published in 2010<sup>8</sup> and updated in 2012.<sup>9</sup> Authors searched, without any language restriction, for studies that had been published up to August 3, 2017, on the Cochrane Bone, Joint and Muscle Trauma Group Specialized Register, the Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials (CENTRAL), MEDLINE, Embase, CINAHL, the World Health Organization's International Clinical Trials Registry Platform Search Portal, and ClinicalTrials.gov.

<sup>a</sup>This summary is based on a Cochrane Review previously published in the *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2018, Issue 9. Art. No.: CD005465, DOI: 10.1002/14651858. CD005465.pub4. (see www.cochranelibrary.com for information). Cochrane Reviews are regularly updated as new evidence emerges and in response to feedback, and Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews should be consulted for the most recent version of the review. The views expressed in the summary with commentary are those of the Cochrane Corner author(s) and do not represent the Cochrane Library or Wiley. This review was produced with the support of the Cochrane Bone, Joint and Muscle Trauma Review Group. This Cochrane Corner is produced in agreement with the *International Journal of Rheumatic Diseases* by Cochrane Rehabilitation.

 $\ensuremath{\mathbb{C}}$  2020 Asia Pacific League of Associations for Rheumatology and John Wiley & Sons Australia, Ltd

# 6 | WHAT ARE THE MAIN RESULTS OF THE COCHRANE REVIEW?

The review included 95 studies (138 164 people). Thirty-five trials (77 869 people) were added to the previous review.<sup>9</sup> Authors reported the results by setting (care facilities or hospitals), combination of intervention (single, multiple, or multifactorial) and intervention type (categorized according to ProFaNE).<sup>7</sup> Table 1 summarizes the included studies with information on the number of studies and participants for the classified intervention and for each outcome studied.

The review shows the following according to settings and classification of interventions.

# 6.1 | Care facilities

Seventy-one trials included patients in care facilities and analyzed single (exercise, medication, environment/assistive technology, social and psychological interventions), multiple, or multifactorial interventions.

- For all interventions, there is uncertainty of their effects on fractures and on adverse events as the quality of the evidence for these outcomes was graded as very low.
- There is also uncertainty on the effects of exercise compared with usual care on the rate of falls (very low-quality evidence).
- Low-quality evidence suggests little or no difference of exercise on risk of falling.
- There is also low-quality evidence of little or no difference with medication review compared with usual care regarding the rate of falls and risk of falling.
- It is uncertain whether different types of exercise can influence any of the outcomes as the evidence quality is very low.
- Vitamin D supplementation probably reduces rate of falls but probably makes little or no difference to the risk of falling in those with low levels of vitamin D (moderate-quality evidence).
- Moreover, an education intervention aimed at increasing the prescription of vitamin D, calcium and osteoporosis medication may make little or no difference to the rate of falls or risk of falling (low-quality evidence).
- The very low-quality evidence from the single trial testing an environment/assistive technology intervention (wireless position-monitoring), means there is uncertainty of its effect on the rate of falls.
- Considering the quality of evidence on staff training interventions, there is uncertainty of any effect on the rate of falls, but the intervention may make little or no difference to the risk of fracture.
- Regarding service model change interventions, the use of a falls risk-assessment tool probably makes little or no difference to the rate of falls or risk of falling, while there is uncertainty on the effect of dementia care mapping on rate of falls. Evidence on

the risk of fracture is also uncertain for the interventions in this category.

- Considering the very low quality of available evidence, there is uncertainty on the effectiveness of psychological interventions in reducing the rate of falls and the risk of falling.
- There is uncertainty whether multiple interventions influence the rate of falls, risk of falling, as quality of available evidence was very low.
- There is uncertainty on the effect of multifactorial interventions on rate of falls (very low-quality evidence). Low-quality evidence suggests these interventions may make little or no difference on risk of falling.

# 6.2 | Hospitals

Twenty-four trials examined patients in hospitals. The analyzed treatments were single (exercise, medication, environment/assistive technology, and social interventions), or multifactorial.

- There is uncertainty whether additional exercise has an effect on the rate or risk of falling, as available evidence is very low.
- It is also uncertain whether medication review and vitamin D supplementation are effective on rate or risk of falling.
- The evidence on any environment/assistive technology intervention (eg furnishing, communication aids such as bracelets for those at high risk for falls and bed exit alarms) and social environment (eg changes in service models) is also very low, indicating uncertainty of their effect on the rate or risk of falling.
- It is also uncertain whether an educational intervention based on the identification of risk factors and usual fall-prevention care in acute medical wards can be effective, but low-quality evidence shows that providing patients with educational materials alone may make little or no difference to the rate of falls or risk of falling.
- Multifactorial interventions may reduce rate of falls (low-quality evidence). However, there is uncertainty regarding their effects on risk of falling.

# 7 | HOW DID THE AUTHORS CONCLUDE?

There was evidence of effectiveness for some of the investigated interventions but most of the evidence were graded as low or very low quality. Further high-quality large randomized controlled trials on this topic would be necessary to clarify the effectiveness of the various interventions to prevent falls and fracture-related falls in patients staying in care facilities and hospitals.

# 8 | WHAT ARE THE IMPLICATIONS OF THE COCHRANE EVIDENCE FOR PRACTICE IN REHABILITATION?

Falls are one of the most common causes of morbidity and mortality in the elderly, representing a major issue in care facilities and

GIMIGLIANO	International Journal of		835		
	Rheumatic Diseases				

 TABLE 1
 Summary of number of studies and participants available for 4 outcomes for each comparison, split by setting

	Rate of falls		Risk of falling		Risk of fracture		Adverse events	
Setting and intervention	No. trials	No. people	No. trials	No. people	No. trials	No. people	No. trials	No. people
Care facilities, single intervention,	10	2002	10	2090	1	183	4	1032
exercise (vs usual care)	4	130	1	110				
Care facilities, single intervention, comparisons of two different exercise programs	5	305	6	327	1	159	4	269
Care facilities, single intervention,	6	2409	6	5139	1	93	2	102
medication review intervention	1	716	1	716				
	1	36						
Care facilities, single intervention,	4	4512	4	4512	3	4464	2	747
vitamin D supplementation	1	91	1	91	1	583	1	91
	1	4017	1	4017	1	4017	1	583
			1	583				
			1	75				
Care facilities, single intervention, environment/assistive technology intervention	1	43					1	43
Care facilities, single intervention,	1	5637	1	4017	1	5637		
staff training	1	392						
	1	497 staff members 982 facility beds						
Care facilities, single intervention,	1	1125	1	1125	1	1125		
service model change	1	289						
	1	293						
	1	5391			1	5391		
Care facilities, single intervention, psychological intervention	1	114	1	114				
	1	49						
Care facilities, other single	1	145	1	145	1	395	1	145
interventions							1	395
Care facilities, multiple intervention	1	190	1	190	1	190		
	1	412	1	412	1	412		
	1	50						
Care facilities, multifactorial	10	3439	9	3153	5	2160	3	312
intervention	1	31	1	482				
Hospitals, single, exercise	2	215	2	83			1	161
Hospitals, single, medication review intervention	1	114	1	114				
Hospitals, single, vitamin D supplementation			1	205	1	205	1	205
Hospitals, single, furnishing	1	54	1	54				
adaptations	1	11 099						
Hospitals, single, communication aids	1	134	1	134				
	2	28 649	2	28 649			2	27 742
	1	70						

#### TABLE 1 (Continued)

	Rate of falls		Risk of falling		Risk of fracture		Adverse events	
Setting and intervention	No. trials	No. people	No. trials	No. people	No. trials	No. people	No. trials	No. people
Hospitals, single, service model	1	1122	1	5264	1	199		
change intervention	1	2201	1	71				
	1	5264						
	1	217						
	1	199						
Hospitals, single, knowledge	1	1206	1	1206	1	1206		
intervention	1	1822	1	1822				
Hospitals, multifactorial intervention	5	44 664	3	39 889	2	4615	4	39 763

Note: Many of the trials included in the review are cluster randomized controlled trials and thus the available evidence is substantially less than it might appear from the number of participants for these trials.

hospitals. The etiology of falls is multifactorial and therefore there are many interventions that might be successfully addressed to prevent them. The International Classification of Functioning, Disability and Health (ICF) is an ideal comprehensive framework for fall risk assessment and management.<sup>10</sup> An ICF core set comprising 34 fall risk categories (18 body functions, 2 body structures, 8 activities and participation, 4 environmental factors, and 2 personal factors) was developed<sup>11</sup> and tested.<sup>12</sup> Physiatrists need to be aware of the different treatment options, their effects on reducing the rate and risk of falling, the risk of fracture, and possible adverse events. Data on how these interventions can optimize functioning should also be provided. Evidence from this Cochrane systematic review and from future well-conducted randomized controlled trials on this topic can contribute to inform rehabilitation health professionals.

International Journal of Rheumatic Diseases

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The author thanks Cochrane Rehabilitation and Cochrane Bone, Joint and Muscle Trauma Review Group for reviewing the contents of the Cochrane Corner.

# CONFLICTS OF INTEREST

The author declares no conflicts of interest.

Francesca Gimigliano

Department of Mental and Physical Health and Preventive Medicine, University of Campania 'Luigi Vanvitelli', Napoli, Italy

#### Correspondence

Francesca Gimigliano, Department of Mental and Physical Health and Preventive Medicine, University of Campania 'Luigi Vanvitelli', Napoli, Italy Email: francescagimigliano@gmail.com

#### REFERENCES

- Cameron ID, Dyer SM, Panagoda CE, et al. Interventions for preventing falls in older people in care facilities and hospitals. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* 2018;9:CD005465.
- WHO. WHO Global Report On Falls Prevention In Older Age. Geneva: World Health Organization, 2007.
- Campbell AJ, Reinken J, Allan BC, et al. Falls in old age: a study of frequency and related clinical factors. Age Ageing. 1981;10:264-270.
- Tinetti ME. Factors associated with serious injury during falls by ambulatory nursing home residents. J Am Geriatr Soc. 1987;35:644-648.
- Deandrea S, Bravi F, Turati F, et al. Risk factors for falls in older people in nursing homes and hospitals. A systematic review and meta-analysis. Arch Gerontol Geriatr. 2013;56:407-415.
- Ibrahim JE, Murphy BJ, Bugeja L, et al. Nature and extent of external-cause deaths of nursing home residents in Victoria, Australia. J Am Geriatr Soc. 2015;63:954-962.
- Lamb SE, Becker C, Gillespie LD, et al. Reporting of complex interventions in clinical trials: development of a taxonomy to classify and describe fall-prevention interventions. *Trials*. 2011;12:125.
- Cameron ID, Murray GR, Gillespie LD, et al. Interventions for preventing falls in older people in nursing care facilities and hospitals. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* 2010;1:CD005465.
- Cameron ID, Gillespie LD, Robertson MC, et al. Interventions for preventing falls in older people in care facilities and hospitals. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* 2012;12:CD005465.
- 10. WHO. International Classification of Functioning, Disability and Health. Geneva: World Health Organization, 2001.
- Yen T-H, Lin L-F, Wei T-S, et al. Delphi-based assessment of fall-related risk factors in acute rehabilitation settings according to the International Classification of Functioning, Disability and Health. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil.* 2014;95:50-57.
- Huang SW, Lin LF, Chou LC, et al. Feasibility of using the International Classification of Functioning, Disability and Health Core Set for evaluation of fall-related risk factors in acute rehabilitation settings. Eur J Phys Rehabil Med. 2016;52:152-158.

# CORRESPONDENCE

🗠 📎 🛛 Wiley

# Successful treatment of adalimumab for older Behçet's disease complicated with pulmonary artery thrombosis: A case report

Behçet's disease (BD) is a chronic systemic disorder characterized by inflammation of multiple organs, such as eyes, mucosa, skin, brain, joints, and vessels.<sup>1</sup> Vascular manifestations, which consist of arterial involvements and venous involvements, affect 15%-40% of patients with BD.<sup>2</sup> Pulmonary involvements, including pulmonary thrombosis and pulmonary aneurysms, are less common, but associated with poor prognosis and severe cases and are most common among younger men.<sup>3</sup> Anti-tumor necrosis factor (anti-TNF) inhibitors have been recommended for the treatment of severe cases of vascular BD.<sup>4</sup> However, the use of TNF inhibitors has been reported to cause adverse effects such as infections, especially for older patients.<sup>5</sup>

Herein, we present a case of an older patient with BD, who developed refractory pulmonary artery thrombosis, improved with adalimumab (ADA), and sustained remission for 1 year without adverse effects.

# 1 | CASE REPORT

A 80-year-old man admitted to our hospital with fever, dyspnea and erythema nodosum. He had a history of recurrent erythema nodosum in lower limbs and recurrent oral aphthous ulcers for over 4 years. He was diagnosed with BD 6 months ago with oral aphthous ulcers, anterior uveitis, erythema nodosum, and arthritis. As treatment of colchicine and prednisolone (PSL) 30 mg/d was started, his clinical symptoms rapidly improved. The dose of PSL was decreased to 15 mg/d, but he suffered from dyspnea and fever 1 month later.

A physical examination at admission revealed a fever of 37.0°C, arthralgia, erythema nodosum in both legs, and left leg edema. Respiratory rate was 20 breaths/min, pulse rate was 108 beats/min, and oxygen saturation was 93% in room air. No dry cough, oral ulcers, inflammatory back pain, psoriasis, or abdominal pain were seen. Laboratory data showed C-reactive protein (CRP) of 8.33 mg/dL and erythrocyte sedimentation rate of 70 mm/h. D-dimer (D-D) was elevated to 2.3 µg/mL. White blood cell count was  $6300/\mu$ L, hemoglobin was 11.7 g/dL and the platelet count was  $23.8 \times 10^4/\mu$ L. Human leucocyte antigen (HLA)-B26 was positive and HLA-B27 was negative. Anti-nuclear antibodies, anticardiolipin antibodies, and lupus anticoagulant were negative. Enhanced chest computed tomography (CT) showed multiple thrombi on right pulmonary artery (Figure 1). He was diagnosed as having pulmonary artery thrombosis complicated with BD. The dose of PSL was increased from 15 to 20 mg/d, and heparin was started. However, chest CT performed 1 week after the first scan showed exacerbation of thrombosis (Figure 1). He was administered subcutaneous ADA (160 mg at first week and from then 80 mg every 2 weeks; Figure 2). Immediately after treatment, his clinical symptoms improved. Four days after first injection of ADA, CRP and D-D was decreased. Chest CT revealed improvement of pulmonary thrombosis after 2 weeks. We could taper PSL dose from 20 to 4 mg/d without recurrence after a year. He had no adverse effect, such as injection site reactions or infections.

# 2 | DISCUSSION

We present a case of an older patient with vascular BD who received ADA treatment without adverse effect.

Pulmonary artery manifestation is rare, and affects mainly young man, but predicts a poor prognosis. Pulmonary artery aneurysms and pulmonary artery thrombosis are the two most common manifestations in pulmonary artery manifestations, the prevalence of which is <5%.<sup>6</sup> However, vascular involvement is the most common cause of morbidity and mortality in BD.<sup>7</sup> The underling pathogenesis of pulmonary involvements of BD has remained unknown. It has been reported that TNF- $\alpha$ , INF- $\gamma$  and interleukin-8 are associated with disease activity and vascular involvement.<sup>8</sup>

Treatment of pulmonary artery thrombosis is mainly immunosuppressive drugs. Recommended treatment is pulse corticosteroid therapy followed by prednisolone of 1 mg/kg/d. Azathioprine, cyclophosphamide, cyclosporine A and mycophenolate mofetil are also recommended for thrombosis in BD. In refractory cases, anti-TNF- $\alpha$ inhibitors including adalimumab or infliximab might be useful<sup>4,9</sup> in addition to immunosuppressive drugs. Further, anti-TNF inhibitors have corticosteroid-sparing effect in vascular BD.<sup>9</sup>

In patients with rheumatoid arthritis, the most common adverse events were infections during anti-TNF- $\alpha$  inhibitors treatment, particularly in older patients.<sup>5</sup> In BD patients including vascular BD with anti-TNF- $\alpha$  inhibitors treatment, infections are also the most important issues.<sup>10</sup> However, previous reports about BD with anti-TNF- $\alpha$  inhibitors treatment included mainly those for younger patients. There are few reports of anti-TNF- $\alpha$  inhibitors treatment for BD patients older than 80 years. In this case, we reported successful treatment with ADA in a 80-year-old BD patient without adverse

<sup>© 2020</sup> Asia Pacific League of Associations for Rheumatology and John Wiley & Sons Australia, Ltd

WILEY-



(B)







Clinical course



FIGURE 1 Pulmonary artery thrombosis. A, Enhanced computed tomography image demonstrating a filling defect (white arrow) in the right pulmonary artery on admission. B, Enhanced computed tomography image showing multifocal contrast filling defect (white arrow) in the left pulmonary arteries before adalimumab treatment. C, Pulmonary artery thrombosis is diminished after adalimumab treatment (white arrow)

FIGURE 2 Clinical course. CRP, C-reactive protein; CT, computed tomography; D-D, D-dimer; PSL, prednisolone

events including infections. In conclusion, this case suggests that anti-TNF- $\alpha$  treatment is an effective and safe therapy for older vascular BD patients.

# ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

None.

# CONFLICT OF INTEREST

No potential conflict of interest is reported by the authors.

## PATIENT CONSENT

The patient provided written informed consent for publication of his data.

# Shuzo Yoshida ២

Yuko Kimura

Department of Immuno-Rheumatology Center, Arisawa General Hospital, Hirakata, Japan

## Correspondence

Shuzo Yoshida, Department of Immuno-Rheumatology Center, Arisawa General Hospital, 12-14 Higashino-cho, Nakamiya, Hirakata, Osaka 573-1195, Japan. Email: s.yoshida@arisawahosp.jp

# ORCID

Shuzo Yoshida D https://orcid.org/0000-0002-7652-9539

#### International Journal of Rheumatic Diseases

#### REFERENCES

 Hatemi G, Seyahi E, Fresko I, Talarico R, Hamuryudan V. One year in review 2018: Behçet's syndrome. *Clin Exp Rheumatol*. 2018;36:13-27.

**@** 

- 2. Emmi G, Bettiol A, Silvestri E, et al. Vascular Behçet's syndrome: an update. *Intern Emerg Med.* 2019;14:645-652.
- 3. Yoshimi R. The diagnosis and management of Vasculo- Behçet's disease. *Intern Med.* 2019;58:3-4.
- 4. Hatemi G, Christensen R, Bang D, et al. 2018 update of the EULAR recommendations for the management of Behcet's syndrome. *Ann Rheum Dis.* 2018;77:808-818.
- Harigai M, Tsuchiya T, Kawana K, et al. Long-term safety and effectiveness of adalimumab for the treatment of Japanese patients with rheumatoid arthritis: 3-year results from a postmarketing surveillance of 552 patients. *Mod Rheumatol.* 2018;28:30-38.
- Uzen O, Erkan L, Akpolat I, et al. Pulmonary involvement in Behçet's disease. *Respiration*. 2008;75:310-321.
- Calamia KT, Schirmer M, Melikoglu M. Major vessel involvement in Behçet's disease: an update. Curr Opin Rheumatol. 2011;23:24-31.
- Greco A, De Virgilio A, Ralli M, et al. Behçet's disease: new insights into pathophysiology, clinical features and treatment options. *Autoimmun Rev.* 2018;17:567-575.
- Aksoy A, Yazici A, Omma A, et al. Efficacy of TNFα inhibitors for refractory vascular Behçet's syndrome: a multicenter observational study of 27 patients and a review of the literature. *Int J Rheum Dis.* 2020;23:256-261.
- Desbois AC, Biard L, Addimanda O, et al. Efficacy of anti-TNF alpha in severe and refractory major vessel involvement of Behcet's disease: a multicenter observational study of 18 patients. *Clin Immunol.* 2018;197:54-59.

-WILEY

## DOI: 10.1111/1756-185X.13858

# ERRATUM

International Journal of Rheumatic Diseases



The authors would like to draw the readers' attention to an error in the following article:

Negrini F, Negrini S. Is paracetamol better than placebo for knee and hip osteoarthritis? A Cochrane review summary with commentary. *Int J Rheum Dis.* 2020;23(4):595-596.

Affiliation 2 should read as: Department of Biomedical, Surgical and Dental Sciences, University of Milan "La Statale", Milan, Italy.

The publisher apologizes for this error and any confusion this may have caused.

© 2020 Asia Pacific League of Associations for Rheumatology and John Wiley & Sons Australia, Ltd



The 2020 congress will be held on **31 August – 3 September** in Kyoto International Conference Center, Japan. Please do look out for updates by visiting the **website**.



APLAR aims to improve standards of clinical practice, teaching, and research in rheumatology across Asia Pacific. We are recognising the long-term efforts and dedication of centers in the region with a similar goal for excellence in the field. The certification programme we have initiated will award leading centers in Asia Pacific as Centers of Excellence based on three pillars (research, clinical practice, academia), pre-defined by a list of criteria set by APLAR.

We hope the centers in the region with an excellent track record in any of these pillars will participate in this programme as our goal is to establish reference centers that are best in class models for practice, teaching, and research in rheumatology. We believe this will enhance and enrich the 'best in class' experience for our trainees involved in the APLAR Fellowship programme. Further, this will also help us build a strong network of reference centers for collaborations and consultation within and among countries in the region.

APLAR awarded Centers of Excellence have been updated and information about these centers can be found on the <u>website</u>. Center of Excellence 2020 application will begin in March next year. Application information will be made available through the Member National Organisations of APLAR.

# APLAR FELLOWSHIP GRANT

The Asia Pacific League of Associations for Rheumatology (APLAR) had awarded 2 applicants for the Fellowship Grant of 2019. They are embarking on their fellowship programme in the coming months. Successful candidates must have a long-term commitment to continue research or clinical work in his/her own country at the conclusion of the Fellowship. The grant is awarded to cover accommodation and subsistence costs. We congratulate the awardees and wish them a fruitful journey in their career paths.

# APLAR RESEARCH GRANT

The Asia Pacific League of Associations for Rheumatology (APLAR) had awarded 2 applicants for the Research Grant of 2019. The grants are to assist the undertaking of research in either adult or paediatric rheumatology. The aims of the grant are to give the researcher an opportunity to start and do research within their own country of residence. In addition, we hope to promote and support basic and clinical research directed to the causes, prevention, and treatment of rheumatic diseases in the APLAR member society countries. This grant is to be used for consumables required for the research and not for salaries or fixed costs. It is expected that the research will be completed within one (1) year of the onset. The awarded candidates are encouraged to publish their work in the APLAR official journal – International Journal of Rheumatic Disease (IJRD) as part of their contribution.

# **APLAR-COPCORD GRANT**

The Asia Pacific League of Associations for Rheumatology (APLAR) did not have any applicant for COPCORD grant 2019. We encourage interested candidates to send in their application during the application period for COPCORD grant 2020. The aims of the grant are to give the researcher an opportunity to study rheumatic disease in the community of their own country of residence. This grant is to be used for consumables required for the research and not for salaries or fixed costs. It is expected that the research will be completed within one (1) year of the onset.

All APLAR Grants are currently open for application. The closing date will be on 21 February 2020. APLAR Grants information on eligibility, criteria and application requirement can be found on the <u>website</u>.